

Brigham Young University BYU ScholarsArchive

All Theses and Dissertations

2013-06-12

Promoter Polymorphisms in Interferon Regulatory Factor 5

Daniel N. Clark Brigham Young University - Provo

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/etd Part of the <u>Microbiology Commons</u>

BYU ScholarsArchive Citation

Clark, Daniel N., "Promoter Polymorphisms in Interferon Regulatory Factor 5" (2013). All Theses and Dissertations. 4058. https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/etd/4058

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by BYU ScholarsArchive. It has been accepted for inclusion in All Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of BYU ScholarsArchive. For more information, please contact scholarsarchive@byu.edu, ellen_amatangelo@byu.edu.

Promoter Polymorphisms in Interferon Regulatory Factor 5

Daniel N. Clark

A dissertation submitted to the faculty of Brigham Young University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Brian Douglas Poole, Chair Greg L. Burton F. Brent Johnson Steven M. Johnson Kim L. O'Neill

Department of Microbiology and Molecular Biology

Brigham Young University

June 2013

Copyright © 2013 Daniel N. Clark

All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

Promoter Polymorphisms in Interferon Regulatory Factor 5

Daniel N. Clark Department of Microbiology and Molecular Biology, BYU Doctor of Philosophy

The promoter region of interferon regulatory factor 5 (*IRF5*) contains the rs2004640 T or G single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) and a CGGGG indel. Both of these polymorphisms have been implicated as genetic risk factors for several autoimmune diseases, including systemic lupus erythematosus, whose pathology involves altered apoptosis and cytokine signaling. The polymorphisms' overall effect is to increase IRF5 levels. IRF5 is a transcription factor of several cytokines, including interferon, and is pro-apoptotic. Thus an alteration of cytokine levels and apoptosis signaling due to high IRF5 levels is the proposed source of autoimmune risk.

Each of IRF5's four first exons (1A, 1B, 1C, 1D) has its own promoter and responds to specific stimuli. rs2004640 is a T or G polymorphism; T is the risk allele. The SNP creates a sequence-specific recognition site for the spliceosome, making exon 1B spliceable. Analysis of the 1B promoter showed putative p53 binding site. IRF5 and p53 are pro-apoptotic transcription factors, and the p53 site may provide a positive feedback loop. Apoptosis levels were altered in cells with the rs2004640 risk T/T allele when treated with DNA damaging agents (extrinsic apoptosis), but not when activating death receptors (intrinsic apoptosis). The 1B promoter was the only one to activate expression after inducing DNA damage in a luciferase reporter assay, and this activation was abolished after mutating the p53 site. The exon 1A promoter contains either three or four copies (4X) of CGGGG; the 4X variant is the risk allele. The 1A promoter is constitutively active and is responsive to the Toll-like receptor 7 agonist imiquimod.

RNA folding analysis revealed a hairpin encompassing exon 1B. Mutational analysis showed that the hairpin shape decreased translation five-fold in a luciferase reporter assay. Cells with the CGGGG or rs2004640 risk allele exhibited higher levels of IRF5 mRNA and protein, but demonstrated no change in mRNA stability. Quantitative PCR in cell lines with either risk polymorphism demonstrated decreased usage of exons 1C or 1D, although no other correlated splicing events were observed. Also, several mRNA splice variants of IRF5 were sequenced.

The risk polymorphisms altered cytokine signaling as well. Expression of interferon, Tolllike receptor, and B cell receptor pathways were affected by a risk haplotype which includes the rs2004640 SNP. The CGGGG polymorphism decreased the levels of CC-chemokine receptor 7.

Specific transcription factor binding sites define promoter activity and thus first exon usage and transcription levels. Translation levels are affected by mRNA folding. Overall, the rs2004640 SNP and the CGGGG indel cause high levels of IRF5. High IRF5 expression causes altered cytokine and apoptosis signaling, and may bias the immune system toward autoimmunity.

Keywords: autoimmunity, cytokines, apoptosis

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to acknowledge and thank my wife. Her support was essential to beginning and finishing this large project, as well as the day-to-day work. Without Rachel Clark, this could never have happened.

Thanks go to Dr. Brian Poole, my adviser. His advice, support, and guidance were vital to the entire process. The feeling that he had my back was a true comfort.

Drs. Gregory Burton, Brent Johnson, Steve Johnson, and Kim O'Neill were amazing committee members who helped with every need. Thanks also go to Drs. Laura Bridgewater and Chin-Yo Lin, who served as members during several meetings.

Many undergraduate researchers became my helpers, colleagues, and friends. They will be remembered.

Many professors, many graduate students, and many staff members in Brigham Young University's Microbiology and Molecular Biology department and all across campus were instrumental in their help.

Table of contents

Title page	. i
ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
Table of contents	iv
List of tablesv	iii
List of figures	ix
1. Introduction and literature review	1
1.1. Systemic lupus erythematosus	1
1.2. Genetic risk factors for SLE	1
1.3. Environmental risk factors for SLE	3
1.4. Function of interferon in the context of SLE	4
1.5. Apoptosis due to interferon; the connection between SLE and apoptosis	7
1.6. Mouse models for the study of IFN and apoptosis pathways	8
1.7. A cycle of autoantibody production	10
1.8. Clinical component interferon and SLE	12
1.8.1. Clinical trials of anti-cytokine inhibitors	4
1.9. Interferon signaling pathway genes identified in SLE genetic risk screens	15
1.9.1. Interferon production pathways	18

1.9.2. Genes associated with apoptosis and immune complexes	21
1.10. Interferon regulatory factor 5	25
1.10.1. Autoimmune diseases associated with IRF5's rs2004640 SNP and CGGGG indel	1 26
1.10.2. The rs2004640 SNP and CGGGG indel	28
1.11. Conclusions to the introduction	31
2. Research sections	32
2.1. IRF5 genotyping and volunteer demographics	32
2.2. <i>IRF5</i> 's four promoters	35
2.2.1. Activity of IRF5's exon 1A and 1D promoters affected by TLR7 ligation	39
2.2.2. Inverted repeat encompasses IRF5 exon 1B and its promoter	41
2.2.3. Putative p53 binding site in IRF5's exon 1B promoter	42
2.3. The rs2004640 SNP's role in apoptosis	44
2.4. Effect of risk polymorphisms on IRF5 mRNA	47
2.4.1. Increased IRF5 expression levels in cells with the rs2004640 risk T/T allele and the	ie
risk 4X allele at the CGGGG indel	48
2.4.2. IRF5 mRNA stability not affected by the rs2004640 SNP or CGGGG indel	50
2.4.3. Altered exon 1 usage in cells with the rs2004640 risk allele	51
2.4.4. Effect on translation due to usage of the four distinct 5'UTRs of IRF5	53
2.4.5. Exon 1B translation inhibited by a hairpin	55
2.5. Five novel splice variants sequenced from IRF5 PCR ampliconsv	58

	2.6. Altered expression levels of associated genes due to the rs2004640 and CGGGG risk	
	factors	60
3.	Summary and discussion	66
	3.1. Promoter differences	66
	3.2. Apoptosis differences	70
	3.3. mRNA differences	71
	3.4. Downstream expression differences	74
	3.5. Conclusion	76
4.	Material & Methods	78
	4.1. Plasmid construction and luciferase assay	78
	4.2. Cell lines	79
	4.3. Genotyping of volunteers and formation of paired samples	79
	4.4. Cell treatments	79
	4.5. cDNA libraries and PCR	80
	4.6. Sequencing	83
	4.7. Statistical analysis	83
	4.8. Computer Programs	84
	4.9. Western blotting	84
	4.10. Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)	85
	4.11. Information about microarray data	85

Appendix A. Effect of imiquimod	86
Appendix B. Herpes simplex virus typing assay affected by region-specific phyloger	etic changes
	88
Appendix C. Review of interferon alpha in systemic lupus erythematosus	
Appendix D. Review of cytokine inhibitors for the treatment of systemic lupus eryth-	ematosus
	102
Appendix E. Review of interferon and apoptosis in systemic lupus erythematosus	
Appendix F. Microarray analysis of B cell expression differences due to an rs200464	0 risk
haplotype	133
5. References	

List of tables

Table 1. Description of the interferon response signature	. 7
Table 2. Description of genome wide association studies	17
Table 3. Genes exhibiting differential expression between risk and protective cells in the	
canonical pathways identified through Ingenuity Pathway Analysis	60
Table 4. List of primers and oligonucleotide sequences, and PCR and annealing conditions	81

List of figures

Figure 1. Interferon protein structures	4
Figure 2. Cell-to-cell interferon signaling and its effects	6
Figure 3. Production of interferon due to defects in apoptosis signaling	8
Figure 4. The cycle of altered immune response in SLE	11
Figure 5. Potential lupus drugs and the pathways they affect	15
Figure 6. Lupus risk genes that affect interferon production pathways	19
Figure 7. Genes associated with risk for lupus in the apoptosis pathway	22
Figure 8. IRF5 mRNA and protein structures	26
Figure 9. IRF5 mRNA and the position of the rs2004640 SNP and CGGGG indel	28
Figure 10. Functional changes due to <i>IRF5</i> promoter polymorphisms	30
Figure 11. Demographics of samples collected for testing	34
Figure 12. Promoter analysis results for each first exon of IRF5	36
Figure 13. Transcriptional activity of each promoter of <i>IRF5</i>	38
Figure 14. Activation of IRF5 transcription through exon 1A and 1D promoters upon imiquit	mod
treatment	40
Figure 15. Inverted repeat in the promoter region of <i>IRF5</i>	41
Figure 16. p53-dependent activity of IRF5's 1B promoter upon DNA damage	43
Figure 17. Altered apoptosis levels due to the rs2004640 polymorphism in <i>IRF5</i>	46
Figure 18. Altered intrinsic but not extrinsic apoptosis levels in rs2004640 risk T/T cells	47
Figure 19. Doubled IRF5 mRNA and protein levels in cells with the rs2004640 or CGGGG r	isk
polymorphisms	49

Figure 20. IRF5 mRNA stability not affected by the rs2004640 or CGGGG risk polymorphisms
Figure 21. Decreased usage of exon 1C and 1D and increased 1B in cells with the rs2004640 risk
allele; decreased exon 1D usage in cells with the CGGGG risk allele

Figure 22. Different translational activity levels among the four 5'UTRs of IRF5 first exons.... 55

Figure 23. 5' hairpin in exon 1B-containing IRF5 mRNA	56
Figure 24. Inhibition of exon 1B translation efficiency by a hairpin structure	57
Figure 25. IRF5 mRNA variants organized by splicing events, including five novel variants	59

Figure 26. Altered expression of genes in the interferon, Toll-like receptor and B cell receptor	
pathways due to an IRF5 risk haplotype	63
Figure 26 caption	64
Figure 27. Decreased CCR7 expression in LCLs with the IRF5 CGGGG indel 4X/4	4X genotype
by quantitative PCR	

1. Introduction and literature review

1.1. Systemic lupus erythematosus

Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) is the prototypic disease for the study of systemic autoimmunity. It involves the production of anti-nuclear antibodies (ANA). Since the immune system recognizes components of the nucleus as foreign, the symptoms can be extremely varied. Some of these include skin rash and sun sensitivity, anemia, fatigue, joint pain, kidney and liver damage, and neurological symptoms such as headache and depression. Lupus is about ten times more common among women. The treatment is directed against the symptoms—as opposed to the causes—of the disease. These treatments are usually immunosuppressants. With current medical interventions, the disease is rarely fatal in developed countries.

SLE is generally diagnosed long after the disease begins. This means that the cause of the disease is hard to find, buried in the past. In the search for the elusive causal agents for SLE, one candidate is the immune signaling molecule, interferon (IFN). Interferon is a secreted signaling protein, or cytokine, which is expressed at higher levels in SLE patients and has been associated with incidence and severity of the disease.

1.2. Genetic risk factors for SLE

A combination of environmental triggers and genetic susceptibility combine to initiate SLE. Support for a genetic component to the disease includes a high sibling risk ratio (λ S between 5.8 and 29), high heritability (greater than 66%), and higher concordance rates between monozygotic twins (20 to 40%) compared to other full siblings and dizygotic twins (2 to 5%) [1-3]. A large number of genetic risk factors are associated with increased susceptibility to the SLE. This genetically determined increased risk status has been referred to as a threshold liability [4], which is a polygenic state that varies between individuals. Environmental factors also affect lupus susceptibility and interact with this threshold liability, but just as is the case for genetic factors, there is no single environmental cause. An individual may have only a few of the genetic risk variations (low threshold liability) and never get SLE despite exposure to environmental triggers. In contrast, another person may have many of these variations (high threshold liability) and then develop SLE on first exposure to an environmental trigger.

Although there are many etiological components, they usually converge on a heightened state of activation for the immune system, with resultant increases in interferon and other cytokine production and signaling. That is to say that immune dysregulation could be thought of as either a causative agent, a result of the disease, or both.

This dissertation will discuss a transcription factor called interferon regulatory factor 5 (IRF5). IRF5 is a direct target for interferon and other cytokine signaling and is proapoptotic. We will begin with an introduction to the basics of interferon function, and how dysregulation of apoptosis can lead to interferon production due to immune complexes. We will then discuss how the functioning of the immune system changes in someone with SLE, other genes which are associated with risk for SLE, and clinical aspects of interferon in SLE, including anticytokine therapies. Finally, we will discuss two genetic risk polymorphisms for lupus: the T allele of the rs2004640 single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) and the four-copy variant of the CGGGG indel. These polymorphisms are within the *IRF5* gene, and their effect is the focus of this study.

1.3. Environmental risk factors for SLE

Several environmental triggers have been noted for lupus. They include drug treatments such as procainamide, isoniazid, and interferon treatments. Although upon discontinuation of treatment, the symptoms are generally reversed. Others include UV light exposure and infectious agents such as viruses.

Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) infection is associated with lupus, likely a causal relationship. Lupus patients have increased EBV seroprevalence and elevated serum titers of anti-EBV antibodies [5]. Among those with SLE, there is also an elevation of anti-EBV antibodies which precedes lupus flares [5]. EBV infection is also not controlled in lupus patients as well as it is in controls, including up to forty-fold increased viral load and an altered T-cell response [6-7].

EBV antigens such as EBV nuclear antigen 1 (EBNA1) are targets of antibodies for the immune system. Once the body makes these antibodies, a similarity in protein structure can create a cross reactivity with self proteins, such as Sm and RNP, which are important lupus autoantigens [8-13]. Since lupus is diagnosed long after the causal events such as antibody cross-reactivity have occurred, and since EBV infection is nearly ubiquitous in adults, an association of lupus to EBV positivity is not necessarily a strong case for association. However, lupus has been associated with prior EBV infection in not just adult lupus patients, but also in pediatric cases [14-20]. Since EBV positivity is much lower in pediatric cases, the higher rates of lupus among EBV-positive pediatric cases is more striking. These changes in viral infection or the response to viral infection such as interferon or other cytokine levels may be due to the genetic risk factors mentioned above (Section 1.2), or simply a symptom of the disease.

1.4. Function of interferon in the context of SLE

Interferon is a signaling protein which is secreted to activate neighboring cells in response to viruses, other infections, or as part of various immune signaling pathways. It is a cytokine, or secreted immune signaling protein which allows communication between cells. When a cell is infected with a virus, interferon is produced and secreted as a warning to other cells to prepare for an infection. Interferons alpha (IFN α) and beta (IFN β) are the type I interferons, and interferon gamma (IFN γ) is the type II interferon (Figure 1). Most of the cells in the human body have receptors for type I IFN, whereas only certain immune cells express the receptor for type II IFN [21]. The proteins are made by many different cells, but generally speaking, IFN α is of leukocyte origin, IFN β is of fibroblast origin, and IFN γ is made by lymphocytes [22]. Other less studied interferons also exist, and interferons are conserved among many species. Both alpha and beta types signal through the IFN α receptor (IFNAR), and then through Jak/STAT signaling



Figure 1. Interferon protein structures. Interferons alpha and beta, the type I interferons, have a common structure composed mainly of five alpha helices. Shown are IFN α 2a and IFN β 1 monomers based on protein data bank (PDB) files 1itf and 1au1, respectively. Although the monomers of each are very similar in structure, the functional form of both is a dimer, and the two dimerize differently; IFN α 2a along homologous surfaces and IFN β 1 on opposing sides of the protein [23]. IFN γ is show in its dimerized form, with the two colors representing two intertwined monomers, based on PDB file 1hig. Not shown to scale; figures drawn with Jmol [24].

pathways to alter gene expression. IFN α requires the Jak family member tyrosine kinase 2 (Tyk2), and it thus sends a similar though different signal than IFN β [25]. This review portion (Section 1) will discuss type I interferons, IFN α and IFN β , which herein may be referred to simply as interferon. When interferon gamma (IFN γ) is discussed, it will be noted explicitly.

The main purpose of interferon is to shut down a cell before a virus can take it over, although it has many other jobs [26]. Interferon signaling leads to increased apoptosis, which is a normal response to control viral spread or to decrease the size of a tumor [27]. If one cell can undergo apoptosis before a virus can replicate and infect other cells, the infection is halted [28].

Interferon can be produced in response to infection, other cytokines, mitogens, and several signaling pathways. Once produced it is secreted where it can be recognized by other cells, which is called paracrine signaling, or by the cell which produced it, called autocrine signaling. One type of cell, the plasmacytoid dendritic cell (pDC), is a natural interferon producer, and its ability to make very large amounts of IFNα is incriminated in the pathogenesis of lupus [29].

Several effects occur when interferon ligates an interferon receptor (Figure 2). Jak/STAT signaling pathways are activated which alters gene expression [30]. Interferon causes an increase in the expression of both of the major histocompatibility complexes (MHCI and MHCII) for presentation of viral peptides to T cells, which can then lead to activation of other cells in order to kill infected cells and remove them [31]. Interferon also increases intracellular levels of protein kinase R (PKR) which recognizes viral nucleic acids and activates RNase L to degrade viral RNAs. PKR also slows protein synthesis by inactivating translational initiation factors, so

that viral protein synthesis is slowed [32]. p53 is also activated, which is pro-apoptotic [27]. Interferons activate immune cells, especially natural killer cells and macrophages [33].



Figure 2. Cell-to-cell interferon signaling and its effects. One cell produces interferon and either another cell (paracrine signaling) or the same cell (autocrine signaling) receives the signal. Cellular processes that are activated or otherwise altered are indicated in the target cell. \uparrow : an increase, \downarrow : a decrease, MHC: major histocompatibility complex, PKR: protein kinase R, NK: natural killer cell, M Φ : macrophage

This activation cascade is normally turned off after an infection is cleared to prevent damage to uninfected cells. However this activation state is not reduced to the normal levels in individuals with SLE, where a higher level of interferon is present [34-35]. This higher amount of interferon is also measurable by an increase in the expression of interferon-stimulated genes seen in lupus patients, called the interferon response signature [36-38] (See Table 1). When IFN is turned on it actively affects how other cells are functioning.

As a general feature of autoimmune diseases such as SLE, the immune system is in an "always on" state, which can lead to a breach in the body's natural tolerance to self. Once this self tolerance is lost, autoimmune disease can result. In addressing why the immune system generates an attack against one's own body, the over-activation of the immune system—including the overproduction of interferon in SLE patients—is a part of this picture.

Table 1. Description of the interferon response signature. The effect of interferon can be measured by the changes it produces in downstream gene expression. Lupus patients have an altered interferon response signature.

Interferon Response Signature

- Defined as the list of genes that are upregulated in peripheral blood of many SLE patients
- Identified using microarray analysis [37]
- Genes whose expression levels change in response to interferon [39]
- Confirmed using multiple array systems and RT-PCR [37-40]
- SLE patient clusters can be generated according to IFN response signature [38, 41]

1.5. Apoptosis due to interferon; the connection between SLE and apoptosis

One effect of interferon production is the release of autoantigens due to increased cell death. This release is normally controlled by a process called efferocytosis [42], or apoptotic cell removal, where cell debris are processed by immune cells or neighboring cells which remove them by phagocytosis (Figure 3). Defects in apoptotic pathways have been noted in individuals with SLE [43]. Instances of why this occurs have been studied. For example, in SLE patients there is an overexpression of both soluble and membrane-bound Fas. Fas is a receptor which signals a cell to undergo apoptosis when complexed with its receptor, Fas ligand (Fas L). The levels of Fas also correlate with the amount of apoptotic lymphocytes and disease activity of SLE [44-45]. Mouse models of lupus commonly have genetic variations in apoptotic pathways such the Fas/Fas L pathway and interferon pathways.

Mouse lupus models as well as human SLE patients make antibodies to self antigens. This is likely because of over-exposure of potential autoantigens to the immune system. This could be due to an increased amount of apoptosis or a decrease in the rate of clearance of apoptotic debris. Apoptosis can be induced by interferon, Fas, and other signaling events. However, apoptosis is also part of the natural cycle of cellular growth and death for every cell type. Cells undergoing apoptosis are recognized as dead by other cells, so that they are cleared [46].



Figure 3. Production of interferon due to defects in apoptosis signaling. Apoptotic cells form naturally or due to damage. If the apoptotic debris is cleared normally, the debris is efferocytosed by neighboring or immune cells such as macrophages, and there is no immune response. In SLE, apoptotic debris remains present for the immune system to recognize. This can be due to either an increase in apoptosis or a decrease in clearance of apoptotic debris. If contents are released, they can form immune complexes with autoantibodies. These immune complexes can cause cells to produce interferon.

1.6. Mouse models for the study of IFN and apoptosis pathways

Mouse models have been very useful in understanding the etiology and pathogenesis of lupus.

Two approaches to experimental mice have been used to generate information about the role of

interferon in lupus. In the first approach, autoimmune-related genes are knocked out and the

resulting effects on lupus are studied. For the second, established lupus mouse models are

studied on a molecular level for differences in autoimmune pathways such as interferon-related effects. These two approaches often overlap, as in cases where interferon-related genes are knocked out in lupus-prone mice. Several established lupus mouse models include the Murphy Roths Large/lymphoproliferative (MRL/lpr) mice, New Zealand black/New Zealand white (NZB/NZW), and others. These are mice that spontaneously develop lupus, and several of them have been investigated to understand the role of interferon in their pathogenesis. The following are a few illustrative examples which represent the power of these model systems.

One mouse model that is especially relevant for the study of interferon in lupus is the Black 6 cross to satin beige/Murphy group of the Jackson laboratory (BXSB/MpJ) or Y-linked autoimmune accelerator (Yaa) mouse. These mice spontaneously develop a lupus-like disease in a sex-linked fashion because of a duplication of the Toll-like receptor 7 (TLR7) gene on the Y chromosome [47]. TLR7 is responsible for inducing interferon in response to viral infection or autoantibody production.

Another interesting mouse for the study of interferon is the NZB/NZW mouse. These mice spontaneously develop a lupus-like autoimmune disease. They have been used to investigate the role of several interferon-related molecules and cells. For example, treating these mice with interferon accelerates disease in a T-cell dependent manner [48-49], while knocking out or inhibiting interferon-related genes slows or eliminates the development of lupus-like symptoms [50-51]. These mice have been used to clarify the interactions between sex hormones and interferon in lupus etiology [52-54], and they serve as an excellent all-around model for spontaneous development of lupus.

9

The role of several interferon-related molecules has been examined using a combination of mouse models. As an example, consider the gene interferon regulatory factor five (IRF5). This gene is an interferon-regulating gene which will be described in Section 1.10 below. It was discovered that knocking out *Irf5* prevents or inhibits the development of lupus in MRL/lpr mice, $Fc\gamma^{-/-}$ Yaa mice, and pristane-injected mice [55-57].

Mouse models for lupus represent a powerful and flexible mechanism for investigating the role of multiple aspects of lupus. However, it must be remembered that the mutations or disease manifestations in these mice are not necessarily related to those seen in human lupus, and therefore the results observed must be interpreted with caution.

1.7. A cycle of autoantibody production

When it comes to SLE we may think of interferon production as a cycle which begins when an environmental trigger such as a viral infection, UV light damage, or medical treatment activates the immune system to produce interferon.

Normally B cells, which produce antibodies to self-antigens, undergo negative selection where they receive signals to die off or become inactivated if they make antibody against a self antigen. This self tolerance is breached in SLE [58], and the self antigens released from damaged or apoptotic cells during or after initial triggering events become the targets of autoantibodies. When autoantibodies are produced, they are either made by B cells or plasma cells. Plasma cells are a mature differentiated form of B cells, which secrete antibodies instead of maintaining them bound to the cell surface. Autoantibodies stimulate the production of interferon when they form immune complexes, which are immunostimulatory [59]. Immune complexes are composed of aggregates of antibody and antigen molecules. Since immune complexes must processed by the body, they are a main source of SLE pathology, as they obstruct small passages in areas of the body such as kidney glomeruli and joints [60]. Immune complexes are a main cause of end organ damage and therefore mortality in lupus. However, lupus is less fatal than it once was due to effective treatment of symptoms.



Figure 4. The cycle of altered immune response in SLE. As part of the normal immune response, the presence of an antigen results immune activation; this may include interferon production. In blue is a cycle which exists in SLE, amplifying the amount of IFN produced. This can happen due to alterations in the immune response. If autoantibodies form due to lowered self tolerance or increased apoptosis, immune complexes may form which are themselves immunostimulatory. Once this cycle becomes sustained, it can leave the immune system in an "always on" state.

Immune complexes may include the common SLE autoantigens such as RNA-containing protein complexes like Sm, RNPs, Ro, and La. These are of nuclear origin and have a combination of both nucleic acids and protein [61]. Once complexed with antibody, this combination of molecule types means many pathways can be turned on. For example, antibody can stimulate an immune cell through an Fc receptor, nucleic acids can stimulate cells through Toll-like receptors, and proteins can be recognized by other antibodies.

Immune cells are activated by immune complexes and the cycle continues (Figure 4). Interferon production is instigated by stimulated immune cells which recognize part of the complex, be it the antibody, the antigen, or other associated molecules.

1.8. Clinical component interferon and SLE

The body of evidence in this section will describe the clinical data which associate interferon to systemic lupus erythematosus. Many researchers have sought to determine if higher levels of IFN, which is common in lupus patients, is a cause of lupus or an effect of lupus.

Intensity of lupus is scored by several different methods: the SLE disease activity index (SLEDAI), a common modification of SLEDAI called Safety of Estrogens in Lupus Erythematosus National Assessment (SELENA), and the British Isles Lupus Assessment Group (BILAG) index. These measure many clinical indicators on a weighted scale. Clinical signs and symptoms evaluated include seizure, psychosis, organic brain syndrome, visual disturbance, cranial nerve disorder, lupus headache, cerebrovascular accidents, vasculitis, arthritis, myositis, urinary casts, hematuria, proteinuria, pyuria, new rashes, alopecia, mucosal ulcers, pleurisy, pericarditis, low complement levels, increased DNA binding, fever, thrombocytopenia, and leucopenia [62].

An interesting occurrence can happen when someone undergoes treatment with IFNα. The presence of increased levels of IFN leads to lupus or a lupus-like syndrome [63-65]. Because the lupus symptoms usually disappear after IFN treatment ends, this connection suggests that IFN may be more of a cause than an effect. In a small number of cases, some patients also develop SLE as a result of these IFN treatments, and in these cases the IFN is also the disease trigger. Furthermore, within a family, the levels of interferon among all members correlate, suggesting that this is a heritable trait [66]. That is, even the siblings of a lupus patient with high IFN levels are more likely to have higher IFN levels. This also supports a causal role for IFN. The causal role does not preclude the role of interferon as an effect of the disease as well.

Clinically, disease activity can be measured and correlated to other observations to determine the cause of the different levels of activity. One item linked to SLE activity is IFN, where higher levels of IFN in the serum correlated with more severe disease in most cases [38, 67-71].

Common lupus autoantibodies also correlate with IFN levels. A very strong correlation is consistently observed between IFN α levels and the presence of antibodies directed against common SLE autoantigens like Ro, La, Sm, RNP, and dsDNA [72].

Another set of findings has to do with properties of the main producer of IFN , plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs). High numbers of IFN-producing pDCs have been observed in lupus skin lesions [73-74]. Since the cells are present at the scene of the crime, the increased interferon could have to do with the pathology in these cases.

1.8.1. Clinical trials of anti-cytokine inhibitors

At the time of writing, two anti-interferon clinical drug trials for SLE are being conducted. They are for Sifalimumab and Rontalizumab, which are both anti-interferon monoclonal antibodies in phase II trials [75-76]. Another phase II trial is underway, whose drug MEDI-546 targets the interferon- α receptor 1 (IFNAR1) [77]. All of these monoclonal antibodies are designed to block interferon alpha signaling by preventing its recognition by neighboring cells. If these drugs are found to be effective by reducing SLEDAI or BILAG scores, it will further show that IFN plays a critical role in the pathogenesis of lupus.

Of note, the United States Food and Drug Administration recently approved an antibody to B lymphocyte stimulator (BLyS, also known as B cell activating factor (BAFF)) to treat SLE [78]. This drug, called Belimumab, is the first new lupus drug in around fifty years and should help control B cell activation, selective apoptosis, and autoantibody production to some degree.

Other anti-cytokine therapies have been or likely will be tried. Several of these target the interleukins, a group of important immune cytokines. An example is interleukin-6 (IL-6). IL-6 levels are higher among lupus patients [79]. Furthermore, the IL-6 which B cells make contributes to the production of autoantibodies [80]. Treatment with an antibody directed against the IL-6 receptor, called Tocilizumab, led to decreased SELENA-SLEDAI scores in one study [81]. This and other cytokine inhibitor drugs have undergone testing in mouse models of lupus or human lupus patients (Figure 5). The group of anti-cytokine—including anti-interferon—antibodies currently being studied will likely become the next generation of lupus drugs. Unlike most current treatments, they target the cause of the disease instead of just symptoms.



Figure 5. Potential lupus drugs and the pathways they affect. Several pathways involved in lupus pathogenesis (gray boxes) are mediated by cytokines (white boxes, each represented by a symbol) which are produced by many of the body's cells as part of normal signaling or during the course of an infection. These pathways are blocked by the clinical administration of monoclonal antibodies, or other antibody fusion proteins, whose names are listed according to their cytokine target. BAFF: B cell activating factor, BP: binding protein, IFN: interferon, IL: interleukin, RA: receptor antagonist, T: Blocks or inhibits

1.9. Interferon signaling pathway genes identified in SLE genetic risk screens

We have looked at the disease state of SLE and how the immune system functions improperly to instigate disease, and we will now look at genetic risk factors. Pathogenesis begins when an environmental trigger works on the genetic background of varying degrees of susceptibility or threshold liability. Genetic susceptibility is thought to account for at least 20% of the risk for SLE [2]. To find the actual genes involved, studies are performed to determine the linkage or association of a variation in the genome to a particular disease.

One important method is called a genome wide association study (GWAS). These GWA studies genotype thousands of individuals, grouped into SLE patients and healthy controls, comparing them at thousands of single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs). Other variations, such as insertion-deletion sequences (indels) and repeat sequences, can also be screened for association. These studies reveal the genomic regions which contain disease-associated genes, because the variations are more common in people with the disease. Individual genes or gene pathways are pinpointed and can ultimately lead to treatment strategies. Many genes have been identified that contain SNPs and other small variations which confer risk to SLE; they will be referred to as risk genes in the following sections.

GWA studies are especially useful for diseases with unknown or complex genetic components. The genome is examined for sets of single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs). When sets of SNPs are usually inherited together in a group—and thus statistically associated—it is called a haplotype. When a polymorphism or haplotype is more common in the disease group than in the unaffected group, it can be assumed that it is associated with the disease.

Although specific genes are sometimes found which may predict a disease, it is more likely that the information will reveal molecular pathways associated with the disease. Association of genes or pathways to diseases such as heart disease, asthma, diabetes, and others have been found using this method [82]. The amount of effect is measured as an odds ratio (OR), which is a measure of the strength of association of the disease with a haplotype. A median OR value is around 1.3, with more causal genes having much higher association ORs. For example, one of the lupusassociated haplotypes TREX1, has a published OR of 25 [83]. In such cases, the genetic risk is almost certainly associated with the disease.

Table 2. Description of genome wide association studies. In order to determine the genetic source of a polygenic trait or disease, GWAS may be performed. Variations in the genome can be associated to the disease or trait being studied.

Genome-wide association studies (GWAS)

After completing the Human Genome Project, a logical next step is to find what parts of the genome are associated with human diseases. Genome-wide association studies aim to discover the genetic risk component of a disease by finding differences in a disease group compared to an unaffected control group. This is especially useful for diseases with unknown and complex genetic components. The genome is examined for sets of single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) or other polymorphisms. When a

polymorphisms or haplotype is more common in the disease group than in the unaffected group, then it is associated with the disease.

SNP: single nucleotide polymorphism. These single nucleotide changes are what make one person different from another person and may be clues to finding the genetic risk components of disease.

Odds ratio: A measure of effect size which describes the strength of association between a disease and a genetic

variation. Mean OR values are 1.3. Two polymorphisms described in Section 1.10.1 are the rs2004640 SNP

(OR=1.4-1.9, p=5.7*10⁻⁷ [84]) and the CGGGG indel (OR=1.4-2.0, p=4.6*10⁻⁹ [85]) in the gene *IRF5*.

Haplotype: A group of co-inherited genetic variations, such as SNPs, which are grouped together for the purpose of studying larger areas of the genome at one time. Statistical association is calculated for verification. Identifying co-inherited SNPs allows for testing of a single marker SNP instead of each individual polymorphism.

An important caveat to these tests is that they answer the question, "What?" but not the question, "How?" That is, they identify genetic loci which confer risk to SLE, but then further studies are needed to show what functional changes affect people with a risk polymorphism. For most

genes, we do not know what functional role they play. However it is promising to note that the most genes thus far identified in lupus GWAS are within pathways which have been previously associated with lupus.

Several review articles have reviewed the findings of many lupus GWAS with varying degrees of certainty [3, 86-89]. In some cases the indicated susceptibility genes are common in many ethnicities and populations, while others are specific to certain groups. The statistical significance of many of these genes is well established, while others are novel and need to be replicated. For example, an *IRF5* SNP rs2070197 has been associated with lupus in Caucasian [90], Hispanic [91], and African American populations [92], but no association was found in a Korean population [93]. Another study used five different ethnic populations to have a more robust result of significance of association to lupus of a CGGGG indel in the *IRF5* gene [94]. An important finding is that most of the genes that have been identified in GWA studies can be grouped into functional pathways. The current focus will be on lupus-risk associated genes in two pathways: genes in IFN pathways and genes in apoptosis pathways—those involving clearing of apoptotic cells and clearing of immune complexes.

1.9.1. Interferon production pathways

Intracellular signaling pathways which control interferon production include the production of type I interferons by interferon regulatory factors (IRFs) and the production of type II interferon by STAT4. IRFs are activated by TLRs, which are extracellular or endosomal pattern recognition molecules. TLRs 7, 8, and 9 recognize foreign nucleic acids and are endosomal. Maintaining these TLRs in the endosome instead of the cell surface is an important barrier to too frequent

TLR activation, since self nucleic acid is difficult to distinguish from foreign nucleic acid. Once the nucleic acids are brought into the cells through endocytosis, the TLRs become activated to turn on IRFs (Figure 6). TLR 8 and TLR 9 have both been identified as lupus risk genes [95-96].



Figure 6. Lupus risk genes that affect interferon production pathways. The ***** represents genes which have been identified as having risk variants associated with lupus. The endosomal TLRs (7, 8, and 9) can bind to autoantigenic nucleic acids (squiggly black lines) and signal through a MyD88 complex which can be affected by association with osteopontin (OPN). If it is not impeded by TNFAIP3, this activates an IRAK signaling complex to phosphorylate IRF5 and IRF7 transcription factors to produce type I IFN. Another signaling pathway which activates interferon production is when IL-12 or IL-23 signals through the IL-12 receptor, and then Tyk2/Jak2 activate the STAT4 transcription factor to produce type II IFN. This signaling pathway is common in T helper cells [97].

TLRs begin a signaling cascade through a MyD88 signaling complex. MyD88 activates another confirmed locus of SLE risk, the gene which encodes IL-1 receptor-associated kinase 1 (IRAK1). In Sle1 and Sle3 mouse models of lupus, IRAK deficiency eliminated most lupus symptoms [98], which highlights the importance of IRAK1. Since this gene is on the X chromosome, it could help explain why lupus is more common among women—who have two X chromosomes. The MyD88 complex can be affected by osteopontin (OPN). It regulates IFNα production in plasmacytoid dendritic cells, which are the body's main IFNα producer cell [99]. The lupus-risk variant of OPN was tied to high IFNα levels in certain lupus patients [100].

Two interacting proteins are involved in tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF α) signaling and inflammation: TNF α -induced protein 3 (TNFAIP3) and TNFAIP3-interacting protein 1 (TNIP1). TNFAIP3 and TNIP1 are also lupus risk loci [101-102]. TNFAIP3 encodes the protein A20, which abrogates NF B after an inflammatory response, and lupus-risk variants of this gene are associated with blood and kidney manifestations among lupus patients [103]. TNIP1 interacts with TNFAIP3 as well as affecting several other signal transduction pathways.

Interferon regulatory factors are activated next, further downstream of TLRs; they are transcription factors which travel to the nucleus to bind DNA to initiate transcription. IRF5 binds to a sequence specific region of DNA to induce IFN production. IRF5 polymorphisms have been confirmed as risk factors for SLE among several ethnicities [91-92, 104-106]. Among the main genetic variants within *IRF5*, there are two copy number indels and several SNPS [107]. The first copy number indel is either three or four copies of a CGGGG repeat [108]; the other is either two or four copies of a 30 bp sequence [107]. Some salient SNPs are rs2004640, rs10954213, and rs10488631. The rs2004640 SNP allows use of an alternate first exon, although this does not change the encoded protein [84]. The SNP rs10954213 creates an early polyadenylation sequence, which yields shorter more stable mRNA [109]. The rs10488631 is downstream of IRF5, 3' of the poly-A site, and has no known functional change, although its association to lupus is well established [108]. Work has shown that these variants increase the amount of IFN in the presence of SLE autoantibodies [110-111]. The IRF5 risk factors generally act to increase the levels of IRF5; however the increase in IRF5 expression is not entirely due to IRF5's own polymorphisms [112] which means some trans-acting factors also increase IRF5

levels. Study of the rs2004640 SNP and the CGGGG indel are the main focus of this dissertation; they are introduced in greater detail in Sections 1.10.1 and 1.10.2.

IRF7 is associated with SLE risk by its proximity to SNPs in the IRF7/KIAA1542 locus [113-114]. IRF7 SNPs lead to increased IFN α levels, and they change which autoantigens are targeted in the autoimmune response [110].

Signal transducer and activator of transcription 4 (STAT4) is also associated with risk for SLE. It is a transcription factor which activates genes in proliferation, differentiation, and apoptosis pathways. Two STAT4 SNPs have been examined, rs7574865 increases sensitivity to IFN α [115], and rs3821236 causes STAT4 to be transcribed at higher levels and is additive with *IRF5* risk loci so that when both are present, the risk to SLE is multiplied [116-117].

1.9.2. Genes associated with apoptosis and immune complexes

Another set of lupus-risk genes can be placed into a functional group of apoptosis-associated genes. As described earlier, defects in apoptosis can lead to the presence of potential autoantigens. For example, after a cell undergoes apoptosis—if it is not cleared by other cells—its contents may be released. The cellular contents can contain molecules such as nucleic acids, RNA binding proteins, and others which are common lupus autoantigens. If antibodies bind to these antigens, a complex of multiple antibodies and multiple antigens can aggregate. The resultant immune complexes can be broken down through reactions with complement components (Figure 7). Contributing to a lack of immune complex clearance, some complement components are found at low levels in SLE patients [118]. If immune complexes are not broken

down by complement, they reach areas such as the kidneys or joints, which can be damaged by these immune complexes. This is how organ damage usually occurs in lupus patients.



Figure 7. Genes associated with risk for lupus in the apoptosis pathway. The \star represents genes which have been identified as having variants which increase risk for lupus. TNF α , CASP10, and IRF5 are pro-apoptotic whereas OPN and p21 are anti-apoptotic. These genes all have a role in how much apoptosis is occurring inside the cell. Once apoptosis has transpired, the cell must be cleared. Complement components such as C1q, C2, and C3b can opsonize dying cells or immune complexes for removal. Dying cells express altered lipids on their surface for recognition by proteins such as MFG-E8 and CRP. This system of recognizing apoptotic cells and immune complexes facilitates their removal by neighboring cells or immune cells.

The problem of creating autoantibodies could stem from too much apoptosis or too little clearance of apoptotic debris. Genes identified in GWA studies that could alter the amount of apoptosis in a cell include $TNF\alpha$, caspase 10, IRF5, osteopontin, and p21.

TNF α was identified as a risk factor for lupus in certain ethnicities [119-120]. TNF α is a cytokine which is produced and secreted to signal to other cells and is found at high levels in the serum of lupus patients [121-123]. Part of its function is to induce apoptosis—when a cell binds TNF α , it activates the caspase cascade. Caspases are proteases which are activated in a cascade under certain conditions and are a hallmark of apoptosis. They cleave other caspases as well, and

the combined proteolytic activity of several different activated caspases breaks down cellular components as the cell prepares to die. Caspase 8 is activated by TNF signaling and cleaves caspase 10, which then cleaves caspases 3 and 7. Caspase 10 is another lupus susceptibility gene [95]. IRF5, as well as being a transcription factor which helps produce IFN, is also a tumor suppressor gene which has been shown to be inactivated in certain cancers [124-125]. This is because of IRF5's pro-apoptotic function [126].

Osteopontin (OPN) and p21 are also lupus risk genes, both anti-apoptotic. OPN promotes proliferation, as well as prevention of death under apoptotic stimuli [127]. p21 is a cell cycle inhibitor that is normally activated in response to DNA damage. A mimic of p21 was used in the treatment of murine lupus in the NZB/NZW mouse, and it was found to dramatically reduce the disease [128].

Therefore, there are genes which dysregulate the amount of apoptosis, and they are associated with risk for lupus. But this is only half of the picture; the other part is the clearance of apoptotic cells or immune complexes (Figure 7). Several SLE susceptibility genes in this pathway have been identified as well. Active SLE can be assessed when low levels of complement proteins are found in circulation. Complement can function against microbes during an infection, but also help to degrade immune complexes—they can recognize and tag them for removal. Other non-complement proteins function to bind apoptotic cells or immune complexes to facilitate their uptake by other cells. This tagging for removal is called opsonization.

Integrin α M (ITGAM) has been convincingly associated to SLE [129]. Risk variants of ITGAM have been associated with certain clinical manifestations of lupus [130]. It is a cell receptor which binds to OPN or to complement C3b. C3b binds to apoptotic cells or immune complexes.

SLE association with polymorphisms in complement components C1q, C2, C4a, and C4b have large OR values, meaning that the risk alleles of these genes are causing a large effect. When C1q is expressed at low levels it can lead to lupus, and it was shown to increase the amount the of IFN produced due to immune complexes [131]. Complement components function by binding immune complexes by the Fc region of antibody or by binding to other parts of apoptotic cells, which can opsonize them for easier uptake by other cells. Cells can then remove the immune complex or apoptotic debris by endocytosis. Receptors for the Fc region of antibody have also been implicated in SLE risk [83]. These receptors can bind to antibody within an immune complex.

Other proteins such as milk fat globule epidermal growth factor 8 (MFG-E8) and C-reactive protein (CRP) can bind to apoptotic cells by recognizing phospholipids on their membranes. MFG-E8 binds to phosphatidylserine, an "eat me" signal which is present on apoptotic cells. The MFG-E8 knockout mouse develops SLE because of failure to remove apoptotic cells [132]. CRP binds to phosphocholine, which is present on dying or damaged cells. Both MFG-E8 and CRP are lupus risk genes [133-135]. Low levels of mannose-binding lectin (MBL) can lead to higher levels of apoptosis in the case of this lupus-risk associated gene [136].

The number of genes associated with risk for SLE will likely increase, though we have an interesting pool of genes already that point to specific pathways associated with the disease. The interferon and apoptosis pathways are certainly important players in the etiopathogenesis of lupus.

1.10. Interferon regulatory factor 5

The gene of interest in this dissertation is human interferon regulatory factor 5 (Figure 8). IRF5 was discovered in 1998 by Paula Pitha [137] and first characterized by Betsey Barnes [138]. IRF5 is a transcription factor which binds to a GAAAN(_N)GAAA repeat, similar to other IRFs, which all contain a tryptophan repeat in the DNA binding domain [139]. IRF5 is expressed in B cells, macrophages, monocytes, and myeloid cells [21]. IRF5 is conserved among most vertebrates; including fish, fowl, amphibians, reptiles, and mammals [140].

Phosphorylation and dimerization are essential to activate IRF5 in its role as a transcription factor, and ubiquitination can also activate it [141-142]. Dimerization unmasks the nuclear localization signals (NLS) and masks the nuclear export signal (NES). There are two NLS and one NES sequences [143-145]. IRF5 can dimerize with IRF3 and IRF7, which have some similar and some distinct transcriptional targets [143, 146]. This dissertation focuses on interferon production and apoptosis, both of which are directly affected by IRF5. IRF5 is also involved in the production of other cytokines [147], B cell development [148], macrophage differentiation [149], and is a cell cycle inhibitor [150]. These important roles echo the many autoimmune diseases with which polymorphisms in the *IRF5* gene are associated.


Figure 8. IRF5 mRNA and protein structures. (A) mRNA folding of IRF5 variant 2 (NM_032643.3) is shown and was performed using mfold [151]. The 5' end of the mRNA is indicated, and a small hairpin forms at this end (see Section 2.4.5). **(B)** The protein folding shows a dimer of the crystal structure of the transactivation domain of pseudophosphorylated human IRF5 (PDB file 3DSH). The two colors represent the two monomers, and helix 5 extends from one monomer across to the other. This helix 5 is autoinhibitory to activation until the protein is phosphorylated and undergoes a conformational change. IRF5 can homodimerize or heterodimerize with other IRFs [152].

1.10.1. Autoimmune diseases associated with IRF5's rs2004640 SNP and CGGGG indel

Linkage or association studies which compare disease groups and unaffected controls have revealed several loci in *IRF5* that are associated with autoimmune disease. Of *IRF5*'s many disease-associated polymorphisms, only four have been identified as functional polymorphisms [112]. Two of these functional polymorphisms are in the promoter region of *IRF5*, and thus may directly affect IRF5 expression. This study examines these two functional promoter polymorphisms: the rs2004640 single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) and the CGGGG indel—a copy number variant. There are other SNPs and indels within *IRF5* that are associated to disease which will not be discussed, although several of the prominent ones are listed in Section 1.9.1.

The single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) designated rs2004640 in *IRF5* has been convincingly associated with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) in multiple ethnic groups [84, 90, 92, 106,

153]. More recently, this polymorphism has been associated with several other autoimmune diseases, such as rheumatoid arthritis [154-155], systemic sclerosis [156], multiple sclerosis [157], ulcerative colitis [158], and Sjögren's syndrome [159].

The *IRF5* risk T allele at rs2004640 is associated with altered symptoms in autoimmune diseases. For example, multiple sclerosis patients with the risk SNP have poor response to interferon- β therapy [160]. In rheumatoid arthritis, the rs2004640 T polymorphism is associated with anti-citrullinated protein antibody positivity [161]. The *IRF5* risk polymorphism is associated with anti-topoisomerase antibody positive (ATA+) systemic sclerosis and lung disease [156, 162]. In lupus, the rs2004640 risk allele in *IRF5* is associated with risk for nephritis [163] and the presence of dsDNA antibodies [164]. Importantly, risk haplotypes that include rs2004640 are known to correlate with higher IRF5 levels [112, 165], and correlate with higher cytokine activity, such as IFN α and TNF α [111, 166].

The CGGGG indel is associated with several autoimmune diseases, and part of the risk for either of the two polymorphisms could be due to their high linkage disequilibrium, which is around $0.55 (r^2)$ [85]. The CGGGG polymorphism is associated with several autoimmune or inflammatory conditions. It has been associated with SLE [84], Sjögren's syndrome [108], multiple sclerosis [157], Crohn's disease, and ulcerative colitis [158]. Inflammatory conditions may also be affected by the CGGGG indel. One study found it was associated with acute coronary syndrome [167].

1.10.2. The rs2004640 SNP and CGGGG indel

There are several kinds of splicing, including exon skipping, alternative exon usage, and others. Most kinds of alternative splicing do not affect transcription levels. However, in the case of alternative promoter splicing—using different first exons—there is a direct effect on the levels of transcription and translation. Each of the four exon 1 options (1A, 1B, 1C, and 1D) has a distinct transcriptional start site, and each is under the control of a different promoter. The rs2004640 and CGGGGG risk polymorphisms directly affect the levels of exons 1A and 1B of IRF5 due to their position in the promoter region (Figure 9).



Figure 9. IRF5 mRNA and the position of the rs2004640 SNP and CGGGG indel. The genomic region is shown with exons as boxes and introns as lines. The protein coding and untranslated regions are shown at the top. rs2004640 is at the splice acceptor site for exon 1B, and the CGGGG indel is 64bp upstream from the transcription start site for exon 1A. Drawn to scale, but with introns reduced in size 10:1. UTR: untranslated region, SNP: single nucleotide polymorphism

The rs2004640 SNP is a G/T polymorphism, where the T risk allele creates an alternate splicing site for exon 1 [153]. This change creates a sequence-specific recognition site for the spliceosome, allowing use of an alternate first exon, called exon 1B (Figure 10A). The T nucleotide is within the intron between exons 1 and 2, and it is removed from the mRNA upon splicing. Without the risk T allele, exon 1B cannot be spliced onto exon 2 and would encode a

non-functional protein. These transcripts are usually targeted by non-sense mediated decay [168].

The CGGGG indel is located within the promoter for exon 1A, 64bp upstream of its transcription start site (Figure 10B). There are either three (3X) or four copies (4X) of the CGGGG repeat sequence; four copies is the risk variant. This additional copy allows binding of additional transcription factors [85]. The CGGGG 4X variant is associated with higher levels of the cytokines TNF α , IL- 12p40, IL-8, IL-1b, and IL-10 [166]. IRF5 levels may be affected by this indel. One study in thymic tissue found no association between the CGGGG indel and IRF5 levels, although there was decreased usage of exon 1A [169]. Another study of peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) showed increased IRF5 levels from CGGGG 4X risk cells [85]. The CGGGG indel is also designated rs77571059. It has been described as a GGGGC repeat, since C's flank the repeat sequences.

IRF5 exons 1A, 1B, 1C, and 1D each have a distinct transcriptional start site, and as is the case with every first exon, each exon 1 of IRF5 has its own promoter. The promoter for each exon is not well studied, although previous work has shown that promoters for exons 1A and 1C are controlled by an IRF element (IRFE) and an interferon stimulatory response element (ISRE), respectively [170]. Although most alternative splicing does not directly affect transcription levels, alternative promoter splicing—using different first exons—does directly affect the levels of transcription. IRF5's first exon is part of the 5' untranslated region (5'UTR) and thus does not affect the amino acid sequence. Also, using different first exons has not been shown to contribute to alterations in amino acid sequence of the IRF5 protein [90]. Instead, the effect of including

using different promoters and first exons is likely to be on the mRNA—such as the level of transcription, alternative splicing, the mRNA secondary structure, the stability of the mRNA, and the efficiency of its translation. All of these effects were investigated in the present study. The



Figure 10. Functional changes due to *IRF5* **promoter polymorphisms**. (A) The position of the rs2004640 SNP on pre-mRNA. Before splicing, the messenger RNA has either a U (encoded by the risk T allele) or a G. The colored letters shown at the bottom of panel A are a WebLogo, which represent the consensus recognition sites for the spliceosome. The height of the stack represents how often those nucleotides are found at that position, and thus the high GT represents a strong preference for recognizing GT at the intron boundary. This matches in the risk T allele (GT at the intron boundary), but not the protective allele (GG at the intron boundary). A person homozygous for the protective allele cannot splice IRF5 mRNA that begins with exon 1B. Instead of a functional protein, the resultant mRNA would encode a junk protein and be targeted for non-sense mediated decay. Splice junction WebLogos are from Stephens, et al. [171]. (B) The CGGGGG indel is an insertion/deletion of a CGGGG repeat upstream of exon 1A, and it is part of exon 1A's promoter. When there are four copies, additional SP1 transcription factors—which bind to GGCGG—can bind to the promoter, altering transcription levels.

mechanisms of mRNA changes will better explain the pathways that are misfiring in SLE and other associated autoimmune diseases

1.11. Conclusions to the introduction

SLE is a prototypic disease for studying autoimmunology. Apoptosis, clearance of apoptotic cells, the formation of immune complexes, and the production of interferon are all tied to SLE as either causes, effects, or both. The actual genetic causes of autoimmune diseases such as SLE are being identified through genome wide association studies, and then individually examined. This strategy will lead to better understanding and thus better treatments for these complex diseases.

The gene *IRF5* contains several polymorphisms associated with autoimmune diseases including SLE. Of *IRF5*'s many disease-associated polymorphisms, only four have been identified as functional polymorphisms. Two of these functional polymorphisms are in the promoter region of *IRF5*, and thus may directly affect IRF5 expression. The two functional promoter polymorphisms, the rs2004640 SNP and the CGGGG indel may exhibit functional changes which will teach us more about the pathways altered by them. The data presented in summary above (Section 1), as well as the research summary and discussion below (Sections 2 and 3), support the hypothesis that changes in IRF5 signaling promote an autoimmune state in those with the genetic propensity.

2. Research sections

2.1. IRF5 genotyping and volunteer demographics

Convenience sampling was performed under IRB approval to collect blood samples from volunteers on or around Brigham Young University (BYU) campus. Demographic data were collected to determine gender and ethnicity in order to pair samples. Matching people by other variables and only varying the rs2004640 genotype allows the creation of matched sets and the use of the Wilcoxon signed rank sum test, which is appropriate for paired data which is non-parametric [172].

For the use of the samples, three separate items were created: serum, DNA, and a lymphoblastoid cell line (LCL). The sample of serum was collected from coagulated blood after centrifugation (although no data presented herein were obtained by tests of serum). A sample of genomic DNA was extracted from peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC). These PBMCs, also known as a buffy coat, were removed from blood by ficoll density gradient. Finally, an immortalized cell line of LCLS was established for each volunteer by infecting the PBMCs with Epstein-Barr virus in the presence of cyclosporin in order to kill T cells. At least two weeks were allowed to establish the cell lines before testing began.

These immortalized cells generated from PBMCs grow indefinitely in culture and allow for a repeatable method of testing. Although immune signaling may be dysregulated in LCLs, which are transformed by EBV, both risk and protective cells lines always received the same treatment when testing and when maintaining cells. LCLs have been found to have very low (0.3%)

somatic mutation rate [173] and a 96% concordance rate of SNP calls before and after transformation [174]. They are an excellent and convenient model system.

Genotyping was performed by TaqMan-based real-time PCR of genomic DNA with a two-color probe set for verifying probe-quencher liberation of either or both colors. Sets of two people were created by finding a homozygous risk T/T sample and homozygous protective G/G sample and matching on gender and ethnicity. Heterozygotes were not included in this study. Genotyping at rs10488631 was also performed using a similar TaqMan-based system, but the rs10488631 genotype was not used in forming matched sets; rather it was used for analysis.

Genotyping at the CGGGG indel was performed using primers which flank the indel for touchdown PCR, followed by size analysis on a 4% agarose gel. The limitation of this method is the apparent preference for the protective genotype's PCR product. The protective product seems to predominate, such that no heterozygous individuals can be reasonably determined, either by size determination or sequencing. CGGGG genotyping was only performed on those already in rs2004640 sets.

The genotyping results from the three loci are shown in Figure 11. The rs2004640 risk allele is found in many individuals (80%), and 30% had the risk factor on both alleles. The CGGGG risk 4X variant was only found in those who had the rs2004640 T/T allele, and in about half of those with the protective G/G allele at rs2004640. There was a 55% linkage disequilibrium of CGGGG to rs2004640 in a previous study [85], and our concordance (r^2) was 50%.



Figure 11. Demographics of samples collected for testing. For matching rs2004640 risk T/T to rs2004640 protective G/G, matches were the same gender and ethnicity. The other two genotypes were used for stratifying during statistical analysis. Healthy individuals and several lupus patients were genotyped, although no lupus patients were used for testing since no lupus patients were found with the protective allele at rs2004640. (A) Using a TaqMan-based genotyping assay, the prevalence of the risk T/T allele in rs200460 was 30%, with 20% protective G/G. These homozygotes were further subtyped by the CGGGGG indel found in the 1A promoter (see Figure 11E), although the risk variant which has four copies of the indel was only found among those with the risk rs2004640 allele (42%). (B) Using a TaqMan-based genotyping assay, the prevalence of the rs10488631 risk C/C allele was 16%, and the protective T/T allele 67%. (C) Of all the samples collected most were female (86%). (D) Ethnicities are shown as well. Most were European American (64%) (E) Genotyping results at the CGGGG indel. Individuals have either three or four copies of a CGGGG repeat. Genotyping was done by amplification using touchdown PCR, and size determination on a 4% agarose gel. The primers should yield either a 103 or 108bp band. Numbers are the identifier for each cell line. L: Ladder, 100bp band shown.

Once matched sets were established to compare risk and protective individuals, tests were

performed to evaluate the effect of the risk factor on apoptosis, splicing, mRNA stability, and

other gene's expression levels.

2.2. IRF5's four promoters

IRF5 uses one of four first exons for each molecule of mRNA—either exon 1A, 1B, 1C, or 1D. The four first exons of IRF5 would be actively transcribed or not depending on the cellular transcription factors that are able to bind it. An analysis of the promoters for each of the four first exons of IRF5 was performed. First a list transcription factors that have been shown to actually bind the promoter was generated by using the encyclopedia of DNA elements chromatin immunoprecipitation sequencing (ENCODE ChIP-Seq) data set [175]. This list represents many experiments' results of transcription factors that bind to this genomic region of DNA (Figure 12A). The transcription factors listed have also been associated with specific binding sites. WebLogos, which visualize consensus binding sites [176], were generated for each ENCODE transcription factor tested and compiled in the online database FactorBook [177]. The consensus sites were converted manually into an ambiguous DNA code search term, where for example W (weak) represents an A or a T nucleotide (Figure 12B). The consensus search term was then used to search the proximal promoters (~ 200 bp upstream from the +1 sites) to encounter a proposed binding site. Consensus search term screening was performed using MEGA [178]. Several transcription factors binding sites were found in the regions upstream of transcription start sites (Figure 12C). The start sites were taken from reference sequences for exons 1A, 1B, and 1C, and the sequence for variant 12 of IRF5 for exon 1D (no reference sequence exists at present for exon 1D). The source sequences are GenBank IDs: NM 002200.3, NM 032643.3, NM 001098627.2, and EU258897.1 for exons 1A, 1B, 1C, and 1D, respectively. The workflow and results are shown in figure 12, with TCF12 as an example WebLogo.



Figure 12. Promoter analysis results for each first exon of IRF5. **(A)** ENCODE data shows ChIP-Seq analysis of the promoter region of IRF5. This data was used in conjunction with the FactorBook database to define nucleotide searches on the genomic sequence. **(B)** The consensus search terms generated from FactorBook, with the TCF12 consensus binding site as an example. **(C)** The final analysis of potential binding sites is shown along the genomic DNA promoter sequences, with color-coded boxes representing the binding sites or transcription factors shown in the key. AP: activator protein, BRE: B-response element, CTCF: CCCTC binding factor, TCF: transcription factor, EBF: early B cell factor, IRF: interferon regulatory factor, NF κ B: nuclear factor kappa light chain enhancer of activated B cells, PAX: paired box, PU: purine rich, SP: specificity protein, STAT: signal transducer and activator of proteins, TATA: thymidine adenine

The promoters for the four first exons of *IRF5* have different potential binding sites. The 1A promoter contains putative binding sites for PAX5, PU.1, SP1, and TCF12 which binds to enhancer boxes (E box). An extra SP1 binding site appears in those with the CGGGG 4X indel. Exon 1B's promoter was the only *IRF5* promoter with a p53 binding site. This is discussed in more detail in Section 2.2.3 below. 1B also has SP1, TCF12, IRF4, and EBF sites. The 1C promoter was the only promoter with STAT2, AP1, and Myc binding sites; it also has SP1 and IRF4 sites. The 1D promoter evaluation showed only four potential binding sites for transcription factors: SP1, CTCF, IRF4, and NFκB.

The promoters were cloned using PCR to transfer onto a luciferase reporter plasmid. There are two versions of the 1A promoter, one having the 4X variant of the CGGGG indel (1A risk) and the other having the 3X variant (1A protective). The 1B promoter was cloned using a nested PCR. The first round primers annealed outside of an inverted repeat mentioned in Section 2.2.2 below, and the inner nested primers amplified the promoter itself. The 1D promoter was successfully cloned only after the current writing, therefore it was not included in the current analysis.

A luciferase assay was performed using the pGL4 plasmid, with the promoters of *IRF5* placed in front of luciferase. The activity levels of the promoters were analyzed in different cell types since different transcription factors would be active in different cells. Immune cells were electroporated, or epithelial cells were calcium phosphate cotransfected with one of the luciferase plasmids as well as a plasmid which expresses a green fluorescent protein (GFP),

which was included as a transfection control. Values for luciferase expression were then normalized to account for transfection efficiency.



Figure 13. Transcriptional activity of each promoter of *IRF5***.** Preliminary data from one experiment shows activity of the promoters listed on the x-axis. The luciferase plasmids were cotransfected by the calcium phosphate transfection method into HEK293T cells and by electroporation into Raji cells. A control green fluorescent protein-expressing plasmid was measured (relative fluorescence units, RFU) in each sample to normalize transfection efficiency. The levels of transcription were lower in epithelial HEK cells, where IRF5 is not normally expressed [142], and higher in Raji cells, a B cell line (IRF5 is normally expressed in B cells [21]). HEK: human embryonic kidney, RLU: relative luminescence units

The activity level of four promoters was measured in HEK293T cells, a human embryonic kidney line expressing the Simian virus 40 large T antigen. This represents potential expression levels of each promoter in epithelial cells. Raji cells are a Burkitt's lymphoma B cell line and represent potential expression in immune cells. The 1A risk promoter showed high activity in both cell types. The promoter for exon 1B showed moderate activity, and the 1C promoter was

transcribed at the lowest level in both cases (Figure 13). This data should be considered preliminary, since it was not repeated.

2.2.1. Activity of IRF5's exon 1A and 1D promoters affected by TLR7 ligation

IRF5 expression increases due to several signaling pathways including TLR7. TLR7 is an endosomal receptor, as opposed to the majority of TLRs which are expressed at the cell surface. Endosomal TLRs such as TLR7 require the ligand to be first endocytosed into the cells, and then merged with the endosome that contains TLR7. Most endosomal TLRs bind to nucleic acids. Single stranded RNA is the natural agonist for TLR7. TLR7 can also be activated by the small synthetic compounds such as the imidazoquinolines called imiquimod and resiquimod. Imiquimod is a TLR7 ligand and resiquimod is a ligand for TLR7 and TLR8 [179]. Imiquimod is used clinically as a topical cream for treatment of genital warts and certain cancers. It activates the immune system, which recruits inflammatory mediators to kill the virus-infected or cancerous cells [180]. Imiquimod treatments were thus performed to increase IRF5 levels, and then determine which promoter was being activated.

Cells were treated with imiquimod at 25µg/ml for 24h, and then cDNA was prepared from an RNA extract. This was done for lymphoblastoid cell lines (LCLs) generated from twenty healthy individuals. As expected, the levels of IRF5 increased by 1.9 fold when cells are treated with imiquimod (Figure 14A).

The amounts of each first exon were measured and normalized to both a housekeeping gene and to the total amount of IRF5. This measures both the level of each first exon and the proportional



Figure 14. Activation of IRF5 transcription through exon 1A and 1D promoters upon imiquimod treatment. All mRNA levels were measured in LCLs generated from healthy individuals. Since 1B primers didn't work in the SYBR green-based assay, the levels of IRF5 first exons were measured in both a SYBR green- and TaqMan-based quantitative PCR. (A) IRF5 levels were measured using SYBR green-based quantitative PCR. The levels of IRF5 were 1.9-fold higher in treated cells (p=0.0002) after normalizing to a housekeeping gene. (B) Using TaqMan-based quantitative PCR, the levels of exons 1A increased 2.2 fold (p=0.030) and 1D increased by 2.8 fold (p=0.033) after normalizing to a housekeeping gene. (C) Using SYBR green-based quantitative PCR, the levels of 1C were lower by 2.3-fold (p=0.0064) after normalizing to total IRF5 levels. (D) Using a TaqMan-based quantitative PCR assay and normalizing to total IRF5 levels, the levels of 1B and 1C were decreased, however these data did not reach statistical significance. Taken together, the levels of exons 1A and 1D increase, and in turn the levels of 1B and 1C are proportionally lower. Numbers in parentheses are the sample size. Statistical significance determined by the Wilcoxon signed rank sum test. IRF: interferon regulatory factor

level of each first exon. By including a comparison of the total to the sum of its parts, we get a better picture of proportional changes in first exon usage.

The levels of exons 1A and 1D increased by at least two fold when compared to a housekeeping gene (Figure 14B). When the levels of each first exon were compared to the total IRF5 levels (and not to a housekeeping gene), exon 1B and 1C levels decreased and the others remained the same (Figures 14C and 14D). Taken together, the increase in total IRF5 is due to increased overall usage of 1A and 1D.

2.2.2. Inverted repeat encompasses IRF5 exon 1B and its promoter

During cloning experiments dealing with exon 1B and its promoter, several sequencing reactions showed less than 100% sequence identity to the target. It was soon discovered that the primers were annealing to an upstream inverted repeat sequence. This repeat necessitated nested PCR for cloning the 1B promoter and ordering synthesized oligos instead of cloning the 1B 5'UTR (Table 4). The repeat length is 1.8kbp, and the two copies have 82.8% identity [181] (Figure 15). The function of this repeat is unknown, but repeated sequences can act as decoys for transcription factors, lowering transcription of the intended target [182].



Figure 15. Inverted repeat in the promoter region of *IRF5***.** The repeat is 1.8kpb long, and the two versions match at 82.8% of bases. The right repeat begins in the last 80bp of exon 1A. It extends through the promoter for exon 1B, exon 1B itself, and then 1473bp past exon 1B. Exons are shown in blue. Drawn to scale.

2.2.3. Putative p53 binding site in IRF5's exon 1B promoter

The promoter analysis described in Section 2.2 above revealed a potential p53 binding site. p53 binds as a tetramer to two copies of the sequence rrrCwwGyyy, with a spacer of 0-13 nucleotides between the copies [183]. A near match for this sequence was found in the 1B promoter (Figure 16B). This is very important due to the role of apoptosis dysregulation in SLE. p53 is a main controller of apoptosis, which is why it is so commonly mutated in cancers [184]. IRF5 is also pro-apoptotic in a p53 independent manner, and thus if p53 activates IRF5, apoptosis levels will be additively altered. If p53 can actually control the 1B promoter, and since the 1B promoter is only used in cells with the rs2004640 risk allele, apoptosis would be altered in rs2004640 risk cells. This could be a key to understanding the source of autoimmune risk when using exon 1B.

In all body cells p53 is constantly transcribed and translated, but also constantly sequestered and degraded. Signals of DNA damage, oxidative stress, or abnormal cell cycle can all activate p53. p53 is activated by removing the inactivating protein MDM2. p53 is further activated by phosphorylation, tetramerization, and translocation to the nucleus. It then acts as a transcription factor to alter gene expression. Its three-fold mission is to activate DNA repair, halt the cell cycle, and activate apoptosis. In this seemingly contradictory set of activation programs, the cell is induced to either repair and live or fail to repair and die [185].

To test p53 activity in the 1B promoter compared to the other promoters, HEK293T cells were calcium phosphate transfected with the promoter luciferase plasmids. After allowing 24 hours for expression, DNA damage was induced by treating the cells with UV light (75 cm from a 254 nm UV bulb for 90 seconds) and incubating the cells for three hours; as a control some cells received

no UV exposure. The amounts of luciferase were then measured to determine promoter activity. The luciferase levels decreased for the 1A promoters and the 1C promoter, but increased for the 1B promoter (Figure 16A). The decrease may be due to the cell cycle-inhibitory and apoptosisinducing signaling induced by UV damage. These data should be considered preliminary, since a control for transfection efficiency was not included in the analysis.



Figure 16. p53-dependent activity of IRF5's 1B promoter upon DNA damage. (A) Preliminary data from three replicates of a luciferase reporter assay. HEK293T cells were transfected with the indicated promoter plasmids. Promoters for exons 1A and 1C decrease in activity three hours after a 90 second UV exposure, but the 1B promoter of IRF5 increases in activity. (B) The putative p53 binding site in IRF5's exon 1B promoter, with a WebLogo of the p53 consensus binding site [186] to indicate important bases and matches. The height of the base represents the frequency of that nucleotide. Site-directed mutagenesis was performed to mutate the binding site at the critical C and G bases as highlighted by boxes. (C) Preliminary data from a luciferase reporter assay. Three different LCLs generated from healthy volunteers were electroporated with the $1B_{p53*}$ promoter luciferase plasmid. Cells were treated with 0.5 mM etoposide or left untreated. The plasmid with the intact (wild type) p53 binding site shows an increase in activity, but the mutated version that should not be able to bind p53 decreases after a 48 hr etoposide treatment. UV: ultraviolet, wt: wild type, *: mutant

To test whether the p53 binding site is the cause of the increase, the 1B plasmid was mutated using site-directed mutagenesis to change the wild type sequence to an altered sequence to which p53 should not be able to bind. The consensus binding site contains four conserved C or G bases which were mutated to A or T on the luciferase plasmid (Figure 16B). The wild type and p53-mutant luciferase plasmids were transfected by electroporation into three different LCLs generated from healthy volunteers. After 24 hours to allow for plasmid expression, cells were either treated with etoposide or left untreated for 48 hours. The levels of luciferase activity again increased with the 1B promoter, but decreased when using the p53 mutant version. Again these data should be considered preliminary, since a control for transfection efficiency was not included in the analysis.

The p53 binding site appears to be able to bind p53. Therefore we sought to test apoptosis levels in cells with the rs2004640 risk T/T genotype compared to the protective G/G genotype.

2.3. The rs2004640 SNP's role in apoptosis

As described in Section 1.10.2 above the rs2004640 risk T allele allows use of exon 1B. Furthermore, the promoter for exon 1B contains a p53 binding site (see Section 2.2.3). Taken together, there should be altered levels of apoptosis in cells that can use exon 1B—those with the rs2004640 risk T allele. To this end, apoptosis was induced, and counts of apoptotic cells were measured in the matched sets described above (Section 2.1).

Four apoptotic agents were used to increase apoptotic death in LCLs. They were etoposide,5-fluorouracil (5FU), activating antibodies to TNFα-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL),

and activating antibodies to Fas receptor. Etoposide and 5FU both induce intrinsic apoptosis; the TRAIL-Ab and Fas-Ab both induce extrinsic apoptosis. Etoposide is a topoisomerase inhibitor which causes dsDNA breaks [187]. 5FU is a nucleotide analog which blocks thymidine synthesis [188]; TRAIL-Ab and Fas-Ab are activating antibodies which mimic ligation of these death receptors. As a control for equalizing the drug effect on individual cells in the population, hydroxyurea (HU) was used to synchronize the cell cycle in the cell population. Cells were treated for 40 hours with 0.2 mM HU, which was washed off before treatment. All the data collected were the apoptotic index, which is the change in apoptosis levels compared to untreated cells.

For detection of apoptosis, cells were assayed using a dual-color flow cytometry analysis. Cells that were positive for Annexin V, which binds to phosphatidyl serine (PS), were considered to be in early stages of apoptosis, since PS flipping to the outer leaflet of the cell membrane is an early apoptotic event [189]. Annexin V itself is not fluorescent, so a fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC) conjugate is attached to it. Cells positive for propidium iodide (PI) are considered late-stage apoptosis, since this DNA intercalator is not membrane permeable, and therefore only dead cells without an intact membrane will stain [190].

The levels of apoptosis were lower in rs2004640 T/T risk cells when a low concentration of etoposide was used. However, when an increased dosage of etoposide was used, the levels of apoptosis were higher in cells with the risk allele. Large doses of etoposide yielded more apoptosis in risk cells after two days (Figure 17); this is consistent with the hypothesis that p53 activation can increase apoptosis. However, apoptosis levels were higher in protective cells when

small doses of etoposide were administered for two days (Figure 17), and after 12 hour 5FU treatments (Figure 18). In either case, the risk allele did alter the levels of apoptosis in LCLs after inducing DNA damage.



Figure 17. Altered apoptosis levels due to the rs2004640 polymorphism in *IRF5*. LCLs from healthy individuals were cell cycle-synchronized by treating with 0.2mM hydroxyurea for 40 hours. This was removed by washing the cells before applying the etoposide at the concentrations indicated for 48 hours. To detect apoptosis, propidium iodide (PI) and Annexin V were applied. Propidium iodide stains DNA in cells without an intact cell membrane, and Annexin V binds to phosphatidylserine (PS) present on the outer leaflet of the cell membrane. Cells that are healthy maintain the PS on the inside on the cell on the inner leaflet of the membrane and remain unstained. Annexin V was conjugated to the fluorescent molecule fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC). (A) Compared to cells with the protective G/G allele, cells with the risk T/T allele at rs2004640 exhibited a decrease in apoptotic cells at 0.1 mM etoposide, but an increase at 1mM etoposide, as indicated by the levels of Annexin V-FITC fluorescence or PI fluorescence. (B) A representative plot from one matched set is shown from each set of experiments. Statistical significance determined by the Wilcoxon signed rank sum test.

The apoptosis pathways affected by the *IRF5* rs2004640 SNP appear to be the intrinsic pathways only. Cells were treated with either the intrinsic apoptosis inducer 5FU or by activating extrinsic apoptosis through the death receptors TRAIL and Fas. When comparing rs2004640 risk to

protective LCLs, no difference in apoptosis was found for extrinsic apoptosis inducers, but the levels of apoptosis were lower in risk cells treated with 5FU (Figure 18).



Figure 18. Altered intrinsic but not extrinsic apoptosis levels in rs2004640 risk T/T cells. LCLs from healthy individuals were cell cycle-synchronized by treating with 0.2 mM hydroxyurea for 40 hours. This was removed by washing the cells before applying the treatments at the concentrations indicated for 12 hours. To detect apoptosis, propidium iodide (PI) and Annexin V were applied. Propidium iodide stains DNA in cells without an intact cell membrane, and Annexin V binds to phosphatidylserine (PS) present on the outer leaflet of the cell membrane. Cells that are healthy maintain the PS on the inside on the cell on the inner leaflet of the membrane and remain unstained. Annexin V was conjugated to the fluorescent molecule fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC). Compared to cells with the protective G/G allele, cells with the risk T/T allele at rs2004640 exhibited a decrease in apoptotic cells at 1.5 mg/ml of 5-fluorouracil, but no change at 1 μ g/ml TRAIL-activating antibody or at 5 μ g/ml Fas-activating antibody, as indicated by the levels of Annexin V-FITC fluorescence after the 12 hour treatment. Statistical significance determined by the Wilcoxon signed rank sum test. TRAIL: tumor necrosis factorrelated apoptosis-inducing ligand

2.4. Effect of risk polymorphisms on IRF5 mRNA

The rs2004640 SNP and the CGGGG indel are in the promoter region of IRF5. Their position on

the genome, however, does not necessarily cause any change to the amino acid composition of

the IRF5 protein. Any changes will be in protein levels, mRNA levels, or mRNA composition. Tests of this hypothesis are in the following sections (Sections 2.4.1 through 2.5).

2.4.1. Increased IRF5 expression levels in cells with the rs2004640 risk T/T allele and the risk 4X allele at the CGGGG indel

Both the CGGGG 4X variant and the rs2004640 T variant have been associated convincingly with autoimmune disease. Both have been dubbed functional polymorphisms, since a logical functional effect can be suggested for each. The proposed source of association with autoimmune disease is an increase in the levels of IRF5. The rs2004640 risk T polymorphism increases IRF5 levels in LCLs and PBMCs [112, 165], and the CGGGG risk 4X polymorphism has been shown to increase IRF5 in PBMCs [85], but decrease 1A-specific IRF5 transcripts in thymic cells [169]. We measured IRF5 transcription levels in order to compare average expression and perform regression modeling. This identifies the source of changes according to each polymorphism's effect.

Quantitative PCR was performed on cDNA from cells with risk or protective alleles at each polymorphism. Healthy individuals were used, which removes potentially confounding factors due to existing autoimmune disease. The cells used were from volunteers that were all female, with 58% European American, 33% Hispanic, and 8% Asian. PBMCs were converted into lymphoblastoid cell lines (LCL) by transformation with Epstein-Barr virus (EBV). LCLs are transformed B cells, a cell in which IRF5 is normally expressed [21] and thus a good model.



Figure 19. Doubled IRF5 mRNA and protein levels in cells with the rs2004640 or CGGGG risk polymorphisms. (A) Average expression of IRF5 in cells with autoimmune polymorphisms normalized to levels of β-glucuronidase. IRF5 mRNA was 2.7-fold higher in lymphoblastoid cells lines (LCLs) generated from healthy individuals with the rs2004640 risk T/T allele compared to those with the protective G/G allele (p=0.0018). IRF5 mRNA was 2.1-fold higher in LCLs with the risk 4X/4X CGGGG indel compared to those with the protective 3X/3X allele (p=0.030). All data were calculated using the $2^{-\Delta\Delta C_T}$ method (fold difference) by setting the rs2004640 protective sample to 1. (B) Western blotting was used to compare protein levels. On average, IRF5 protein is 1.8-fold higher in rs2004640 risk LCLs (p=0.040) after normalizing to β-actin levels; CGGGG risk cells had 1.6-fold higher IRF5 protein levels, however this only approaches statistical significance (p=0.053). A representative blot is shown. All error bars represent standard error. Statistical significance determined by t-test.

mRNA expression levels of IRF5 were 2.7-fold higher in those with the rs2004640 risk allele (p=0.0018), when normalized to the levels of β -glucuronidase. For the CGGGG indel, risk cells were 2.1-fold higher (p=0.030) (Figure 19A). Western blots were performed on protein extracts from risk and protective cells. The levels of IRF5 protein were 1.8 fold higher in rs2004640 risk cells (p=0.040) and 1.6-fold higher in CGGGG risk cells (p=0.053, which only approaches significance), supporting the mRNA data (Figure 19B). For both the protein and mRNA data, regression modeling using a backward selection showed that the rs2004640 was the better

predictor of IRF5 levels, with the better model excluding the CGGGG effect. The CGGGG indel was not sufficient alone to explain IRF5 mRNA or protein levels (ANOVA, p>0.05), although the rs2004640 SNP was sufficient alone (ANOVA, p<0.05). IRF5 levels were not affected by the rs10488631 genotype (data not shown), although our sample size for the risk allele at this locus was small.

2.4.2. IRF5 mRNA stability not affected by the rs2004640 SNP or CGGGG indel

One further test of IRF5 mRNA was to evaluate its stability in cells. Actinomycin D was applied, which inhibits RNA polymerase and thus mRNA production. IRF5 mRNA levels were measured



Figure 20. IRF5 mRNA stability not affected by the rs2004640 or CGGGG risk polymorphisms. (A) LCLs generated from healthy individuals were treated with Actinomycin D to measure IRF5 mRNA half-life comparing cells with the rs2004640 risk allele to those without. A SYBR green-based quantitative PCR was used to measure total IRF5 mRNA levels and normalized to GAPDH mRNA levels. No statistical difference was observed between the slopes comparing rs2004640 risk to protective. However, IRF5 mRNA expression in rs2004640 risk cells was consistently higher (p<0.001) by the Wilcoxon signed rank sum test. (B) Actinomycin D-treated LCLs were used to measure mRNA half-life of each first exon of IRF5. All cells included in the analysis had the risk T/T allele at rs2004640, so that the stability of exon 1B could also be measure first exon levels normalized to total IRF5. No statistical difference was observed among slopes by paired t-test. Values are changes in threshold cycle (ΔC_T) which are high when expression is low. Therefore, for ease of viewing the y-axis is reversed and the x-axis was set below the highest value. All error bars represent standard error. Similar results were obtained for the CGGGG indel (not shown).

at two, six, and 24 hours after treatment of LCLs. Using a SYBR green-based quantitative PCR, the IRF5 mRNA levels were consistently higher in rs2004640 risk cells (p<0.001). However, no statistically significant difference in half-life was observed—all cell types had the same half-life slope over 24 hours (Figure 20A). Similar results were found for the CGGGG polymorphism as well (data not shown).

Using the same actinomycin D-treated samples, the relative stabilities of the first exons of IRF5 were evaluated using a TaqMan-based quantitative PCR assay by comparing the first exon to the total IRF5 expression level (Figure 20B). Cell lines that could use exon 1B (rs2004640 T/T) were evaluated so that the relative levels of exon 1B could be assessed with the other first exons. The mRNA was more difficult to detect when amplifying the first exon, with no first exons measurable by 24 hours. No first exon seemed to confer added stability compared to other first exons, since no statistically significant differences were observed among slopes.

2.4.3. Altered exon 1 usage in cells with the rs2004640 risk allele

The first exon of IRF5 can be any of four options: exons 1A, 1B, 1C, or 1D. This alternative promoter splicing may be used so that a single protein may be produced in response to many different stimuli. Depending on the cell type and the signals the cell receives, any or all of the promoters may be activated to produce IRF5. The expression level of each first exon was measured in unstimulated LCLs generated from healthy volunteers.

For a proportional analysis of first exon usage, levels of each first exon were measured by TaqMan-based quantitative PCR and normalized to the total amount of IRF5. To calculate proportions, the inverse of the ΔC_T was used since C_T values are low when expression is high.



Figure 21. Decreased usage of exon 1C and 1D and increased 1B in cells with the rs2004640 risk allele; decreased exon 1D usage in cells with the CGGGG risk allele. (A) TaqMan-based quantitative PCR measured IRF5 mRNA expression levels specific to first exon usage. The total amount of IRF5 mRNA was used to normalize the levels, thus showing a proportion of the total IRF5 expression. Since ΔC_T levels are low when expression is high, the inverse of the ΔC_T value was used to generate the graphs. The area of each graph is also proportional to the overall IRF5 expression levels (see Figure 19A). In lymphoblastoid cells lines (LCLs) generated from healthy individuals with the rs2004640 risk T/T allele, exon 1B was used in 22% of IRF5 mRNA, which is absent from cells with the protective G/G genotype. Numbers in parentheses are sample size. (B) SYBR green-based quantitative PCR measured IRF5 mRNA expression levels specific to first exon usage, in proportion to total IRF5 expression. Usage of exon 1C was 2.9-fold lower (p=0.026) and 1D was 2.8-fold lower (p=0.0056) in LCLs with the risk compared to the protective version of the CGGGG indel had 3.2-fold lower 1D levels (p=0.00055) by t-test. Values are calculated using the 2^{- $\Delta\Delta C_T$} method (fold difference) by setting the lowest expression for each genotype to 1. Error bars represent standard error.

Considering cells homozygous for the 4X CGGGG polymorphism (4X/4X), the proportions of the first exon usage did not differ greatly compared to 3X/3X cells, with exon 1D being having the greatest change, 5% lower in risk (Figure 21A). The effect of the rs2004640 genotype was more pronounced, due to exon 1B usage only in risk cells. In cells with the protective SNP, 35% of total IRF5 mRNA contained exon 1A, 28% contained exon 1C, and 37% had 1D. In cells with the risk allele 1A was found in 30% of mRNA, only 20% used 1C, and only 28% used 1D. Exon 1B was used exclusively in risk cells and comprised 22% of the $1/\Delta C_T$ levels of mRNA (Figure 21A).

Relative mRNA concentrations were compared between risk allele-containing and protective allele-containing cells using a SYBR green-based quantitative PCR assay. Total IRF5 was used to normalize the levels for a proportional analysis. For the rs2004640 SNP, 1C levels were 2.9-fold lower in risk (p=0.026) and 1D levels were 2.8-fold lower in risk (p=0.0056). The CGGGG indel affected only exon 1D, which was 3.2-fold lower (p=0.00055) (Figure 21B).

2.4.4. Effect on translation due to usage of the four distinct 5'UTRs of IRF5

Testing the effect of the rs2004640 and CGGGG risk polymorphisms moved downstream from the promoter to the mRNA. Since the rs2004640 risk allele affects which first exon of mRNA can be used and the CGGGG indel affects the levels of usage, we surmised that the changes would be measurable in mRNA studies. *IRF5* can encode the same protein regardless of the first exon with which it begins [90]. Assuming there is no effect on the protein—since the first exon is non-coding—we performed experiments to assay the effect of the 5'UTR, which can affect translation of the mRNA.

Since IRF5 mRNA may begin with one and only one of four different first exons, we evaluated the translational efficiency of mRNA depending on which first exon was used. It should be noted that exon 1B can only be used by individuals with the risk allele at rs2004640, but the SNP itself was not included on the luciferase plasmid (described in the next paragraph), since the SNP is eliminated from the RNA upon splicing onto exon 2.

Different from the promoter luciferase assays described above (Figures 13 and 16), 5'UTR luciferase assays were performed to determine the effect of different 5'UTRs on translation efficiency. The 5'UTRs of IRF5 contain exon 1A, 1B, 1C, or 1D and the untranslated part of exon 2. Each was inserted into a luciferase vector and used to compare the effect on translational efficiency. Instead of different promoters, the luciferase expression was driven by the SV40 promoter in all cases. HEK293T cells, which do not express IRF5 normally [142], were transfected by the calcium phosphate method with one of the four luciferase plasmids as well as a plasmid which expresses a DsRed fluorescent protein, which was included as a transfection control. Values for luciferase expression were then normalized to account for transfection efficiency.

The entire 5'UTR was added in front of luciferase, which includes the first exon and 11 bases of exon 2 (Figure 22A). Sequencing verified an exact match to published IRF5 5'UTRs (GenBank IDs: NM_002200.3, NM_032643.3, NM_001098627.2, and EU258897.1 for exons 1A, 1B, 1C, and 1D, respectively). Exon 1B was least-well translated, especially when compared to exon 1A (28-fold lower, p=0.048) and when compared to 1D (16-fold lower, p=0.022) (Figure 22B).



Figure 22. Different translational activity levels among the four 5'UTRs of IRF5 first exons. (A) The four 5'UTRs are shown color-coded for exon 1; exon 2 is shown in gray until the start codon, ATG, which is shown in white. **(B)** Four different 5'UTRs, including each first exon of IRF5 were inserted before a luciferase reporter gene, although each had the same promoter, to assay translation efficiency. These plasmids were cotransfected into HEK293T cells with a control red fluorescent protein-expressing plasmid to normalize transfection efficiency. Exon 1B was translated relatively weakly, whereas exon 1A was 28-fold higher (p=0.048) and 1D was 16-fold higher (p=0.022) by paired t-test. Bars represent standard error. Averages are from four independent experiments. RLU: relative luminescence units, RFU: relative fluorescence units, UTR: untranslated region.

2.4.5. Exon 1B translation inhibited by a hairpin

The low levels of protein made when using the 1B 5'UTR may be due to the secondary structure of the mRNA. Therefore a folding analysis was performed using mfold [151]. For IRF5 exon 1B, folding analysis predicted a hairpin which includes all of exon 1 and three bases of exon 2 (Figures 23 and 24). This hairpin was predicted when analyzing either the 5'UTR alone or the entire mRNA of IRF5 variant 2 (GenBank ID: NM 032643.3), which begins with exon 1B.

The secondary structure of mRNA is often important in translational efficiency, especially near the 5' end, where translation initiates [191]. Therefore, DNA with the sequence of the IRF5 exon 1B was synthesized and inserted into a luciferase expression vector to investigate if the hairpin would inhibit initiation of translation.



Figure 23. 5' hairpin in exon 1B-containing IRF5 mRNA. mRNA folding analysis was performed using mfold [151]. The numbers between bases represent the ΔG value for each base pairing. The strongest bonds are indicated with yellow boxes. The numbers outside the hairpin represent the ribonucleotide position. The 5' end is indicated.

Within the hairpin, three G-C base pairs had the strongest Δ G value (Figure 23). At these bases, a guanosine was mutated to adenosine using custom-made oligonucleotides. These G-to-A mutations were predicted to disrupt the hairpin when full-length IRF5 variant 2 mRNA folding was analyzed (Figure 24A). The mutated exon 1B was not predicted to self anneal, but instead it annealed to distal areas of the mRNA (Figure 24B). In order to confirm that the effect of the hairpin is shape-specific and not sequence-specific, a variant was constructed with complementary changes to allow the hairpin to reform, but with an altered sequence (Figure 24C). Folding analysis also placed each 5'UTR with the luciferase gene instead of IRF5, and the hairpins were predicted to be intact in the wild type and complementary mutant versions.

The three versions of IRF5 exon 1B 5'UTRs were inserted directly upstream of the luciferase coding region in individual plasmids. Again, all were under the control of the same promoter and cotransfected into HEK293T cells with a red fluorescent protein-expressing plasmid to account

for transfection efficiency. Elimination of the hairpin structure resulted in a 5-fold increase in translation (p=0.0021). Reconstruction of the hairpin by complementary mutations abolished the increase in translation (p=0.030) (Figure 24D).



Figure 24. Inhibition of exon 1B translation efficiency by a hairpin structure. **(A)** Folding predictions of IRF5 variant 2 (GenBank ID: NM_032643.3) were made for wild type exon 1B using mfold software. A hairpin was predicted to form which includes all of exon 1B. **(B)** Three guanosine nucleotides (orange) were mutated to adenosine (green) to eliminate the hairpin structure. **(C)** Complementary bases were changed to uracil (blue) to re-form the hairpin, with the folding predictions shown. Numbers represent nucleotide positions; exons and start codons indicated. **(D)** These three versions of the IRF5 1B 5'UTR were inserted into a luciferase vector, but each had the same promoter to assay translation efficiency. These plasmids were cotransfected into HEK293T cells with a control red fluorescent protein-expressing plasmid to normalize transfection efficiency. Luciferase activity represents translational efficiency. Variant 1B_m was translated 4.8-fold higher than 1B_{wt} (p=0.0021) and 8.1-fold higher than 1B_{cm} (p=0.030) by paired t-test. Bars represent standard error; values are averages from at least six independent experiments. RLU: relative luminescence units, RFU: relative fluorescence units, UTR: untranslated region.

2.5. Five novel splice variants sequenced from IRF5 PCR amplicons

Alternative splicing is common for IRF5 mRNA, not only the first exon, but downstream as well. Splicing of IRF5 is more common in PBMCs from SLE patients, which has been attributed to increased expression of splicing components such as small nuclear ribonucleoproteins (snRNP) [165].

Reverse-transcription PCR of IRF5 was performed on LCLs generated from healthy individuals. PCR used exon 1-specific primers and a common reverse primer in exon 7. After electrophoresis, several bands were observed that were smaller than the predicted size for full-length IRF5. Bands were gel extracted, purified, and then sequenced to reveal what parts of the RNA had been spliced out. Five new splice variants were observed. They were sequenced and named variants 13 through 17 (GenBank IDs: JQ950681-JQ950685). Two variants, 13 and 14, exactly match the previously identified variant 8, except with a different first exon. All five novel splice variants exhibited skipping within exon 6. Exon 6 contains most of the nuclear export signal (NES) [144] and the instability domain [143]; also referred to as the proline, glutamic acid, serine, and threonine (PEST) domain. Variants 15, 16, and 17 change the frame and would produce a protein with an early stop codon, truncating the transactivation domain. This is similar to previously identified variants 9, 11, and 12. All newly identified variants are shown in Figure 25, with previously identified variants for comparison.



Figure 25. IRF5 mRNA variants organized by splicing events, including five novel variants. For the new splice variants shown in orange, LCLs generated from healthy volunteers were used to make cDNA libraries. PCR products were separated by size on agarose gels and sequenced. Boxes represent exons; lines are introns. Functional areas of the encoded protein are indicated at the bottom; exons at the top. The four possibilities for exon 1 are 1D, 1A, 1B, and 1C; and exon 1B is only found in cells with the rs2004640 risk T allele. The first 12 splice variants were discovered previously (blue), variants 13-17 in the current study (orange). Boxes were placed around groups based on common splicing events. The common start codon is 12bp into exon 2, except for variant 7—which lacks exon 2 and begins in frame in exon 3. Variants 9, 11, 12, and 15 to 17 include frameshift splicing events and have early stop codons (yellow asterisks). Some variants do not show sequences past the stop codon. The 3' ends of most variants are not fully sequenced, or their length is variable due to two possible polyadenylation signals. Drawn to scale, but introns were reduced in size 10:1. UTR: untranslated region, NLS: nuclear localization signal, NES: nuclear export signal

2.6. Altered expression levels of associated genes due to the rs2004640 and CGGGG risk factors

In collaboration with the Oklahoma Medical Research Foundation, a microarray study was performed to evaluate the effect of a risk haplotype in EBV infected or non-infected B cells [192]. The haplotype included both the rs2004640 SNP and the rs10954213 SNP. The rs10954213 SNP is an A or G polymorphism. It alters the polyadenylation sequence, producing shorter, more stable mRNA in those with the risk A allele [109]. Blood samples from ten volunteers were assayed for mRNA expression in a ~25,000 gene microarray. Five *IRF5* high-risk (three controls, two patients) and five *IRF5* protective (two controls, three patients) gender-and ethnicity- matched volunteers were recruited to obtain samples of PBMCs for testing.

An analysis was performed to determine if any association exists between the risk haplotype and specific signaling pathways. This was done by grouping the genes by pathways which exhibited differential expression between risk and protective haplotypes. These groups were included in a global pathway analysis using the Ingenuity Pathway Analysis system. This analysis uses the curated Ingenuity Knowledge Base to associate sets of genes and expression data with established gene pathways. Fisher's exact-test showed statistically significant association (p<0.01) in three pathways: interferon, Toll-like receptor, and B cell receptor pathways (Table 3). Each of these signaling pathways has significant implications for autoimmune disease.

For interferon pathway genes (Figure 26A), the greatest difference in expression due to the risk haplotype was an increase in the expression of interferon beta. IFN β was 27-fold lower in risk

Table 3. Genes exhibiting differential expression between risk and protective cells in the canonical pathways identified through Ingenuity Pathway Analysis. Fold up/down column is positive in the case that the gene expression is higher in the risk haplotype cells and negative in the case that gene expression is higher in the risk haplotype cells and negative in the case that gene expression is higher in the risk haplotype cells and negative in the case that gene expression is higher in the protective cells. Akt: Ak strain transforming, CD: cluster of differentiation, Fos: feline osteosarcoma, GSK: glycogen synthase kinase, IFITM: interferon induced transmembrane, IFN: interferon, LY96: lymphocyte antigen 96, MAPK: mitogen activated protein kinase, MX1: myxovirus resistance 1, NFAT: nuclear factor of activated T cells, NF κ B: nuclear factor kappa light chain enhancer of activated B cells, OAS: 2'-5'-oligoadenylate synthetase, PIK3CA: phosphoinositide-3-kinase catalytic alpha, prot.: protective haplotype, RAC: Ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate, STAT: signal transducer and activator of transcription, TLR: Toll-like receptor, TNFAIP: tumor necrosis factor alpha-induced protein

Signaling Pathway	Gene	Mock infected 16 hours				EBV live virus infected 16 hours			
		Avg. prot.	Avg. risk	Ratio	Fold change	Avg. prot.	Avg. risk	Ratio	Fold change
Interferon	IFNB1	104.95	3.89	0.04	-26.99	5.79	9.15	1.58	1.58
	STAT1	71.08	52.84	0.74	-1.35	184.29	244.12	1.32	1.32
	OAS1	56.04	84.55	1.51	1.51	49.87	107.78	2.16	2.16
	MX1	3179.14	5161.02	1.62	1.62	3409.35	6199.20	1.82	1.82
	IFNAR2	959.14	1637.11	1.71	1.71	1437.47	1094.97	0.76	-1.31
	IFITM1	439.88	944.41	2.15	2.15	2128.61	2602.68	1.22	1.22
Toll-like Receptor	IFNB1	104.95	3.89	0.04	-26.99	5.39	9.15	1.70	1.70
	FOS	116.48	53.84	0.46	-2.16	90.05	120.60	1.34	1.34
	MYD88	281.53	152.57	0.54	-1.85	181.06	226.62	1.25	1.25
	TNFAIP3	439.96	321.29	0.73	-1.37	728.35	377.23	0.52	-1.93
	TLR1	26.50	46.76	1.76	1.76	67.59	116.37	1.72	1.72
	LY96 (MD-2)	560.79	1274.32	2.27	2.27	1128.47	1208.54	1.07	1.07
	CD14	401.17	1272.53	3.17	3.17	139.53	450.09	3.23	3.23
B Cell Receptor	CD79B	2222.90	991.48	0.45	-2.24	797.14	827.44	1.04	1.04
	CD79A	41.32	19.08	0.46	-2.17	6526.62	5973.72	0.92	-1.09
	RAC1	1407.29	930.84	0.66	-1.51	4.36	2.64	0.61	-1.65
	MAPK9	105.87	71.02	0.67	-1.49	62.50	80.35	1.29	1.29
	AKT1	512.79	353.65	0.69	-1.45	13.02	6.74	0.52	-1.93
	NFKB2	6.44	4.85	0.75	-1.33	495.75	147.18	0.30	-3.37
	PIK3CA	25.86	40.05	1.55	1.55	79.96	49.71	0.62	-1.61
	NFAT5	123.74	222.63	1.80	1.80	5.14	2.70	0.52	-1.91
	GSK3B	68.58	123.65	1.80	1.80	177.23	91.07	0.51	-1.95
cells, although this difference disappeared in cells once EBV infection occurred. The mRNA for interferon-induced transmembrane protein 1 (IFITM1) was strongly expressed in the risk cells in the absence of EBV (2.1-fold difference). STAT1 was expressed at lower levels in risk cells before EBV infection (1.3-fold), but after EBV, expression increased in risk cells (1.3-fold). IFNAR2 was opposite—it was higher in the risk cells without EBV (1.7-fold), but lower in the risk cells after EBV infection (1.3-fold). IFNAR2 is one of the receptors for the IFN cytokine and thus can respond directly to IFN signaling. In both the unstimulated and EBV treated conditions, 2'-5'-oligoadenylate synthetase 1 (OAS1) was overexpressed in the risk cells (1.5-fold and 2.2-fold, respectively), as well as MX1 (1.6 and 1.8-fold).

The TLR pathway was also affected by the *IRF5* risk haplotype (Figure 26B). TLR1, CD14, and LY96 were upregulated in risk cells, and TNFAIP3 was downregulated regardless of EBV presence. TNFAIP3 expression increases upon inflammation to modulate the inflammatory response, and it is crucial to limiting inflammation by turning off NFκB responses [193]. As noted above (Section 1.9.1), polymorphisms in TNFAIP3 have been associated with lupus [101-103, 194-195]. TNFAIP3 suppression has been noted in tumors, especially lymphomas [196-199]. Expression of the transcription factor Fos and the signal transducer MyD88 was lower in risk cells when infected with EBV, but higher when EBV was absent.

The B cell receptor pathway also exhibited differences in gene expression due to the *IRF5* risk haplotype (Figure 26C). The B cell receptor itself is a complex of membrane-bound antibody, CD79A, and CD79B. CD79A and CD79B were downregulated 2.2 fold in the uninfected risk cells, but this difference disappeared after EBV infection. Ras-related C3 botulinum toxin



Color

> 2

1.5 to 2

< 1.5

< -2

Figure 26. Altered expression of genes in the interferon, Toll-like receptor and B cell receptor pathways due to an IRF5 risk haplotype. The genes which exhibited changes in expression levels due to the IRF5 risk haplotype are shown by red to blue color mapping. The colors represent expression levels according to the included legend. (A) Interferons are produced in response to infection. Ligated interferons signal through receptors to activate JAK/STAT transcription of targets in the nucleus. (B) Toll like receptors are either extracellular or endosomal and inform cells of possible infection. They use adaptor proteins such as the MyD88 complex and alter transcription by signaling through IRFs and other transcription factors. (C) The B cell receptor (BCR) consists of a membrane bound immunoglobulin and CD79. It also consists of co-receptors such as the CD19/21/81 complex, CD45, or CD22. The Fcy receptor II (FcyRII) also feeds into BCR signaling by binding Ig molecules. Transcription is altered though MAPK, NFkB, and NFAT pathways. BLNK: B cell linker, CaM: calmodulin, CN: Calcineurin, ERK: extracellular signal regulated kinase, FCGR2B: fragment crystallizable γ receptor 2B, GRB2: Growth factor receptor-bound 2, GSK3: glycogen synthase kinase 3, IFIT3: interferon-induced with tetratricopeptide repeats 3, IFITM1: interferon induced transmembrane 1, IFN: interferon, IFNAR: interferon α receptor, IKB: inhibitor of NF κ B, IKK: I κ B kinase, IP3: inositol triphosphate, IRAK: interleukin-1 receptor-associated kinase, IRF: interferon regulatory factor, JAK: Janus kinase, JNK: JUN N-terminal kinase, LBP: lipopolysaccharide binding protein, LY96 (MD-2): lymphocyte antigen 96, MALT1: mucosa associated lymphoid tissue lymphoma translocation gene 1. MYD88: myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88, MEKK: mitogen activated protein (MAP)/Erk kinase kinase, MKK: MAP kinase kinase, NEMO: NFKB essential modulator, NFAT: nuclear factor of activated T-cells, NFκB: nuclear factor κ-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells, NIK: NFκB inducing kinase, OAS1: 2'-5'-oligoadenylate synthetase 1, PI3K: phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase, PKC: protein kinase C, PLCy2: phospholipase Cy2, PPARa: peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor α , RAC: Ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate, SHIP1: SH2-containing inositol phosphatase 1, SHP: Src homology 2 tyrosine phosphatase, SOCS: suppressor of cytokine signaling, STAT: signal transducer and activator of transcription, SYK: spleen tyrosine kinase, TAB: TAK1 binding, TAK1: transforming growth factor-βactivated kinase 1, TIRAP: Toll-interleukin 1 receptor domain adaptor protein, TLR: Toll-like receptor, TNFAIP3: tumor necrosis factor alpha-induced protein 3. TRAF6: TNF receptor-associated factor 6. TRIF: Toll-interleukin 1 receptor domain adapter-inducing interferon-β, TYK2: tyrosine kinase

substrate 1 (RAC1), a gene involved in lymphocyte differentiation and survival [200] was overexpressed in risk cells under all conditions (1.5-fold in mock infected cells, 1.7 fold in EBV infected cells). The signaling protein Akt1 and the transcription factor NF κ B2 were downregulated in EBV infected cells with the *IRF5* risk haplotype (1.9 and 3.4 fold, respectively). In three other genes the risk haplotype led to a 1.5- to 1.8-fold increase in expression: the phosphatidylinositol 3 kinase catalytic subunit alpha (PIK3CA), nuclear factor of activated T cells 5 (NFAT5), and glycogen synthase kinase 3 β (GSK3B). However, when EBV was present, the risk haplotype showed a decrease of 1.6 to 1.9 fold of the same genes (Table 3). In a separate set of experiments, several genes were evaluated for changes in expression due to either the rs2004640 or the CGGGG risk polymorphisms. The matched sets described in Section 2.1 were treated with the TLR7 ligand imiquimod, or left untreated to see if the response differed in risk allele-containing cells compared to protective. TLR7 lies upstream of IRF5, and the experimental design was to activate IRF5 pathways with imiquimod in order to see if risk-versus-protective differences could be observed in stimulated cells that could not be observed in



Figure 27. Decreased CCR7 expression in LCLs with the IRF5 CGGGG indel 4X/4X genotype by quantitative PCR. Expression of several genes was evaluated by SYBR-green based quantitative PCR using glyceraldehyde-3 phosphate dehydrogenase as the housekeeping gene. cDNA was from imiquimod treated LCLs generated from healthy volunteers. Sample sizes are indicated in gray circles. (A) No difference in gene expression due to the rs2004640 risk allele was observed by Wilcoxon signed rank sum test (B) The CGGGG indel affected CCR7, a cell receptor involved in cytokinesis. CCR7 levels were 2fold lower in risk cells (p=0.019) by t-test. No difference due to the CGGGG risk indel was found in other genes. BZLF1, EBNA1, LMP1, and LMP2 are Epstein-Barr virus genes; the rest are human genes. BamHI fragment Z leftward reading frame, CCR C-C chemokine receptor, EBNA: Epstein-Barr nuclear antigen, IFIT: interferon induced protein with tetratricopeptide repeats, IFN: interferon, IL: interleukin, LMP: latent membrane protein, Trim: tripartite motif

resting cells. Some EBV genes were also tested to see if the risk factors affected expression of these viral genes.

The CGGGG risk 4X polymorphism had no effect on any genes, except that CCR7 expression was lower in cells with the CGGGG risk 4X/4X genotype compared to those with the protective 3X/3X genotype (Figure 27). The rs2004640 risk T/T genotype did not affect the expression of any genes. The results in Figure 27 are from imiquimod treated cells. Genes were chosen based on their proposed differential effect when comparing IRF5 to IRF7 transcription induction. IRF7 performs a similar role to IRF5, and the two genes affect expression of some similar and some distinct genes [147]. The genes tested were the EBV genes BamHI fragment Z leftward reading frame 1 (BZLF1), EBNA1, and two latent membrane proteins (LMP), LMP1 and LMP2. mRNA expression levels were evaluated for the human genes Calreticulin, CC-chemokine receptor 7 (CCR7), interferon induced with tetratricopeptide repeats 3 (IFIT3), IFNα1, IL-6, IL-10, IRF7, Noxa, and tripartite motif 22 (Trim22).

3. Summary and discussion

The effects of the risk haplotype can be summarized in four main categories: promoter differences, apoptosis differences, mRNA differences, and downstream expression differences.

3.1. Promoter differences

The CGGGG indel is within the 1A promoter. This polymorphism has previously been shown to alter transcription factor binding. When cells have the 4X variant, an additional SP1 binding site is created. This has been shown to increase IRF5 protein levels in PBMCs [85], but decrease 1A-

specific IRF5 transcripts in thymic cells [169]. Both versions of the 1A promoter showed activity in HEK293T cells and Raji cells. As expected, SP1 sites were found in our analysis of the 1A promoter, including an extra SP1 binding site in those with the CGGGG 4X indel. SP1 is active during development, cell growth, apoptosis, differentiation, immune responses, and DNA damage responses [201].

The 1A promoter has a paired box 5 (PAX5) binding site, a gene that activates B cells at early, but not late stages of development [202]. There is an E-box, and transcription factor 12 (TCF12) is a member of the basic helix-loop-helix group of transcription factors which binds to E-boxes [203]. TCF12 was shown to bind somewhere in the promoter region of *IRF5* in the ENCODE dataset [175], and the E box in 1A's promoter is a likely site. TCF12 is known to be expressed in B cells and T cells [21]. A PU.1 site is in the 1A promoter as well; PU.1 activates gene expression during B cell development and in myeloid cells [204]. The 1A promoter showed increased activity when cells were stimulated with the TLR7 agonist imiquimod. This may be through the PU.1 site through IRF7. IRF7 is known to be activated by TLR7 [205], and PU.1 binds to a similar GAAN_(N)GAA motif to IRFs. Further work is necessary to determine in which cell types or with which stimuli the 1A promoter is most active, and also if the CGGGG 4X risk variant alters this activity.

A previous report by Mancl, et al. evaluated the 1A and 1C promoters [170]. The 1A promoter was stimulated by herpes simplex, Newcastle disease, and vesicular stomatitis viruses in PBMCs, Daudi, and THP-1 cells, respectively; as evidenced by increased transcription of IRF5. A luciferase reporter gene assay in the same report also showed that *IRF5*'s 1A promoter is

constitutively active and contains an IRF-E consensus binding site. However, the promoter region used was different—a 596 bp region determined by a 5' rapid amplification of cDNA ends (5'RACE) experiment. It is 939 bp upstream of the GenBank reference sequences for exon 1A and even extends past the 1D exon by 714 bp. The results of their luciferase assay cannot therefore be compared with the promoter analysis performed in this work.

The 1B promoter is not affected by the rs2004640 SNP *per se*. The promoter may function the same way in risk and protective individuals. Instead, the effect is to allow splicing of a promoted transcript onto exon 2 in those with the risk T allele. The rs2004640 SNP does therefore affect the outcome of using the 1B promoter. This is evidenced by the fact that the risk T allele at rs2004640 correlates with higher levels of IRF5 and higher levels of exon 1B usage.

IRF5's 1B promoter was predicted to contain a p53 binding site. In preliminary experiments, the only promoter tested which increased in activity after inducing DNA damage was the 1B promoter. The others showed a reduction in luciferase activity, likely because of the death, cell cycle inhibition, or apoptosis of the cells due to the DNA damage. Even a mutated version of the 1B promoter, which contained an altered p53 binding site, showed a decrease in luciferase activity instead of an increase. There were also differences in apoptosis in cells with the rs2004640 risk T/T allele. These are presumed to be due to the p53 binding site in the promoter for exon 1B, since only those with the T allele can use exon 1B. This is discussed in greater detail below in Section 3.2. The 1B promoter contains SP1, IRF4, TCF12, and early B cell factor (EBF) binding sites. EBF is a B cell-specific transcription factor [206]. Further work is necessary to reveal the stimuli or cell types that use the 1B promoter.

Usage of exon 1C is lower in cells with the rs2004640 autoimmune risk factor, which is likely due to less promoter activity. The 1C promoter contains putative SP1, IRF4, and EBF sites. It was the only promoter with activator protein 1 (AP1), Myc, and STAT2 binding sites. AP1 is a heterodimer of Fos and Jun proteins, among others, which are common in immune signal transduction [207]. Myc is a proto-oncogene and is essential for B cell proliferation [208]. STAT2, when complexed with STAT1 and IRF9, is known to be activated by type I interferon [209]. The STAT2 binding sites agree with a previous report on the 1C promoter of *IRF5* by Mancl, et al., which said the promoter is interferon responsive [170]. The current analysis identified the same STAT2 binding site in the 1C promoter. The difference in the two analyses is the assumed placement of the initiation site. The analysis by Mancl, et al. uses 5'RACE to determine the initiation site and they calculate the STAT2 binding site is 96bp downstream of that transcription initiation site. According to our initiation site—taken from the GenBank reference sequences which use exon 1C—the site was 47bp upstream of the initiation site, which is a more likely placement for promoter activation. Also of note, cells treated with imiguimod had lower 1C levels in proportion to the total IRF5.

Usage of exon 1D is lower in cells with the rs2004640 T allele and in cells with the CGGGG 4X allele, which is likely due to less promoter activity. The 1D promoter evaluation showed only four transcription factors' binding sites: CTCF, IRF4, NF κ B, and SP1. NF κ B is a target of TLR7 [210], and thus should be activated by imiquimod treatment. This was the case, and the 1D promoter nearly tripled in usage after imiquimod treatment. The *IRF5* promoter analysis also showed a CCCTC binding factor (CTCF) binding site. It is interesting that the 1D promoter has putative CTCF sites and is the furthest in the 5' direction, since CTCF is known to block the

spread of CpG methylation by acting as an insulator [211]. This may keep the other first exons which are downstream and have high GC content—free from heterochromatin.

3.2. Apoptosis differences

IRF5 is proapoptotic in a p53-indepent manner [150, 212]. This does not preclude activation by p53, and a p53 enhancer site in exon 2 of *IRF5* has been shown to activate IRF5 [213]. p53 is a main regulator of apoptosis. Exon 1B's promoter was the only one with a putative p53 binding site, and cells with the rs2004640 risk T allele are the only cells that can use exon 1B. We therefore hypothesized that apoptosis levels would be altered in cells with the risk T allele. Homozygous risk T/T cells did exhibit altered levels of intrinsic apoptosis, but not extrinsic apoptosis, when compared to homozygous G/G protective cells. However, death receptor-induced cell death is known to be facilitated by IRF5 [126]. We did observe more living cells in rs2004640 risk T/T cells when treating with TRAIL for 24 hours, however this was not statistically significant (p=0.069). Death receptor-induced apoptosis, such as through Fas and TRAIL, signal more directly through caspases; whereas the intrinsic pathways involve mitochondrial membrane permeability before caspase induction [214]. Thus the pathways affected are likely mitochondrial permeability genes of the B cell lymphoma 2 (Bcl-2) family, although this requires further testing.

Compared to protective cells, the levels of apoptosis were higher in rs2004640 risk cells after two day etoposide treatments. This agrees with the promoter luciferase data. However the levels of apoptosis were lower in rs2004640 T/T risk cells after low concentration 48 hour etoposide treatments and after 12 hour 5FU treatments. These results appear to be contradictory. They may be due to a threshold level of activation being reached in the large dose etoposide treatment. Also, p53 can act as both a repressor or activator of transcription depending on local factors [215]. In any case, the levels of apoptosis are affected by the rs2004640 risk T/T allele.

3.3. mRNA differences

Both the CGGGG indel and the rs2004640 polymorphisms are in the promoter region of *IRF5*, affect IRF5 expression, and affect first exon usage. In LCLs, the levels of IRF5 mRNA and protein were approximately doubled by these polymorphisms. The rs2004640 had the greater effect on both mRNA and protein levels. There was, however, overlap of risk genotypes—some samples had both the rs2004640 risk allele and the CGGGG risk allele—and thus repeating these experiments with a larger sample size may detect independent effects better.

The relative stability of IRF5 mRNA is not significantly affected by the rs2004640 or CGGGG polymorphisms. In addition to being quantified as a whole, IRF5 transcripts were also measured according to first exon usage. Measuring first-exon specific mRNA stability did not demonstrate that one first exon yields RNA that is more or less stable than another first exon. Instead, similar trends to those seen in Figure 20A were observed over time, with exons 1A and 1D higher and 1C low throughout. We conclude that in LCLs, IRF5 stability is not affected by the rs2004640 or CGGGG promoter polymorphisms, or by the first exon used.

In proportion to the total amount of IRF5 mRNA in a cell, the CGGGG 4X variant did little to change the balance of first exon usage, although exon 1D was used less in risk cells. Cells with the rs2004640 T allele used exons 1C and 1D less than protective cells. Taken together, this

establishes an rs2004640 splicing profile: risk allele-containing cells exclusively use exon 1B, and use less exon 1C and exon 1D. The risk rs2004640 allele increases IRF5 in spite of low translational efficiency, because it drives a two-fold increase in overall transcription. This high transcription in persons with the risk allele suggests a role for the effect of exon 1B usage on overall protein expression. An association between autoimmunity and these *IRF5* polymorphisms has been established. Increased IRF5 expression is the likely source of risk.

Levels of 1A were proportional between risk and protective cells at both polymorphisms. This excludes the result that there is double total IRF5 in risk cells, therefore the total level of 1A may be higher. When measuring the total level of each exon 1 (comparing to β -glucuronidase instead of IRF5), exon 1A was used at 4.0-fold higher levels in rs2004640 risk cells, however this only approached significance (p=0.081, data not shown); the CGGGGG indel exhibited a similar trend.

The spacing between these promoters may be crucial for nucleosome positioning, since transcription start sites are often nucleosome free, allowing transcription factors to bind [216]. The 1D, 1A, and 1B exons are very close on the genome (see Figure 9). The space between 1D and 1A is 276bp, and the space between 1A and 1B is 226bp. The nucleosome wraps approximately 147bp of DNA with a linker of less than 160bp [217]; thus the 1D-1A-1B spacing is sufficient for a nucleosome to bind in between each. However, they are close enough that if one transcription site is being used, the neighboring sites may be occluded. This could explain, for example, why exon 1D usage decreased when the 1A promoter can bind additional transcription factors due to the CGGGG 4X variant. Exon 1C is 2,501bp downstream from 1B and is not likely affected as directly.

IRF5 transcripts originating with exon 1B, which forms a hairpin, are translated five-fold less efficiently compared to a structure without the hairpin. This is likely due to the inability of the ribosome to bind to the occluded 5' end of exon 1B of IRF5 and initiate translation. When compared to the translation levels of the other exon 1 transcripts of IRF5, exon 1B was translated at the lowest levels. This contradicts a previous report by Kozyrev, *et al.* [90], who have a much higher value for the 1B 5'UTR, although other translation levels are in agreement. This difference is likely due to their use of 5'RACE-amplified UTRs whereas our 5'UTRs used reference sequences for exons 1A through 1C and variant 12's 5'UTR for exon 1D (see Section 2.4.4).

All of the novel 1B variants came from individuals with the rs2004640 risk T/T genotype. The two new 1C variants came from a risk T/T individual and a protective G/G individual. No effect on splicing is assumed to be due to the CGGGG polymorphism, and none were directly tested or observed. The usage of exon 1B, that is the presence of the rs2004640 T genotype, may have an effect on splicing events other than exon 1, since some splicing is linked. Examples of patterns of splicing include mutually exclusive exon use, tissue-specific exon use, and developmental-specific exon use [218-220]. However, except that only one exon 1 can be used per molecule, none of these concomitant splicing events were seen. For example, three 1B variants have exactly the same amino acid sequence as three 1A variants—1B variants 2, 10, and 13 encode the same protein isoforms as 1A variants 6, 4, and 8 respectively.

Variants 8, 9, and 12 have been shown to be constitutively nuclear [170, 221] since they lack the NES in exons 5 and 6. Although they have not been analyzed, it is likely that variants 11 and 13

through 16 are also constitutively nuclear due to similar patterns of missing amino acids. They also have an intact DNA binding domain. In fact, only one identified variant has any splicing truncation in the DNA-binding domain, variant 7. It is interesting that many of the variants can bind DNA, but have truncations in either the instability domain or the transactivation domain. If DNA binding is active but transactivation is not, the encoded protein will likely be dominant negative.

IRF5 exhibits a high degree of alternative splicing, and alternative splicing of IRF5 was shown to be higher in lupus patients [165]. The ability to alternatively splice IRF5 likely allows a finetuned response to a variety of immune signaling events [170], but in conjunction with autoimmune disease this high degree of alternative splicing may be detrimental. Although there are currently 17 known variants of IRF5, there are likely dozens more ways to splice IRF5. Splicing may occur in response to specific stimuli that would further explain the varied levels of first exon usage and changes in overall levels of expression.

3.4. Downstream expression differences

Several gene pathways were affected in cells with an *IRF5* lupus-risk haplotype. Since IRF5 is a transcription factor, these polymorphisms likely affect B cells' response to infection or their action in autoimmune disease. The pathway analysis placed gene expression changes in three main pathways: interferon, Toll-like receptor, and B cell receptor pathways. This pathway analysis is valuable because it allows a broader look into gene networks than simply looking at individual genes.

The interferon pathway was affected by the risk haplotype. Interferon alpha is an important cytokine in lupus etiopathogenesis [26]. The interferon alpha pathway is affected by genetic variation in the IRF5 gene, and multiple interferon signaling genes could be targets for understanding interferon dysregulation in autoimmune disease. Toll-like receptors are involved in response to infection through the recognition of pathogen-associated molecular patterns. Additionally, Toll-like receptors are important in the pathogenesis of lupus. They are capable of recognizing endogenous nucleic acids in the context of immune complexes found the sera of lupus patients, which stimulates dendritic cell maturation and IFN α production [222-229], a process which also involves IRF5 itself [229]. IRF5 is an interesting transcriptional regulator in that it acts as both an activator when homodimerized with itself, and its activation is blocked when heterodimerized with IRF7 since IRF5/IRF7 heterodimers mask both transcription factors' DNA binding domains [138, 146]. This mechanism of action may help to explain how some of these pathways can exhibit relative upregulation or downregulation depending on the other conditions in the cell. The B cell receptor pathway was also affected. The B cell receptor recognizes antigen. Stimulating a B cell through the BCR provokes the survival, maturation, and proliferation of B cells. B cells are the source of autoantibodies, and in some way the tolerance to self must be broken in order to produce these antibodies.

The pattern of gene expression observed suggests that the *IRF5* risk haplotype makes these cells appear more activated in the resting state. An activated basal state would be likely to promote inappropriate cellular responses and possibly heightened sensitivity to self antigens, including those recognized by TLRs.

EBV was used in several experiments to create LCLs from PBMCs. It was used to evaluate an infected state and to see any effect on EBV gene expression due to *IRF5* risk polymorphisms. EBV itself could be involved in the etiology of lupus by affecting several pathways. The three pathways identified here are all involved in EBV infection. EBV may stimulate these pathways through several mechanisms, including both infection and binding of virions to the receptors involved in these pathways.

The CGGGG indel decreased the expression of CCR7. CCR7 was first named Epstein-Barr virus induced 1, since it was found to be overexpressed upon EBV infection [230]. CCR7 is involved in immune cells migration, and EBV infection is known to alter migration [231]. Further work is necessary to determine if CCR7 levels are lower in EBV negative cells. If the risk CGGGG risk factor decreases CCR7 levels, the migration of immune cells might decrease. *Irf5* knockout mice are known to exhibit large changes in migration [56-57, 232-233].

3.5. Conclusion

A key effect of these promoter polymorphisms, therefore, is to increase the levels of IRF5, at both the mRNA and protein levels. Several studies have shown that an rs2004640 risk haplotype causes increased expression of IRF5 mRNA or IFN-pathway genes in lupus patients [106, 153]. Our experimental design using healthy controls with and without the risk polymorphisms provided us the advantage of measuring the effect of the risk allele without the confounding factors of disease, since all of our data about promoter, apoptosis, and mRNA differences come from those with the risk factor for autoimmune disease, but not the disease itself. We thus infer a causal relationship between high IRF5 levels and autoimmune disease. This is corroborated by *Irf5* knockout mice, which are protected from lupus-like disease and have altered cytokine responses [56-57, 232-233].

High amounts of IRF5 would affect all the roles of IRF5, but depend on the cells in which it was expressed. Our study involved the use of lymphoblastoid cell lines. As stated above (Section 2.1), immune signaling may be dysregulated in LCLs, which are transformed by EBV. However both risk and protective cells lines received the same treatment. LCLs have very low (0.3%) somatic mutation rate [173] and a 96% concordance rate of SNP calls before and after transformation [174]. LCLs are a good model for B cell gene expression, but care should be taken in applying these results to other cells, which would transcribe the four first exons at different rates. These LCLs showed high levels of exon 1A and exon 1D usage. Another cell type, PBMCs, also shows a pattern of high 1A and 1D usage among lupus patients [165].

The different roles of IRF5 align with the range of autoimmune diseases it is involved in. As examples, IRF5 functions as a cytokine transcription factor [143, 149] and as a p53-independent pro-apoptotic regulator [126, 212, 234]. Dysregulation of cytokine levels and apoptosis are features of SLE [122, 235-236], the disease with which the rs2004640 SNP was first associated. Also, IRF5 has been shown to be an important mediator in macrophage differentiation towards pro-inflammatory M1 macrophages [149]. With high levels of IRF5 there would be more pro-inflammatory cytokines, which would provoke a greater immune response. This has been confirmed by association of the rs2004640 risk SNP in *IRF5* with macrophage activation syndrome [237].

77

The etiologies of autoimmune diseases are complex, but various genetic and environmental factors contribute to their onset. Studies of genetic risk factors such as the rs2004640 SNP and CGGGG indel in *IRF5* point to the pathways involved in disease and therefore to therapies which will allow for more effective treatments.

4. Material & Methods

4.1. Plasmid construction and luciferase assay

For assaying translational efficiency, oligonucleotides representing the 5'UTR with the sequence for wild type and mutated exon 1B were synthesized (Integrated DNA Technologies), annealed, and inserted into the pGL3-Promoter vector (Promega). The longer 5'UTRs which include exons 1A, 1C, and 1D were PCR amplified from cDNA using ExTaq (Takara) and the primers listed in Table 4. Each 5'UTR was ligated into the pGL3 vector. All vectors were sequenced to confirm the proper sequence. The plasmids pSIREN-DNR-DsRed or pMax-GFP (Clontech) express the DsRed and eGFP fluorescent proteins, respectively, and were used to measure transfection efficiency. HEK293T cells were cotransfected with both a luciferase plasmid and a fluorescent protein-expressing plasmid using the calcium phosphate method. LCLs were electroporated using a Nucleofector device (Lonza). The electroporation buffer was 5 mM KCl, 15 mM MgCl₂, 15 mM HEPES, 140 mM Na₂HPO₄, pH 7.2. Transfected cells were lysed and assayed for fluorescence levels before assaying luciferase activity using the Luciferase Assay System (Promega) on a Fusion αHT plate reader (Packard). Luciferase activity was evaluated in proportion to the transfection efficiency except where noted in preliminary data.

4.2. Cell lines

Peripheral blood samples were obtained from healthy volunteers after informed consent following an IRB-approved protocol. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells were isolated using lymphocyte separation medium (Mediatech). These cells were induced to form lymphoblastoid cell lines (LCLs) by incubation with Epstein-Barr virus (B95-8 strain) and 2 ng/ml cyclosporin A (Torcris Biosciences). Raji cells were from ATCC. Cell lines were maintained in RPMI (Sigma) with 10% fetal bovine serum (PerBio) with penicillin/streptomycin/amphotericin (Calbiochem) at 5% CO₂ and passaged at least weekly. HEK293T cells were a gift from Dr. Bradford Berges, and were maintained under the same conditions, but with DMEM as the base media.

4.3. Genotyping of volunteers and formation of paired samples

Genomic DNA was extracted (Qiagen) from peripheral blood mononuclear cells and genotyped using TaqMan reagents (Applied Biosystems (ABI)) on a StepOnePlus real-time PCR machine (ABI) at the rs2004640 SNP (ABI SNP Assay C9491614). Homozygous risk or protective individuals were matched by gender and ethnicity. Heterozygotes were not included in the study. Genotyping at the CGGGG indel was performed by PCR amplification and 4% agarose gel size determination. Genotyping at rs10488631 (ABI SNP Assay C2691242), which has also been shown to affect IRF5 expression [238] was also performed, Heterozygotes were not included in the study. The primers and PCR conditions are in Table 4.

4.4. Cell treatments

The Toll-like receptor 7 (TLR7) ligand imiquimod, also known as R-837, was used to activate IRF5 for some experiments. Cells were treated for 24 hours with 25 µg/ml imiquimod (InvivoGen). Actinomycin D, an inhibitor of RNA polymerase, was used to test mRNA stability. Cells were treated for 24 hours with 5 µg/ml actinomycin D (Fisher), and also analyzed at

2 hours and 6 hours [239]. cDNA preparation, quantitative PCR, primers, probes, and conditions are described in Section 4.5. UV light exposure was performed after removing media by placing the cells 75 cm from a 254 nm UV bulb for 90 seconds. Etoposide was used at 0.1 mM and 1 mM concentrations and applied for 48 hours. 5FU was used at 1.5 mg/ml, and the activating antibodies to TRAIL and Fas were used at 1 μ g/ml and 5 μ g/ml, respectively. All treatments used 10^6 cells per milliliter. For apoptosis level testing, the cells were treated with 1 μ g/ml PI (Sigma) and Annexin V-FITC was applied per kit instructions (Life Technologies).

4.5. cDNA libraries and PCR

cDNA preparations were made by extracting RNA using the RNaqueous system (Ambion), followed by DNase treatment (Promega), then reverse transcription using SuperScript III reverse transcriptase (Invitrogen Life Technologies). cDNA preparations were used as template for quantitative PCR. Glyceraldehyde-3 phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) was used as a housekeeping control for calculating comparative C_T values; however, total IRF5 was used as the control value when comparing first exon usage. SYBR green reagents (ABI) were used in all cases. In order to maintain linear relationships between C_T values for first exon proportional analysis in the SYBR green-based assay, all primer sets were designed to produce amplicons of nearly equal length (size range: 98 to 109 bp, see Table 4). For IRF5 splice variant analysis Takara Taq was used. For cloning of 5'UTRs the template cDNA was used with Takara ExTaq. For cloning promoters the template genomic DNA from Section 4.3 was used with the NEB High GC PCR kit. Primers and oligos were purchased from Integrated DNA Technologies. Sequences and PCR conditions are shown below in Table 4. **Table 4. List of primers and oligonucleotide sequences, and PCR and annealing conditions.** All are listed in 5'-to-3' orientation. Restriction enzyme cut sites or overhangs are indicated in lowercase. For quantitative PCR primers, amplicons' lengths and %GC contents are also listed. fwd: forward primer, GAPDH: glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase, IRF5: interferon regulatory factor 5, rev: reverse primer, RT: real time, UTR: untranslated region

Splice variant amplification primers:

IRF5 1A fwd: CCTGGCGCAGCCACGCAGGCGCA IRF5 1B fwd: GCGCCTGGAAAGCGAGCTCG IRF5 1C fwd: CTAGGCAGGTGCAACCCCAAAA IRF5 1D fwd: GAGGCTCAGCCCGGATCTGC IRF5 common rev: CTTGATCTCCAGGTCGGTCA Conditions: 94°C 4 min, 37 cycles of [94°C 1 min, 63.9°C 1 min, 72°C 1:30], 72°C 5 min

Oligonucleotides: IRF5 5'UTR 1B wild type luciferase top: agcttGTCCAGCTGCGCCTGGAAAGCGAGCTCGGACCCCTCTGc IRF5 5'UTR 1B wild type luciferase bottom catggCAGAGGGGTCCGAGCTCGCTTTCCAGGCGCAGCTGGACa IRF5 5'UTR 1B mutant luciferase top: agcttGTCCAACTGCACCTGGAAAGCGAGCTCGAACCCCTCTGc IRF5 5'UTR 1B mutant luciferase bottom: catggCAGAGGGGTTCGAGCTCGCTTTCCAGGTGCAGTTGGACa IRF5 5'UTR 1B complementary mutant luciferase top: agcttGTTCAACTGCACCTGGAAAGTGAGTTCGAACCCCTCTGc IRF5 5'UTR 1B complementary mutant luciferase bottom: catggCAGAGGGGTTCGAACTCGCAGTTGGAACCCCTCTGc IRF5 5'UTR 1B complementary mutant luciferase bottom: catggCAGAGGGGTTCGAACTCACTTTCCAGGTGCAGTTGAACa Annealed at 95°C for 1 min, 72°C for 2 min, 37°C for 2 min, 25°C for 2 min.

First exon 5' UTR cloning primers: IRF5 1A 5'UTR fwd: TaagettGCCCGGCAGGTTGGCGGA IRF5 1C 5'UTR fwd: TaagettGAGCGTTCTGAACACCTCCC IRF5 1D 5'UTR fwd: TaagettAGTTTTGCCATTCCAGATTG IRF5 common 5'UTR rev: CTGGTccatggCAGAGGGGTCT pGL4 sequencing fwd: CTAGCAAAATAGGCTGTCCC Conditions: 94°C 2 min, 40 cycles of [94°C 15 s, 60°C 1 min, 72°C 20 s], 72°C 1 min

TagMan-based quantitative PCR primers: IRF5 exon 2 RT fwd: CCACCTCAGCCCTACAAGAT IRF5 probe: FAM-TCCAATGGCCCTGCTCCCAC-TAMRA IRF5 exon 3 RT rev: CTCCTCTCCTGCACCAAAAG IRF5 1A TaqMan RT fwd: ACGCAGGCGCACCGCAGACA IRF5 1B RT fwd: AGCTGCGCCTGGAAAGCGAGC IRF5 1C TagMan RT fwd: AGGCGGCACTAGGCAGGTGCAAC IRF5 1D RT fwd: GAGGCTCAGCCCGGATCTGC IRF5 exon 1 probe: FAM-CCATGAACCAGTCCATCCCAGTGGCTCCCACC-TAMRA IRF5 exon 2 common RT rev: TCGTAGATCTTGTAGGGCTGAGGTGGCA β-glucuronidase fwd: CTCATTTGGAATTTTGCCGATT β-glucuronidase probe: FAM-TGAACAGTCACCGACGAGAG-TAMRA β-glucuronidase rev: CCGAGTGAAGATCCCCTTTTTA Conditions: 52°C, 95°C for 10min, 52 cycles of [95°C for 15s, 65°C* for 1 min] with 500 nM primers, 250 nM probe *primer annealing temperatures were 60°C for β-glucuronidase; 65°C for IRF5, 1A, and 1B; 66°C for 1C, and 69°C for 1D

SYBR green-based quantitative PCR primers:

IRF5 exon 2 RT fwd: CCACCTCAGCCCTACAAGAT (99 bp, 58.6% GC) IRF5 exon 3 RT rev: CTCCTCTCCTGCACCAAAAG IRF5 1A SYBR RT fwd: GCAGGCGCACCGCAGACA (98 bp, 71.4% GC) IRF5 1C SYBR RT fwd: CTAGGCAGGTGCAACCCCAAAA (108 bp, 68.5% GC) IRF5 1D RT fwd: GAGGCTCAGCCCGGATCTGC (109 bp, 69.7% GC) IRF5 exon 2 common RT rev: GCCACCAGCCAGGGCTTCAG GAPDH fwd: TGCACCACCAACTGCTTAGC GAPDH rev: GGCATGGACTGTGGGTCATGAG Conditions: 95°C for 10 min, 40 cycles of [95°C for 15 s, 60°C for 1 min]

CGGGG genotyping CGGGG fwd: GCAGCGGGAGGTACGGG CGGGG rev: GCTCTGCCCAGGCTGCG Conditions: 95°C for 2 min; 12 cycles of 94°C for 30 s, 62°C for 30 s (with a decrease of 0.5°C per cycle), and 72°C for 1 min; 30 cycles of 94°C for 30 s, 56°C for 30 s, and 72°C for 1 min; 72°C for 5 min. Promoter cloning primers[†]:

IRF5 1A prom fwd: CTGCgctagcCAGGTCAGTGCGGGGC IRF5 1A prom rev: CCTGagatctACTTCCGCGTCTTGCCGC Conditions: 94°C 30 s, 40 cycles of [94°C 15 s, 62.0°C 1 min, 68°C 30 s], 68°C 5 min

IRF5 1B prom fwd: GCGCgctagcGACAGGTGGGTCCCGGCCGC IRF5 1B prom rev: GCAGagatctGCGGACCCCGCCCTACTCCA Nested PCR first round: IRF5 1A prom fwd + IRF5 1B prom rev Conditions: 94°C 30 s, 40 cycles of [94°C 15 s, 59.3°C 1 min, 68°C 30 s], 68°C 5 min Nested PCR second round: IRF5 1B prom fwd + IRF5 1B prom rev Conditions: 94°C 30 s, 40 cycles of [94°C 15 s, 66.0°C 1 min, 68°C 30 s], 68°C 5 min

IRF5 1C prom fwd: TAGTgctagcGCTGGTTTCCTCAGGTCCT IRF5 1C prom rev: CAGAagatctCAGCCCTGCCCTGGCCT Conditions: 94°C 30 s, 40 cycles of [94°C 15 s, 60.8°C 1 min, 68°C 2 min], 68°C 5 min

IRF5 1D prom fwd: ACATgctagCACCTGCTGCTGTTGACC IRF5 1D prom rev: TGGCagatctGTCATTTGACAACCCC Conditions: 94°C 30 s, 40 cycles of [94°C 15 s, 59.4°C 1 min, 68°C 1 min], 68°C 5 min

pGL4 sequencing fwd: CTAGCAAAATAGGCTGTCCC †PCR for these GC-rich promoters was performed using a High-GC kit (NEB) according to package instructions, with 10% enhancer solution included for all reactions except exon 1D.

4.6. Sequencing

For cloning of IRF5 splice variants, Takara Taq was used with LCL cDNA as template for reverse transcription PCR. After size separation on a 1.5% agarose gel, DNA was extracted from individual bands using a gel band extraction kit (Qiagen). Sequencing of IRF5 variants was performed using the forward or reverse primer used in PCR amplification. Plasmid sequencing used purified plasmid DNA and a primer upstream of the insertion site. Sequencing reactions used Big Dye terminator reagents and the 3730xl DNA analyzer (ABI). See Table 4 for primers.

4.7. Statistical analysis

An unpaired t-test or the Wilcoxon signed rank sum test was used to compare means for

mRNA and protein data, as noted. A paired t-test was used for imiquimod treated versus

untreated samples. Regression modeling of the polymorphisms' effect on mRNA and protein

levels used backward selection, and included calculating the ANOVA. Paired t-test was used for luciferase levels. An alpha of 0.05 and two-tailed *p*-values were used in all cases. For comparing mRNA half-life slopes, regression modeling was performed for analysis of covariance.

4.8. Computer Programs

RNA folding analysis was performed using mfold [151] under standard settings. Alignments and viewing of sequencing files were completed using MEGA 4.0 [178]. Densitometry on western blots was calculated using Quantity One software (BioRad). An analysis of the promoters for each of the four first exons of IRF5 was performed using the ENCODE ChIP-Seq data set [175] for determining actual binding factors on the genomic region, followed by determining a consensus site using the WebLogo data in FactorBook [177]. The consensus site was then used to search the proximal promoters (~200bp upstream from the +1 sites) to encounter a proposed binding site. Consensus site screening was performed using a custom searches of ambiguous nucleotides with MEGA [178]. This involved searching using the find function, which allows for searching using the ambiguous nucleotide code. For example, a search for GAW would highlight both GAA and GAT.

4.9. Western blotting

IRF5 protein levels were was analyzed in untreated cells that were washed in phosphatebuffered saline and lysed in Laemmli buffer. Lysates were triturated with a 25-gauge needle and boiled. Equal amounts of whole-cell lysate were loaded onto a 10% sodium dodecyl sulfatepolyacrylamide electrophoresis gel and transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane. The membrane was probed with antibodies to IRF5 (Abcam). The secondary antibodies used were horseradish peroxidase-conjugated anti-mouse antibodies (Thermo Scientific). Protein bands were visualized with the ECL system (General Electric). Membranes were stripped for reprobing with anti- β -actin antibody (NeoMarkers) and visualized again with the ECL system.

4.10. Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)

The levels of IL-10 and IL-6 were quantified using commercial ELISA kits from eBiosciences. Plates were read on a Biotek plate reader.

4.11. Information about microarray data

The experiments which resulted in the pathway figure (Figure 26) were done in collaboration with the Oklahoma Medical Research Foundation (OMRF); writing and data analysis were performed by Daniel Clark at BYU. The following materials and methods section is from the published paper [192].

Genetic testing was performed on samples obtained from the lupus family registry and repository at the Oklahoma Medical Research Foundation. Volunteers were selected based upon their *IRF5* risk and protective haplotypes using genotypes at single nucleotide polymorphisms rs2004640 and rs10954213. Five *IRF5* high-risk (three controls, two patients) and five *IRF5* protective (two controls, three patients) gender- and ethnicity- matched individuals were recruited. The study was approved by the institutional review board at all institutions, and informed consent was obtained from all subjects in the study. Total cellular mRNA was purified from lysates of infected versus mock-infected cells using the Ambion RNaqueous-Micro Kit (ABI) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Two-rounds of *in vitro* transcription were performed and RNA expression was analyzed on the Illumina platform using whole genome arrays (~25,000 genes).

The microarray data were analyzed using gene set enrichment analysis and pathway analysis to investigate changes in a gene networks. These analyses were followed by comparison of individual gene expression differences inside these networks. Pathway analyses were generated through the use of Ingenuity Pathways Analysis (Ingenuity Systems). A data set containing gene identifiers and corresponding expression values was uploaded into in the application. Each gene identifier was mapped to its corresponding gene object in the Ingenuity Pathways Knowledge Base. The expression values entered were the normalized log (intensity) values of *IRF5* protective and risk haplotype individuals.

Canonical pathways analysis identified the pathways from the Ingenuity Pathways Analysis library of canonical pathways that were most significant to the data set. The significance of the association between the data set and the canonical pathway was measured in two ways: 1) A ratio of the number of genes from the data set that map to the pathway divided by the total number of genes that map to the canonical pathway; 2) Fischer's exact-test was used to calculate a *p*-value determining the probability that the association between the genes in the dataset and the canonical pathway is explained by chance alone.

Appendix A. Effect of imiquimod

While testing the samples from Section 2.1 above, our experimental design was to stimulate cells with imiquimod to activate IRF5 through TLR7. This imiquimod treatment was used to evaluate whether the effect of the risk polymorphisms could be seen in a stimulated state that may not have been detectable in a resting state. In addition to our experimental design of activating IRF5, the imiquimod treatments also allow us to evaluate the effect of imiquimod itself. Expression of several genes was affected by imiquimod whether measured by SYBR green-based quantitative PCR (Figure 28A and 28B) or by ELISA (Figure 28C and 28D).



Figure 28. Altered gene expression due to imiquimod treatment by PCR or ELISA. (A) Genes whose expression increased and (B) genes whose expression decreased are shown by setting the untreated sample to 1 and -1, respectively. (C) Secreted IL-10 protein levels increase upon imiquimod stimulation by ELISA. (D) Secreted IL-6 protein levels increase in a dose-dependent manner upon imiquimod treatment by ELISA. ***: p<0.001, **p<0.01 by paired t-test

One interesting result was the decrease of IRF7 levels due to imiquimod. This is unprecedented to the author's knowledge. IRF7 is a lupus-risk gene, as noted above (Section 1.9.1). We assume that this could be due to the fact that the LCL cells used are EBV positive, and EBV's LMP1 gene interacts with IRF7 [221]. We then performed some experiments to evaluate what would

happen to the levels of these genes in the Ramos cells and primary B cells, since they are both EBV negative. The Ramos cells decreased in IRF7 levels as well (data not shown), although they are a Burkitt's lymphoma cell line, so they were once EBV positive and could have many changes due to the virus or the cancer state. B cells did show an increase in IRF7 levels, as is expected for TLR7 stimulation (data not shown). One possible interaction is with Epstein Barr virus induced 2 (EBI2), a human gene. EBI2 has been shown to be key to IRF7 signaling pathways [240]. Further work is needed to reveal if and how Epstein-Barr virus interferes with TLR7 and IRF7 signaling, and to determine what effect EBI2 has in these pathways.

Appendix B. Herpes simplex virus typing assay affected by region-specific phylogenetic changes

See attached publication [241]. This work was performed in collaboration with Dr. Brent Johnson, BYU, to determine why a commercial typing test failed. Upon testing, a small genetic change within herpes simplex virus 1 (HSV) glycoprotein G was determined to be the cause, changing the affinity of the typing antibody. Further analysis was performed to relate all of the then available glycoprotein G sequences phylogenetically. The phylogenetic tree was branched geographically, indicating a potential failure of this typing test in certain geographic regions.

The work is related to the other studies since it is another herpes virus, like EBV. HSV is not to the author's knowledge, an environmental trigger for SLE like EBV is.

SHORT REPORT



Open Access

Characterization of herpes simplex virus clinical isolate Y3369 as a glycoprotein G variant and its bearing on virus typing

Daniel N Clark¹, Brian D Poole^{1*}, Daniel V Hammond¹, Tyler J Hedman¹, Danny S Catts¹, Amanda Stewart¹ and F Brent Johnson^{1,2}

Abstract

Background: Herpes simplex viruses exist as two major serotypes, type 1 (HSV-1) and type 2 (HSV-2). Determination of type, either HSV-1 or HSV-2, is important in accurate diagnosis and clinical control of transmission. Several tests are available for typing HSV, including a monoclonal antibody specific for glycoprotein G and several PCR assays.

Findings: A clinical isolate was identified as herpes simplex virus, but tested negative for both HSV-1 and HSV-2 antigens using type-specific monoclonal antibody assays. The isolate was determined to be HSV-1 by PCR analysis. A mutation which likely caused the monoclonal antibody non-reactivity was found in glycoprotein G. Phylogenetic analysis revealed two groups of HSV, one with the mutation and one without. Three population studies examining mutations in HSV-1 glycoprotein G were analyzed by chi-squared test. To this point, the epitope which the monoclonal antibody recognizes was only found in HSV-1 isolates from human European populations (p < 0.0001).

Conclusions: These findings suggest that the PCR-based methods for HSV typing may be more useful than the standard monoclonal antibody test in areas of the world where the variant in glycoprotein G is more prevalent.

Keywords: Herpes Simplex Virus serotyping, glycoprotein G

Findings

Herpes simplex viruses exist as two major serotypes, type 1 (HSV-1) and type 2 (HSV-2). Determination of type, either HSV-1 or HSV-2, is important in accurate diagnosis and clinical control of transmission. Tests which can determine HSV type include viral antigen tests, serological tests of human antibodies and PCR [1,2]. The importance of glycoprotein G as the test analyte is emphasized by the 2002 STD Treatment Guidelines from the CDC: "Accurate type-specific assays for HSV antibodies must be based on the HSV-specific glycoprotein G2 for the diagnosis of infection with HSV-2 and glycoprotein G1 for diagnosis of infection with HSV-1." [3].

A clinical sample of a herpes simplex virus, designated Y3369 was isolated and proved refractory to typing. The

* Correspondence: brian_poole@byu.edu

¹Department of Microbiology and Molecular Biology, Brigham Young University, Provo, UT, 84602, USA isolate was obtained from an infected genital tract of a 48-year-old female patient. It was submitted to Richards Laboratories, Inc., Pleasant Grove, Utah, USA for diagnostic workup. The sample was incubated overnight, and then stained for virus-infected cells using a typecommon polyclonal primary antibody and visualized by the immunoperoxidase technique using a rapid culture method [4,5]. The culture showed an abundance of cells positive for antibody labeling and had HSV-typical cytopathic effects, confirming the presence of HSV in the specimen (results not shown).

The Y3369 isolate was then tested using the Wampole type-specific viral antigen test for HSV glycoprotein G. A viral stock culture was generated by inoculation of a portion of the rapid culture isolate into a culture of MV1Lu cells (mink lung, ATCC CCL-64). The specimen was also incubated in C1008 cells (Vero subline, ATCC CRL-1586) and subjected to similar serotypic analysis by staining with virus-specific monoclonal antibodies (mAbs)



© 2011 Clark et al; licensee BioMed Central Ltd. This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article

against HSV type 1 and type 2. These tests failed to yield a positive identification of the isolate as either HSV-1 or HSV-2 using type-specific mAb assays (Wampole Laboratories). The immunofluorescence result was negative against both reagent antisera in MV1Lu cells (Figure 1). The virus was also untypable in C1008 cells (not shown). The laboratory strains HSV-1 McIntyre and HSV-2 strain 333 were tested with mAb reagents and expected monotypic results were observed in these controls.

Determination of HSV type was done by PCR specific for the HSV pol gene using a common forward primer and type-specific reverse primers as performed by Abraham, et. al [6] and Kimura, et al. [7]. DNA was extracted (Invitrogen PureLink viral DNA/RNA mini kit) from purified virus of HSV-1 (McIntyre strain), HSV-2 (Strain 333), and from the Y3369 isolate. PCR products were then analyzed on a 1% agarose gel (Figure 2), which revealed that clinical isolate Y3369 contains the pol gene of an HSV-1 virus. To confirm the analysis, DNA was then extracted from the gel (QIAquick gel extraction kit, Qiagen) and sequenced (Parallab 350, ABI 3730xl). DNA sequencing confirmed Y3369 specimen was a strain of HSV-1 with the sequenced amplicon having 100% identity when compared to the published HSV-1 pol gene sequence (GenBank accession #X04771) and only 85% homology with the HSV-2 sequence.





Confirmation of the isolate as an HSV-1 strain was done by successful PCR amplification of HSV-1 genes UL1, UL10, UL22, glycoprotein D, and glycoprotein G (data not shown, see Table 1 for PCR conditions and primers).

Glycoprotein G was PCR amplified (see supplementary table) and sequenced. Examination of the sequences showed that the probable cause for the non-reactivity of the mAb assay was the presence of a valine residue in glycoprotein G at amino acid (AA) 111. This valine is near the immunodominant region of antibody binding during normal immune response [8]. Sequencing results were deposited [GenBank:HQ833203], and compared to other isolates on GenBank. Sequencing revealed that the clinical isolate Y3369 contains an amino acid sequence consistent with a common HSV-1 sequence found in many parts of the world [9] (Figure 3).

A meta analysis of three population studies which have sequenced this region of the HSV-1 US4 gene was conducted to determine the prevalence of valine at position 111, as was identified in our sample [9-11]. Included were isolates from individuals from China,

Table 1 PCR condistions and Prime	rs
-----------------------------------	----

Sequence
5'-GAGACCCCCTCGGCTATAAA-3'
5'-CGTTTCTGTTTCCTGGGTGT-3'
5'-GAGCCTTGTGGGCACTTATG-3'
5'-GTGATCTGCAGCAACCAAGA-3'
5'-AAACAAAAGCGCTCCTCGTA-3'
5'-GACAGACCCATGGTTTTTGG-3'
5'-GCTGTTTGCGGGTTGGCACA-3'
5'-TCCCCGCCCCATACCCTAC-3'
5'-TTTGTGTGGGTGCGTTCCGGT-3'
5'-TCCCATCCCAACCCCGCAGA-3'

PCR conditions for all reactions:

94°C 2 min, 40 cycles of [94°C 15 s, 57°C 15 s, 72°C 1:15], 72°C 2 min.



Japan, Kenya, South Korea, Sweden, and the United Kingdom. We discovered the valine at position 111 to be present in all HSV-1 isolates (100%, N = 141) taken from human populations from Asia and Africa. The other populations, from the UK and Sweden, contained the valine at position 111 in 36% (N = 185) of isolates (Figure 3). This valine at position 111 is located within the binding site for a commonly used typing mAb, which recognizes the epitope AFPL [10]. The phenylalanine is replaced to form the sequence AVPL in this variant.

Sequences for the middle region encoding AA 110 to 164 of glycoprotein G were analyzed and a phylogenetic tree created (Figure 4). Phylogenetic analysis groups our isolate Y3369 as an HSV-1 with sequence V (representing valine at 111) which contains the sequence AVPL instead of AFPL, as well as other common nucleotides as shown in Figure 4. All isolates from populations from Africa and Asia, as well as 36% of the European population contained the sequence AVPL, which would not be recognized by the mAb which tests for the AFPL epitope. Another study found that all isolates with a valine residue at position 111 of glycoprotein G were untypable when assaying viral antigens [10]. This specific test would not be likely to function diagnostically in these African or Asian populations.

Our analysis of these studies provides evidence that glycoprotein G variation is likely significant in clinical typing discrepancies and also in isolate variations. Analysis of the amino acid sequences of Y3369 and other isolates indicates that there is a shared significant



variation among HSV-1 strains that alters viral antigen assay specificity. PCR analysis is likely to succeed in HSV typing where the isolate is not recognized by the monoclonal antibody. In addition to results presented here, PCR has been used to type HSV samples on other occasions. In one study, 75 HSV-positive isolates yielded two which were untypable using type-specific antibody tests, later confirmed HSV-1 by PCR [12]. Another study yielded 1 untypable isolate of 37 tested HSV-positive isolates, which was also confirmed as HSV-1 by PCR [13]. These represent about 2% of the HSV-positive isolates in these two studies.

We have determined the presence of two phylogenetic groups of glycoprotein G. One group was only found in Europe (Figure 4, sequence F), and all the isolates in this group contain the epitope AFPL, which a common assay uses to type HSV-1. The other group (Figure 4, sequence V) was found in all tested regions, which include Africa, Asia and Europe. This group was characterized by the AVPL sequence. Y3369 is a member of this group. The two sequences differ by location statistically ($\chi^2 = 142.8$, p < 0.0001).

The identification of these two groups, as well as their localization to different parts of the world, may aid in developing strategies for clinical viral antigen assays for HSV typing. Although the isolates included in the meta analysis which have the AVPL sequence were not tested by us, they would likely fail to type as HSV-1 using this same test. It should be considered that tests for the viral antigen epitope AFLP be used with caution in Africa or Asia.

This variation may also alter the interaction of virus with host. The presence of the variations in the immunodominant region of the protein suggests these mutations could be a result of viral immune evasion. These mutations may also affect the functioning of glycoprotein G, which involves attachment and entry [14]. Further tests are being performed to study what other effects this mutation has on the virus's efficiency of infection.

Human Subjects

The specimen was submitted to a clinical laboratory for diagnostic workup by code number only and the work was performed under clinical laboratory licensure: Richards Laboratories of Utah, Inc., 55 East Center St., Pleasant Grove, UT 84062, Laboratory Director: Dr. F. Brent Johnson

List of abbreviations used

AA: amino acid; HSV: herpes simplex virus; mAb: monoclonal antibody;

Author details

¹Department of Microbiology and Molecular Biology, Brigham Young University, Provo, UT, 84602, USA. ²Richards Laboratories, Inc., Pleasant Grove, UT 84062, USA.

Authors' contributions

DC was involved in experimental design and data acquisition, performed data analysis, conducted the meta analysis, and wrote the manuscript and figures. BP designed the study, participated in data analysis, and aided in writing and reviewing the manuscript. DH designed the study, performed PCR, gels, and sequencing; and was involved in writing the manuscript. TH, DK and AS all participated in data acquisition and writing the manuscript. FBJ performed natigen testing, conceived of the study, participated in study design, and participated in manuscript writing. All authors have read and do approve the final manuscript.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests. This work was funded by Brigham Young University.

Received: 25 May 2011 Accepted: 9 June 2011 Published: 9 June 2011

References

- Ashley R, Cent A, Maggs V, Nahmias A, Corey L: Inability of enzyme immunoassays to discriminate between infections with herpes simplex virus types 1 and 2. Ann Intern Med 1991, 115:520-526.
- Morrow RA, Friedrich D: Inaccuracy of certain commercial enzyme immunoassays in diagnosing genital infections with herpes simplex virus types 1 or 2. Am J Clin Pathol 2003, 120:839-844.

- Workowski KA, Levine WC: Sexually transmitted diseases treatment guidelines 2002. MMWR: Morbidity & Mortality Weekly Report 2002, 51:1.
- Johnson FB, Luker G, Chow C: Comparison of shell vial culture and the suspension infection method for the rapid detection of herpes-simplex viruses. Diagnostic Microbiology and Infectious Disease 1993, 16:61-66.
- Johnson FB, Visick EM: A rapid culture alternative to the shell-vial method for the detection of herpes-simplex virus. *Diagnostic Microbiology and Infectious Disease* 1992, 15:673-678.
- Abraham AM, Babu M, Kavitha S, Jesudason MV, Sridharan G: A molecular method for typing herpes simplex virus isolates as an alternative to immunofluorescence methods. *Indian J Med Microbiol* 2009, 27:22-26.
- Kimura H, Shibata M, Kuzushima K, Nishikawa K, Nishiyama Y, Morishima T: Detection and direct typing of herpes simplex virus by polymerase chain reaction. *Medical Microbiology and Immunology* 1990, 179:177-184.
- Tunbäck P, Liljeqvist JÅ, Löwhagen GB, Bergström T: Glycoprotein G of herpes simplex virus type 1: Identification of type-specific epitopes by human antibodies. *Journal of General Virology* 2000, 81:1033-1040.
- Bowden R, Sakaoka H, Ward R, Donnelly P: Patterns of Eurasian HSV-1 molecular diversity and inferences of human migrations. *Infect Genet Evol* 2006, 6:63-74.
- Rekabdar E, Tunbäck P, Liljeqvist JÅ, Lindh M, Bergstrom T: Dichotomy of glycoprotein G gene in herpes simplex virus type 1 isolates. J Clin Microbiol 2002, 40:3245-3251.
- Norberg P, Bergström T, Rekabdar E, Lindh M, Lijeqvist J: Phylogenetic analysis of clinical herpes simplex virus type 1 isolates identified three genetic groups and recombinant viruses. *Journal of Virology* 2004, 78:10755-10764.
- Burrows J, Nitsche A, Bayly B, Walker E, Higgins G, Kok T: Detection and subtyping of herpes simplex virus in clinical samples by LightCycler PCR, enzyme immunoassay and cell culture. *BMC Microbiology* 2002, 2:12.
- Coyle PV, Desai A, Wyatt D, McCaughey C, O'Neill HJ: A comparison of virus isolation, indirect immunofluorescence and nested multiplex polymerase chain reaction for the diagnosis of primary and recurrent herpes simplex type 1 and type 2 infections. *Journal of Virological Methods* 1999, 83:75-82.
- 14. Tran LC, Kissner JM, Westerman LE, Sears AE: A herpes simplex virus 1 recombinant lacking the glycoprotein G coding sequences is defective in entry through apical surfaces of polarized epithelial cells in culture and in vivo. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 2000, 97:1818-1822.
- Tamura K, Dudley J, Nei M, Kumar S: MEGA4: Molecular evolutionary genetics analysis (MEGA) software version 4.0. Molecular Biology and Evolution 2007, 24:1596-1599.

doi:10.1186/1743-422X-8-290

Cite this article as: Clark *et al.*: Characterization of herpes simplex virus clinical isolate Y3369 as a glycoprotein G variant and its bearing on virus typing. *Virology Journal* 2011 **8**:290.

Submit your next manuscript to BioMed Central and take full advantage of:

- Convenient online submission
- Thorough peer review
- No space constraints or color figure charges
- Immediate publication on acceptance
- Inclusion in PubMed, CAS, Scopus and Google Scholar
- Research which is freely available for redistribution

) BioMed Central

Submit your manuscript at www.biomedcentral.com/submit

Appendix C. Review of interferon alpha in systemic lupus erythematosus

See attached publication [26]. This work was a review article written in collaboration with members of the lab of Timothy Niewold. This work was not directly included in the dissertation, although some of the same information may be mentioned.

Review Article Interferon Alpha in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus

Timothy B. Niewold,¹ Daniel N. Clark,² Rafah Salloum,¹ and Brian D. Poole²

¹ Section of Rheumatology and Gwen Knapp Center for Lupus and Immunology Research, The University of Chicago, Chicago, IL 60637, USA

² Department of Microbiology and Molecular Biology, Brigham Young University, Provo, UT 84602, USA

Correspondence should be addressed to Brian D. Poole, bpoole@gmail.com

Received 22 January 2010; Accepted 20 May 2010

Academic Editor: Charles Via

Copyright © 2010 Timothy B. Niewold et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

The pleiotropic cytokine interferon alpha is involved in multiple aspects of lupus etiology and pathogenesis. Interferon alpha is important under normal circumstances for antiviral responses and immune activation. However, heightened levels of serum interferon alpha and expression of interferon response genes are common in lupus patients. Lupus-associated autoantibodies can drive the production of interferon alpha and heightened levels of interferon interfere with immune regulation. Several genes in the pathways leading to interferon production or signaling are associated with risk for lupus. Clinical and cellular manifestations of excess interferon alpha in lupus combined with the genetic risk factors associated with interferon make this cytokine a rare bridge between genetic risk and phenotypic effects. Interferon alpha influences the clinical picture of lupus and may represent a therapeutic target. This paper provides an overview of the cellular, genetic, and clinical aspects of interferon alpha in lupus.

1. Introduction

In systemic lupus erythematosus, a finely tuned system of cells and signals is dysregulated, and the balance between tolerance and autoimmunity is disrupted. Cytokines, as a fundamental mechanism through which the immune system is kept in balance, play an important role in the etiology and pathogenesis of lupus. An example of an important cytokine involved in lupus etiology and pathogenesis is interferon alpha (IFN α).

IFN α is a pleiotropic cytokine that can affect multiple cell types involved in lupus. Several genes in the interferon pathway are associated with risk for lupus, suggesting a role for this pathway in etiology. Additionally, increased IFN α levels and expression of IFN response genes are often found in lupus. IFN α may affect the clinical manifestations of lupus and is a promising target for therapeutic interventions.

2. Cellular Aspects of IFN*α* in Lupus

Interferon alpha (IFN α) is a key molecule in immune regulation. It is produced by multiple cell types in response

to viral infection. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells have a special role in the production of IFN α and are the main sources of serum interferon [1]. IFN α has the potential to dramatically influence the development, progression, and pathogenesis of SLE as it can influence the function and activation state of most major immune cell subsets and function as a bridge between innate and adaptive immunity.

2.1. Toll-Like Receptors and Interferon. One of the principal mechanisms through which IFN α is produced is through Toll-like receptor (TLR) signaling [2, 3]. TLR7 recognizes single-stranded RNA, culminating in interferon regulatory factor (IRF) 5 and IRF7 activation [4] and production of IFN [5–7]. Excessive TLR 7 signaling produces lupus-like autoimmunity in male Yaa mice, where an extra copy of the TLR7 gene is present on the Y chromosome [8–10]. The autoimmune phenotype conferred by the Yaa genotype is dependent on IFN α , and addition of IFN α can partially duplicate the Yaa phenotype [11]. Additionally, knocking out the IRF7 gene or inhibiting its action with pharmacologic agents inhibits antibody production against RNA-containing



FIGURE 1: Putative source and effects of interferon alpha in lupus. RNA-containing complexes from apoptotic cells are bound by autoantibodies. These immune complexes are internalized after binding to FC receptors on plasmacytoid dendritic cells and stimulate toll-like receptors in the endosomes. Toll-like receptor ligation drives production of interferon alpha, leading to alteration of T-cell profiles, disruption of regulatory T-cell networks, and alteration of B-cell development.

nuclear components [12], suggesting that TLR7 is essential for this type of autoantibody production.

A characteristic of many cases of lupus is the production of antibodies against RNA-containing protein complexes such as Sm, nRNP, Ro, and La. In fact, antibodies against the spliceosomal protein Sm are so specific for lupus that they are used as a diagnostic criterion. The RNA found in these complexes is capable of promoting the production of IFN α through the stimulation of TLR7 [3, 13] (Figure 1).

Because TLR7 is located in the endosomes, RNAcontaining complexes must access the interior of the cell before they are able to act as activators. Autoantibodies specific for these lupus-associated riboproteins can bind with antigens derived from apoptotic cells and form antibodyprotein-RNA complexes. The Fc portions of the immune complexes are recognized and internalized by cells with Fc receptors, providing a route of entry for RNA to reach TLR7, resulting in interferon alpha production [3, 14]. This process is especially well established in PDCs [15, 16]. Interestingly, in addition to being produced as a result of TLR7 ligation, IFN α enhances TLR7 signaling in PDCs [17, 18], forming a positive feedback loop. Despite these data and the strong association between SLE-associated autoantibodies and serum IFN α , SLE-associated autoantibodies are not sufficient for high serum IFN α in humans *in vivo* [19]. Healthy subjects with anti-Ro antibodies do not have high serum IFN- α , while a significant proportion of anti-Ro positive patients with SLE or Sjogren's syndrome do have high serum IFN α , suggesting that these autoantibodies require other disease-associated factors to result in high serum IFN α in humans.

2.2. IFN α and Adaptive Immune Regulation. Excess serum IFN α and IFN-response gene expression are characteristics of lupus and are most likely the result of excessive PDC activation. Such high levels of interferon could contribute to lupus by promoting immune activation rather than tolerance. Dendritic cells are the primary activators of T cells, and affect both T-cell tolerance and activation, depending on the state of the dendritic cell. When treated with interferon alpha, dendritic cells mature and become more prone to activate T cells [20, 21]. Myeloid dendritic cells from lupus patients are able to phagocytose and present self-antigens to T cells in a stimulatory, rather than regulatory manner, a process which is interferon-dependent [22]. Such a process likely contributes to loss of T-cell tolerance to self-antigens and subsequent autoimmunity.

Exposure of the dendritic cell to IFN α contributes to T cell polarity. When CD4+ T cells are activated in the presence of IFN α -producing dendritic cells, their polarity is shifted towards IFN- γ producing cells rather than IL-4 producing cells [23, 24], which may promote autoimmunity or immune dysregulation. The T-cells activated by IFN α -treated dendritic cells also are enriched for T-follicular helper cells, a recently described cell type which are adept at activating B cells and driving antibody production [25].

Regulatory T cells (T-reg) are attracting increased attention as a mechanism of immune regulation and suppression of autoimmunity. In lupus, T-regs are often, though not always, found in lower numbers than in controls [26– 31]. Those T-regs that are present in lupus are inefficient at suppressing inflammation and T-cell proliferation [27, 29, 30, 32]. T-reg development is suppressed by treatment of dendritic cells with IFN α [33]. In lupus patients, Treg activity is diminished, due at least in part to the action of IFN α [34] indicating that increased IFN α levels in lupus patients is likely contributing to the development or maintenance of autoimmunity through suppression of T-reg cells.

B cells are important in lupus, since humoral autoimmunity is a hallmark of the disease. IFN α can prevent apoptosis and enhance proliferation of primary B cells, even in the absence of mitogenic stimuli [35]. Interestingly, isolated B cells are inhibited from developing into antibodyproducing plasma cells by IFN α treatment [36]. However, this inhibition is reversed if the B cells are allowed to come into contact with monocytes, in which case IFN α actually stimulates B-cell development and antibody production [37]. The ability of IFN α to influence the activation and function of many major immune cell subsets is a testament to the wide and far-reaching effects of this cytokine. It is clear that interferon is dysregulated in lupus and that overexpression of IFN α can result from the autoantibodies present in lupus. Many components of the molecular pathways through which IFN α and TLRs drive immune activation include genetic risk factors for lupus, further implicating IFN α in lupus etiology and pathogenesis.

3. IFN and IFN-Related Genes Associated with SLE Risk

Lupus involves a combination of both environmental and genetic factors. Support for a genetic component includes a high sibling risk ratio [8-29], high heritability (greater than 66%), and higher concordance rates between monozygotic twins (20 to 40%) as compared to other full siblings and dizygotic twins (2 to 5%) [38, 39]. A large number of genetic risk factors are associated with increased susceptibility to the SLE. This genetically determined increased risk status has been referred to as a "threshold liability" [40], which is expected to be highly polygenic in nature and widely variable between individuals. Environmental factors also affect lupus susceptibility and likely interact with this "threshold liability", but as in the case of genetic factors, there is no single environmental cause. A person may have only a few of the genetic risk variations and never get SLE despite exposure to environmental triggers. In contrast, another person may have many of these variations and then develop SLE on first exposure to an environmental trigger.

3.1. Lupus-Associated Risk Loci. Research into the etiopathogenesis of SLE has recently been advanced by several large scale case-control genetic studies, including genome-wide association scans. There is now a pool of approximately 30 genes that have been associated with SLE susceptibility with a high degree of statistical certainty and many others with probable evidence for association (reviewed in [41-45]). With this large number of SLE-associated genes, we can begin to group the list of identified SLE associated genes which should provide insight into initial disease pathogenesis into functional categories. These categories include TLR and IFN signaling, apoptosis and clearance of immune complexes, and B- and T-cell signaling. Several genes affecting the interferon pathway have been associated with risk for lupus. The Interferon pathway normally serves an important function in defense against viral infection. Yet in people with genetic predisposition, environmental triggers such as viral infections may tip the scales in favor of autoimmunity.

Once a genetic variation is identified, functional inference then characterization is necessary to move from identification to an understanding of how the variation affects the etiology or pathogenesis of SLE. Since most of the genes involved in genetic susceptibility to SLE have been identified only recently, there remains much work to identify the functional differences in the genetic associations. However, work done thus far in human cohorts is promising, and the categories of genes and loci associated with risk of lupus already suggest pathways that are of high importance.

3.2. Interferon Regulatory Factors. Certain lupus-associated genetic variations have been shown to directly increase IFN α levels or response to IFN α signaling. Interferon regulatory factor 5 (IRF5) has been confirmed as a risk locus in several different ethnic groups [46–50]. Three main functional variants in IRF5 have been described, which combine to form a risk haplotype in individuals of European descent [51]. One of these loci, at rs2004640, creates an alternate splice site (exon 1B) in the untranslated first exon. Another is a copy number variation of a 30-bp insertion/deletion sequence in exon 6, and the final is rs10954213, which creates an alternate polyadenylation site, resulting in shorter, stabler mRNA [52].

Since IRF5 activates IFN α production, these more stable variants may pose a risk due to their ability to produce excess IFN α . In fact, studies of this gene in human SLE cohorts have shown that the risk variant predisposes to greater serum IFN- α , supporting the idea that the risk haplotype is a gain-of-function variant [53]. IRF5 itself is activated by IFN α signaling, producing a potential positive feedback loop. Another IRF, IRF7, has been highlighted by the association of the IRF7/KIAA1542 locus with lupus in recent studies [54, 55]. Several SNPs in this area were shown to correlate with IFN α levels and alter autoantibody profiles in certain ethnicities [56].

IRF5 and IRF7 are activated by signaling through the endosomal toll-like receptors (TLRs) 7, 8, and 9. Interestingly, both of the IRF variants which are implicated in SLE predispose to higher serum IFN- α , but only in the presence of SLE-associated autoantibodies [53, 56] suggesting that these autoantibodies may provide chronic stimulation of the endosomal TLR pathway of IFN- α generation that when combined with gain-of-function polymorphisms in the IRFs results in dysregulation of the pathway in vivo. Additionally, TLRs 8 and 9 were identified in recent studies as containing susceptibility loci to SLE [57, 58]. The role of TLRs in the interferon production was discussed above.

3.3. Interferon-Associated Genes. Another confirmed locus of susceptibility is in the gene encoding IL1 receptorassociated kinase 1 (IRAK1). This kinase is part of the signal transduction which follows TLR ligation. In a mouse model of lupus, IRAK deficiency eliminated most lupus symptoms, showing the importance of this key intermediate [59]. Since this gene is on the X chromosome, gene dosage may contribute to the risk and the prevalence of the disease in women [59].

Two interacting proteins involved in inflammation, TNF α -induced protein 3 (TNFAIP3) and TNFAIP3-interacting protein 1 (TNIP1), have been identified as risk loci [60–64]. TNFAIP3 encodes the protein A20, which helps turn off signaling through NF κ B after an inflammatory response [65, 66]. TNIP1 interacts with TNFAIP3 and is involved in several signal transduction pathways.



FIGURE 2: Multiple genes involved in interferon production and regulation are associated with risk for lupus. Shown are components of the signal transduction pathway from TLR stimulation by nucleic acids to IFN production. Genes that have been associated with risk for lupus are marked (*). IFN: interferon, IRAK: interleukin-1 receptor-associated kinase, IRF: interferon regulatory factor, MyD88: myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88, OPN: osteopontin, pDC: plasmacytoid dendritic cell, TLR: toll-like receptor, TNFAIP3: tumor necrosis factor alpha induced protein 3, TNIP1: TNFAIP3 interacting protein 1, and TRAF6: tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated factor 6.

Signal transducer and activator of transcription 4 (STAT4) is another risk locus with direct links to the interferon pathway. It is involved in proliferation, differentiation, and apoptosis. STAT4 has 2 risk loci, one at rs7574865 which has been shown to increase sensitivity to IFN α [67], and another at rs3821236 which increases STAT4 transcription and interacts with IRF5 susceptibility loci [68]. The presence of both of these risk alleles gives an additive effect, increasing risk to SLE [69]. Osteopontin (OPN) is a key molecule for IFN α production in pDCs [70]. Presence of a lupus risk-associated form of this gene was recently tied to high IFN levels in males and young-onset female lupus patients [71].

Possible interactions of the IFN-associated genes that have been linked to lupus are shown in Figure 2. The risk variants of these genes influence the production of and response to IFN α , likely driving the increased levels seen in lupus patients and affecting the clinical manifestations of the disease.

4. Clinical Aspects of IFNα in Lupus

Lupus primarily affects women in the reproductive years; however people of all ages, genders, and ancestral backgrounds are susceptible. Disease features range from mild manifestations such as rash or arthritis to life-threatening end-organ manifestations such as glomerulonephritis or thrombosis, and it is difficult to predict which manifestations will affect a given patient. 4.1. IFN- α as a Causal Factor in Human Lupus. A number of patients treated with IFN α have developed lupus or lupus-like syndrome [72-74]. In these reports, many specific manifestations of idiopathic lupus such as malar or discoid rash, oral ulcers, photosensitivity, renal involvement, and anti-Sm and anti-dsDNA antibodies were represented, suggesting that these cases were not "drug-induced" SLE but instead resembled idiopathic SLE [73]. Discontinuation of IFN α typically resulted in remission of SLE symptoms [73], supporting a causal relationship with IFN- α . While only a minority of patients treated with IFN α develop SLE (<1%) of patients) [75], these data support the idea that IFN α can be sufficient to induce SLE in some individuals. Many more IFN α -treated individuals develop a "lupus-like" syndrome [74], with some SLE symptoms which are insufficient to meet formal diagnostic criteria for SLE [76]. IFN-induced SLE can be severe, and there are reports of life-threatening multiorgan SLE involvement including glomerulonephritis, serositis, discoid rash, myopericarditis, and vasculitis [77, 78].

Another finding which supports the hypothesis of IFN α as a primary causal factor in human SLE is the clustering of high serum IFN α in lupus families [79]. Patients with lupus and their healthy relatives have higher serum IFN α activity as compared to healthy unrelated individuals [79]. Strong familial correlations in serum IFN α were observed regardless of disease status (affecteds versus unaffecteds), and SLE probands in the same family tended to have similar IFN α levels [79]. Spouses of SLE patients did not have high serum IFN α activity, and taken together these data suggest that high serum IFN α is a heritable risk factor for SLE. Interestingly, age-related patterns of serum IFN α were also observed in SLE families in which the ages of highest IFN α mirrored the ages of peak SLE incidence [80, 81]. The discovery of several lupus risk loci in IFN-related genes provides further support for the above observation that serum IFN- α is heritable, and the SLE risk variants of each of these genes result in a gain of function increase in IFN α signaling as detailed above.

4.2. Clinical Correlations with IFN Alpha. A very strong correlation is consistently observed between the presence of SLE-associated autoantibodies, such as anti-Ro, anti-La, anti-Sm, anti-RNP, and anti-dsDNA [79, 82]. Lupus patients with high serum IFN α had a significantly higher prevalence of cutaneous and renal disease in most studies [82–84]. It is interesting that both of these clinical manifestations share an association with a particular serology (rash with anti-Ro and nephritis with anti-dsDNA), and whether these clinical manifestations are associated independent of serology has not been shown to our knowledge.

A number of studies have shown that IFN α correlates with disease activity when assessed cross sectionally [82–85]. Results are conflicting regarding the potential fluctuation of IFN α with disease activity in SLE, and there are a number of studies which did not find a longitudinal correlation [86, 87]. In these studies, a cross-sectional relationship between IFN α and disease activity is still observed, suggesting that IFN α may indicate those patients who generally have higher
disease activity as compared to other patients. A recent prospective study evaluated the utility of serum interferonregulated chemokine levels as potential biomarkers of SLE disease activity [88]. In this study, IFN α -induced chemokines correlated with disease activity cross sectionally, rose at the time of a flare, and decreased as the disease remitted [88]. In this same study, high chemokine levels were predictive of SLE flare over the next year in a subset of patients.

4.3. Anti-IFN α Therapies in Lupus. Given all of the studies presented above, there has been considerable interest in therapies which block IFN α . To date there is one published study describing a phase I trial of a fully human monoclonal antibody that binds to the majority of the subtypes of human interferon alpha [89]. Treatment with this anti-IFN antibody resulted in a dose-dependent inhibition of interferon-induced gene expression in peripheral blood cells as well as skin lesions in patients with mild to moderate SLE [89]. No obvious safety signals were reported during the phase I trial of anti-IFN therapy, and the proof-ofprinciple analyses supported a biological effect blocking the IFN pathway in humans. Phase two trials to assess efficacy of these agents in treating SLE are currently underway. There are many known predictors of high serum IFN α in SLE patients, including both serologic and genetic markers outlined in this paper. We anticipate that incorporation of these variables into clinical trial design would enhance efficacy and potentially minimize side effects by targeting the most relevant patient group. Long-term safety data will be important, since IFN α is such a highly conserved and important immunological mediator of viral defense.

5. Conclusions

IFN- α is associated with SLE through multiple lines of evidence. These include genetic, immunological/serological, and clinical associations, as described in this review. It is likely that IFN- α plays a key role in SLE etiology, pathogenesis, and/or disease persistence. Despite this large body of evidence associating IFN-alpha with lupus, the association between interferon alpha and SLE is largely inferential. The exact cellular and immunological mechanisms through which IFN affects lupus also remain undiscovered for the most part. These mechanisms and pathways are potentially fertile areas for future investigation. Such studies will likely lead to new therapeutic targets as well as a greater understanding of lupus as a disease.

References

- P. Fitzgerald-Bocarsly, J. Dai, and S. Singh, "Plasmacytoid dendritic cells and type I IFN: 50 years of convergent history," *Cytokine and Growth Factor Reviews*, vol. 19, no. 1, pp. 3–19, 2008.
- [2] T. Ito, Y.-H. Wang, and Y.-J. Liu, "Plasmacytoid dendritic cell precursors/type I interferon-producing cells sense viral infection by Toll-like receptor (TLR) 7 and TLR9," *Springer Seminars in Immunopathology*, vol. 26, no. 3, pp. 221–229, 2005.

- [3] T. Lövgren, M.-L. Eloranta, B. Kastner, M. Wahren-Herlenius, G. V. Alm, and L. Rönnblom, "Induction of interferonalpha by immune complexes or liposomes containing systemic lupus erythematosus autoantigen- and Sjogren's syndrome autoantigen-associated RNA," *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, vol. 54, no. 6, pp. 1917–1927, 2006.
- [4] A. Schoenemeyer, B. J. Barnes, M. E. Mancl et al., "The interferon regulatory factor, IRF5, is a central mediator of tolllike receptor 7 signaling," *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 280, no. 17, pp. 17005–17012, 2005.
- [5] K. Hoshino, T. Sugiyama, M. Matsumoto et al., "I κ B kinase- α is critical for interferon- α production induced by Toll-like receptors 7 and 9," *Nature*, vol. 440, no. 7086, pp. 949–953, 2006.
- [6] T. Kawai, S. Sato, K. J. Ishii et al., "Interferon-α induction through Toll-like receptors involves a direct interaction of IRF7 with MyD88 and TRAF6," *Nature Immunology*, vol. 5, no. 10, pp. 1061–1068, 2004.
- [7] S. Löseke, E. Grage-Griebenow, H. Heine et al., "In vitro-generated viral double-stranded RNA in contrast to polyinosinic: polycytidylic acid induces interferon-α in human plasmacytoid dendritic cells," *Scandinavian Journal of Immunology*, vol. 63, no. 4, pp. 264–274, 2006.
- [8] A.-M. Fairhurst, S.-H. Hwang, A. Wang et al., "Yaa autoimmune phenotypes are conferred by overexpression of TLR7," *European Journal of Immunology*, vol. 38, no. 7, pp. 1971–1978, 2008.
- [9] P. Pisitkun, J. A. Deane, M. J. Difilippantonio, T. Tarasenko, A. B. Satterthwaite, and S. Bolland, "Autoreactive B cell responses to RNA-related antigens due to TLR7 gene duplication," *Science*, vol. 312, no. 5780, pp. 1669–1672, 2006.
- [10] S. Subramanian, K. Tus, Q.-Z. Li et al., "A Tlr7 translocation accelerates systemic autoimmunity in murine lupus," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 103, no. 26, pp. 9970–9975, 2006.
- [11] M. Ramanujam, P. Kahn, W. Huang et al., "Interferon-α treatment of Female (NZW × BXSB)F1 mice mimics some but not all features associated with the Yaa mutation," *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, vol. 60, no. 4, pp. 1096–1101, 2009.
- [12] F. J. Barrat, T. Meeker, J. H. Chan, C. Guiducci, and R. L. Coffmann, "Treatment of lupus-prone mice with a dual inhibitor of TLR7 and TLR9 leads to reduction of autoan-tibody production and amelioration of disease symptoms," *European Journal of Immunology*, vol. 37, no. 12, pp. 3582–3586, 2007.
- [13] F. J. Barrat, T. Meeker, J. Gregorio et al., "Nucleic acids of mammalian origin can act as endogenous ligands for Toll-like receptors and may promote systemic lupus erythematosus," *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, vol. 202, no. 8, pp. 1131– 1139, 2005.
- [14] F. Batteux, P. Palmer, M. Daëron, B. Weill, and P. Lebon, "FCyRII (CD32)-dependent induction of interferon-alpha by serum from patients with lupus erythematosus," *European Cytokine Network*, vol. 10, no. 4, pp. 509–514, 1999.
- [15] U. Båve, M. Magnusson, M.-L. Eloranta, A. Perers, G. V. Alm, and L. Rönnblom, "FcyRIIa is expressed on natural IFN-αproducing cells (plasmacytoid dendritic cells) and is required for the IFN-α production induced by apoptotic cells combined with Lupus IgG," *Journal of Immunology*, vol. 171, no. 6, pp. 3296–3302, 2003.
- [16] E. Savarese, O.-W. Chae, S. Trowitzsch et al., "U1 small nuclear ribonucleoprotein immune complexes induce type I interferon in plasmacytoid dendritic cells through TLR7," *Blood*, vol. 107, no. 8, pp. 3229–3234, 2006.

- [17] D. Rajagopal, C. Paturel, Y. Morel, S. Uematsu, S. Akira, and S. S. Diebold, "Plasmacytoid dendritic cell-derived type I interferon is crucial for the adjuvant activity of Toll-like receptor 7 agonists," *Blood*, vol. 115, no. 10, pp. 1949–1957, 2010.
- [18] C. Asselin-Paturel, G. Brizard, K. Chemin et al., "Type I interferon dependence of plasmacytoid dendritic cell activation and migration," *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, vol. 201, no. 7, pp. 1157–1167, 2005.
- [19] T. B. Niewold, T. L. Rivera, J. P. Buyon, and M. K. Crow, "Serum type I interferon activity is dependent on maternal diagnosis in anti-SSA/Ro-positive mothers of children with neonatal lupus," *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, vol. 58, no. 2, pp. 541–546, 2008.
- [20] A. Farkas, G. Tonel, and F. O. Nestle, "Interferon-α and viral triggers promote functional maturation of human monocytederived dendritic cells," *British Journal of Dermatology*, vol. 158, no. 5, pp. 921–929, 2008.
- [21] M. Sakakibara, T. Kanto, M. Inoue et al., "Quick generation of fully mature dendritic cells from monocytes with OK432, low-dose prostanoid, and interferon- α as potent immune enhancers," *Journal of Immunotherapy*, vol. 29, no. 1, pp. 67– 77, 2006.
- [22] P. Blanco, A. K. Palucka, M. Gill, V. Pascual, and J. Banchereau, "Induction of dendritic cell differentiation by IFN- α in systemic lupus erythematosus," *Science*, vol. 294, no. 5546, pp. 1540–1543, 2001.
- [23] T. Ito, R. Amakawa, M. Inaba et al., "Plasmacytoid dendritic cells regulate Th cell responses through OX40 ligand and type I IFNs," *Journal of Immunology*, vol. 172, no. 7, pp. 4253–4259, 2004.
- [24] M. Mohty, A. Vialle-Castellano, J. A. Nunes, D. Isnardon, D. Olive, and B. Gaugler, "IFN-α skews monocyte differentiation into toll-like receptor 7-expressing dendritic cells with potent functional activities," *Journal of Immunology*, vol. 171, no. 7, pp. 3385–3393, 2003.
- [25] H. Cucak, U. Yrlid, B. Reizis, U. Kalinke, and B. Johansson-Lindbom, "Type I interferon signaling in dendritic cells stimulates the development of lymph-node-resident T follicular helper cells," *Immunity*, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 491–501, 2009.
- [26] S. Baráth, P. Soltész, E. Kiss et al., "The severity of systemic lupus erythematosus negatively correlates with the increasing number of CD4⁺CD25^{high}FoxP3⁺ regulatory T cells during repeated plasmapheresis treatments of patients," *Autoimmunity*, vol. 40, no. 7, pp. 521–528, 2007.
- [27] M. Bonelli, A. Savitskaya, K. Von Dalwigk et al., "Quantitative and qualitative deficiencies of regulatory T cells in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE)," *International Immunology*, vol. 20, no. 7, pp. 861–868, 2008.
- [28] S. Hu, W. Xiao, F. Kong, D. Ke, R. Qin, and M. Su, "Regulatory T cells and their molecular markers in peripheral blood of the patients with systemic lupus erythematosus," *Journal* of Huazhong University of Science and Technology—Medical Science, vol. 28, no. 5, pp. 549–552, 2008.
- [29] J.-L. Suen, H.-T. Li, Y.-J. Jong, B.-L. Chiang, and J.-H. Yen, "Altered homeostasis of CD4⁺FoxP3⁺ regulatory T-cell subpopulations in systemic lupus erythematosus," *Immunology*, vol. 127, no. 2, pp. 196–205, 2009.
- [30] R. K. C. Venigalla, T. Tretter, S. Krienke et al., "Reduced CD4⁺,CD25-T cell sensitivity to the suppressive function of CD4⁺, CD25^{high}, CD127^{-/low} regulatory T cells in patients with active systemic lupus erythematosus," *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, vol. 58, no. 7, pp. 2120–2130, 2008.

- [31] J. Yates, A. Whittington, P. Mitchell, R. I. Lechler, L. Lightstone, and G. Lombardi, "Natural regulatory T cells: number and function are normal in the majority of patients with lupus nephritis," *Clinical and Experimental Immunology*, vol. 153, no. 1, pp. 44–55, 2008.
- [32] J. Gómez, C. Prado, P. López, A. Suárez, and C. Gutiérrez, "Conserved anti-proliferative effect and poor inhibition of TNFα secretion by regulatory CD4⁺CD25⁺ T cells in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus," *Clinical Immunology*, vol. 132, no. 3, pp. 385–392, 2009.
- [33] M. Gigante, M. Mandic, A. K. Wesa et al., "Interferon-alpha (IFN-α)-conditioned DC preferentially stimulate type-1 and limit treg-type in vitro T-cell responses from RCC patients," *Journal of Immunotherapy*, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 254–262, 2008.
- [34] B. Yan, S. Ye, G. Chen, M. Kuang, N. Shen, and S. Chen, "Dysfunctional CD4⁺,CD25⁺ regulatory T cells in untreated active systemic lupus erythematosus secondary to interferonα-producing antigen-presenting cells," *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, vol. 58, no. 3, pp. 801–812, 2008.
- [35] K. Ruuth, L. Carlsson, B. Hallberg, and E. Lundgren, "Interferon-α promotes survival of human primary Blymphocytes via phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase," *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, vol. 284, no. 3, pp. 583–586, 2001.
- [36] H. Oka, S. Hirohata, T. Inoue, and K. Ito, "Effects of interferon-α on human B cell responsiveness: biphasic effects in cultures stimulated with Staphylococcus aureus," *Cellular Immunology*, vol. 139, no. 2, pp. 478–492, 1992.
- [37] H. Oka and S. Hirohata, "Regulation of human B cell responsiveness by interferon-α: interferon-α-mediated suppression of B cell function is reversed through direct interactions between monocytes and B cells," *Cellular Immunology*, vol. 146, no. 2, pp. 238–248, 1993.
- [38] D. Alarcón-Segovia, M. E. Alarcón-Riquelme, M. H. Cardiel et al., "Familial aggregation of systemic lupus erythematosus, rheumatoid arthritis, and other autoimmune diseases in 1,177 lupus patients from the GLADEL cohort," *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, vol. 52, no. 4, pp. 1138–1147, 2005.
- [39] D. Deapen, A. Escalante, L. Weinrib et al., "A revised estimate of twin concordance in systemic lupus erythematosus," *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, vol. 35, no. 3, pp. 311–318, 1992.
- [40] A. Wandstrat and E. Wakeland, "The genetics of complex autoimmune diseases: non-MHC susceptibility genes," *Nature Immunology*, vol. 2, no. 9, pp. 802–809, 2001.
- [41] G. D. Sebastiani and M. Galeazzi, "Immunogenetic studies on systemic lupus erythematosus," *Lupus*, vol. 18, no. 10, pp. 878– 883, 2009.
- [42] K. L. Moser, J. A. Kelly, C. J. Lessard, and J. B. Harley, "Recent insights into the genetic basis of systemic lupus erythematosus," *Genes and Immunity*, vol. 10, no. 5, pp. 373– 379, 2009.
- [43] I. T. W. Harley, K. M. Kaufman, C. D. Langefeld, J. B. Harley, and J. A. Kelly, "Genetic susceptibility to SLE: new insights from fine mapping and genome-wide association studies," *Nature Reviews Genetics*, vol. 10, no. 5, pp. 285–290, 2009.
- [44] R. R. Graham, G. Hom, W. Ortmann, and T. W. Behrens, "Review of recent genome-wide association scans in lupus," *Journal of Internal Medicine*, vol. 265, no. 6, pp. 680–688, 2009.
- [45] B. Rhodes and T. J. Vyse, "The genetics of SLE: an update in the light of genome-wide association studies," *Rheumatology*, vol. 47, no. 11, pp. 1603–1611, 2008.

- [46] Y. H. Lee and G. G. Song, "Association between the rs2004640 functional polymorphism of interferon regulatory factor 5 and systemic lupus erythematosus: a meta-analysis," *Rheumatology International*, vol. 29, no. 10, pp. 1137–1142, 2009.
- [47] A. Kawasaki, C. Kyogoku, J. Ohashi et al., "Association of IRF5 polymorphisms with systemic lupus erythematosus in a Japanese population: support for a crucial role of intron 1 polymorphisms," *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, vol. 58, no. 3, pp. 826–834, 2008.
- [48] J. A. Kelly, J. M. Kelley, K. M. Kaufman et al., "Interferon regulatory factor-5 is genetically associated with systemic lupus erythematosus in African Americans," *Genes and Immunity*, vol. 9, no. 3, pp. 187–194, 2008.
- [49] M. V. P. L. Reddy, R. Velázquez-Cruz, V. Baca et al., "Genetic association of IRF5 with SLE in Mexicans: higher frequency of the risk haplotype and its homozygozity than Europeans," *Human Genetics*, vol. 121, no. 6, pp. 721–727, 2007.
- [50] K. Shimane, Y. Kochi, R. Yamada et al., "A single nucleotide polymorphism in the IRF5 promoter region is associated with susceptibility to rheumatoid arthritis in the Japanese population," *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, vol. 68, no. 3, pp. 377–383, 2009.
- [51] R. R. Graham, C. Kyogoku, S. Sigurdsson et al., "Three functional variants of IFN regulatory factor 5 (IRF5) define risk and protective haplotypes for human lupus," *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, vol. 104, no. 16, pp. 6758–6763, 2007.
- [52] R. R. Graham, C. Kyogoku, S. Sigurdsson et al., "Three functional variants of IFN regulatory factor 5 (IRF5) define risk and protective haplotypes for human lupus," *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, vol. 104, no. 16, pp. 6758–6763, 2007.
- [53] T. B. Niewold, J. A. Kelly, M. H. Flesch, L. R. Espinoza, J. B. Harley, and M. K. Crow, "Association of the IRF5 risk haplotype with high serum interferon-α activity in systemic lupus erythematosus patients," *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, vol. 58, no. 8, pp. 2481–2487, 2008.
- [54] J. B. Harley, M. E. Alarcón-Riquelme, L. A. Criswell et al., "Genome-wide association scan in women with systemic lupus erythematosus identifies susceptibility variants in ITGAM, PXK, KIAA1542 and other loci," *Nature Genetics*, vol. 40, no. 2, pp. 204–210, 2008.
- [55] M. Suarez-Gestal, M. Calaza, E. Endreffy et al., "Replication of recently identified systemic lupus erythematosus genetic associations: a case-control study," *Arthritis Research and Therapy*, vol. 11, no. 3, article 69, 2009.
- [56] R. Salloum, B. Franek, S. Kariuki, T. Utset, and T. T. Niewold, "Genetic variation at the IRF7/KIAA1542 locus is associated with autoantibody profile and serum interferon alpha levels in lupus patients," *Clinical Immunology*, vol. 131, supplement 1, p. S54, 2009.
- [57] D. L. Armstrong, A. Reiff, B. L. Myones et al., "Identification of new SLE-associated genes with a two-step Bayesian study design," *Genes and Immunity*, vol. 10, no. 5, pp. 446–456, 2009.
- [58] C.-J. Xu, W.-H. Zhang, H.-F. Pan, X.-P. Li, J.-H. Xu, and D.-Q. Ye, "Association study of a single nucleotide polymorphism in the exon 2 region of toll-like receptor 9 (TLR9) gene with susceptibility to systemic lupus erythematosus among Chinese," *Molecular Biology Reports*, vol. 36, no. 8, pp. 2245– 2248, 2009.
- [59] C. O. Jacob, J. Zhu, D. L. Armstrong et al., "Identification of IRAK1 as a risk gene with critical role in the pathogenesis

of systemic lupus erythematosus," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 106, no. 15, pp. 6256–6261, 2009.

- [60] J. S. Bates, C. J. Lessard, J. M. Leon et al., "Meta-analysis and imputation identifies a 109kb risk haplotype spanning TNFAIP3 associated with lupus nephritis and hematologic manifestations," *Genes and Immunity*, vol. 10, no. 5, pp. 470– 477, 2009.
- [61] V. Gateva, J. K. Sandling, G. Hom et al., "A large-scale replication study identifies TNIP1, PRDM1, JAZF1, UHRF1BP1 and IL10 as risk loci for systemic lupus erythematosus," *Nature Genetics*, vol. 41, no. 11, pp. 1228–1233, 2009.
- [62] R. R. Graham, C. Cotsapas, L. Davies et al., "Genetic variants near TNFAIP3 on 6q23 are associated with systemic lupus erythematosus," *Nature Genetics*, vol. 40, no. 9, pp. 1059–1061, 2008.
- [63] J.-W. Han, H.-F. Zheng, Y. Cui et al., "Genome-wide association study in a Chinese Han population identifies nine new susceptibility loci for systemic lupus erythematosus," *Nature Genetics*, vol. 41, no. 11, pp. 1234–1237, 2009.
- [64] S. L. Musone, K. E. Taylor, T. T. Lu et al., "Multiple polymorphisms in the TNFAIP3 region are independently associated with systemic lupus erythematosus," *Nature Genetics*, vol. 40, no. 9, pp. 1062–1064, 2008.
- [65] K. Honma, S. Tsuzuki, M. Nakagawa et al., "TNFAIP3/A20 functions as a novel tumor suppressor gene in several subtypes of non-Hodgkin lymphomas," *Blood*, vol. 114, no. 12, pp. 2467–2475, 2009.
- [66] M. Kato, M. Sanada, I. Kato et al., "Frequent inactivation of A20 in B-cell lymphomas," *Nature*, vol. 459, no. 7247, pp. 712– 716, 2009.
- [67] S. N. Kariuki, K. A. Kirou, E. J. MacDermott, L. Barillas-Arias, M. K. Crow, and T. B. Niewold, "Cutting edge: autoimmune disease risk variant of STAT4 confers increased sensitivity to IFN-alpha in lupus patients in vivo," *Journal of Immunology*, vol. 182, no. 1, pp. 34–38, 2009.
- [68] A. K. Abelson, A. M. Delgado-Vega, S. V. Kozyrev et al., "STAT4 associates with systemic lupus erythematosus through two independent effects that correlate with gene expression and act additively with IRF5 to increase risk," *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, vol. 68, no. 11, pp. 1746–1753, 2009.
- [69] S. Sigurdsson, G. Nordmark, S. Garnier et al., "A risk haplotype of STAT4 for systemic lupus erythematosus is overexpressed, correlates with anti-dsDNA and shows additive effects with two risk alleles of IRF5," *Human Molecular Genetics*, vol. 17, no. 18, pp. 2868–2876, 2008.
- [70] W. Cao and Y.-J. Liu, "Opn: key regulator of pDC interferon production," *Nature Immunology*, vol. 7, no. 5, pp. 441–443, 2006.
- [71] S. N. Kariuki, J. G. Moore, K. A. Kirou, M. K. Crow, T. O. Utset, and T. B. Niewold, "Age- and gender-specific modulation of serum osteopontin and interferon-*α* by osteopontin genotype in systemic lupus erythematosus," *Genes and Immunity*, vol. 10, no. 5, pp. 487–494, 2009.
- [72] L. E. Ronnblom, G. V. Alm, and K. E. Oberg, "Possible induction of systemic lupus erythematosus by interferon αtreatment in a patient with a malignant carcinoid tumour," *Journal of Internal Medicine*, vol. 227, no. 3, pp. 207–210, 1990.
- [73] T. B. Niewold and W. I. Swedler, "Systemic lupus erythematosus arising during interferon-alpha therapy for cryoglobulinemic vasculitis associated with hepatitis C," *Clinical Rheumatology*, vol. 24, no. 2, pp. 178–181, 2005.

- [74] Y. Ioannou and D. A. Isenberg, "Current evidence for the induction of autoimmune rheumatic manifestations by cytokine therapy," *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, vol. 43, no. 7, pp. 1431–1442, 2000.
- [75] C. Gota and L. Calabrese, "Induction of clinical autoimmune disease by therapeutic interferon-α," *Autoimmunity*, vol. 36, no. 8, pp. 511–518, 2003.
- [76] E. M. Tan, A. S. Cohen, and J. F. Fries, "The 1982 revised criteria for the classification of systemic lupus erythrematosus," *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, vol. 25, no. 11, pp. 1271–1277, 1982.
- [77] V. Ho, A. McLean, and S. Terry, "Severe systemic lupus erythematosus induced by antiviral treatment for hepatitis C," *Journal of Clinical Rheumatology*, vol. 14, no. 3, pp. 166–168, 2008.
- [78] T. B. Niewold, "Interferon alpha-induced lupus: proof of principle," *Journal of Clinical Rheumatology*, vol. 14, no. 3, pp. 131–132, 2008.
- [79] T. B. Niewold, J. Hua, T. J. A. Lehman, J. B. Harley, and M. K. Crow, "High serum IFN-α activity is a heritable risk factor for systemic lupus erythematosus," *Genes and Immunity*, vol. 8, no. 6, pp. 492–502, 2007.
- [80] T. B. Niewold, J. E. Adler, S. B. Glenn, T. J. A. Lehman, J. B. Harley, and M. K. Crow, "Age- and sex-related patterns of serum interferon-α activity in lupus families," *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, vol. 58, no. 7, pp. 2113–2119, 2008.
- [81] C. E. Weckerle and T. B. Niewold, "The unexplained female predominance of systemic lupus erythematosus: clues from genetic and cytokine studies," *Clinical Reviews in Allergy and Immunology*, 2010. In press.
- [82] K. A. Kirou, C. Lee, S. George, K. Louca, M. G. E. Peterson, and M. K. Crow, "Activation of the interferon-α pathway identifies a subgroup of systemic lupus erythematosus patients with distinct serologic features and active disease," *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, vol. 52, no. 5, pp. 1491–1503, 2005.
- [83] M. C. Dall'Era, P. M. Cardarelli, B. T. Preston, A. Witte, and J. C. Davis Jr., "Type I interferon correlates with serological and clinical manifestations of SLE," *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, vol. 64, no. 12, pp. 1692–1697, 2005.
- [84] X. Feng, H. Wu, J. M. Grossman et al., "Association of increased interferon-inducible gene expression with disease activity and lupus nephritis in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus," *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, vol. 54, no. 9, pp. 2951–2962, 2006.
- [85] H. Zhuang, S. Narain, E. Sobel et al., "Association of antinucleoprotein autoantibodies with upregulation of type I interferon-inducible gene transcripts and dendritic cell maturation in systemic lupus erythematosus," *Clinical Immunology*, vol. 117, no. 3, pp. 238–250, 2005.
- [86] C. Landolt-Marticorena, G. Bonventi, A. Lubovich et al., "Lack of association between the interferon-α signature and longitudinal changes in disease activity in systemic lupus erythematosus," *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, vol. 68, no. 9, pp. 1440–1446, 2009.
- [87] M. Petri, S. Singh, H. Tesfasyone et al., "Longitudinal expression of type I interferon responsive genes in systemic lupus erythematosus," *Lupus*, vol. 18, no. 11, pp. 980–989, 2009.
- [88] J. W. Bauer, M. Petri, F. M. Batliwalla et al., "Interferonregulated chemokines as biomarkers of systemic lupus erythematosus disease activity: a validation study," *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, vol. 60, no. 10, pp. 3098–3107, 2009.

[89] Y. Yao, L. Richman, B. W. Higgs et al., "Neutralization of interferon-α/β-inducible genes and downstream effect in a phase I trial of an anti-interferon-α monoclonal antibody in systemic lupus erythematosus," *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, vol. 60, no. 6, pp. 1785–1796, 2009.

Appendix D. Review of cytokine inhibitors for the treatment of systemic lupus

erythematosus

See attached publication [242]. This review of current literature was written with members of the Poole laboratory. This copyrighted work was summarized, and an alternate figure was included in this dissertation (Section 1.8.1).



available at www.sciencedirect.com

ARTICLE IN PRESS

Clinical Immunology



www.elsevier.com/locate/yclim

REVIEW

Cytokine inhibition as a strategy for treating systemic lupus erythematosus

Daniel N. Clark, Jillian L. Markham, Chad S. Sloan, Brian D. Poole*

Department of Microbiology and Molecular Biology, Brigham Young University, 857 WIDB, Provo, UT 84602, USA

Received 2 September 2012; accepted with revision 4 November 2012

KEYWORDS Cytokine Inhibitors; Lupus	Abstract Cytokines regulate and control the immune system. In systemic lupus erythematosus, several of these cytokines are overexpressed and contribute to the pathogenesis of the disease. Cytokine inhibition has been successfully used to treat other rheumatic and autoimmune diseases, and several cytokines are currently being investigated to determine whether inhibition would be therapeutic in lupus. The cytokines discussed in this review have all undergone clinical trials, and include TNF- α , IL-1, IL-6, IL-10, IL-15, IL-17, IL-18 and IL-23. Inhibition of the majority of these targets was safe and showed some efficacy in treating lupus. Cytokine inhibition strategies have just started to realize their potential for the treatment of this difficult disease, and show great promise for the future.
	promise for the future. © 2012 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	0
2.	Current cytokine inhibitors undergoing trials as lupus treatments	0
	2.1. Interleukin 6	0
	2.2. Tumor necrosis factor- α	0
	2.3. Interleukin 10	0
	2.4. Interleukin 1	0
3.	Potential future cytokine targets	0
	3.1. Interleukin 17A	0
	3.2. Interleukin 23	0
	3.3. Interleukin 15	0
	3.4. Interleukin 18	0
4.	Conclusions	0

* Corresponding author at: 857 WIDB, Provo, UT 84602, USA. *E-mail address*: Brian_poole@byu.edu (B.D. Poole).

1521-6616/\$ - see front matter $\mbox{\sc c}$ 2012 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.clim.2012.11.001

Please cite this article as: D.N. Clark, et al., Cytokine inhibition as a strategy for treating systemic lupus erythematosus, Clin. Immunol. (2012), http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.clim.2012.11.001

Conflict of in	nterest statement	 	•••	 		 			 •	•••			 	•	•		 •		 •	•••	0
References		 •••	•••	 •••	•	 •••		•	 •	•••			 • •	•	•	 •	 •	•	 •	•••	0

1. Introduction

Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) is a highly complex and diverse disease. Despite substantial research, the etiology and pathogenesis of lupus are still not well understood. Additionally, the course of lupus, with its remission and flares, makes evaluation of therapies difficult. Due to these obstacles, treatment for lupus has lagged behind many other diseases, with only one new medication for lupus treatment approved by the United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in the last 50 years.

Infusion with monoclonal antibodies or other specific proteins, such as soluble receptors that specifically target and inhibit cytokines is revolutionizing the practice of rheumatology. These agents have been used with good effect in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis and other autoimmune or inflammatory disorders such as Crohn's disease and psoriasis. Given the importance of inflammation and immune control in lupus, these agents hold great promise for treating lupus as well. Inhibition of several cytokines as therapeutics for lupus is under investigation, and one has met with success and FDA approval. However, given the complexity and course of lupus, the results of these trials have been somewhat mixed. This review will summarize the current approaches and strategies for inhibiting cytokines as a therapeutic mechanism in the treatment of lupus, and will include a discussion of cytokine inhibitors that have been tested in lupus as well as those which are applicable to lupus and have been tested in other diseases.

2. Current cytokine inhibitors undergoing trials as lupus treatments

Two of the most promising cytokines that have been inhibited as a treatment for lupus, BLyS and IFN- α , will be discussed in other articles in this special issue, therefore they will not be included here. Instead, the cytokines IL-6, TNF- α , IL-1 and IL-10, inhibitors of which have undergone clinical trials for lupus, will be discussed.

2.1. Interleukin 6

IL-6 is a cytokine produced by many cell types. It has multiple effects on many target cells, inducing CD4+ T cell differentiation, B cell development, and the production of acute phase proteins. It also drives production of IL-17-producing T cells [1]. IL-6 is found at increased levels in lupus patients compared to controls [1], and is also higher in lupus patients with nephritis compared to either controls or lupus patients without renal involvement [2]. B cell-produced IL-6 has been shown to contribute to autoantibody production [3]. Certain IL-6 promoter polymorphisms may contribute to genetic risk for lupus [4].

IL-6 deficient mice are resistant to lupus. IL-6-deficient MRL-Fas(lpr) mice have delayed onset nephritis and much higher survival than control mice, along with decreased cellular infiltration, complement deposition, and Ig deposition [5]. Other IL-6 deficient mice showed that anti-DNA antibody production was dependent on IL-6 in pristane-induced lupus, although the development of antibodies against RNA-binding proteins was not [6], suggesting different pathways for autoantibody production in lupus (Fig. 1).

An anti-IL-6 receptor antibody, Tocilizumab, is approved for use in rheumatoid arthritis, with seven phase three trials completed [7]. The safety profile and effectiveness of IL-6 blockade in rheumatoid arthritis is therefore well-established. There has been one successful open-label phase I doseescalation trial of Tocilizumab in SLE [8]. The major side effect of treatment was neutropenia, with 56% of participants experiencing neutropenia at the highest dose (8 mg/kg). One participant was withdrawn because of neutropenia, however, no neutropenia-related infections were identified [8]. Neutropenia was also noted in the studies of Tocilizumab for rheumatoid arthritis, but in those studies was also not associated with infection or malignancy [7], although there is a higher risk of infection with Tocilizumab treatment (Table 1).

Tocilizumab showed promise in treating lupus, with effects that seemed directed at autoantibody production. The modified SELENA-SLEDAI scores decreased moderately but significantly from a mean of 9.5 to 5.5 [8], with most of the improvement in rash and arthritis. Anti-dsDNA levels decreased by a mean of 46.8%. This decrease in autoantibodies may be associated with decreased circulating plasma cells. Circulating plasma cells decreased by nearly 36% in the treated individuals, and remained at this low level during follow up [8]. It may be the case that the drop in plasma cells and therefore autoantibodies is responsible for the decreased rash and arthritis in treated volunteers, but these clinical responses may also be due to some other aspect of IL-6 blockade.

2.2. Tumor necrosis factor- α

TNF- α is a proinflammatory cytokine with pleiotropic effects on multiple cell types. TNF- α activates macrophages, induces the release of further proinflammatory cytokines, regulates apoptosis of lymphocytes and other cells, and aids in cell migration [9]. In lupus, TNF- α acts as a growth factor for B cells stimulating production of IL-6 and IL-1. NZB/W mice with low expression of TNF- α develop severe lupus-like disease, but addition of TNF- α later in disease also exacerbates lupus [10–12]. These results suggest that TNF- α aids in preventing the development of lupus, but once established, worsens the resulting inflammation and pathogenesis.

Inhibition of TNF- α has met with substantial success in treating rheumatoid arthritis, as well as other inflammationmediated diseases such as Crohn's disease and spondyloarthritis. Lupus would seem at first glance to be a good candidate for TNF- α inhibition, since TNF- α is significantly increased in the

Cytokine inhibited	Drug Name	Current Phase of clinical Trial	Therapeutic results
TNF-α	Infliximab Adalimumab Certolizumab Golimumab Etanercent	Phase I complete (lupus)	SLEDAI score improvement Worsened autoantibody levels
IL-1	Anakinra	(lupus) FDA approved (Rheumatoid arthritis)	Decreased muscle pain Decreased Arthritis Variable complement levels
	Canakinumab Rilonacept	FDA approved (CAPS) FDA approved	
IL-6	Tocilizumab	(CAPS) Phase II	SLEDAI score improvement Decreased autoantibody levels
IL-10	B-N10	Phase I equivalent complete	Improved M-SLEDAI Decreased steroid use
IL-15	HuMax-IL15/ AMG 714	Phase I/II complete (Rheumatoid arthritis)	N/A for lupus
IL-17	lxekizumab Secukinumab	Phase III complete (Psoriasis) Phase III complete	N/A for lupus
	Brodalumab	(Psoriasis) Phase II complete (Psoriasis)	
IL-18	R h IL-18BP	Phase I complete (Rheumatoid arthri- tis and Psoriasis)	N/A for lupus
IL-23	GSK1070806 Ustekinumab	Phase I (Obesity) Phase III complete (Psoriasis)	N/A for lupus

Table 1Cytokine inhibition-based therapies and theireffects on lupus.

serum of lupus patients [2,13,14]. Some initial studies showed that treatment of lupus patients with TNF- α inhibitors had a therapeutic effect, especially in combination with other agents. However, inhibition of TNF- α can also have a stimulatory effect on lupus. Treatment with TNF-inhibitors can induce lupus-like autoimmunity, which in some cases may be severe enough to be diagnosed as lupus. After discontinuation of the anti-TNF- α treatment, the lupus-like autoimmunity normally resolves [15–17]. Also, switching to a different TNF- α inhibitor often resolves the lupus-like autoimmunity [18,19].

105

The reason why TNF- α inhibitors induce lupus-like autoimmunity is not clear. One explanation is that TNF- α is necessary at a threshold level to suppress the production of Interferon- α (IFN- α) [20–22]. Therefore, when TNF- α levels decrease, more IFN- α may be available to drive lupus-like autoimmunity.

Dysregulation of apoptosis and clearance of apoptotic cells also likely contributes to the development of lupus-like disease after TNF- α inhibition. Anti-TNF- α antibodies inhibit proteins, such as amyloid P and complement components C1q and C4b, that aid in the clearance of apoptotic cells [23–27]. Another possibility for the mechanism of TNF-inhibitor-induced lupus is the altered apoptosis of mature lymphocyte populations [28], contributing to excessive apoptotic debris [29]. Genetic predisposition is also involved, with lupus-prone mice exhibiting altered TNF- α receptor signaling molecules. This leads to loss of apoptotic control of autoreactive cells. Decreased apoptosis of these cells is likely to contribute to escape from tolerance of autoreactive lymphocytes in the absence of the apoptotic signal produce by TNF- α [29,30].

Despite the ability of TNF- α inhibitors to induce lupus-like syndrome, there are currently multiple clinical trials underway investigating the use of TNF- α inhibitors for the treatment of lupus. For example, two studies investigating the use of Infliximab to treat lupus patients showed significant improvement in SLEDAI scores, and had no significant reported safety concerns, although these studies only examined 27 and 6 lupus patients, respectively [31,32], Increased anti-nuclear antibodies were observed in one of the treated groups in one study [32]. A phase II trial of Etanercept in treating lupus was terminated. The variable and somewhat contradictory results of these studies mean that TNF- α inhibitors remain a complicated but potentially important part of the future of lupus treatment.

2.3. Interleukin 10

IL-10 is a somewhat contradictory cytokine. It is generally considered an anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive cytokine. However, it is overexpressed in lupus and in some cases acts as a lupus-promoting molecule. When considering IL-10 as a potential target for inhibition, therefore, it is important to balance its role in promoting lupus with its general role in regulating the immune system.

Multiple cell types produce IL-10. These include Type 1 regulatory T (TR1) cells, some FoxP3+ regulatory T cells, macrophages, myeloid dendritic cells, and B cells, as well as many other cell types [33]. IL-10 produced by TR1 cells functions primarily to reduce inflammation and control immunopathogenesis [33,34]. IL-10 suppresses the antigenpresenting and T-cell stimulatory capacity of macrophages and dendritic cells, limiting and controlling the subsequent T cell response [35].

Elimination of IL-10 in mouse models can lead to excessive inflammation. IL-10 knockout mice develop inflammatory colitis [36]. Knocking out IL-10 in the lupus model MRL-Fas(lpr) mice led to faster disease development, more severe disease, and more mortality than in IL-10 competent mice [37].

In contrast to the suppressive activities of IL-10, on antigen presenting cells especially, IL-10 can have substantial activating



Figure 1 Processes and pathways in lupus targeted by cytokine inhibition. Multiple signaling and cellular pathways (gray boxes) contribute to the pathogenesis of lupus. Cytokine inhibition suppresses or otherwise affects many of these processes. Cytokines are each represented by a symbol which is present in the corresponding pathway. Drugs targeted to each cytokine are shown; although some drugs target the cytokine, others target a receptor. Several pathways which are affected by the cytokines, but less important to lupus are omitted. TNF: tumor necrosis factor, mAb: monoclonal antibody, IL: interleukin, RA: receptor antagonist, BP: binding protein.

effects on other cell types. Human B cells are especially prone to IL-10 stimulation, where it acts as a potent growth factor and stimulates production of immunoglobulin [38]. IL-10 also induces class switching and differentiation into plasma cells [39]. The finding that IL-10 is present in higher concentrations in lupus patients than controls, and is still higher in lupus patients with active disease compared to inactive, supports the idea that IL-10 contributes to lupus [40,41].

Inhibition of IL-10 has been tried *in vitro*, in mouse models, and in human lupus patients. Inhibition of IL-10 in human serum from lupus patients prevents apoptosis from being induced by that serum, indicating that the excess IL-10 in lupus patient serum may contribute to apoptosis [42]. SCID mice injected with PBMCs from human lupus patients produced less IgG when treated with anti-IL-10 antibodies [43], and similar mice showed less renal impairment after IL-10 blockade [44].

One clinical trial of IL-10 blocking antibodies as a therapy for lupus was reported [45]. The antibody was administered to six lupus patients over a period of 21 days, and followed up at six months. One patient developed chills attributable to the treatment, which was stopped for that patient. No other treatment-related adverse events were noted. Disease activity was measured by the Mexican SLEDAI test. Scores on this test improved substantially for all patients during treatment. All patients also decreased their dose of steroids during treatment due to improvement in symptoms [45]. However, the lack of a control group, as well as the limited number of patients requires that these results be interpreted cautiously.

IL-10 remains an important and somewhat contradictory cytokine. While IL-10 blockade is being considered as a lupus therapeutic, at the same time recombinant IL-10 to increase IL-10 levels is also being studied. Well-designed experiments are necessary to uncover the potential of IL-10 modulation

and conditions wherein it would be useful as a treatment for lupus.

2.4. Interleukin 1

The main role of IL-1 is to promote inflammation [46]. There are 11 members of the IL-1 family, which includes both cytokines and inhibitors. Cytokines in this family that are targets for inhibition in lupus include IL-1 α , IL-1 β , and IL-18 [46]. IL-1 β and IL-1 α bind the same receptor. However, IL-1 β is normally secreted, while IL-1 α is predominantly cell-bound. IL-1 exerts its effects on inflammation by several mechanisms. It is a costimulator for T-cells [47], and acts to enhance the generation of $T_h 17$ cells [48]. IL-1 also acts to enhance migration of inflammatory cells and to stimulate production of other proinflammatory molecules, such as prostaglandin E2 [47]. IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1RA) is a naturally occurring protein that antagonistically competes with both IL-1 α and IL-1 β , thus blocking their function. The ratio between IL-1 and IL-1RA is important in balancing the level of inflammation and immune activation.

IL-1 has been associated with lupus through correlation between IL-1 and IL-1RA levels and lupus activity, as well as IL-1 genetic polymorphisms. IL-1 concentration is higher in lupus patients than controls, and higher in lupus nephritis than lupus without nephritis [49]. Levels of IL-1RA were found to correlate with flare and kidney involvement in lupus patients [50,51]. There are specific polymorphisms in the IL-1 gene cluster that are associated with risk for lupus [52,53]. Additionally, mice with IL-1 β knocked out are resistant to the development of lupus induced by injection of anti-DNA antibodies, though mice lacking IL-1 α did not receive this protection [54]. IL-1 is integral in the pathophysiology of multiple inflammatory diseases, including rheumatoid arthritis, gout, periodontal disease, and osteoarthritis [55]. A recombinant IL-1RA, Anakinra, is approved for treatment of rheumatoid arthritis, and has also undergone clinical trials for several of these other inflammatory diseases [46]. Other IL-1 blocking agents include a monoclonal antibody, Canakinumab, and a fusion protein, Rilonacept, consisting of the extracellular domains of the IL-1 receptor fused to an antibody Fc region [46].

A study with three lupus patients who were treated with Anakinra showed transient effectiveness on muscle pain and/or polyarthritis in two of the patients, while there was no effect reported in the third patient. The only side effect was a slight drop in C3 and C4 levels [56]. In another safety study involving 4 lupus patients, Anakinra showed some positive effect on treating lupus [57]. The numbers and study design of both of these reports do not permit strong conclusions to be drawn as to the efficacy of inhibiting IL-1 in lupus.

3. Potential future cytokine targets

IL-17, IL-23, IL-15 and IL-18 are potential targets for anti-cytokine therapies for SLE. Some have already shown promising results in clinical trials for rheumatoid arthritis, psoriasis, and other diseases. These interleukins are involved in important signaling pathways such as B cell activation, inflammation, apoptosis and the T cell response.

3.1. Interleukin 17A

The cytokine IL-17A is overexpressed in lupus [58]. IL-17A exerts a multitude of effects, including inducing IL-6 production, cell recruitment to inflamed locations, and differentiation of inflammatory cells and B cells [59] (Reviewed in [60,61]). One of the most important effects of IL-17A in terms of lupus is inhibiting the differentiation of regulatory T cells. [62]. IL-17A is primarily produced by T_h17 cells and CD4-, CD8-double negative T cells. These cells differentiate in the presence of TGF- β and IL-6. In the absence of IL-6, the naïve T cells tend to instead differentiate into regulatory T cells, which suppress autoimmune responses [63]. IL-23, produced by antigen presenting cells, is necessary for the growth and maintenance of IL-17 producing cells [64].

IL-17A is an important contributor to lupus. Lupus patients have increased numbers of IL-17-producing cells [65], as well as IL-17A concentrations, which correlate with disease activity [66]. Multiple mouse models of lupus show high IL-17A concentrations [67]. The MRL-Fas(lpr) lupus mouse model shows high levels of IL-17A, as well as increasing levels of the IL-17A and IL-23 receptors as the disease progresses [68].

Because of the complicated layers of cytokines responsible for driving IL-17A production and the maturation and maintenance of IL-17-producing cells, there are multiple potential therapeutic targets that would inhibit IL-17A production. Some of these strategies include directly inhibiting IL-17A, inhibiting IL-23, inhibiting IL-6, and blocking JAK/STAT signaling, which is necessary for IL-17A production [60].

An IL-17A inhibitory monoclonal antibody, Ixekizumab, has undergone clinical trials for psoriasis and rheumatoid arthritis. The safety profile appeared good, with no severe adverse effects during a phase II trial for psoriasis or a phase I trial for rheumatoid arthritis [69,70]. Secukinimab, another anti-IL-17A monoclonal antibody, has been tested for safety and efficacy in several autoimmune diseases. One study, examining Crohn's disease, found that the treatment group in this study had significantly more infections, especially fungal infections, than the control group [71]. Other studies examining the use of Secukinimab in psoriasis and other inflammatory diseases have had good safety profiles [72,73]. An additional antibody, Brodalumab, targets the IL-17 receptor, rather than the cytokine itself, and has also had good response and safety results in studies of psoriasis [74].

3.2. Interleukin 23

Inhibiting IL-23 would likely have many of the same effects as inhibiting IL-17A, since IL-23 is necessary for the expansion and maintenance of IL-17-producing cells. IL-23 receptordeficient mice are resistant to lupus, with fewer IL-17 producing cells, autoantibodies, and symptoms [75]. There is currently an anti-IL-23/IL-12 antibody, Ustekinumab, in use for treating psoriasis and Crohn's disease that does not respond to Infliximab [76]. No trials have been performed using Ustekinumab for treatment of lupus, although there are case reports of Ustekinumab being used for psoriasis also being beneficial for cutaneous lupus [77,78].

3.3. Interleukin 15

IL-15 is a pleiotropic cytokine that is produced by multiple cells and has different effects depending on the target cell. It is important for the activation and survival of natural killer cells and CD8+ memory T cells [79]. Phagocytic, antigenpresenting, and proinflammatory activities of macrophages and dendritic cells are activated by IL-15 [80]. Importantly for the development of autoimmune disease, IL-15 enhances the activation and maintenance of IL-17-producing T cells, which have been discussed above [81].

IL-15 has an interesting signaling mechanism, in that it is capable of being recycled by cells with the IL-15R α chain and presented to neighboring cells. In this way, IL-15 functions primarily in membrane-bound form through cell-cell contact [80,82].

IL-15 has been associated with lupus through both patient and animal studies. Lupus patients have high serum concentrations of IL-15 compared to controls [83–86], although this finding is not universal [87]. Lymphocytes from lupus patients do not respond as strongly to IL-15 as do controls [83]. The membrane-associated form of IL-15 was observed to be overexpressed in the male BXSB mouse model of lupus [84].

Collagen-induced arthritis can be ameliorated or prevented when IL-15 signaling is inhibited through the use of an IL-15-Fc fusion protein (CRB-15) that targets IL-15 receptor-expressing cells in mice [88]. Blockade with a different IL-15-Fc fusion protein (hIL-15R α -Fc) decreased

the T-cell stimulatory and anti-apoptotic abilities of BXSB mouse macrophages in vitro [84]. Administration of the IL-15 blockade to affected mice reduced proteinuria and autoantibody titers in these mice [84].

IL-15 signaling has been inhibited in a clinical trial of rheumatoid arthritis using a recombinant IL-15 receptor-Fc fusion protein (HuMax-IL15/AMG 714) [89]. The trial was a phase I/II double-blind, placebo controlled dose-escalation study involving thirty patients. The drug was well-tolerated, with no treatment-related adverse effects. There is currently a clinical trial ongoing for this drug in treating psoriasis.

3.4. Interleukin 18

IL-18 is a proinflammatory cytokine that is primarily produced from antigen presenting cells such as macrophages and dendritic cells. IL-18 is also known as IFN- γ -inducing factor (IGIF) because it is involved in T_h1 lymphocyte proliferation and promotes IFN- γ production. IFN- γ skews the T_h response towards a T_h1 pattern, and promotes inflammation in lupus [90,91].

IL-18 is likely to be involved in several autoimmune disorders, including lupus. In lupus patients the level of IL-18 is elevated, especially in patients with lupus nephritis [91,92]. The inflammasome, which processes IL-1 and IL-18 to their active form, is also found at higher levels in lupus patients [93]. Mice that overexpress IL-18 develop lupus-like disease [94].

There are several potential strategies for inhibiting IL-18. Since IL-18 is a member of the IL-1 superfamily and it requires the intracellular cysteine protease caspase-1 for biological activity, inhibiting caspase-1 is one strategy to reduce IL-18 levels [95]. This method has been demonstrated to be effective in mice [95]. IL-18 can also be inhibited using neutralizing antibodies, which has also proven effective in mice [96]. An additional molecule shown to effectively inhibit IL-18 is IL-18 binding protein (IL-18BP), a natural inhibitor of IL-18. Along with the increased level of IL-18, IL-18BP is found at high levels in lupus nephritis with glomerular involvement. [49,97–100]. Although both IL-18 and IL-18BP are elevated in lupus, the balance favors IL-18, contributing to disease. Infusion of IL-18BP can greatly reduce INF- γ production, inhibiting the early T_h1 response. This is effective in vitro and in mice [101–103].

In IL-18 deficient mice, NK cell activity and T_h1 response was impaired [104]. Inhibition by anti-IL-18 antibodies induced a marked reduction in INF- γ and TNF- α and prevented experimental autoimmune encephlomyelitis [96]. Overexpression or introduction of IL-18BP ameliorates collagen-induced arthritis in murine models, as does neutralization with monoclonal antibodies [105,106].

Recombinant IL-18BP has been tested for safety and pharmacodynamics in rheumatoid arthritis and psoriasis in four studies [107], with good safety results. Safety studies are currently underway for an IL-18 neutralizing antibody (GSK1070806) in obese individuals. Targeting IL-18 is a promising therapy for reducing IFN- γ production and controlling the T_h1 response, which is particularly important in the more severe forms of lupus, especially lupus nephritis.

4. Conclusions

With the advent of humanized monoclonal anti-cytokine antibodies, a new era of specific cytokine inhibition has emerged. These antibodies allow targeting of major pathogenic mechanisms in lupus, while generally sparing the immune system as a whole. The approval of Benlysta as a specific anti-lupus therapeutic has opened the doors for a new attack on multiple lupus pathogenic mechanisms. Given the complexity of lupus, it is likely that a multi-pronged approach, possibly with combinations of multiple cytokine inhibitors tailored to patients, will be necessary for these strategies to approach their promise in effectively treating lupus. Cytokine inhibition targets and mechanism will almost certainly be further refined in the future to allow not only for the wholesale inhibition of certain cytokines, but for the modulation and control of cytokine levels.

The use of cytokine inhibitors in lupus patients, while beneficial to the patients, also provides a window to further understand what goes wrong in lupus, what continues to cause damage, and which systems are dysregulated during the disease. This increased understanding will hopefully serve as a positive information feedback loop, allowing even better and more refined treatments for this difficult disease.

Conflict of interest statement

The author(s) declare that there are no conflicts of interest.

References

- M. Linker-Israeli, et al., Elevated levels of endogenous IL-6 in systemic lupus erythematosus. A putative role in pathogenesis, J. Immunol. 147 (1) (1991) 117–123.
- [2] B. Brugos, et al., Serum and urinary cytokine levels of SLE patients, Pharmazie 67 (5) (2012) 411–413.
- [3] A. Kitani, et al., Autostimulatory effects of IL-6 on excessive B cell differentiation in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus: analysis of IL-6 production and IL-6R expression, Clin. Exp. Immunol. 88 (1) (1992) 75–83.
- [4] Y.H. Lee, et al., The association between interleukin-6 polymorphisms and systemic lupus erythematosus: a metaanalysis, Lupus 21 (1) (2012) 60–67.
- [5] H. Cash, et al., Interleukin 6 (IL-6) deficiency delays lupus nephritis in MRL-Faslpr mice: the IL-6 pathway as a new therapeutic target in treatment of autoimmune kidney disease in systemic lupus erythematosus, J. Rheumatol. 37 (1) (2010) 60–70.
- [6] H.B. Richards, et al., Interleukin 6 dependence of anti-DNA antibody production: evidence for two pathways of autoantibody formation in pristane-induced lupus, J. Exp. Med. 188 (5) (1998) 985–990.
- [7] A. Ogata, T. Tanaka, Tocilizumab for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis and other systemic autoimmune diseases: current perspectives and future directions, Int. J. Rheumatol. 2012 (2012) 946048.
- [8] G.G. Illei, et al., Tocilizumab in systemic lupus erythematosus: data on safety, preliminary efficacy, and impact on circulating plasma cells from an open-label phase I dosage-escalation study, Arthritis Rheum. 62 (2) (2010) 542–552.
- [9] I.B. McInnes, G. Schett, Cytokines in the pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis, Nat. Rev. Immunol. 7 (6) (2007) 429–442.

- [10] M. Postal, S. Appenzeller, The role of tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-alpha) in the pathogenesis of systemic lupus erythematosus, Cytokine 56 (3) (2011) 537–543.
- [11] C.O. Jacob, H.O. McDevitt, Tumour necrosis factor-alpha in murine autoimmune 'lupus' nephritis, Nature 331 (6154) (1988) 356–358.
- [12] D.C. Brennan, et al., Tumor necrosis factor and IL-1 in New Zealand Black/White mice. Enhanced gene expression and acceleration of renal injury, J. Immunol. 143 (11) (1989) 3470–3475.
- [13] A. Rana, et al., Gene expression of cytokines (TNF-alpha, IFN-gamma), serum profiles of IL-17 and IL-23 in paediatric systemic lupus erythematosus, Lupus 21 (10) (2012) 1105–1112.
- [14] C.E. Weckerle, et al., Large scale analysis of tumor necrosis factor alpha levels in systemic lupus erythematosus, Arthritis Rheum. 64 (9) (2012) 2947–2952.
- [15] D. Araki, et al., Etanercept-induced lupus accompanied by hemophagocytic syndrome, Intern. Med. 50 (17) (2011) 1843–1848.
- [16] J.M. Luong, et al., Tumour necrosis factor inhibitor-related lupus: safety of switching agents, Clin. Rheumatol. 29 (5) (2010) 551–553.
- [17] D.A. Wetter, M.D. Davis, Lupus-like syndrome attributable to anti-tumor necrosis factor alpha therapy in 14 patients during an 8-year period at Mayo Clinic, Mayo Clin. Proc. 84 (11) (2009) 979–984.
- [18] H.D. Verma, et al., Anti-nuclear antibody positivity and the use of certolizumab in inflammatory bowel disease patients who have had arthralgias or lupus-like reactions from infliximab or adalimumab, J. Dig. Dis. 12 (5) (2011) 379–383.
- [19] C. Ye, et al., Successful switch of patients with rheumatoid arthritis developing anti-tumor necrosis factor (anti-TNF)induced lupus to another anti-TNF agent, J. Rheumatol. 38 (6) (2011) 1216 (author reply 1217–8).
- [20] A.K. Palucka, et al., Cross-regulation of TNF and IFN-alpha in autoimmune diseases, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 102 (9) (2005) 3372–3377.
- [21] M. Aringer, M.K. Crow, A bridge between interferon-alpha and tumor necrosis factor in lupus, J. Rheumatol. 35 (8) (2008) 1473–1476.
- [22] P. Lopez, et al., Influence of functional interleukin 10/tumor necrosis factor-alpha polymorphisms on interferon-alpha, IL-10, and regulatory T cell population in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus receiving antimalarial treatment, J. Rheumatol. 35 (8) (2008) 1559–1566.
- [23] T. Arora, et al., Differences in binding and effector functions between classes of TNF antagonists, Cytokine 45 (2) (2009) 124–131.
- [24] M. Bopst, et al., The combined inactivation of tumor necrosis factor and interleukin-6 prevents induction of the major acute phase proteins by endotoxin, Eur. J. Immunol. 28 (12) (1998) 4130–4137.
- [25] M. Botto, et al., Homozygous C1q deficiency causes glomerulonephritis associated with multiple apoptotic bodies, Nat. Genet. 19 (1) (1998) 56–59.
- [26] G. Di Muzio, et al., Complement system and rheumatoid arthritis: relationships with autoantibodies, serological, clinical features, and anti-TNF treatment, Int. J. Immunopathol. Pharmacol. 24 (2) (2011) 357–366.
- [27] R.O. Williams, et al., Evaluation of TNF-alpha and IL-1 blockade in collagen-induced arthritis and comparison with combined anti-TNF-alpha/anti-CD4 therapy, J. Immunol. 165 (12) (2000) 7240–7245.
- [28] L. Zheng, et al., Induction of apoptosis in mature T cells by tumour necrosis factor, Nature 377 (6547) (1995) 348–351.
- [29] L.J. Zhu, X. Yang, X.Q. Yu, Anti-TNF-alpha therapies in systemic lupus erythematosus, J. Biomed. Biotechnol. 2010 (2010) 465898.

- [30] L. Zhu, et al., Decreased expressions of the TNF-alpha signaling adapters in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) are correlated with disease activity in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus, Clin. Rheumatol. 26 (9) (2007) 1481–1489.
- [31] S.S. Uppal, S.J. Hayat, R. Raghupathy, Efficacy and safety of infliximab in active SLE: a pilot study, Lupus 18 (8) (2009) 690–697.
- [32] M. Aringer, et al., Safety and efficacy of tumor necrosis factor alpha blockade in systemic lupus erythematosus: an open-label study, Arthritis Rheum. 50 (10) (2004) 3161–3169.
- [33] M. Saraiva, A. O'Garra, The regulation of IL-10 production by immune cells, Nat. Rev. Immunol. 10 (3) (2010) 170–181.
- [34] H. Le Buanec, et al., IFN-alpha and CD46 stimulation are associated with active lupus and skew natural T regulatory cell differentiation to type 1 regulatory T (Tr1) cells, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 108 (47) (2011) 18995–19000.
- [35] K.W. Moore, et al., Interleukin-10, Annu. Rev. Immunol. 11 (1993) 165–190.
- [36] R. Kuhn, et al., Interleukin-10-deficient mice develop chronic enterocolitis, Cell 75 (2) (1993) 263–274.
- [37] Z. Yin, et al., IL-10 regulates murine lupus, J. Immunol. 169 (4) (2002) 2148–2155.
- [38] F. Rousset, et al., Interleukin 10 is a potent growth and differentiation factor for activated human B lymphocytes, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 89 (5) (1992) 1890–1893.
- [39] F. Rousset, et al., Long-term cultured CD40-activated B lymphocytes differentiate into plasma cells in response to IL-10 but not IL-4, Int. Immunol. 7 (8) (1995) 1243–1253.
- [40] K.F. Koenig, et al., Serum cytokine profile in patients with active lupus nephritis, Cytokine 60 (2) (2012) 410–416.
- [41] D.L. Su, et al., Roles of pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines in the pathogenesis of SLE, J. Biomed. Biotechnol. 2012 (2012) 347141.
- [42] H. Wang, et al., The abnormal apoptosis of T cell subsets and possible involvement of IL-10 in systemic lupus erythematosus, Cell. Immunol. 235 (2) (2005) 117–121.
- [43] K.R. Blenman, et al., IL-10 regulation of lupus in the NZM2410 murine model, Lab. Invest. 86 (11) (2006) 1136–1148.
- [44] C.T. Ravirajan, et al., Effect of neutralizing antibodies to IL-10 and C5 on the renal damage caused by a pathogenic human anti-dsDNA antibody, Rheumatology (Oxford) 43 (4) (2004) 442–447.
- [45] L. Llorente, et al., Clinical and biologic effects of antiinterleukin-10 monoclonal antibody administration in systemic lupus erythematosus, Arthritis Rheum. 43 (8) (2000) 1790–1800.
- [46] C.A. Dinarello, Interleukin-1 in the pathogenesis and treatment of inflammatory diseases, Blood 117 (14) (2011) 3720– 3732.
- [47] C.A. Dinarello, Immunological and inflammatory functions of the interleukin-1 family, Annu. Rev. Immunol. 27 (2009) 519–550.
- [48] C. Sutton, et al., A crucial role for interleukin (IL)-1 in the induction of IL-17-producing T cells that mediate autoimmune encephalomyelitis, J. Exp. Med. 203 (7) (2006) 1685–1691.
- [49] P. Migliorini, et al., Serum and urinary levels of IL-18 and its inhibitor IL-18BP in systemic lupus erythematosus, Eur. Cytokine Netw. 21 (4) (2010) 264–271.
- [50] G. Sturfelt, et al., Low levels of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist coincide with kidney involvement in systemic lupus erythematosus, Br. J. Rheumatol. 36 (12) (1997) 1283–1289.
- [51] B. Brugos, et al., Measurement of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus could predict renal manifestation of the disease, Hum. Immunol. 71 (9) (2010) 874–877.
- [52] C.G. Parks, et al., Systemic lupus erythematosus and genetic variation in the interleukin 1 gene cluster: a population based study in the southeastern United States, Ann. Rheum. Dis. 63 (1) (2004) 91–94.

- [53] C.O. Jacob, et al., Identification of IRAK1 as a risk gene with critical role in the pathogenesis of systemic lupus erythematosus, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 106 (15) (2009) 6256–6261.
- [54] E. Voronov, et al., IL-1 beta-deficient mice are resistant to induction of experimental SLE, Eur. Cytokine Netw. 17 (2) (2006) 109–116.
- [55] J.R. Lukens, J.M. Gross, T.D. Kanneganti, IL-1 family cytokines trigger sterile inflammatory disease, Front. Immunol. 3 (2012) 315.
- [56] F. Moosig, et al., IL-1RA in refractory systemic lupus erythematosus, Lupus 13 (8) (2004) 605–606.
- [57] B. Ostendorf, et al., Preliminary results of safety and efficacy of the interleukin 1 receptor antagonist anakinra in patients with severe lupus arthritis, Ann. Rheum. Dis. 64 (4) (2005) 630–633.
- [58] C.K. Wong, et al., Elevation of proinflammatory cytokine (IL-18, IL-17, IL-12) and Th2 cytokine (IL-4) concentrations in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus, Lupus 9 (8) (2000) 589–593.
- [59] A. Doreau, et al., Interleukin 17 acts in synergy with B cell-activating factor to influence B cell biology and the pathophysiology of systemic lupus erythematosus, Nat. Immunol. 10 (7) (2009) 778–785.
- [60] S.A. Apostolidis, J.C. Crispin, G.C. Tsokos, IL-17-producing T cells in lupus nephritis, Lupus 20 (2) (2011) 120–124.
- [61] J. Yang, et al., Recovery of the immune balance between Th17 and regulatory T cells as a treatment for systemic lupus erythematosus, Rheumatology (Oxford) 50 (8) (2011) 1366–1372.
- [62] J. Yang, et al., Th17 and natural Treg cell population dynamics in systemic lupus erythematosus, Arthritis Rheum. 60 (5) (2009) 1472–1483.
- [63] M.J. McGeachy, et al., TGF-beta and IL-6 drive the production of IL-17 and IL-10 by T cells and restrain T(H)-17 cell-mediated pathology, Nat. Immunol. 8 (12) (2007) 1390–1397.
- [64] C.L. Langrish, et al., IL-23 drives a pathogenic T cell population that induces autoimmune inflammation, J. Exp. Med. 201 (2) (2005) 233–240.
- [65] J.C. Crispin, et al., Expanded double negative T cells in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus produce IL-17 and infiltrate the kidneys, J. Immunol. 181 (12) (2008) 8761–8766.
- [66] X.Q. Chen, et al., Plasma IL-17A is increased in new-onset SLE patients and associated with disease activity, J. Clin. Immunol. 30 (2) (2010) 221–225.
- [67] A. Ambrosi, A. Espinosa, M. Wahren-Herlenius, IL-17: A new actor in IFN-driven systemic autoimmune diseases, Eur. J. Immunol. 42 (9) (2012) 2274–2284.
- [68] Z. Zhang, V.C. Kyttaris, G.C. Tsokos, The role of IL-23/IL-17 axis in lupus nephritis, J. Immunol. 183 (5) (2009) 3160–3169.
- [69] C. Leonardi, et al., Anti-interleukin-17 monoclonal antibody ixekizumab in chronic plaque psoriasis, N. Engl. J. Med. 366 (13) (2012) 1190–1199.
- [70] M.C. Genovese, et al., LY2439821, a humanized antiinterleukin-17 monoclonal antibody, in the treatment of patients with rheumatoid arthritis: A phase I randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, proof-of-concept study, Arthritis Rheum. 62 (4) (2010) 929–939.
- [71] W. Hueber, Secukinumab, a human anti-IL-17A monoclonal antibody, for moderate to severe Crohn's disease: unexpected results of a randomised, double-blind placebo-controlled trial, Gut 61 (12) (2012) 1693–1700.
- [72] W. Hueber, et al., Effects of AIN457, a fully human antibody to interleukin-17A, on psoriasis, rheumatoid arthritis, and uveitis, Sci. Transl. Med. 2 (52) (2010) 52ra72.
- [73] M.C. Genovese, et al., Efficacy and safety of secukinumab in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: a phase II, dose-finding, double-blind, randomised, placebo controlled study, Ann. Rheum. Dis. (in press), http://dx.doi/10.1136/annrheumdis-2012-201601.

- [74] K.A. Papp, et al., Brodalumab, an anti-interleukin-17-receptor antibody for psoriasis, N. Engl. J. Med. 366 (13) (2012) 1181–1189.
- [75] V.C. Kyttaris, et al., Cutting edge: IL-23 receptor deficiency prevents the development of lupus nephritis in C57BL/6-lpr/lpr mice, J. Immunol. 184 (9) (2010) 4605–4609.
- [76] C. Ryan, et al., The use of ustekinumab in autoimmune disease, Expert. Opin. Biol. Ther. 10 (4) (2010) 587–604.
- [77] A. De Souza, et al., Successful treatment of subacute lupus erythematosus with ustekinumab, Arch. Dermatol. 147 (8) (2011) 896–898.
- [78] D. Winchester, K.C. Duffin, C. Hansen, Response to ustekinumab in a patient with both severe psoriasis and hypertrophic cutaneous lupus, Lupus 21 (9) (2012) 1007–1010.
- [79] M.K. Kennedy, et al., Reversible defects in natural killer and memory CD8 T cell lineages in interleukin 15-deficient mice, J. Exp. Med. 191 (5) (2000) 771–780.
- [80] A. Di Sabatino, et al., Role of IL-15 in immune-mediated and infectious diseases, Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 22 (1) (2011) 19–33.
- [81] F. Annunziato, et al., Phenotypic and functional features of human Th17 cells, J. Exp. Med. 204 (8) (2007) 1849–1861.
- [82] S.W. Stonier, K.S. Schluns, Trans-presentation: a novel mechanism regulating IL-15 delivery and responses, Immunol. Lett. 127 (2) (2010) 85–92.
- [83] L. Baranda, et al., IL-15 and IL-15R in leucocytes from patients with systemic lupus erythematosus, Rheumatology (Oxford) 44 (12) (2005) 1507–1513.
- [84] H. Bo, et al., Elevated expression of transmembrane IL-15 in immune cells correlates with the development of murine lupus: a potential target for immunotherapy against SLE, Scand. J. Immunol. 69 (2) (2009) 119–129.
- [85] Y.B. Park, et al., Elevated serum interleukin-15 levels in systemic lupus erythematosus, Yonsei Med. J. 40 (4) (1999) 343–348.
- [86] M. Aringer, et al., Serum interleukin-15 is elevated in systemic lupus erythematosus, Rheumatology (Oxford) 40 (8) (2001) 876–881.
- [87] E. Robak, et al., Proinflammatory interferon-gamma-inducing monokines (interleukin-12, interleukin-18, interleukin-15)serum profile in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus, Eur. Cytokine Netw. 13 (3) (2002) 364–368.
- [88] S. Ferrari-Lacraz, et al., Targeting IL-15 receptor-bearing cells with an antagonist mutant IL-15/Fc protein prevents disease development and progression in murine collagen-induced arthritis, J. Immunol. 173 (9) (2004) 5818–5826.
- [89] B. Baslund, et al., Targeting interleukin-15 in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: a proof-of-concept study, Arthritis Rheum. 52 (9) (2005) 2686–2692.
- [90] X. Liu, C. Bao, D. Hu, Elevated interleukin-18 and skewed Th1:Th2 immune response in lupus nephritis, Rheumatol. Int. 32 (1) (2012) 223–229.
- [91] N. Calvani, et al., Up-regulation of IL-18 and predominance of a Th1 immune response is a hallmark of lupus nephritis, Clin. Exp. Immunol. 138 (1) (2004) 171–178.
- [92] C.A. Dinarello, Interleukin-18 and the pathogenesis of inflammatory diseases, Semin. Nephrol. 27 (1) (2007) 98–114.
- [93] J.M. Kahlenberg, et al., Inflammasome activation of IL-18 results in endothelial progenitor cell dysfunction in systemic lupus erythematosus, J. Immunol. 187 (11) (2011) 6143–6156.
- [94] J. Menke, et al., Targeting transcription factor Stat4 uncovers a role for interleukin-18 in the pathogenesis of severe lupus nephritis in mice, Kidney Int. 79 (4) (2011) 452–463.
- [95] Y.M. Kim, et al., Nitric oxide prevents IL-1beta and IFN-gammainducing factor (IL-18) release from macrophages by inhibiting caspase-1 (IL-1beta-converting enzyme), J. Immunol. 161 (8) (1998) 4122–4128.
- [96] G. Wildbaum, et al., Neutralizing antibodies to IFN-gammainducing factor prevent experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis, J. Immunol. 161 (11) (1998) 6368–6374.

- [97] C. Shimizu, et al., High circulating levels of interleukin-18 binding protein indicate the severity of glomerular involvement in systemic lupus erythematosus, Mod. Rheumatol. 22 (1) (2012) 73–79.
- [98] D. Hu, et al., Expressions of IL-18 and its binding protein in peripheral blood leukocytes and kidney tissues of lupus nephritis patients, Clin. Rheumatol. 29 (7) (2010) 717–721.
- [99] D. Liang, et al., Imbalance of interleukin 18 and interleukin 18 binding protein in patients with lupus nephritis, Cell. Mol. Immunol. 3 (4) (2006) 303–306.
- [100] D. Novick, et al., High circulating levels of free interleukin-18 in patients with active SLE in the presence of elevated levels of interleukin-18 binding protein, J. Autoimmun. 34 (2) (2010) 121–126.
- [101] R. Debets, et al., IL-18 receptors, their role in ligand binding and function: anti-IL-1RAcPL antibody, a potent antagonist of IL-18, J. Immunol. 165 (9) (2000) 4950–4956.

- [102] D. Novick, et al., Interleukin-18 binding protein: a novel modulator of the Th1 cytokine response, Immunity 10 (1) (1999) 127–136.
- [103] D. Novick, et al., A novel IL-18BP ELISA shows elevated serum IL-18BP in sepsis and extensive decrease of free IL-18, Cytokine 14 (6) (2001) 334–342.
- [104] K. Takeda, et al., Defective NK cell activity and Th1 response in IL-18-deficient mice, Immunity 8 (3) (1998) 383–390.
- [105] C. Plater-Zyberk, et al., Therapeutic effect of neutralizing endogenous IL-18 activity in the collagen-induced model of arthritis, J. Clin. Invest. 108 (12) (2001) 1825–1832.
- [106] R.L. Smeets, et al., Adenoviral delivery of IL-18 binding protein C ameliorates collagen-induced arthritis in mice, Gene Ther. 10 (12) (2003) 1004–1011.
- [107] P.P. Tak, M. Bacchi, M. Bertolino, Pharmacokinetics of IL-18 binding protein in healthy volunteers and subjects with rheumatoid arthritis or plaque psoriasis, Eur. J. Drug Metab. Pharmacokinet. 31 (2) (2006) 109–116.

Appendix E. Review of interferon and apoptosis in systemic lupus erythematosus

See attached publication [243]. This work was included as Chapter 3 of a textbook about systemic lupus erythematosus. It is a review of current literature and summary. The majority of the introduction (Section 1) was taken from this work.

Interferon and Apoptosis in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus

Daniel N. Clark and Brian D. Poole Brigham Young University USA

1. Introduction

Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) is generally diagnosed long after the disease begins. This means that the cause of the disease is hard to find, buried in the past. In the search for the elusive causal agents for SLE, one candidate is the immune signaling molecule, interferon (IFN). Interferon is a secreted signaling protein, or cytokine, which is expressed at higher levels in SLE patients and has been associated with incidence and severity of the disease.

A combination of environmental triggers and genetic susceptibility combine to initiate SLE. Although there are many etiological components, they usually converge on a heightened state of activation for the immune system, with resultant increases in interferon production and interferon signaling. That is to say that interferon could be thought of as either a causative agent, a result of the disease, or both.

This chapter will discuss the basics of interferon function and how de-regulation of apoptosis can lead to interferon production due to immune complexes. We will then discuss how the functioning of the immune system changes in someone with SLE, the genes which are associated with risk for SLE, and clinical manifestations of interferon in SLE.

2. How interferon works in the context of SLE

Interferon is a signaling protein which is secreted to activate neighboring cells in response to viruses or other infections. It is a cytokine, or immune signaling molecule which allows communication between cells. When a cell is infected with a virus, interferon is produced and secreted as a warning to other cells to prepare for an infection. Interferons alpha (IFN α) and beta (IFN β) are the type I interferons, and interferon gamma (IFN γ) is the type II interferon. Most of the cells in the human body have receptors for type I IFN, whereas certain immune cells express the receptor for type II IFN (Su, et al., 2004). The proteins are made by many different cells, but generally speaking, IFN α is of leukocyte origin, IFN β is of fibroblast origin, and IFN γ is made by lymphocytes (Lucero, et al., 1982). Other less studied interferons also exist, and interferons are conserved among many species. This chapter will talk mostly about type I interferons, which are IFN α and IFN β .

The main purpose of interferon is to shut down a cell before a virus can take it over, although it has many other jobs (Niewold, et al., 2010). Interferon signaling leads to increased apoptosis, which is a normal response to control viral spread or to decrease the

size of a tumor (Takaoka, et al., 2003). If one cell can undergo apoptosis before a virus can replicate and infect other cells, the infection is halted (Luker, et al., 2005).



Type I Interferons

Type II Interferon

Fig. 1. Interferon protein structures. Interferons alpha and beta, the type I interferons, have a common structure composed mainly of five alpha helices (shown are IFN α 2a and IFN β 1 based on PDB files 1itf and 1au1, respectively). Although the monomers of each are very similar in structure, the functional form of both is a dimer, and the two dimerize differently, IFN α 2a along homologous surfaces and IFN β 1 on opposing sides of the protein (Karpusas, et al., 1997). IFN γ is show in its dimerized form, with the two colors representing two intertwined monomers (based on PDB file 1hig). Not shown to scale; figures drawn with Jmol (Jmol, 2011).

Interferon can be produced in response to infection, other cytokines, mitogens and several signaling pathways. Once produced it is secreted where it can be recognized by other cells, which is called paracrine signaling, or by the cell which produced it, called autocrine signaling. One type of cell, the plasmacytoid dendritic cell (pDC) is a natural IFN producer, and is able to make very large amounts of IFNα (Ronnblom & Alm, 2001).

When interferon ligates an interferon receptor, signaling pathways are activated. Interferon causes an increase in the expression of both major histocompatibility complexes (MHCI and MHCII) for presentation of viral peptides to T cells, which can then lead to activation of other cells in order to kill infected cells, and remove them (Fruh & Yang, 1999). Interferon also increases intracellular levels of protein kinase R (PKR) which recognizes viral nucleic acids and activates RNase L to degrade viral RNAs. PKR also slows protein synthesis by inactivating translational initiation factors, so that viral proteins synthesis is slowed (Pindel & Sadler, 2011). p53 is also activated, which is pro-apoptotic (Takaoka, 2003). Interferons activate immune cells, especially natural killer cells and macrophages (Murray, 1988). This activation cascade is normally "turned off" after an infection is cleared to prevent damage to uninfected cells. However this activation state is not reduced to the normal levels in individuals with SLE, where a higher level of interferon is present (T. Kim, et al., 1987; Ytterberg & Schnitzer, 1982). This higher amount of interferon is also measurable by an increase in the expression of interferon-stimulated genes seen in lupus patients, called the interferon response signature (Baechler, et al., 2003; Bennett, et al., 2003; Feng, et al., 2006).

This means that IFN is turned on and that it is actively affecting how other cells are functioning.



Fig. 2. Cell to cell IFN signaling and its effects. One cell produces interferon and either another cell (paracrine signaling) or the same cell (autocrine signaling) receives the signal. ↑: an increase, ↓: a decrease, MHC: major histocompatibility complex, PKR: protein kinase R, NK: natural killer cell, MΦ: macrophage

As a general feature of autoimmune diseases such as SLE, the immune system is in an "always on" state, which can lead to a breach in the body's natural tolerance to self. Once this self tolerance is lost, autoimmune disease can result. In addressing why the immune system generates an attack against one's own body, the over activation of the immune system, including the overproduction of interferon in SLE patients is a part of this picture.

3. Interferon leads to apoptosis, and the SLE-apoptosis connection

One effect of interferon production is the release of autoantigens due to increased cell death. This release is normally controlled by a process called efferocytosis, or apoptotic cell removal, where cell debris are processed by immune cells or neighboring cells which remove them by phagocytosis. Defects in apoptotic pathways have been noted in individuals with SLE (Gaipl, et al., 2006). Examples of why this occurs have been studied. For example, in SLE patients there is an overexpression of both soluble and membrane-bound Fas. Fas is a receptor which when ligated signals to a cell to undergo apoptosis. The levels of Fas also correlate with the amount of apoptotic lymphocytes and disease activity of SLE (Li, et al., 2009; Sahebari, et al., 2010). Mouse models of lupus commonly have genetic variations in apoptotic pathways such the Fas/Fas L pathway and interferon pathways.

Mouse as well as human SLE patients make antibodies to self antigens. This is likely because of over-exposure of potential autoantigens to the immune system. This could be due to an increased amount of apoptosis, or a decrease in the rate of clearance of apoptotic debris. Apoptosis, which can be induced by interferon, is also part of the natural cycle of cellular growth and death. Cells undergoing apoptosis are recognized as dead by other cells, so that they are cleared (Munoz, et al., 2010).



Fig. 3. Production of interferon can begin with defects in apoptosis. This can be due to either an increase in apoptosis or a decrease in clearance of apoptotic debris. If contents are released, they can form immune complexes with autoantibodies. These immune complexes can cause cells to produce interferon. Manipulating this pathway is also a common characteristic of mouse models of lupus.

3.1 Mouse models allow the study of IFN and apoptosis pathways

Mouse models have been very useful in understanding the etiology and pathogenesis of lupus. Two approaches to experimental mice have been used to generate information about the role of interferon in lupus. In the first approach, interferon-related genes are knocked out and the resulting effects on lupus are studied. For the second, established lupus mouse models are studied on a molecular level for differences in interferon pathways or interferon-related genes are knocked out in lupus-prone mice. Several established lupus mouse models include the MRL/lpr mice, NZW/NZB, and others. These are mice that spontaneously develop lupus, and several of them have been investigated to understand the role of interferon in their pathogenesis. Although a complete description of the mouse models for lupus is beyond the scope of this or any one publication, a few illustrative examples represent the power of these model systems.

One mouse model that is especially relevant for the study of interferon in lupus is the BXSB/MpJ (BXSB) or Yaa mouse. These mice spontaneously develop lupus-like disease in a sex-linked fashion because of a duplication of the Toll-like receptor 7 (TLR7) gene on the Y chromosome (Izui, et al., 1994). TLR7 is responsible for inducing interferon in response to viral infection or autoantibody production.

Another interesting mouse for the study of interferon is the NZB/NZW mouse. These mice spontaneously develop a lupus-like autoimmune disease. They have been used to investigate the role of several interferon-related molecules and cells. For example, treating these mice with interferon accelerates disease in a T-cell like manner (Z. Liu, et al., 2010; Mathian, et al., 2005), while knocking out or inhibiting interferon-related genes slows or eliminates the development of lupus-like symptoms (Jorgensen, et al., 2007; Sharma, et al., 2005). These mice have been used to clarify the interactions between sex hormones and

interferon in lupus etiology (Bynote, et al., 2008; Panchanathan, et al., 2009; Panchanathan, et al., 2010), and they serve as an excellent all-around model for spontaneous development of lupus.

The role of several interferon-related molecules has been examined using a combination of mouse models. As an example, consider the gene interferon regulatory factor five (IRF5). This gene is an interferon-regulating gene which will be described in section 5.2 below. It was discovered that knockout of IRF5 prevents or inhibits the development of lupus in MRL/lpr mice, $Fc\gamma^{-/2}$ Yaa mice, and pristine-injected mice (Richez, et al., 2010; Savitsky, et al., 2010; Tada, et al., 2011).

Mouse models for lupus represent a powerful and flexible mechanism for investigating the role of multiple aspects of lupus. However, it must be remembered that the mutations or disease manifestations in these mice are not necessarily related to those seen in human lupus, and therefore the results observed must be interpreted with caution.

4. A ycle of autoantibody production

When it comes to SLE we may think of interferon production as a cycle, which begins when an environmental trigger, such as a viral infection, UV light damage or medical treatment activates the immune system to produce interferon.

Normally B cells which produce antibodies to self-antigens undergo negative selection, where they receive signals to die off or become inactivated if they make antibody against a self-antigen. This self-tolerance is breached in SLE (Cancro, et al., 2009), and the self-antigens released from damaged or apoptotic cells during or after initial triggering events become the targets of autoantibodies. When autoantibodies are produced, they are made by B cells as well as plasma cells, which are a mature differentiated form of B cells.



Fig. 4. The altered immune response in SLE generates a cycle. In blue is a cycle which exists in SLE, amplifying the amount of IFN present. This cycle needs a trigger, but once it begins, it can leave the immune system in an "always on" state.

Autoantibodies lead to the production of interferon by forming immune complexes which are immunostimulatory (Ronnblom, et al., 2011). Immune complexes are composed of aggregates of antibody and antigen molecules which are processed by the body. These immune complexes are a main source of SLE pathology, as they obstruct small passages in areas of the body such as the kidneys and joints (Crispin, et al., 2010).

Immune complexes may include the common SLE autoantigens such as RNA-containing protein complexes like Sm, RNPs, Ro, and La. Having a combination of both nucleic acids and protein complexed with antibody means many pathways can be turned on. For example, antibody can stimulate an immune cell through an Fc receptor, nucleic acids can stimulate cells through Toll-like receptors (TLRs), and proteins can be recognized by other antibodies.

Immune cells are activated by immune complexes and the cycle continues. Interferon production is instigated by immune cells which recognize part of the complex, be it the antibody, the antigen, or other associated molecules.

5. SLE genetic risk scr ns identify genes in interferon signaling pathways

We have looked at the disease state of SLE, and how the immune system functions improperly to instigate disease. Things begin when an environmental trigger works on the genetic background of varying degrees of susceptibility. Genetic susceptibility is thought to account for at least 20% of the risk for SLE (Deapen, et al., 1992). To find the actual genes involved, studies are performed to determine the linkage or association of a variation in the genome to a particular disease.

One important method is called a genome wide association study (GWAS). These GWA studies genotype thousands of individuals, grouped into SLE patients and non-patients comparing them at thousands of single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs). These studies reveal the genomic regions which contain disease-associated genes, because the variations are more common in people with the disease. Individual genes or gene pathways are pinpointed, and can ultimately lead to treatment strategies. Many genes have been identified that contain SNPs which confer risk to SLE.

These studies are especially useful for diseases with unknown or complex genetic components. The genome is examined for sets of single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs). When sets of SNPs are usually inherited together in a group it is called a haplotype. When a haplotype is more common in the disease group than in the unaffected group, it can be assumed that it is associated with the disease. Although specific genes are sometimes found which may predict a disease, it is more likely that the information will reveal molecular pathways associated with the disease. Association of genes or pathways to diseases such as heart disease, asthma, diabetes and others have been found using this method (Stranger, et al., 2011). The amount of effect is measured as an odds ratio (OR), which is a measure of the strength of association of the disease with a haplotype. A median OR value is around 1.3, with some genes having much higher association ORs. For example, one of the lupus-associated haplotypes TREX1, has a published OR of 25 (Lee-Kirsch, et al., 2007). In such cases, the genetic risk is almost certainly associated with the disease.

An important caveat to these tests is that they answer the question, "What?" but not the question, "How?" That is, they identify genetic loci which confer risk to SLE, but then further studies are needed to show what functional changes affect people with a risk haplotype. For most of the genes, we do not know what functional role they play. However

it is promising to note that the genes are within certain pathways, some of which are already associated with lupus.



Fig. 5. Genome wide association studies (GWAS). Genome-wide association studies aim to discover the genetic risk component of a disease by finding differences in a group with the disease compared to a group of unaffected control individuals.

Several review articles have reviewed the findings of many lupus GWAS with varying degrees of certainty (R.R. Graham, et al., 2009; I.T.W. Harley, et al., 2009; Moser, et al., 2009; Rhodes & Vyse, 2008; Sebastiani & Galeazzi, 2009). In some cases the indicated susceptibility genes are common in many ethnicities and populations, while others are specific to certain groups. The statistical significance of many of these genes is well established, while others are novel and need to be replicated by other groups. An important finding is that most of the genes that have been identified in GWA studies can be grouped into several functional pathways. We will focus on the genes in the IFN pathway and the pathways involving clearing of apoptotic cells and immune complexes.

5.1 Interferon production pathways

Intracellular signaling pathways which control interferon production include the production of type I interferons by interferon regulatory factors (IRFs), and the production of type II interferon by STAT4. IRFs are activated by TLRs, which are extracellular or endosomal pattern recognition molecules. TLRs 7, 8, and 9 recognize nucleic acids and are endosomal. Maintaining these TLRs in the endosome instead of the cell surface is an important barrier to too frequent TLR activation. Once the nucleic acids are brought into the cells through endocytosis, the TLRs become activated to turn on IRFs. TLR 8 and TLR 9 have both been identified as lupus risk genes (Armstrong, et al., 2009; Xu, et al., 2009).

TLRs begin a signaling cascade through a MyD88 signaling complex. MyD88 activates another confirmed locus of SLE risk, the gene which encodes IL1 receptor-associated kinase 1

(IRAK1). In Sle1 and Sle3 mouse models of lupus, IRAK deficiency eliminated most lupus symptoms (Jacob, et al., 2009), which highlights the importance of IRAK1. Since this gene is on the X chromosome, it could help explain why lupus is more common among women. The MyD88 complex can be affected by osteopontin (OPN). It regulates IFNα production in plasmacytoid dendritic cells, which are the body's main IFNα producer cell (Cao & Liu, 2006). The lupus-risk variant of OPN was tied to high IFNα levels in certain lupus patients (Kariuki, et al., 2009b).

Two interacting proteins involved in inflammation, TNF α -induced protein 3 (TNFAIP3) and TNFAIP3-interacting protein 1 (TNIP1), are also lupus risk loci (Gateva, et al., 2009; Musone, et al., 2008). TNFAIP3 encodes the protein A20, which abrogates NF κ B after an inflammatory response, and lupus-risk variants of this gene are associated with blood and kidney manifestations (Bates, et al., 2009). TNIP1 interacts with TNFAIP3 as well as affecting several other signal transduction pathways.

Interferon regulatory factors are activated next, downstream of TLRs; they are transcription factors which travel to the nucleus to bind DNA to initiate transcription. IRF5 binds to a sequence-specific region of DNA to induce IFN production. It has been confirmed as a risk factor for SLE in among several ethnicities (Kawasaki, et al., 2008; Kelly, et al., 2008; Lee & Song, 2009; Reddy, et al., 2007; Shimane, et al., 2009). There are three main genetic variants within IRF5, one copy number variant with either two or four copies of a 30-bp sequence, and two SNPs (R.R. Graham, et al., 2007b). The rs2004640 SNP changes the first exon, although this exon does not encode protein. The other SNP, rs10954213, creates an early polyadenylation sequence, which yields shorter more stable mRNA (D.S.C. Graham, et al., 2007a). Work has shown that these variants increase the amount of IFN in the presence of SLE autoantibodies (Niewold, et al., 2008; Salloum, et al., 2009).



Fig. 6. Interferon production pathways are affected by lupus-risk genes. The * represents genes which have been identified as having risk for lupus. The endosomal TLRs (7, 8, and 9) can bind to autoantigenic nucleic acids and signal through a MyD88 complex which can be affected by association with osteopontin (OPN). If it is not blocked by TNFAIP3, this activates an IRAK signaling complex to phosphorylate the IRF5 and IRF7 transcription factors to produce type I IFN. IL-12 or IL-23 signal through Tyk2/Jak2 to activate the STAT4 transcription factor to produce type II IFN, commonly in T helper cells (Watford, et al., 2004).

IRF7 is associated with SLE risk by its proximity to SNPs in the IRF7/KIAA1542 locus (J.B. Harley, et al., 2008; Suarez-Gestal, et al., 2009). IRF7 SNPs have been shown to lead to increased IFNα levels and alter of which autoantibodies are made (Salloum, et al., 2009).

Signal transducer and activator of transcription 4 (STAT4) is also associated with risk for SLE. It is a transcription factor which activates genes in proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis pathways. Two STAT4 SNPs have been examined, rs7574865 increases sensitivity to IFN α (Kariuki, et al., 2009a), and rs3821236 causes STAT4 to be transcribed at higher levels and is additive with IRF5 risk loci so that when both are present, the risk to SLE is multiplied (Abelson, et al., 2009; Sigurdsson, et al., 2008).

5.2 Genes associated with apoptosis and immune complexes

Another set of risk genes can be placed into a functional group of apoptosis-associated genes. As we read earlier in the chapter, defects in apoptosis can lead to the presence of potential autoantigens. For example, a cell undergoes apoptosis and instead of being cleared by other cells, its contents are released. The cellular contents can contain things like nucleic acids, RNA binding proteins, and others which are common lupus autoantigens. If antibodies bind to these antigens, a complex of multiple antibodies and multiple antigens can aggregate. The resultant immune complexes can be broken down through reactions with complement components, which are commonly found at low levels in SLE patients (C.C. Liu & Ahearn, 2009). If they are not broken down, they reach areas such as the kidneys or joints, which can be damaged by these immune complexes. This is how organ damage usually occurs in lupus patients.



Fig. 7. Genes associated with risk for lupus in the apoptosis pathway. The * represents genes which have been identified as having risk for lupus. TNFα, CASP10 and IRF5 are pro-apoptotic whereas OPN and p21 are anti-apoptotic. These genes all have a role in how much apoptosis is occurring. Once apoptosis has transpired, the cell must be cleared. Parts of apoptotic cells or immune complexes can be recognized by other cells to facilitate their removal. This is aided by recognition molecules such as the complement components shown here.

The problem of creating autoantibodies could stem from too much apoptosis or too little clearance of apoptotic debris. Genes identified in GWA studies that could alter the amount of apoptosis include TNFa, caspase 10, IRF5, osteopontin and p21.

TNF α was identified as a risk factor for lupus in certain ethnicities (Jimenez-Morales, et al., 2009; Lin, et al., 2009). TNF α is a cytokine which is produced and secreted to signal to

other cells and is found at high levels in the serum of lupus patients (Davas, et al., 1999; Emilie, et al., 1996; Sabry, et al., 2006). Part of its function is to induce apoptosis – when a cell binds TNFα, it activates the caspase cascade. Caspases are proteases which are activated under certain conditions and are a hallmark of apoptosis. They cleave other caspases as well, and the combined proteolytic activity of several different activated caspases breaks down cellular components as the cell prepares to die. Caspase 10 is part of this cascade and is another lupus susceptibility gene (Armstrong, et al., 2009). Caspase 8, is activated by TNF signaling, and cleaves caspase 10, which then cleaves caspases 3 and 7. IRF5, as well as being a transcription factor which helps produce IFN, is also a tumor suppressor gene which is commonly inactivated in cancers. This is because of IRF5's pro-apoptotic function.

Osteopontin (OPN) and p21are also lupus risk genes, both anti-apoptotic. OPN promotes proliferation, as well as prevention of death under apoptotic stimuli (Standal, et al., 2004). A mimic of p21 was used in the treatment of murine lupus in the NZB/NZW mouse, and it was found to dramatically reduce the disease (Goulvestre, et al., 2005).

So, there are genes which dysregulate the amount of apoptosis, and they are associated with risk for lupus. But this is onlyhalf of the picture; the other part is the clearance of apoptotic cells or immune complexes. Several SLE susceptibility genes in this pathway have been identified as well. Active SLE can be assessed when low levels of complement proteins are found in circulation. Complement can function against microbes during an infection, but can also help to degrade immune complexes. Once attached, they can help cells recognize and degrade them. Other proteins function to bind apoptotic cells or immune complexes to facilitate their uptake by other cells.

Integrin aM (ITGAM) has been convincingly associated to SLE (Nath, et al., 2008). Risk variants of ITGAM have been associated with certain clinical manifestations of lupus (Kim-Howard, et al., 2010). It is a cell receptor which binds to OPN or to complement C3b. C3b binds to apoptotic cells or immune complexes.

SLE association with complement components C1q, C2, C4a and C4b have large OR values, meaning that the risk haplotypes of these genes are causing a large effect. When C1q is expressed at low levels it can lead to lupus, and it was shown to increase the amount the of IFN produced due to immune complexes (Lood, et al., 2009). Complement components function by binding immune complexes by the Fc region of antibody or by binding to other parts of apoptotic cells, which can opsonize them for easier uptake by other cells. Cells can then remove the immune complex or apoptotic debris by endocytosis. Receptors for the Fc region of antibody have also been implicated in SLE risk (Lee-Kirsch, et al., 2007). These receptors can bind to antibody within an immune complex.

Other proteins such as milk fat globule EGF factor 8 (MFG-E8) and C-reactive protein (CRP) can bind to apoptotic cells by recognizing phospholipids on their membranes. MFG-E8 binds to phosphatidylserine, an "eat me" signal which is expressed on apoptotic cells. The MFG-E8 knockout mouse gets SLE because of failure to remove apoptotic cells (Yamaguchi, et al., 2010). CRP binds to phosphocholine, which is present on dying or damaged cells. Both MFG-E8 and CRP are lupus risk genes (Batuca & Alves, 2009; Hu, et al., 2009; H.A. Kim, et al., 2009). Low mannose-binding lectin (MBL) levels can lead to higher levels of apoptosis is this lupus-risk associated gene (Pradhan, et al., 2010).

The number of genes associated with risk for SLE will likely increase, though we have an interesting pool of genes already that point to certain pathways associated with the disease. The interferon and apoptosis pathways are certainly important in SLE etiopathogenesis.

6. Clinical component of interferon and SLE

Many researchers have sought to determine if higher levels of IFN, which is common in lupus patients, is a cause of lupus or an effect of lupus. An interesting occurrence can happen when someone undergoes treatment with IFNα. The presence of increased levels of IFN leads to lupus or a lupus-like syndrome (Gota & Calabrese, 2003; Ioannou & Isenberg, 2000; Niewold & Swedler, 2005). Because the lupus symptoms usually disappear after IFN treatment ends, this connection suggests that IFN may be more of a cause than an effect. In a small number of cases, some patients also develop SLE as a result of these IFN treatments. Furthermore, within a family, the levels of interferon among all members correlate, suggesting that this is a heritable trait (Niewold, et al., 2007). That is, even the siblings of a lupus patient with high IFN levels are more likely to have higher IFN levels. This also supports a causal role for IFN.

Clinically, disease activity can be measured and correlated to other observations to determine the cause of the different levels of activity. One item linked to SLE activity is interferon, where higher levels of IFN in the serum correlated with more severe disease in most cases (Bauer, et al., 2009; Dall'Era, et al., 2005; Feng, et al., 2006; Landolt-Marticorena, et al., 2009; Petri, et al., 2009; Zhuang, et al., 2005).

Common autoantibodies also correlate with IFN levels. A very strong correlation is consistently observed between IFNa levels and the presence of antibodies to common SLE autoantigens like Ro, La, Sm, RNP, and dsDNA (Kirou, et al., 2005).

Another set of findings has to do with properties of main producer of IFNa, the plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs). High numbers of IFN-producing pDCs have been observed in lupus skin lesions (Blomberg, et al., 2001; Farkas, et al., 2001). Since the cells are present at the scene of the crime, the increased interferon could have to do with the pathology in these cases.

At the time of writing, two clinical drug trials for SLE are being conducted, Sifalimumab is in Phase II, and Rontalizumab is in Phase I. Both are antibodies, designed to block interferon alpha signaling by binding it to prevent its recognition by neighboring cells (Clinical Trials, 2011). If these drugs are found to be effective, it will show that IFN plays a critical role in the pathogenesis of lupus. In addition, the United States Food and Drug Administration recently approved an antibody to B lymphocyte stimulator (BLyS) to treat SLE called Belimumab (Sanz, et al., 2011). This should help control the selective apoptosis and autoantibody production to some degree.

7. Conclusions

Several themes have been examined in this chapter. Specifically that the production of interferon is tied to lupus and that apoptosis, clearance of apoptotic cells, and the formation of immune complexes are events that can augment the production of interferon. Exciting findings about the actual genetic causes of SLE are being examined which will lead to better treatments for this complex disease. Although most of the data discussed in this chapter are inferential, there is a large body of evidence in support of the hypothesis that increased interferon signaling promotes an autoimmune state in those genetically prone to SLE.

8. References

- Abelson, A.K.; Delgado-Vega, A.M.; Kozyrev, S.V.; Sanchez, E.; Velazquez-Cruz, R.; Eriksson, N.; Wojcik, J.; Reddy, M.; Lima, G.; D'Alfonso, S.; Migliaresi, S.; Baca, V.; Orozco, L.; Witte, T.; Ortego-Centeno, N.; Abderrahim, H.; Pons-Estel, B.A.; Gutierrez, C.; Suarez, A.; Gonzalez-Escribano, M.F.; Martin, J.; Alarcon-Riquelme, M.E. & Grp, A. (2009). STAT4 associates with systemic lupus erythematosus through two independent effects that correlate with gene expression and act additively with IRF5 to increase risk. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 68 pp. 1746-1753
- Armstrong, D.L.; Reiff, A.; Myones, B.L.; Quismorio, F.P.; Klein-Gitelman, M.; McCurdy, D.; Wagner-Weiner, L.; Silverman, E.; Ojwang, J.O.; Kaufman, K.M.; Kelly, J.A.; Merrill, J.T.; Harley, J.B.; Bae, S.C.; Vyse, T.J.; Gilkeson, G.S.; Gaffney, P.M.; Moser, K.L.; Putterman, C.; Edberg, J.C.; Brown, E.E.; Ziegler, J.; Langefeld, C.D.; Zidovetzki, R. & Jacob, C.O. (2009). Identification of new SLE-associated genes with a two-step Bayesian study design. *Genes and Immunity*, 10 pp. 446-456
- Baechler, E.C.; Batliwalla, F.M.; Karypis, G.; Gaffney, P.M.; Ortmann, W.A.; Espe, K.J.;
 Shark, K.B.; Grande, W.J.; Hughes, K.M.; Kapur, V.; Gregersen, P.K. & Behrens, T.W. (2003). Interferon-inducible gene expression signature in peripheral blood cells of patients with severe lupus. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 100 pp. 2610-2615
- Bates, J.S.; Lessard, C.J.; Leon, J.M.; Nguyen, T.; Battiest, L.J.; Rodgers, J.; Kaufman, K.M.;
 James, J.A.; Gilkeson, G.S.; Kelly, J.A.; Humphrey, M.B.; Harley, J.B.;
 Gray-McGuire, C.; Moser, K.L. & Gaffney, P.M. (2009). Meta-analysis and
 imputation identifies a 109 kb risk haplotype spanning TNFAIP3 associated with
 lupus nephritis and hematologic manifestations. *Genes and Immunity*, 10 pp. 470-477
- Batuca, J. & Alves, J.D. (2009). C-reactive protein in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Autoimmunity*, 42 pp. 282-285
- Bauer, J.W.; Petri, M.; Batliwalla, F.M.; Koeuth, T.; Wilson, J.; Slattery, C.; Panoskaltsis-Mortari, A.; Gregersen, P.K.; Behrens, T.W. & Baechler, E.C. (2009). Interferon-Regulated Chemokines as Biomarkers of Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Disease Activity A Validation Study. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 60 pp. 3098-3107
- Bennett, L.; Palucka, A.K.; Arce, E.; Cantrell, V.; Borvak, J.; Banchereau, J. & Pascual, V. (2003). Interferon and granulopoiesis signatures in systemic lupus erythematosus blood. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 197 pp. 711-723
- Blomberg, S.; Eloranta, M.L.; Cederblad, B.; Nordlind, K.; Alm, G.V. & Ronnblom, L. (2001). Presence of cutaneous interferon-alpha producing cells in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Lupus*, 10 pp. 484-490
- Bynote, K.K.; Hackenberg, J.M.; Korach, K.S.; Lubahn, D.B.; Lane, P.H. & Gould, K.A. (2008). Estrogen receptor-alpha deficiency attenuates autoimmune disease in (NZB x NZW)F1 mice. *Genes Immun*, 9 pp. 137-152
- Cancro, M.P.; D'Cruz, D.P. & Khamashta, M.A. (2009). The role of B lymphocyte stimulator (BLyS) in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 119 pp. 1066-1073

- Cao, W. & Liu, Y.J. (2006). Opn: key regulator of pDC interferon production. *Nature Immunology*, 7 pp. 441-443
- ClinicalTrials.gov. (2011) http://www.clinicaltrials.gov
- Crispin, J.C.; Liossis, S.N.C.; Kis-Toth, K.; Lieberman, L.A.; Kyttaris, V.C.; Juang, Y.T. & Tsokos, G.C. Pathogenesis of human systemic lupus erythematosus: recent advances. *Trends in Molecular Medicine*, 16 pp. 47-57
- Dall'Era, M.C.; Cardarelli, P.M.; Preston, B.T.; Witte, A. & Davis, J.C. (2005). Type I interferon correlates with serological and clinical manifestations of SLE. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 64 pp. 1692-1697
- Davas, E.M.; Tsirogianni, A.; Kappou, I.; Karamitsos, D.; Economidou, I. & Dantis, P.C. (1999). Serum IL-6, TNF alpha, p55 srTNF alpha, p75 srTNF alpha, srIL-2 alpha levels and disease acitivity in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Clinical Rheumatology*, 18 pp. 17-22
- Deapen, D.; Escalante, A.; Weinrib, L.; Horwitz, D.; Bachman, B.; Royburman, P.; Walker, A. & Mack, T.M. (1992). A revised estimate of twin concordance in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 35 pp. 311-318
- Emilie, D.; Llorente, L. & Galanaud, P. (1996). Cytokines and systemic lupus erythematosus. Annales De Medecine Interne, 147 pp. 480-484
- Farkas, L.; Beiske, K.; Lund-Johansen, F.; Brandtzaeg, P. & Jahnsen, F.L. (2001). Plasmacytoid dendritic cells (natural interferon-alpha/beta-producing cells) accumulate in cutaneous lupus erythematosus lesions. *American Journal of Pathology*, 159 pp. 237-243
- Feng, X.B.; Wu, H.; Grossman, J.M.; Hanvivadhanakul, P.; FitzGerald, J.D.; Park, G.S.; Dong, X.; Chen, W.L.; Kim, M.H.; Weng, H.H.; Furst, D.E.; Gorn, A.; McMahon, M.; Taylor, M.; Brahn, E.; Hahn, B.H. & Tsao, B.P. (2006). Association of increased interferon-inducible gene expression with disease activity and lupus nephritis in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 54 pp. 2951-2962
- Fruh, K. & Yang, Y. (1999). Antigen presentation by MHC class I and its regulation by interferon gamma. *Current Opinion in Immunology*, 11 pp. 76-81
- Gaipl, U.S.; Sheriff, A.; Franz, S.; Munoz, L.E.; Voll, R.E.; Kalden, J.R. & Herrmann, M. (2006). Inefficient clearance of dying cells and autoreactivity. *Current Concepts in Autoimmunity and Chronic Inflamation*, 305 pp. 161-176
- Gateva, V.; Sandling, J.K.; Hom, G.; Taylor, K.E.; Chung, S.A.; Sun, X.; Ortmann, W.; Kosoy, R.; Ferreira, R.C.; Nordmark, G.; Gunnarsson, I.; Svenungsson, E.; Padyukov, L.; Sturfelt, G.; Jonsen, A.; Bengtsson, A.A.; Rantapaa-Dahlqvist, S.; Baechler, E.C.; Brown, E.E.; Alarcon, G.S.; Edberg, J.C.; Ramsey-Goldman, R.; McGwin, G.; Reveille, J.D.; Vila, L.M.; Kimberly, R.P.; Manzi, S.; Petri, M.A.; Lee, A.; Gregersen, P.K.; Seldin, M.F.; Ronnblom, L.; Criswell, L.A.; Syvanen, A.C.; Behrens, T.W. & Graham, R.R. (2009). A large-scale replication study identifies TNIP1, PRDM1, JAZF1, UHRF1BP1 and IL10 as risk loci for systemic lupus erythematosus. *Nature Genetics*, 41 pp. 1228-U1293
- Gota, C. & Calabrese, L. (2003). Induction of clinical autoimmune disease by therapeutic interferon-alpha. *Autoimmunity*, 36 pp. 511-518

- Goulvestre, C.; Chereau, C.; Nicco, C.; Mouthon, L.; Weill, B. & Batteux, F. (2005). A mimic of p21(WAF1)/(CIP1) ameliorates murine lupus. *Journal of Immunology*, 175 pp. 6959-6967
- Graham, D.S.C.; Manku, H.; Wagner, S.; Reid, J.; Timms, K.; Gutin, A.; Lanchbury, J.S. & Vyse, T.J. (2007a). Association of IRF5 in UK SLE families identifies a variant involved in polyadenylation. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 16 pp. 579-591
- Graham, R.R.; Hom, G.; Ortmann, W. & Behrens, T.W. (2009). Review of recent genome-wide association scans in lupus. *Journal of Internal Medicine*, 265 pp. 680-688
- Graham, R.R.; Kyogoku, C.; Sigurdsson, S.; Vlasova, I.A.; Davies, L.R.; Baechler, E.C.; Plenge, R.M.; Koeuth, T.; Ortmann, W.A.; Hom, G.; Bauer, J.W.; Gillett, C.; Burtt, N.; Cunninghame Graham, D.S.; Onofrio, R.; Petri, M.; Gunnarsson, I.; Svenungsson, E.; Ronnblom, L.; Nordmark, G.; Gregersen, P.K.; Moser, K.; Gaffney, P.M.; Criswell, L.A.; Vyse, T.J.; Syvanen, A.C.; Bohjanen, P.R.; Daly, M.J.; Behrens, T.W. & Altshuler, D. (2007b). Three functional variants of IFN regulatory factor 5 (IRF5) define risk and protective haplotypes for human lupus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 104 pp. 6758-6763
- Harley, I.T.W.; Kaufman, K.M.; Langefeld, C.D.; Harley, J.B. & Kelly, J.A. (2009). Genetic susceptibility to SLE: new insights from fine mapping and genome-wide association studies. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, 10 pp. 285-290
- Harley, J.B.; Alarcon-Riquelme, M.E.; Criswell, L.A.; Jacob, C.O.; Kimberly, R.P.; Moser, K.L.; Tsao, B.P.; Vyse, T.J.; Langefeld, C.D. & Int Consortium Systemic Lupus, E. (2008). Genome-wide association scan in women with systemic lupus erythematosus identifies susceptibility variants in ITGAM, PXK, KIAA1542 and other loci. *Nature Genetics*, 40 pp. 204-210
- Hu, C.Y.; Wu, C.S.; Tsai, H.F.; Chang, S.K.; Tsai, W.I. & Hsu, P.N. (2009). Genetic polymorphism in milk fat globule-EGF factor 8 (MFG-E8) is associated with systemic lupus erythematosus in human. *Lupus*, 18 pp. 676-681
- Ioannou, Y. & Isenberg, D.A. (2000). Current evidence for the induction of autoimmune rheumatic manifestations by cytokine therapy. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 43 pp. 1431-1442
- Izui, S.; Merino, R.; Fossati, L. & Iwamoto, M. (1994). The role of the Yaa gene in lupus syndrome. *Int Rev Immunol*, 11 pp. 211-230
- Jacob, C.O.; Zhu, J.K.; Armstrong, D.L.; Yan, M.; Han, J.; Zhou, X.J.; Thomas, J.A.; Reiff, A.; Myones, B.L.; Ojwang, J.O.; Kaufman, K.M.; Klein-Gitelman, M.; McCurdy, D.; Wagner-Weiner, L.; Silverman, E.; Ziegler, J.; Kelly, J.A.; Merrill, J.T.; Harley, J.B.; Ramsey-Goldman, R.; Vila, L.M.; Bae, S.C.; Vyse, T.J.; Gilkeson, G.S.; Gaffney, P.M.; Moser, K.L.; Langefeld, C.D.; Zidovetzki, R. & Mohan, C. (2009). Identification of IRAK1 as a risk gene with critical role in the pathogenesis of systemic lupus erythematosus. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 106 pp. 6256-6261
- Jimenez-Morales, S.; Velazquez-Cruz, R.; Ramirez-Bello, J.; Bonilla-Gonzalez, E.; Romero-Hidalgo, S.; Escamilla-Guerrero, G.; Cuevas, F.; Espinosa-Rosales, F.; Martinez-Aguilar, N.E.; Gomez-Vera, J.; Baca, V. & Orozco, L. (2009). Tumor necrosis factor-

alpha is a common genetic risk factor for asthma, juvenile rheumatoid arthritis, and systemic lupus erythematosus in a Mexican pediatric population. *Human Immunology*, 70 pp. 251-256

Jmol: an open-source Java viewer for chemical structures in 3D. http://www.jmol.org

- Jorgensen, T.N.; Roper, E.; Thurman, J.M.; Marrack, P. & Kotzin, B.L. (2007). Type I interferon signaling is involved in the spontaneous development of lupus-like disease in B6.Nba2 and (B6.Nba2 x NZW)F(1) mice. *Genes Immun*, 8 pp. 653-662
- Kariuki, S.N.; Kirou, K.A.; MacDermott, E.J.; Barillas-Arias, L.; Crow, M.K. & Niewold, T.B. (2009a). Cutting Edge: Autoimmune Disease Risk Variant of STAT4 Confers increased Sensitivity to IFN-alpha in Lupus Patients In Vivo. *Journal of Immunology*, 182 pp. 34-38
- Kariuki, S.N.; Moore, J.G.; Kirou, K.A.; Crow, M.K.; Utset, T.O. & Niewold, T.B. (2009b). Age- and gender-specific modulation of serum osteopontin and interferon-alpha by osteopontin genotype in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Genes and Immunity*, 10 pp. 487-494
- Karpusas, M.; Nolte, M.; Benton, C.B.; Meier, W.; Lipscomb, W.N. & Goelz, S. (1997). The crystal structure of human interferon beta at 2.2-angstrom resolution. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 94 pp. 11813-11818
- Kawasaki, A.; Kyogoku, C.; Ohashi, J.; Miyashita, R.; Hikami, K.; Kusaoi, M.; Tokunaga, K.; Takasaki, Y.; Hashimoto, H.; Behrens, T.W. & Tsuchiya, N. (2008). Association of IRF5 polymorphisms with systemic lupus erythematosus in a Japanese population: support for a crucial role of intron 1 polymorphisms. *Arthritis Rheum*, 58 pp. 826-834
- Kelly, J.A.; Kelley, J.M.; Kaufman, K.M.; Kilpatrick, J.; Bruner, G.R.; Merrill, J.T.; James, J.A.; Frank, S.G.; Reams, E.; Brown, E.E.; Gibson, A.W.; Marion, M.C.; Langefeld, C.D.; Li, Q.Z.; Karp, D.R.; Wakeland, E.K.; Petri, M.; Ramsey-Goldman, R.; Reveille, J.D.; Vila, L.M.; Alarcon, G.S.; Kimberly, R.P.; Harley, J.B. & Edberg, J.C. (2008). Interferon regulatory factor-5 is genetically associated with systemic lupus erythematosus in African Americans. *Genes Immun*, 9 pp. 187-194
- Kim-Howard, X.; Maiti, A.K.; Anaya, J.M.; Bruner, G.R.; Brown, E.; Merrill, J.T.; Edberg, J.C.; Petri, M.A.; Reveille, J.D.; Ramsey-Goldman, R.; Alarcon, G.S.; Vyse, T.J.; Gilkeson, G.; Kimberly, R.P.; James, J.A.; Guthridge, J.M.; Harley, J.B. & Nath, S.K. ITGAM coding variant (rs1143679) influences the risk of renal disease, discoid rash and immunological manifestations in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus with European ancestry. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 69 pp. 1329-1332
- Kim, H.A.; Chun, H.Y.; Kim, S.H.; Park, H.S. & Suh, C.H. (2009). C-Reactive Protein Gene Polymorphisms in Disease Susceptibility and Clinical Manifestations of Korean Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. *Journal of Rheumatology*, 36 pp. 2238-2243

- Kim, T.; Kanayama, Y.; Negoro, N.; Okamura, M.; Takeda, T. & Inoue, T. (1987). Serum levels of interferons in patients with systemic lupus-erythematosus. *Clinical and Experimental Immunology*, 70 pp. 562-569
- Kirou, K.A.; Lee, C.; George, S.; Louca, K.; Peterson, M.G.E. & Crow, M.K. (2005). Activation of the interferon-alpha pathway identifies a subgroup of systemic lupus erythematosus patients with distinct serologic features and active disease. *Arthritis* and Rheumatism, 52 pp. 1491-1503
- Landolt-Marticorena, C.; Bonventi, G.; Lubovich, A.; Ferguson, C.; Unnithan, T.; Su, J.; Gladman, D.D.; Urowitz, M.; Fortin, P.R. & Wither, J. (2009). Lack of association between the interferon-alpha signature and longitudinal changes in disease activity in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 68 pp. 1440-1446
- Lee-Kirsch, M.A.; Gong, M.; Chowdhury, D.; Senenko, L.; Engel, K.; Lee, Y.A.; de Silva, U.; Bailey, S.L.; Witte, T.; Vyse, T.J.; Kere, J.; Pfeiffer, C.; Harvey, S.; Wong, A.; Koskenmies, S.; Hummel, O.; Rohde, K.; Schmidt, R.E.; Dominiczak, A.F.; Gahr, M.; Hollis, T.; Perrino, F.W.; Lieberman, J. & Hubner, N. (2007). Mutations in the gene encoding the 3 '-5 ' DNA exonuclease TREX1 are associated with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Nature Genetics*, 39 pp. 1065-1067
- Lee, Y.H. & Song, G.G. (2009). Association between the rs2004640 functional polymorphism of interferon regulatory factor 5 and systemic lupus erythematosus: a metaanalysis. *Rheumatology International*, 29 pp. 1137-1142
- Li, L.H.; Li, W.X.; Wu, O.; Zhang, G.Q.; Pan, H.F.; Li, X.P.; Xu, J.H.; Dai, H. & Ye, D.Q. (2009). Fas expression on peripheral blood lymphocytes in systemic lupus erythematosus: relation to the organ damage and lymphocytes apoptosis. *Molecular Biology Reports*, 36 pp. 2047-2052
- Lin, Y.J.; Chen, R.H.; Wan, L.; Sheu, J.J.C.; Huang, C.M.; Lin, C.W.; Chen, S.Y.; Lai, C.H.; Lan, Y.C.; Hsueh, K.C.; Tsai, C.H.; Lin, T.H.; Huang, Y.M.; Chao, K.; Chen, D.Y. & Tsai, F.J. (2009). Association of TNF-alpha gene polymorphisms with systemic lupus erythematosus in Taiwanese patients. *Lupus*, 18 pp. 974-979
- Liu, C.C. & Ahearn, J.M. (2009). The search for lupus biomarkers. *Best Practice & Research in Clinical Rheumatology*, 23 pp. 507-523
- Liu, Z.; Bethunaickan, R.; Huang, W.; Lodhi, U.; Solano, I.; Madaio, M.P. & Davidson, A. (2011). Interferon-alpha accelerates murine systemic lupus erythematosus in a T cell-dependent manner. *Arthritis Rheum*, 63 pp. 219-229
- Lood, C.; Gullstrand, B.; Truedsson, L.; Olin, A.I.; Alm, G.V.; Ronnblom, L.; Sturfelt, G.; Eloranta, M.L. & Bengtsson, A.A. (2009). C1q Inhibits Immune Complex-Induced Interferon-alpha Production in Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells A Novel Link Between C1q Deficiency and Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Pathogenesis. *Arthritis* and Rheumatism, 60 pp. 3081-3090
- Lucero, M.A.; Magdelenat, H.; Fridman, W.H.; Pouillart, P.; Billardon, C.; Billiau, A.; Cantell, K. & Falcoff, E. (1982). Comparison of effects of leukocyte and fibroblast interferon on immunological parameters in cancer-patients. *European Journal of Cancer & Clinical Oncology*, 18 pp. 243-251

- Luker, K.E.; Hutchens, M.; Schultz, T.; Pekosz, A. & Luker, G.D. (2005). Bioluminescence imaging of vaccinia virus: Effects of interferon on viral replication and spread. *Virology*, 341 pp. 284-300
- Mathian, A.; Weinberg, A.; Gallegos, M.; Banchereau, J. & Koutouzov, S. (2005). IFNalpha induces early lethal lupus in preautoimmune (New Zealand Black x New Zealand White) F1 but not in BALB/c mice. J Immunol, 174 pp. 2499-2506
- Moser, K.L.; Kelly, J.A.; Lessard, C.J. & Harley, J.B. (2009). Recent insights into the genetic basis of systemic lupus erythematosus. *Genes and Immunity*, 10 pp. 373-379
- Munoz, L.E.; Lauber, K.; Schiller, M.; Manfredi, A.A. & Herrmann, M. (2010). The role of defective clearance of apoptotic cells in systemic autoimmunity. *Nature Reviews Rheumatology*, 6 pp. 280-289
- Murray, H.W. (1988). Interferon-gamma, the activated macrophage, and host defense against microbial challenge. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 108 pp. 595-608
- Musone, S.L.; Taylor, K.E.; Lu, T.T.; Nititham, J.; Ferreira, R.C.; Ortmann, W.; Shifrin, N.; Petri, M.A.; Kamboh, M.I.; Manzi, S.; Seldin, M.F.; Gregersen, P.K.; Behrens, T.W.; Ma, A.; Kwok, P.Y. & Criswell, L.A. (2008). Multiple polymorphisms in the TNFAIP3 region are independently associated with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Nature Genetics*, 40 pp. 1062-1064
- Nath, S.K.; Han, S.Z.; Kim-Howard, X.; Kelly, J.A.; Viswanathan, P.; Gilkeson, G.S.; Chen, W.; Zhu, C.; McEver, R.P.; Kimberly, R.P.; Alarcon-Riquelme, M.E.; Vyse, T.J.; Li, Q.Z.; Wakeland, E.K.; Merrill, J.T.; James, J.A.; Kaufman, K.M.; Guthridge, J.M. & Harley, J.B. (2008). A nonsynonymous functional variant in integrin-alpha M (encoded by ITGAM) is associated with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Nature Genetics*, 40 pp. 152-154
- Niewold, T.B.; Clark, D.N.; Salloum, R. & Poole, B.D. Interferon Alpha in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. *Journal of Biomedicine and Biotechnology*, pp. 8
- Niewold, T.B.; Hua, J.; Lehman, T.J.A.; Harley, J.B. & Crow, M.K. (2007). High serum IFNalpha activity is a heritable risk factor for systemic lupus erythematosus. *Genes and Immunity*, 8 pp. 492-502
- Niewold, T.B.; Kelly, J.A.; Flesch, M.H.; Espinoza, L.R.; Harley, J.B. & Crow, M.K. (2008). Association of the IRF5 risk haplotype with high serum interferon-alpha activity in systemic lupus erythematosus patients. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 58 pp. 2481-2487
- Niewold, T.B. & Swedler, W.I. (2005). Systemic lupus erythematosus arising during interferon-alpha therapy for cryoglobulinemic vasculitis associated with hepatitis C. Clinical Rheumatology, 24 pp. 178-181
- Panchanathan, R.; Shen, H.; Bupp, M.G.; Gould, K.A. & Choubey, D. (2009). Female and male sex hormones differentially regulate expression of Ifi202, an interferoninducible lupus susceptibility gene within the Nba2 interval. J Immunol, 183 pp. 7031-7038
- Panchanathan, R.; Shen, H.; Zhang, X.; Ho, S.M. & Choubey, D. (2010). Mutually positive regulatory feedback loop between interferons and estrogen receptor-

alpha in mice: implications for sex bias in autoimmunity. *PLoS ONE*, 5 pp. e10868

- Petri, M.; Singh, S.; Tesfasyone, H.; Dedrick, R.; Fry, K.; Lal, P.G.; Williams, G.; Bauer, J.W.; Gregersen, P.K.; Behrens, T.W. & Baechler, E.C. (2009). Longitudinal expression of type I interferon responsive genes in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Lupus*, 18 pp. 980-989
- Pindel, A. & Sadler, A. The Role of Protein Kinase R in the Interferon Response. *Journal of Interferon and Cytokine Research*, 31 pp. 59-70
- Pradhan, V.; Surve, P. & Ghosh, K. Mannose binding lectin (MBL) in autoimmunity and its role in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE). J Assoc Physicians India, 58 pp. 688-690
- Reddy, M.V.; Velazquez-Cruz, R.; Baca, V.; Lima, G.; Granados, J.; Orozco, L. & Alarcon-Riquelme, M.E. (2007). Genetic association of IRF5 with SLE in Mexicans: higher frequency of the risk haplotype and its homozygozity than Europeans. *Hum Genet*, 121 pp. 721-727
- Rhodes, B. & Vyse, T.J. (2008). The genetics of SLE: an update in the light of genome-wide association studies. *Rheumatology*, 47 pp. 1603-1611
- Richez, C.; Yasuda, K.; Bonegio, R.G.; Watkins, A.A.; Aprahamian, T.; Busto, P.; Richards, R.J.; Liu, C.L.; Cheung, R.; Utz, P.J.; Marshak-Rothstein, A. & Rifkin, I.R., (2010) IFN regulatory factor 5 is required for disease development in the FcγRIIB-/- Yaa and FcγRIIB-/- mouse models of systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Immunol*, 184 pp. 796-806
- Ronnblom, L. & Alm, G.V. (2001). A pivotal role for the natural interferon alpha-producing cells (plasmacytoid dendritic cells) in the pathogenesis of lupus. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 194 pp. F59-F63
- Ronnblom, L.; Alm, G.V. & Eloranta, M.L. The type I interferon system in the development of lupus. *Seminars in Immunology*, 23 pp. 113-121
- Sabry, A.; Sheashaa, H.; El-husseini, A.; Mahmoud, K.; Eldahshan, K.F.; George, S.K.; Abdel-Khalek, E.; El-Shafey, E.M. & Abo-Zenah, H. (2006). Proinflammatory cytokines (TNF-alpha and IL-6) in Egyptian patients with SLE: Its correlation with disease activity. *Cytokine*, 35 pp. 148-153
- Sahebari, M.; Hatef, M.R.; Rezaieyazdi, Z.; Abbasi, M.; Abbasi, B. & Mahmoudi, M. Correlation between Serum Levels of Soluble Fas (CD95/Apo-1) with Disease Activity in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Patients in Khorasan, Iran. Archives of Iranian Medicine, 13 pp. 135-142
- Salloum, R.; Franek, B.; Kariuki, S.; Utset, T. & Niewold, T. (2009). T.16. Genetic Variation at the IRF7/KIAA1542 Locus is Associated with Autoantibody Profile and Serum Interferon Alpha Levels in Lupus Patients. *Clinical Immunology*, 131 pp. S54-S54
- Sanz, I.; Yasothan, U. & Kirkpatrick, P. Belimumab. Nature Reviews Drug Discovery, 10 pp. 335-336
- Savitsky, D.A.; Yanai, H.; Tamura, T.; Taniguchi, T. & Honda, K. (2010). Contribution of IRF5 in B cells to the development of murine SLE-like disease through its transcriptional control of the IgG2a locus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 107 pp. 10154-10159

- Sebastiani, G.D. & Galeazzi, M. (2009). Immunogenetic studies on systemic lupus erythematosus. *Lupus*, 18 pp. 878-883
- Sharma, R.P.; He, Q. & Riley, R.T. (2005). Lupus-prone NZBWF1/J mice, defective in cytokine signaling, are resistant to fumonisin hepatotoxicity despite accumulation of liver sphinganine. *Toxicology*, 216 pp. 59-71
- Shimane, K.; Kochi, Y.; Yamada, R.; Okada, Y.; Suzuki, A.; Miyatake, A.; Kubo, M.; Nakamura, Y. & Yamamoto, K. (2009). A single nucleotide polymorphism in the IRF5 promoter region is associated with susceptibility to rheumatoid arthritis in the Japanese population. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 68 pp. 377-383
- Sigurdsson, S.; Nordmark, G.; Garnier, S.; Grundberg, E.; Kwan, T.; Nilsson, O.; Eloranta, M.L.; Gunnarsson, I.; Svenungsson, E.; Sturfelt, G.; Bengtsson, A.A.; Jonsen, A.; Truedsson, L.; Rantapaa-Dahlqvist, S.; Eriksson, C.; Alm, G.; Goring, H.H.H.; Pastinen, T.; Syvanen, A.C. & Ronnblom, L. (2008). A risk haplotype of STAT4 for systemic lupus erythematosus is over-expressed, correlates with anti-dsDNA and shows additive effects with two risk alleles of IRF5. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 17 pp. 2868-2876
- Standal, T.; Borset, M. & Sundan, A. (2004). Role of osteopontin in adhesion, migration, cell survival and bone remodeling. *Experimental Oncology*, 26 pp. 179-184
- Stranger, B.E.; Stahl, E.A. & Raj, T. Progress and Promise of Genome-Wide Association Studies for Human Complex Trait Genetics. *Genetics*, 187 pp. 367-383
- Su, A.I.; Wiltshire, T.; Batalov, S.; Lapp, H.; Ching, K.A.; Block, D.; Zhang, J.; Soden, R.; Hayakawa, M.; Kreiman, G.; Cooke, M.P.; Walker, J.R. & Hogenesch, J.B. (2004). A gene atlas of the mouse and human protein-encoding transcriptomes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 101 pp. 6062-6067
- Suarez-Gestal, M.; Calaza, M.; Endreffy, E.; Pullmann, R.; Ordi-Ros, J.; Sebastiani, G.D.; Ruzickova, S.; Santos, M.J.; Papasteriades, C.; Marchini, M.; Skopouli, F.N.; Suarez, A.; Blanco, F.J.; D'Alfonso, S.; Bijl, M.; Carreira, P.; Witte, T.; Migliaresi, S.; Gomez-Reino, J.J.; Gonzalez, A. & European Consortium, S.D. (2009). Replication of recently identified systemic lupus erythematosus genetic associations: a casecontrol study. *Arthritis Research & Therapy*, 11 pp.
- Tada, Y.; Kondo, S.; Aoki, S.; Koarada, S.; Inoue, H.; Suematsu, R.; Ohta, A.; Mak, T.W. & Nagasawa, K. (2011). Interferon regulatory factor 5 is critical for the development of lupus in MRL/lpr mice. *Arthritis Rheum*, 63 pp. 738-748
- Takaoka, A.; Hayakawa, S.; Yanai, H.; Stoiber, D.; Negishi, H.; Kikuchi, H.; Sasaki, S.; Imai, K.; Shibue, T.; Honda, K. & Taniguchi, T. (2003). Integration of interferonalpha/beta signalling to p53 responses in tumour suppression and antiviral defence. *Nature*, 424 pp. 516-523
- Watford, W.T.; Hissong, B.D.; Bream, J.H.; Kanno, Y.; Muul, L. & O'Shea, J.J. (2004). Signaling by IL-12 and IL-23 and the immunoregulatory roles of STAT4. *Immunological Reviews*, 202 pp. 139-156
- Xu, C.J.; Zhang, W.H.; Pan, H.F.; Li, X.P.; Xu, J.H. & Ye, D.Q. (2009). Association study of a single nucleotide polymorphism in the exon 2 region of toll-like receptor 9 (TLR9) gene with susceptibility to systemic lupus erythematosus among Chinese. *Molecular Biology Reports*, 36 pp. 2245-2248

- Yamaguchi, H.; Fujimoto, T.; Nakamura, S.; Ohmura, K.; Mimori, T.; Matsuda, F. & Nagata, S. Aberrant splicing of the milk fat globule-EGF factor 8 (MFG-E8) gene in human systemic lupus erythematosus. *European Journal of Immunology*, 40 pp. 1778-1785
- Ytterberg, S.R. & Schnitzer, T.J. (1982). Serum interferon levels in patients with systemic lupus-erythematosus. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 25 pp. 401-406
- Zhuang, H.Y.; Narain, S.; Sobel, E.; Lee, P.Y.; Naconales, D.C.; Kelly, K.M.; Richards, H.B.; Segal, M.; Stewart, C.; Satoh, M. & Reeves, W.H. (2005). Association of antinucleoprotein autoantibodies with upregulation of Type I interferon-inducible gene transcripts and dendritic cell maturation in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Clinical Immunology*, 117 pp. 238-250

Appendix F. Microarray analysis of B cell expression differences due to an rs2004640 risk haplotype

See attached publication [192]. This work was performed in collaboration with the Oklahoma Medical Research Foundation under Dr. Brian Poole. Parts of the results, discussion and materials and methods were included in this dissertation (Sections 2.6, 3.4, and 4.11).
Research Article Effects of IRF5 Lupus Risk Haplotype on Pathways Predicted to Influence B Cell Functions

Joel M. Guthridge,¹ Daniel N. Clark,² Amanda Templeton,¹ Nicolas Dominguez,¹ Rufei Lu,¹ Gabriel S. Vidal,¹ Jennifer A. Kelly,¹ Kenneth M. Kauffman,³ John B. Harley,³ Patrick M. Gaffney,¹ Judith A. James,^{1,4} and Brian D. Poole^{1,2}

¹ Arthritis and Clinical Immunology Program, Oklahoma Medical Research Foundation, 825 NE 13th Street, Oklahoma City, OK 73104, USA

² Department of Microbiology and Molecular Biology, Brigham Young University, 857 WIDB, Provo, UT 84604, USA

³ Division of Rheumatology, Cincinnati Children's Hospital, 3333 Burnet Avenue, Cincinnati, OH 45229, USA

⁴ Departments of Medicine and Pathology, The University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center, 1100 N. Lindsay, Oklahoma City, OK 73104, USA

Correspondence should be addressed to Brian D. Poole, bpoole@gmail.com

Received 5 May 2011; Revised 4 November 2011; Accepted 5 November 2011

Academic Editor: Timothy B. Niewold

Copyright © 2012 Joel M. Guthridge et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Both genetic and environmental interactions affect systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) development and pathogenesis. One known genetic factor associated with lupus is a haplotype of the interferon regulatory factor 5 (*IRF5*) gene. Analysis of global gene expression microarray data using gene set enrichment analysis identified multiple interferon- and inflammation-related gene sets significantly overrepresented in cells with the risk haplotype. Pathway analysis using expressed genes from the significant gene sets impacted by the *IRF5* risk haplotype confirmed significant correlation with the interferon pathway, Toll-like receptor pathway, and the B-cell receptor pathway. SLE patients with the *IRF5* risk haplotype have a heightened interferon signature, even in an unstimulated state (P = 0.011), while patients with the *IRF5* protective haplotype have a B cell interferon signature similar to that of controls. These results identify multiple genes in functionally significant pathways which are affected by IRF5 genotype. They also establish the IRF5 risk haplotype as a key determinant of not only the interferon response, but also other B-cell pathways involved in SLE.

1. Introduction

Systemic lupus erythematosus is a complex disease with multifactorial etiology and pathogenesis. Studies in identical twins indicate that concordance for lupus is approximately 40%, indicating a strong but not exclusive genetic component [1, 2]. Recent genetic analyses have identified more than thirty candidate genes that are associated with lupus risk [3–18]. *IRF5* was found to be associated with lupus by multiple independent groups in a variety of populations [10, 13–15, 19, 20]. *IRF5* risk haplotypes may function at the crossroads of environmental risk, such as virus infection, and cellular immune responses. At least three polymorphisms of *IRF5*

have been identified that contribute independently to the risk for lupus, which together constitute the lupus risk haplotype [10, 21]. Although the majority of the polymorphisms that have been associated with lupus are in nontranslated regions, they may affect several facets of *IRF5* activity, including splicing, RNA stability, transcription factor binding, and apoptosis [9, 10, 15, 21, 22].

IRF5 is important in the production of and response to interferon alpha (IFN α), which is heightened in lupus. IFN α is produced by dendritic cells, macrophages, B cells, and other cell types, primarily in response to virus infection [23, 24]. Dendritic cells have been shown to produce IFN α in response to incubation with immune complex-containing sera from SLE patients [25], especially patients that have the risk haplotype for *IRF5* [19]. Additionally, serum interferon levels, as well as the interferon response signature, are increased in patients with the risk haplotype [19, 26]. *IRF5* is an especially interesting candidate for a genetic risk factor in lupus because it acts in pathways that control many of the cellular and immune responses to environmental factors, such as infection, which may contribute to lupus.

One putative environmental agent that is strongly associated with risk for lupus is Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) infection. Lupus has been associated with prior EBV infection in both pediatric and adult populations [27-33]. EBV expresses antigens that are immunologically cross-reactive with significant lupus autoantigens such as Sm and nRNP [34-39]. However, since over 95% of adults are infected with EBV, determining why EBV could contribute to lupus in certain individuals but not others has proven challenging. The identification of IRF5 and other genetic risk factors for lupus open the possibility that the lupus-associated genetic polymorphisms in one or more of these genes works in concert with environmental factors culminating in the increased observed risk for developing lupus. Previous work has shown that pediatric lupus patients have broadened, more cross-reactive humoral immune responses to EBV than controls [40]. EBV is also not as well controlled in lupus patients as it is in controls, with increased viral load and altered T-cell responses [41, 42]. Differences in viral infection or the response to viral infection conferred by genetic factors such as IRF5 polymorphisms may in part explain these observations.

Since B cells are the primary host cell for EBV infection, we used B cells and EBV interactions as a model to study the impact of IRF5 genotype on downstream B-cell responses. For this study, we examined differences in B-cell gene expression between naïve B cells from individuals with the IRF5 risk haplotype and those with the protective or neutral haplotypes at both basal levels and after exposure to EBV. Naïve B cells were chosen because they are the cell type in which EBV establishes latent infection [43]. We found multiple networks of genes that were enriched for differential expression, as well as individual gene expression differences. Most importantly, we identified different expression patterns of interferon response genes in lupus patients based on the IRF5 risk haplotype. Understanding these differences will aid in determining mechanisms through which the genetic risk conferred by the IRF5 risk haplotype is manifested.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Study Participants. Genotypes were previously collected on samples obtained from the Oklahoma Rheumatic Disease Resource Cores Center (ORDRCC) at the Oklahoma Medical Research Foundation. Previously enrolled subjects were contacted for study participation based upon their *IRF5* risk and protective haplotypes using genotypes at single nucleotide polymorphisms rs2004640 and rs10954213. Five *IRF5* high-risk (3 controls, 2 patients) and five *IRF5* nonrisk (2 controls, 3 patients) sex- and race- matched individuals were recruited. The study was approved by the institutional review board at OMRF and OUHSC, and informed consent was obtained from all subjects in the study.

2.2. B-Cell Stimulation. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells were separated by density gradient centrifugation from the peripheral blood of volunteers. Naïve B cells were isolated using the MACS Naïve B Cell Isolation Kit II (Miltenyi Biotec Inc). Untouched naïve B cells were incubated at a 1:1 (v/v) ratio with either virus-free media or infectious EBV for 16 hours. Virus preparations were in the form of B95-8 cell culture supernatant. The same preparation of supernatant was used for all assays.

2.3. Gene Expression Profiling. Total cellular mRNA was purified from lysates of infected and mock-infected cells using the Ambion RNaqueous-Micro Kit (Applied Biosystems, Austin, TX, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocol and quantified using a NanoDrop spectrophotometer (NanoDrop Technologies, Inc.). cRNA amplification and labeling with biotin were performed using the Illumina TotalPrep RNA amplification kit protocol (Ambion, Austin, TX, USA) on an aliquot of 200 ng of total RNA. Whole genome expression analysis was performed using the Illumina HumanRef-8 v.3 gene expression chip (24,526 transcripts) following the Illumina Whole-Genome Expression Protocol.

2.4. Statistical and Pathway Analysis. The microarray data were analyzed using gene set enrichment analysis, and pathway analysis to investigate changes in gene networks. These analyses were followed by comparison of individual gene expression differences inside these networks. Raw expression data was first normalized using the MDAT toolbox [44]. Gene Set Enrichment Analysis software (Molecular Signatures Database) was used to determine whether an a priori functionally defined set of genes showed statistically significant, concordant differences between two phenotypes (IRF5 risk and nonrisk haplotypes) [45, 46]. Significant gene sets were identified by an enrichment score, which reflects the degree to which a gene set is overrepresented at the top or bottom of a ranked list of genes, and a false discovery rate (FDR) of <25%. We focused our subsequent pathway analysis on the subset of enriched genes (n = 368) from the statistically significant gene sets.

Pathway analyses were generated through the use of Ingenuity Pathways Analysis (Ingenuity Systems, http://www.ingenuity.com/). A data set containing gene identifiers and corresponding expression values was uploaded into in the application. Each gene identifier was mapped to its corresponding gene object in the Ingenuity Pathways Knowledge Base. The expression values entered were the normalized log (intensity) values of *IRF5* nonrisk and risk haplotype individuals, respectively.

Canonical pathways analysis identified the pathways from the Ingenuity Pathways Analysis library of canonical pathways that were most significant to the data set. The significance of the association between the data set and the canonical pathway was measured in two ways: (1) a ratio of the number of genes from the data set that map to the pathway divided by the total number of genes that map to the canonical pathway; (2) Fisher's exact test was used to calculate a P value determining the probability that the association between the genes in the dataset and the canonical pathway is explained by chance alone. All associations are supported by at least one reference from the literature, from a textbook, or from canonical information stored in the Ingenuity Pathways Knowledge Base. Human and mouse orthologs of a gene are stored as separate objects in the Ingenuity Pathways Knowledge Base, but are represented as a single node in the network. Heat maps were created with previously mentioned expression values in Spotfire software.

3. Results

3.1. Enrichment of Lupus-Related Gene Sets by IRF5 Risk Haplotype. Using existing genotyping data for single-nucleotide polymorphism rs2004640 (T: risk, G: protective) and rs10954213 (A: risk, G: protective) [10, 11, 20, 21, 47] the frequency of the risk, protective, and neutral IRF5 haplotypes were examined in 1,390 SLE patients and 2,039 controls enrolled in a large cohort of European American female (EA) SLE patients from the Lupus Family Registry and Repository (LFRR: http://lupus.omrf.org/). A significant enrichment for the risk and risk-neutral haplotypes was found in lupus patients (P < 0.0001), as expected (Table 1). Using these results, five individuals with the risk or risk-neutral haplotypes and five with the protective or protective-neutral haplotypes were recruited from the local SLE collections through the ORDRCC for further study. These included two SLE patients and three controls in the risk groups, and three SLE patients and two controls with protective and protective-neutral haplotypes. The risk group was enriched for controls so that the effects of the IRF5 haplotypes could be better studied in the absence of potential confounding genetic influences or factors related to lupus.

In all, 368 genes were found to be significantly (P <0.05) differentially expressed between the risk and the nonrisk individuals. Gene set enrichment analysis was used to look for gene pathways overrepresented when comparing expression data from the risk haplotype and the protective haplotype phenotypic groups in the case or control groups separately. This analysis examines 6,769 a priori defined functional gene sets [46, 48]. In the unaffected controls with the risk haplotype, nine gene sets were enriched with a false discovery rate (FDR) <25% (Table 2), and 19 were enriched with a nominal P value <0.01, but an FDR >25% (Supplemental Table 2 which available online at doi:10.1155/2011/594056). In the lupus patients with the risk haplotype five gene sets were enriched with an FDR <25%. However, four of these were different versions of interferonalpha gene sets. The fifth was the lupus-related interferon response signature (Table 2). Seven gene sets were enriched with a nominal P value <0.01 but a FDR >25% in the SLE risk haplotype cells, including the Toll-like receptor (TLR) gene set (Supplemental Table 1).

Fewer gene sets were as highly enriched in the protective haplotype cells. No gene sets were significantly enriched at an FDR level <25% in either the unaffected controls or the lupus patients with the protective haplotype. However, 39 gene sets were enriched at P < 0.01 in the SLE patients with the protective haplotype, and 35 gene sets were enriched at P < 0.01 level in the controls with the protective haplotype (Supplemental Tables 3 and 4).

3.2. Identification of Lupus-Related Pathways Differentially Affected by IRF5 Haplotype. Genes from the enriched gene sets described above which also demonstrated differences in expression in the previous analysis were included in a global pathway analysis using the Ingenuity Pathway Analysis system. This analysis uses the curated Ingenuity Knowledge Base to associate sets of genes and expression data with established gene pathways. Fisher's exact test was used to quantify the degree of association with these pathways. When the cells with the risk haplotype (both stimulated and unstimulated) were compared to those with the nonrisk haplotypes, three canonical pathways were found with statistically significant (P < 0.01) association: the interferon (Figure 1), Toll-like receptor (Figure 2), and B-cell receptor (Figure 3) pathways. Interestingly, all three of these pathways have significant implications for lupus. These three canonical pathways and relative changes in expression following EBV exposure are represented in Figures 1–3 and Table 3.

3.3. Identification of Individual Genes Differentially Expressed by IRF5 Haplotype. Several genes in the interferon pathway exhibited differential expression between either the risk and protective haplotypes or the EBV exposed and unexposed conditions. Genes with differential expression were selected based on inclusion in a significantly associated pathway, average expression values of at least thirty for one condition, and differential expression of at least 1.5-fold. Differential expression comparisons were done both with the unstimulated and the EBV-infected states (Table 3). Several genes were differentially expressed in the interferon pathway, including interferon-induced transmembrane protein 1 (IFITIM1), signal transducer and activator of transcription 1 (STAT1), IFN α receptor 2 (*IFNAR2*), 2'-5'-oligoadenylate synthetase 1 (OAS1), and MX1. The expression patterns of these genes varied based on IRF5 haplotype and EBV infection status (Figure 1).

IFITM1 was more strongly expressed in the risk cells than in the nonrisk in the unstimulated condition (2.1fold difference). When the cells were exposed to EBV, this difference disappeared, a result of a greater increase in expression (4.8-fold) in the nonrisk cells than the risk (2.8fold). *STAT1* was slightly underexpressed in the risk cells than in the nonrisk prior to EBV exposure (1.3-fold), but after EBV exposure it was more highly expressed in the risk cells (1.3-fold). *IFNAR2* acted in the opposite manner; its expression was higher in the risk cells in the unstimulated condition (1.7-fold), but higher in the nonrisk cells after EBV infection (1.3-fold). *IFNAR2* is an interferon receptor that contributes directly to the response to interferon, making this TABLE 1: Frequency of *IRF5* haplotypes in lupus patients and healthy controls. Haplotype frequencies observed in controls and systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) patient cohort at single-nucleotide polymorphisms rs2004640 (T : risk, G: protective) and rs10954213 (A: risk, G: protective).

Haplotype	Allele 1	Allele 2	Frequency (patients) n = 1390	Frequency (controls) n = 2039	SLE risk
1	TA	TA	0.2576	0.1947	Risk/risk
2	TA	TG	0.4460	< 0.0001	Risk/neutral
3	GA	GG	0.2108	0.2737	Protective/protective
4	GG	TG	0.0165	0.1810	Protective/neutral

TABLE 2: Effect of the IRF5 risk haplotype on the expression of gene sets. Gene set enrichment analysis showed gene sets enriched in the risk haplotypes of either SLE-unaffected controls or SLE patients without EBV infection. Genes shown have a false discovery rate (FDR) of <25%.

Gene set name	Affected pathways or cellular conditions	No. of genes	Normalized enrichment score	P value	FDR <i>q</i> -value
Unaffected controls					
CROONQUIST_IL6_STROMA_UP	IL-6 exposure	37	-2.026	0.0018	0.038
PASSERINI_INFLAMMATION	Inflammation	23	-1.751	0.0112	0.212
PASSERINI_PROLIFERATION	Proliferation	62	-1.782	< 0.0001	0.224
ADIP_DIFF_CLUSTER2	Differentiation	41	-1.752	0.004	0.225
CROONQUIST_RAS_STROMA_DN	Ras activation	21	-1.757	0.0038	0.229
UVB_NHEK3_C6	UV light exposure	27	-1.763	0.0039	0.234
HOHENKIRK_MONOCYTE_DEND_DN	Dendritic cell maturation	121	-1.724	0.0348	0.239
LEE_DENA_UP	Murine liver cancer	59	-1.769	< 0.0001	0.241
ZUCCHI_EPITHELIAL_DN	Breast cancer metastasis	44	-1.785	0.0117	0.245
SLE patients					
IFNALPHA_HCC_UP	IFNα	29	-1.968	0.0038	0.042
IFNALPHA_NL_HCC_UP	IFNα	18	-1.878	0.0096	0.063
RADAEVA_IFNA_UP	IFNα	49	-1.897	0.0059	0.07
IFNALPHA_NL_UP	IFNα	27	-1.847	0.0099	0.075
BENNETT_SLE_UP	SLE	28	-1.785	0.0082	0.138

gene very interesting in the context of interferon regulation and responsiveness. *OAS1* was overexpressed in the risk cells compared to the nonrisk cells in both the unstimulated and EBV-exposed conditions (1.5-fold and 2.2-fold, resp.), as was *MX1* (1.6- and 1.8-fold).

The TLR pathway also contained several genes that were differentially expressed between the risk and protective haplotype-containing cells (Figure 2). Fos and myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88 (*MyD88*) are both under expressed in the unstimulated risk cells compared to the nonrisk (2.2- and 1.8-fold, resp.). Both of these genes switch from being downregulated in the risk cells before EBV exposure to upregulated in the risk cells after EBV exposure (1.3- and 1.2-fold, resp.). Another very interesting gene that was differentially expressed in the TLR pathway is tumor necrosis factor α -induced protein 3 (*TNFAIP3*). It is under expressed by 1.3-fold in the risk cells in the resting condition. After EBV exposure, expression is even more unbalanced, with 1.9-fold under expression in the risk cells. Genes of interest that are overexpressed in the risk cells in the TLR pathway without EBV exposure include *CD14* (3.2-fold), lymphocyte antigen 96 (*LY96*, or *MD-2*) (2.3-fold), and *TLR1* (1.7-fold).

The B-cell receptor (BCR) pathway exhibited differences in gene expression due to the *IRF5* risk haplotype (Figure 3).

CD79A and *CD79B*, which together form part of the BCR, were both downregulated 2.2-fold in the uninfected risk cells, but this difference disappeared after EBV infection. Ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate 1 (*RAC1*), a gene involved in lymphocyte differentiation and survival [49], was overexpressed in risk cells under all conditions (1.5-fold in mock infected cells, 1.7-fold in EBV infected cells). Expression of the signaling protein *AKT1* and the transcription factor *NF* κ *B2* were downregulated in EBV infected cells with the *IRF5* risk haplotype (1.9- and 3.4-fold, resp.). In three other genes, phosphatidylinositol 3 kinase catalytic subunit α (*PIK3CA*), nuclear factor of activated T cells 5 (*NFAT5*), and glycogen synthase kinase 3 β (*GSK3B*), the risk haplotype had



FIGURE 1: Association of the canonical interferon pathway with the *IRF5* haplotype. Naïve B cells were either exposed to EBV for 16 hours or left unstimulated. Whole-genome expression levels were compared between cells with the risk and protective haplotypes using the Illumina platform. Significant association of the data set with the canonical IFN pathway was discovered using Ingenuity Pathway Analysis (P < 0.01). Interactions between genes in the interferon pathway based on Ingenuity Pathway Analysis are shown for both the unstimulated (a) and the EBV-infected conditions (b). Blue gene symbols represent genes with relatively lower expression in the cells with the risk haplotype, while genes with red shading are upregulated in the risk cells. IFIT3: IFN-induced protein with tetratricopeptide repeats 3, SOCS: suppressor of cytokine signaling.

a 1.5- to 1.8-fold increase in expression. However, when EBV was present, the risk haplotype showed a decrease of 1.6- to 1.9-fold of the same genes.

3.4. The Interferon Response Signature in Patients Depends on Haplotype. Lupus patients have a heightened interferon response signature in the peripheral blood [50-52]. This signature is heritable and is associated with the IRF5 risk haplotype [19, 26]. When we examined genes included in the interferon response signature, we found an interesting association with the IRF5 risk haplotype. Cells from the SLE patients with the risk haplotype had an interferon response signature under all conditions, whether exposed to EBV or not. However, the cells from SLE patients with the protective haplotype did not exhibit an interferon signature without EBV infection. The difference in expression of the interferon response genes between the unstimulated patient risk and the unstimulated patient protective cells was statistically significant (P = 0.011) (Figure 4). The risk haplotype cells derived from control individuals did not have heightened baseline expression of interferon response genes. After exposure to EBV, these cells developed an interferon response signature that was similar to that seen in the baseline and EBV-infected risk-haplotype lupus patients.

Interestingly, the patients with the protective haplotype did not develop a strong interferon response signature even after exposure to EBV, indicating that the *IRF5* protective haplotype is dampening the response to interferon compared to the risk haplotype (Figure 4).

4. Discussion

The IRF5 gene has been associated with risk for lupus. These findings demonstrate that the lupus-associated polymorphisms in the IRF5 gene have wide-reaching effects on B-cell responses to infection. The gene sets that were enriched in the risk haplotypes included interferon-related sets, which is encouraging considering that the genotype being examined is IRF5. Multiple gene sets that are related to lupus were enriched in the cells with the risk haplotypes, including IFN α sets, interleukin- (IL-) 6, inflammation, proliferation, and monocyte and dendritic cell genes, in addition to the SLE-related interferon gene set. The finding that these gene sets are the most strongly enriched in the risk haplotype indicates that the IRF5 risk haplotype has a strong influence on interferon signaling and inflammation, processes that are at the core of SLE. The finding that the most enriched gene sets were associated with interferon and lupus also indicates

TABLE 3: Genes exhibiting differential expression between risk and nonrisk cells in the canonical pathways identified through ingenuity pathway analysis. Fold up/down column is positive in the case that the gene expression is higher in the risk haplotype cells, and negative in the case that gene expression is higher in the nonrisk cells. PIK3CA: phosphoinositide-3-kinase, catalytic, alpha; RAC1: Ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate 1. *The *IFNB1* gene is found in both the interferon and Toll-like receptor pathways.

Gene pathway	Gene symbol	Mock infected 16 hours			EBV live virus infected 16 hours				
		Avg. nonrisk	Avg. risk	Ratio	Fold up/down	Avg. nonrisk	Avg. risk	Ratio	Fold up/down
Interferon	IFNB1*	104.95	3.89	0.04	-26.99	5.39	9.15	1.70	1.70
	STAT1	71.08	52.84	0.74	-1.35	184.29	244.12	1.32	1.32
	OAS1	56.04	84.55	1.51	1.51	49.87	107.78	2.16	2.16
	MX1	3179.14	5161.02	1.62	1.62	3409.35	6199.20	1.82	1.82
	IFNAR2	959.14	1637.11	1.71	1.71	1437.47	1094.97	0.76	-1.31
	IFITM1	439.88	944.41	2.15	2.15	2128.61	2602.68	1.22	1.22
Toll-like receptor	IFNB1*	104.95	3.89	0.04	-26.99	5.39	9.15	1.70	1.70
	FOS	116.48	53.84	0.46	-2.16	90.05	120.60	1.34	1.34
	MYD88	281.53	152.57	0.54	-1.85	181.06	226.62	1.25	1.25
	TNFAIP3	439.96	321.29	0.73	-1.37	728.35	377.23	0.52	-1.93
	TLR1	26.50	46.76	1.76	1.76	67.59	116.37	1.72	1.72
	LY96 (MD-2)	560.79	1274.32	2.27	2.27	1128.47	1208.54	1.07	1.07
	CD14	401.17	1272.53	3.17	3.17	139.53	450.09	3.23	3.23
B-Cell receptor	CD79B	2222.90	991.48	0.45	-2.24	797.14	827.44	1.04	1.04
	CD79A	41.32	19.08	0.46	-2.17	6526.62	5973.72	0.92	-1.09
	RAC1	1407.29	930.84	0.66	-1.51	4.36	2.64	0.61	-1.65
	MAPK9	105.87	71.02	0.67	-1.49	62.50	80.35	1.29	1.29
	AKT1	512.79	353.65	0.69	-1.45	13.02	6.74	0.52	-1.93
	NFKB2	6.44	4.85	0.75	-1.33	495.75	147.18	0.30	-3.37
	PIK3CA	25.86	40.05	1.55	1.55	79.96	49.71	0.62	-1.61
	NFAT5	123.74	222.63	1.80	1.80	5.14	2.70	0.52	-1.91
	GSK3B	68.58	123.65	1.80	1.80	177.23	91.07	0.51	-1.95

that these results are unlikely to be false positives obtained by chance, since the variable being studied is an interferonaffecting gene.

The gene set enrichment analysis techniques that were used are valuable because they identify not only individual genes, but also how strongly pathways that include those genes and the interactions between them are affected by the experimental conditions. This allows a much broader look into gene networks than looking only at individual genes. These studies point to the *IRF5* risk haplotype having a wide influence on interferon and inflammation. The results identify targets for future investigation into the function of the *IRF5* polymorphisms as well as other genetic influences on lupus.

As was the case with the gene set enrichment analysis, the identification of the interferon and Toll-like receptor pathways through Illumina pathway analysis suggests that the results are robust, as these are pathways that would be expected to be modulated by the underlying *IRF5* haplotype of the donor. Interferon alpha is an extremely important cytokine in lupus [53]. These studies suggest that the interferon alpha pathway is strongly affected by genetic

variation in the IRF5 gene, and show multiple genes that could potentially be targets for understanding interferon in lupus or potential therapeutic targets. Toll-like receptors are involved in response to infection through the recognition of pathogen-associated molecular patterns. Additionally, Tolllike receptors are important in the pathogenesis of lupus. They are capable of recognizing endogenous nucleic acids in the context of immune complexes found in lupus patient sera, thereby stimulating dendritic cell maturation and interferon alpha production [25, 54-60], a process which also involves IRF5 itself [25]. IRF5 is a very interesting transcriptional regulator in that it acts as both an activator when homodimerized and blocks activation when heterodimerized with IRF7 [61, 62]. This mechanism of action may help to explain how some of these pathways can exhibit relative upregulation or downregulation depending on the other conditions in the cell.

One of the more unexpected findings of this study was the modulation of the B-cell receptor pathway by the *IRF5* haplotype. The B-cell receptor is important in the recognition of antigen and the survival, maturation, and proliferation of B cells. B cells produce the autoantibodies



FIGURE 2: Association of the canonical Toll-like receptor pathway with *IRF5* haplotype. Differential regulation of the TLR pathway was seen using Ingenuity analysis (P < 0.01). Unstimulated conditions are shown on the left, and EBV-exposed conditions on the right. Genes with altered expression based on haplotype are shown as either red or blue. IKB: inhibitor of NF κ B, IKK: IKB kinase, JNK: c-Jun N-terminal kinase, LBP: lipopolysaccharide-binding protein, MKK: mitogen activated protein kinase kinase, NIK: NF κ B inducing kinase, PPAR α : peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor α , TAB1: transforming growth factor β -activated kinase 1, TIRAP: Toll/IL-1 receptor domain containing adaptor protein, and TRAF6: tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated factor 6.

involved in lupus, as well as being important for antigen processing and presentation and T-cell activation. Differences in the activation threshold or other effects that may be seen with altered B-cell receptor gene expression may be very important to breaking self-tolerance or other aspects of B cell biology involved in SLE. Of particular interest in this respect is the recent finding that *IRF5* controls antibody class switching to IgG2A, allowing lupus-like autoimmunity in mice [63]. The B-cell receptor and Toll-like receptor pathways are involved in antibody class switching, and the genes that were modulated by *IRF5* variation in this study could represent mechanisms through which the *IRF5* risk haplotype may contribute to class switching or other similar variations in humans.

The interferon response signature has been identified as a common feature in lupus. These studies examined how polymorphisms in the *IRF5* gene affected the interferon response signature in both patients and controls. Interestingly, SLE patients with the risk haplotype demonstrated an interferon signature in both the infected and uninfected cells, while a strong interferon response was not found in the patients without the risk haplotype even when stimulated by EBV exposure. The controls with the risk haplotype lacked the interferon response signature in the basal state, but developed it after exposure to EBV, as would be expected. These findings suggest that the *IRF5* risk haplotype is integral for the interferon response signature in both patients and controls. They also indicate that other factors contribute to a basal interferon response in lupus patients, since the *IRF5* risk haplotype was not sufficient for the response signature to be present in the unstimulated control cells, as it was in the patients with the risk haplotype.

Cells were infected with EBV for two reasons. The first was to identify differences in gene expression patterns when



FIGURE 3: Association of the canonical B-cell receptor pathway with *IRF5* haplotype. BCR pathway genes demonstrate a significant enrichment of changes in expression levels based on *IRF5* haplytype, as determined by Ingenuity analysis (P < 0.01). The unstimulated condition is shown on the left, and the EBV-exposed condition is shown on the right. Genes with altered expression based on haplotype are shown as either blue or red. BLNK: B cell linker, CAM: Calmodulin, CN: Calcineurin, ERK: extracellular signal-regulated kinase, FCGR2B: fragment crystallizable *y* receptor 2B, INPP5D: inositol polyphosphate-5-phosphatase D (SHIP), MALT1: mucosa associated lymphoid tissue lymphoma translocation gene 1, and PKC: protein kinase C.

cells were stimulated with a biologically relevant trigger for interferon production. The second reason was to identify areas that may start to explain the differences in EBV infection and response in lupus. Gene expression was examined for genes in the three pathways found to be significant by ingenuity analysis. In several cases, (IFITM1, IFNAR2, LY96, PIK3CA, NFAT5, and GSK3B) the baseline level of gene expression was higher in the risk cells, but after EBV infection, the gene expression was comparatively increased in the protective cells. In other genes, including CD79A, CD79B, STAT1, MyD88, and Fos, expression was lower in the risk cells but the difference diminished or reversed after EBV infection. Expression of one gene, TNFAIP3, was lower in the risk than in the protective haplotype subject unstimulated cells and was comparatively diminished further after EBV infection. These differences suggest several areas of investigation to understand differences in B cell biology in lupus and show that the *IRF5* haplotype affects multiple genes related to EBV infection and response.

Although a detailed analysis of each gene involved in these pathways is beyond the scope of this paper, the genes with expression differences between the risk and protective haplotypes are suggestive in several instances. One of the genes identified with promise to affect lupus is *TNFAIP3*. This gene is a transcription factor that is produced in response to inflammation. It has been shown to be critical to limiting inflammation by terminating NF κ B responses [64].Variants have recently been associated with risk for lupus and other autoimmune and inflammatory diseases [65–71], and it is often suppressed in tumors, especially lymphomas [66, 72, 73]. Other promising genes identified by these experiments include *STAT4*, *IFITM1*, and *IFNAR2*,



FIGURE 4: Dependence of the interferon response signature on *IRF5* haplotype in SLE patients. Interferon signature genes identified in gene set enrichment analysis were compared between patients and controls, and between lupus patients with the *IRF5* risk and nonrisk haplotypes. Each column represents expression of genes of interest in individual subjects. (a) Interferon signature genes of 3 *IRF5* nonrisk and 2 *IRF5* risk SLE patients. Gene expression comparisons are between *IRF5* risk and nonrisk SLE patients, either nonstimulated or EBV infected. (b) Gene set enrichment of 3 control *IRF5* risk haplotype individuals and 3 SLE patient *IRF5* risk haplotype individuals. Gene expression comparisons between *IRF5* risk patients and controls from nonstimulated and EBV-infected B cells. ADAR: adenosine deaminase, BAK: Bcl2-antagonist/killer, BTG: B cell translocation gene, C1S: complement component 1S, CASP: caspase, CEBPD: CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein δ , eIF2B: eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2B, FOSL: Fos-related antigen, HADHB: hydroxyacyl-Coenzyme A dehydrogenase/3-ketoacyl-Coenzyme A thiolase/enoyl-Coenzyme A hydratase β subunit, HLA: human leukocyte antigen, PHLDA: pleckstrin homology-like domain family A, PMAIP1: phorbol-12-myristate-13-acetate-induced protein 1 (Noxa), PRAME: melanoma antigen preferentially expressed in tumors, RBBP: retinoblastoma binding protein, SF3A: splicing factor 3A, TRIM: tripartite motif, VAT: vesicle amine transport, and XRCC: X-ray repair cross-complementing (Ku70).

which are all involved in the response to interferon, and several B cell signaling genes, including *NFAT5*, *GSK3B*, and *NF\kappaB2*.

Although EBV was used in part to simulate an infected state in B cells, EBV itself could be involved in the etiology of lupus by affecting several pathways. The three pathways identified here are all involved in EBV infection. EBV may stimulate these pathways through several mechanisms, including both infection and binding of virions to the receptors involved in these pathways. Although the effect of EBV infection on differential gene expression was somewhat variable, for many of the genes examined in this study there was overexpression in the risk cells, which subsequently diminished after EBV infection. This pattern, as well as that seen with the interferon response signature, suggests that the IRF5 risk haplotype makes these cells appear more activated in the resting state. Because of this heightened activation state, there is less difference in the response to EBV infection in the risk cells, with the nonrisk cells often catching up

to or passing the risk cells in expression of several genes following viral infection. An activated basal state would be likely to promote inappropriate cellular responses and possibly heightened sensitivity to self-antigens, including those recognized by TLRs.

These findings identify several key pathways that are affected by the *IRF5* risk haplotype and are involved in the B cell response to antigen stimulation and viral infection. Many of the genes involved in these pathways have definite potential to alter the response to EBV infection and affect the development of lupus. These merit further investigation. Since all of these pathways are likely to be involved in the development of lupus, further comparison of these pathways in other cell types such as plasmacytoid dendritic cells will be beneficial to understanding the origins and pathogenesis of lupus. It will also be beneficial to examine more closely the role of EBV in regulating expression of these genes, through the use of EBV mutants, and to dissect the role of *IRF5* in each pathway and gene set identified.

Acknowledgments

This work was funded by the National Institutes of Health Grants P30 AR053483 (J. James and J. Guthridge), P20 RR015577 (J. James), N01 AI50026 (J. James and J. Guthridge), R01 AI063274 and R01 AR056360 (P. Gaffney), R3724717 (J. Harley), AR042460 (J. Harley), P01 AI083194 (J. Harley), P20 RR020143 (P. Gaffney), R01 DE018209 (J. Harley), and the Office for Human Research Studies award no. HR08–037 from the Oklahoma Center for the Advancement of Science & Technology (J. Guthridge).

References

- D. Deapen, A. Escalante, L. Weinrib et al., "A revised estimate of twin concordance in systemic lupus erythematosus," *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, vol. 35, no. 3, pp. 311–318, 1992.
- [2] S. R. Block, "A brief history of twins," *Lupus*, vol. 15, no. 2, pp. 61–64, 2006.
- [3] L. Guo, H. Deshmukh, R. Lu et al., "Replication of the BANK1 genetic association with systemic lupus erythematosus in a European-derived population," *Genes & Immunity*, vol. 10, no. 5, pp. 531–538, 2009.
- [4] S. Han, X. Kim-Howard, H. Deshmukh et al., "Evaluation of imputation-based association in and around the integrinα-M (ITGAM) gene and replication of robust association between a non-synonymous functional variant within ITGAM and systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE)," *Human Molecular Genetics*, vol. 18, no. 6, pp. 1171–1180, 2009.
- [5] K. Liu, Q. Z. Li, A. M. Delgado-Vega et al., "Kallikrein genes are associated with lupus and glomerular basement membrane-specific antibody-induced nephritis in mice and humans," *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, vol. 119, no. 4, pp. 911–923, 2009.
- [6] R. Lu, G. S. Vidal, J. A. Kelly et al., "Genetic associations of LYN with systemic lupus erythematosus," *Genes & Immunity*, vol. 10, no. 5, pp. 397–403, 2009.
- [7] B. Namjou, A. L. Sestak, D. L. Armstrong et al., "High-density genotyping of STAT4 reveals multiple haplotypic associations with systemic lupus erythematosus in different racial groups," *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, vol. 60, no. 4, pp. 1085–1095, 2009.
- [8] S. V. Kozyrev, A. K. Abelson, J. Wojcik et al., "Functional variants in the B-cell gene BANK1 are associated with systemic lupus erythematosus," *Nature Genetics*, vol. 40, no. 2, pp. 211– 216, 2008.
- [9] F. Y. Demirci, S. Manzi, R. Ramsey-Goldman et al., "Association of a Common Interferon Regulatory Factor 5 (IRF5) variant with increased risk of Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE)," *Annals of Human Genetics*, vol. 71, part 3, pp. 308–311, 2007.
- [10] R. R. Graham, C. Kyogoku, S. Sigurdsson et al., "Three functional variants of IFN regulatory factor 5 (IRF5) define risk and protective haplotypes for human lupus," *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, vol. 104, no. 16, pp. 6758–6763, 2007.
- [11] J. B. Harley, M. E. Alarcón-Riquelme, L. A. Criswell et al., "Genome-wide association scan in women with systemic lupus erythematosus identifies susceptibility variants in ITGAM, PXK, KIAA1542 and other loci," *Nature Genetics*, vol. 40, no. 2, pp. 204–210, 2008.
- [12] K. M. Kaufman, J. A. Kelly, B. J. Herring et al., "Evaluation of the genetic association of the PTPN22 R620W polymorphism

in familial and sporadic systemic lupus erythematosus," *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, vol. 54, no. 8, pp. 2533–2540, 2006.

- [13] A. Kawasaki, C. Kyogoku, J. Ohashi et al., "Association of IRF5 polymorphisms with systemic lupus erythematosus in a Japanese population: support for a crucial role of intron 1 polymorphisms," *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, vol. 58, no. 3, pp. 826–834, 2008.
- [14] J. A. Kelly, J. M. Kelley, K. M. Kaufman et al., "Interferon regulatory factor-5 is genetically associated with systemic lupus erythematosus in African Americans," *Genes & Immunity*, vol. 9, no. 3, pp. 187–194, 2008.
- [15] S. V. Kozyrev and M. E. Alarcon-Riquelme, "The genetics and biology of Irf5-mediated signaling in lupus," *Autoimmunity*, vol. 40, no. 8, pp. 591–601, 2007.
- [16] K. L. Moser, B. R. Neas, J. E. Salmon et al., "Genome scan of human systemic lupus erythematosus: evidence for linkage on chromosome 1q in African-American pedigrees," *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, vol. 95, no. 25, pp. 14869–14874, 1998.
- [17] K. L. Moser, J. A. Kelly, C. J. Lessard, and J. B. Harley, "Recent insights into the genetic basis of systemic lupus erythematosus," *Genes & Immunity*, vol. 10, no. 5, pp. 373– 379, 2009.
- [18] I. T. W. Harley, K. M. Kaufman, C. D. Langefeld, J. B. Harley, and J. A. Kelly, "Genetic susceptibility to SLE: new insights from fine mapping and genome-wide association studies," *Nature Reviews Genetics*, vol. 10, no. 5, pp. 285–290, 2009.
- [19] T. B. Niewold, J. A. Kelly, M. H. Flesch, L. R. Espinoza, J. B. Harley, and M. K. Crow, "Association of the IRF5 risk haplotype with high serum interferon-α activity in systemic lupus erythematosus patients," *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, vol. 58, no. 8, pp. 2481–2487, 2008.
- [20] M. V. Reddy, R. Velázquez-Cruz, V. Baca et al., "Genetic association of IRF5 with SLE in Mexicans: higher frequency of the risk haplotype and its homozygozity than Europeans," *Human Genetics*, vol. 121, no. 6, pp. 721–727, 2007.
- [21] R. R. Graham, S. V. Kozyrev, E. C. Baechler et al., "A common haplotype of interferon regulatory factor 5 (IRF5) regulates splicing and expression and is associated with increased risk of systemic lupus erythematosus," *Nature Genetics*, vol. 38, no. 5, pp. 550–555, 2006.
- [22] S. Sigurdsson, G. Nordmark, S. Garnier et al., "A risk haplotype of STAT4 for systemic lupus erythematosus is overexpressed, correlates with anti-dsDNA and shows additive effects with two risk alleles of IRF5," *Human Molecular Genetics*, vol. 17, no. 18, pp. 2868–2876, 2008.
- [23] H. J. Martin, J. M. Jae, D. Walls, and S. D. Hayward, "Manipulation of the toll-like receptor 7 signaling pathway by Epstein-Barr virus," *Journal of Virology*, vol. 81, no. 18, pp. 9748–9758, 2007.
- [24] B. J. Barnes, J. Richards, M. Mancl, S. Hanash, L. Beretta, and P. M. Pitha, "Global and distinct targets of IRF-5 and IRF-7 during innate response to viral infection," *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 279, no. 43, pp. 45194–45207, 2004.
- [25] K. Yasuda, C. Richez, J. W. Maciaszek et al., "Murine dendritic cell type I IFN production induced by human IgG-RNA immune complexes Is IFN regulatory factor (IRF)5 and IRF7 dependent and is required for IL-6 production," *The Journal of Immunology*, vol. 178, no. 11, pp. 6876–6885, 2007.
- [26] T. B. Niewold, J. Hua, T. J. A. Lehman, J. B. Harley, and M. K. Crow, "High serum IFN-α activity is a heritable risk factor for systemic lupus erythematosus," *Genes & Immunity*, vol. 8, no. 6, pp. 492–502, 2007.

- [27] B. J. Harley, I. T. W. Harley, J. M. Guthridge, and J. A. James, "The curiously suspicious: a role for Epstein-Barr virus in lupus," *Lupus*, vol. 15, no. 11, pp. 768–777, 2006.
- [28] J. B. Harley and J. A. James, "Epstein-Barr virus infection induces lupus autoimmunity," *Bulletin of the NYU Hospital for Joint Diseases*, vol. 64, no. 1-2, pp. 45–50, 2006.
- [29] J. A. James and J. B. Harley, "Epstein-Barr virus infection may be an environmental risk factor for SLE in children and teenagers," *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, vol. 42, pp. 1122–1126, 1999.
- [30] J. A. James, J. B. Harley, and R. H. Scofield, "Epstein-Barr virus and systemic lupus erythematosus," *Current Opinion in Rheumatology*, vol. 18, no. 5, pp. 462–467, 2006.
- [31] J. A. James, K. M. Kaufman, A. D. Farris, E. Taylor-Albert, T. J. A. Lehman, and J. B. Harley, "An increased prevalence of Epstein-Barr virus infection in young patients suggests a possible etiology for systemic lupus erythematosus," *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, vol. 100, no. 12, pp. 3019– 3026, 1997.
- [32] J. A. James, B. R. Neas, K. L. Moser et al., "Systemic lupus erythematosus in adults is associated with previous Epstein-Barr virus exposure," *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, vol. 44, no. 5, pp. 1122–1126, 2001.
- [33] J. J. Y. Lu, D. Y. Chen, C. W. Hsieh, J. L. Lan, F. J. Lin, and S. H. Lin, "Association of Epstein-Barr virus infection with systemic lupus erythematosus in Taiwan," *Lupus*, vol. 16, no. 3, pp. 168– 175, 2007.
- [34] J. A. James, R. H. Scofield, and J. B. Harley, "Lupus humoral autoimmunity after short peptide immunization," *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, vol. 815, pp. 124–127, 1997.
- [35] B. D. Poole, R. H. Scofield, J. B. Harley, and J. A. James, "Epstein-Barr virus and molecular mimicry in systemic lupus erythematosus," *Autoimmunity*, vol. 39, no. 1, pp. 63–70, 2006.
- [36] A. Sabbatini, S. Bombardieri, and P. Migliorini, "Autoantibodies from patients with systemic lupus erythematosus bind a shared sequence of SmD and Epstein-Barr virus-encoded nuclear antigen EBNA I," *European Journal of Immunology*, vol. 23, no. 5, pp. 1146–1152, 1993.
- [37] A. Sabbatini, M. P. Dolcher, B. Marchini, S. Bombardieri, and P. Migliorini, "Mapping of epitopes on the SmD molecule: the use of multiple antigen peptides to measure autoantibodies in systemic lupus erythematosus," *The Journal of Rheumatology*, vol. 20, no. 10, pp. 1679–1683, 1993.
- [38] K. Sundar, S. Jacques, P. Gottlieb et al., "Expression of the Epstein-Barr virus nuclear antigen-1 (EBNA-1) in the mouse can elicit the production of anti-dsDNA and anti-Sm antibodies," *Journal of Autoimmunity*, vol. 23, no. 2, pp. 127– 140, 2004.
- [39] B. D. Poole, T. Gross, S. Maier, J. B. Harley, and J. A. James, "Lupus-like autoantibody development in rabbits and mice after immunization with EBNA-1 fragments," *Journal of Autoimmunity*, vol. 31, no. 4, pp. 362–371, 2008.
- [40] M. T. McClain, B. D. Poole, B. F. Bruner, K. M. Kaufman, J. B. Harley, and J. A. James, "An altered immune response to Epstein-Barr nuclear antigen 1 in pediatric systemic lupus erythematosus," *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, vol. 54, no. 1, pp. 360–368, 2006.
- [41] I. Kang, T. Quan, H. Nolasco et al., "Defective control of latent Epstein-Barr virus infection in systemic lupus erythematosus," *The Journal of Immunology*, vol. 172, no. 2, pp. 1287–1294, 2004.
- [42] U. Y. Moon, S. J. Park, S. T. Oh et al., "Patients with systemic lupus erythematosus have abnormally elevated Epstein-Barr

virus load in blood," Arthritis Research & Therapy, vol. 6, no. 4, pp. R295–302, 2004.

- [43] G. J. Babcock, D. Hochberg, and A. D. Thorley-Lawson, "The expression pattern of Epstein-Barr virus latent genes in vivo is dependent upon the differentiation stage of the infected B cell," *Immunity*, vol. 13, no. 4, pp. 497–506, 2000.
- [44] N. Knowlton, I. M. Dozmorov, and M. Centola, "Microarray data analysis toolbox (MDAT): for normalization, adjustment and analysis of gene expression data," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 20, no. 18, pp. 3687–3690, 2004.
- [45] V. K. Mootha, C. M. Lindgren, K. F. Eriksson et al., "PGC-1α-responsive genes involved in oxidative phosphorylation are coordinately downregulated in human diabetes," *Nature Genetics*, vol. 34, no. 3, pp. 267–273, 2003.
- [46] A. Subramanian, P. Tamayo, V. K. Mootha et al., "Gene set enrichment analysis: a knowledge-based approach for interpreting genome-wide expression profiles," *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, vol. 102, no. 43, pp. 15545–15550, 2005.
- [47] S. V. Kozyrev, S. Lewén, P. M. V. L. Reddy et al., "Structural insertion/deletion variation in IRF5 is associated with a risk haplotype and defines the precise IRF5 isoforms expressed in systemic lupus erythematosus," *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, vol. 56, no. 4, pp. 1234–1241, 2007.
- [48] S. Subramanian, K. Tus, Q. Z. Li et al., "A Tlr7 translocation accelerates systemic autoimmunity in murine lupus," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 103, no. 26, pp. 9970–9975, 2006.
- [49] C. Dumont, R. Henderson, and V. L. Tybulewicz, "Characterization of the roles of Rac1 and Rac2 GTPases in lymphocyte development," *Methods in Enzymology*, vol. 439, pp. 235–254, 2008.
- [50] L. Bennett, A. K. Palucka, E. Arce et al., "Interferon and granulopoiesis signatures in systemic lupus erythematosus blood," *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, vol. 197, no. 6, pp. 711–723, 2003.
- [51] E. C. Baechler, F. M. Batliwalla, G. Karypis et al., "Interferoninducible gene expression signature in peripheral blood cells of patients with severe lupus," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 100, no. 5, pp. 2610–2615, 2003.
- [52] M. K. Crow, "Interferon-α: a new target for therapy in systemic lupus erythematosus?" *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, vol. 48, no. 9, pp. 2396–2401, 2003.
- [53] T. B. Niewold, D. N. Clark, R. Salloum, and B. D. Poole, "Interferon alpha in systemic lupus erythematosus," *Journal of Biomedicine and Biotechnology*, vol. 2010, Article ID 948364, 8 pages, 2010.
- [54] F. Batteux, P. Palmer, M. Daëron, B. Weill, and P. Lebon, "FCyRII (CD32)-dependent induction of interferon-alpha by serum from patients with lupus erythematosus," *European Cytokine Network*, vol. 10, no. 4, pp. 509–514, 1999.
- [55] U. Bave, M. Magnusson, M. L. Eloranta, A. Perers, G. V. Alm, and L. Rönnblom, "FcyRIIa is expressed on natural IFN-αproducing cells (plasmacytoid dendritic cells) and is required for the IFN-α production induced by apoptotic cells combined with lupus IgG," *The Journal of Immunology*, vol. 171, no. 6, pp. 3296–3302, 2003.
- [56] T. Lovgren, M.-L. Eloranta, U. Bave, G. V. Alm, and L. Rönnblom, "Induction of interferon-α production in plasmacytoid dendritic cells by immune complexes containing nucleic acid released by necrotic or late apoptotic cells and lupus IgG," *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, vol. 50, no. 6, pp. 1861– 1872, 2004.

- [57] T. Lovgren, M.-L. Eloranta, B. Kastner, M. Wahren-Herlenius, G. V. Alm, and L. Rönnblom, "Induction of interferon-α by immune complexes or liposomes containing systemic lupus erythematosus autoantigen- and Sjögren's syndrome auto antigen—associated RNA," *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, vol. 54, no. 6, pp. 1917–1927, 2006.
- [58] L. Rönnblom and G. V. Alm, "Systemic lupus erythematosus and the type I interferon system," *Arthritis Research & Therapy*, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 68–75, 2003.
- [59] L. Rönnblom and V. Pascual, "The innate immune system in SLE: type I interferons and dendritic cells," *Lupus*, vol. 17, no. 5, pp. 394–399, 2008.
- [60] J. Tian, A. M. Avalos, S. Y. Mao et al., "Toll-like receptor 9dependent activation by DNA-containing immune complexes is mediated by HMGB1 and RAGE," *Nature Immunology*, vol. 8, no. 5, pp. 487–496, 2007.
- [61] B. J. Barnes, A. E. Field, and P. M. Pitha-Rowe, "Virusinduced heterodimer formation between IRF-5 and IRF-7 modulates assembly of the IFNA enhanceosome in vivo and transcriptional activity of IFNA genes," *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 278, no. 19, pp. 16630–16641, 2003.
- [62] B. J. Barnes, P. A. Moore, and P. M. Pitha, "Virus-specific activation of a novel interferon regulatory factor, IRF-5, results in the induction of distinct interferon α genes," *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 276, no. 26, pp. 23382–23390, 2001.
- [63] D. A. Savitsky, H. Yanai, T. Tamura, T. Taniguchi, and K. Honda, "Contribution of IRF5 in B cells to the development of murine SLE-like disease through its transcriptional control of the IgG2a locus," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 107, no. 22, pp. 10154–10159, 2010.
- [64] S. L. Werner, J. D. Kearns, V. Zadorozhnaya et al., "Encoding NF-κB temporal control in response to TNF: distinct roles for the negative regulators IκBα and A20," *Genes & Development*, vol. 22, no. 15, pp. 2093–2101, 2008.
- [65] R. R. Graham, C. Cotsapas, L. Davies et al., "Genetic variants near TNFAIP3 on 6q23 are associated with systemic lupus erythematosus," *Nature Genetics*, vol. 40, no. 9, pp. 1059–1061, 2008.
- [66] N. I. Kang, H. Y. Yoon, Y. R. Lee et al., "A20 attenuates allergic airway inflammation in mice," *The Journal of Immunology*, vol. 183, no. 2, pp. 1488–1495, 2009.
- [67] G. Trynka, A. Zhernakova, J. Romanos et al., "Coeliac diseaseassociated risk variants in TNFAIP3 and REL implicate altered NF-κB signalling," *Gut*, vol. 58, no. 8, pp. 1078–1083, 2009.
- [68] J. S. Bates, C. J. Lessard, J. M. Leon et al., "Meta-analysis and imputation identifies a 109kb risk haplotype spanning TNFAIP3 associated with lupus nephritis and hematologic manifestations," *Genes & Immunity*, vol. 10, no. 5, pp. 470– 477, 2009.
- [69] V. Gateva, J. K. Sandling, G. Hom et al., "A large-scale replication study identifies TNIP1, PRDM1, JAZF1, UHRF1BP1 and IL10 as risk loci for systemic lupus erythematosus," *Nature Genetics*, vol. 41, no. 11, pp. 1228–1233, 2009.
- [70] J. W. Han, H. F. Zheng, Y. Cui et al., "Genome-wide association study in a Chinese Han population identifies nine new susceptibility loci for systemic lupus erythematosus," *Nature Genetics*, vol. 41, no. 11, pp. 1234–1237, 2009.
- [71] S. L. Musone, K. E. Taylor, T. T. Lu et al., "Multiple polymorphisms in the TNFAIP3 region are independently associated with systemic lupus erythematosus," *Nature Genetics*, vol. 40, no. 9, pp. 1062–1064, 2008.
- [72] K. Honma, S. Tsuzuki, M. Nakagawa et al., "TNFAIP3/A20 functions as a novel tumor suppressor gene in several subtypes

of non-Hodgkin lymphomas," *Blood*, vol. 114, no. 12, pp. 2467–2475, 2009.

[73] M. Kato, M. Sanada, I. Kato et al., "Frequent inactivation of A20 in B-cell lymphomas," *Nature*, vol. 459, no. 7247, pp. 712– 716, 2009.

5. References

- Alarcon-Segovia D, Alarcon-Riquelme ME, Cardiel MH, Caeiro F, Massardo L, Villa AR et al. Familial aggregation of systemic lupus erythematosus, rheumatoid arthritis, and other autoimmune diseases in 1,177 lupus patients from the GLADEL cohort. Arthritis Rheum, 2005; 52:1138-47.
- Deapen D, Escalante A, Weinrib L, Horwitz D, Bachman B, Royburman P et al. A revised estimate of twin concordance in systemic lupus-erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum, 1992; 35:311-8.
- Harley ITW, Kaufman KM, Langefeld CD, Harley JB, Kelly JA. Genetic susceptibility to SLE: new insights from fine mapping and genome-wide association studies. Nat Rev Genet, 2009; 10:285-90.
- Wandstrat A, Wakeland E. The genetics of complex autoimmune diseases: non-MHC susceptibility genes. Nat Immunol, 2001; 2:802-9.
- Lossius A, Johansen JN, Torkildsen O, Vartdal F, Holmoy T. Epstein-Barr virus in systemic lupus erythematosus, rheumatoid arthritis and multiple sclerosis-association and causation. Viruses, 2012; 4:3701-30.
- Moon UY, Park SJ, Oh ST, Kim WU, Park SH, Lee SH et al. Patients with systemic lupus erythematosus have abnormally elevated Epstein-Barr virus load in blood. Arthritis Res Ther, 2004; 6:R295-302.
- Kang I, Quan T, Nolasco H, Park SH, Hong MS, Crouch J et al. Defective control of latent Epstein-Barr virus infection in systemic lupus erythematosus. J Immunol, 2004; 172:1287-94.

- James JA, Scofield RH, Harley JB. Lupus humoral autoimmunity after short peptide immunization. Ann NY Acad Sci, 1997; 815:124-7.
- Poole BD, Gross T, Maier S, Harley JB, James JA. Lupus-like autoantibody development in rabbits and mice after immunization with EBNA-1 fragments. J Autoimmunity, 2008; In Press.
- 10. Poole BD, Scofield RH, Harley JB, James JA. Epstein-Barr virus and molecular mimicry in systemic lupus erythematosus. Autoimmunity, 2006; 39:63-70.
- 11. Sabbatini A, Bombardieri S, Migliorini P. Autoantibodies from patients with systemic lupus erythematosus bind a shared sequence of SmD and Epstein-Barr virus-encoded nuclear antigen EBNA I. Eur J Immunol, 1993; 23:1146-52.
- 12. Sabbatini A, Dolcher MP, Marchini B, Bombardieri S, Migliorini P. Mapping of epitopes on the SmD molecule: the use of multiple antigen peptides to measure autoantibodies in systemic lupus erythematosus. J Rheumatol, 1993; 20:1679-83.
- 13. Sundar K, Jacques S, Gottlieb P, Villars R, Benito ME, Taylor DK et al. Expression of the Epstein-Barr virus nuclear antigen-1 (EBNA-1) in the mouse can elicit the production of anti-dsDNA and anti-Sm antibodies. J Autoimmun, 2004; 23:127-40.
- Harley JB, Harley IT, Guthridge JM, James JA. The curiously suspicious: a role for Epstein-Barr virus in lupus. Lupus, 2006; 15:768-77.
- Harley JB, James JA. Epstein-Barr virus infection induces lupus autoimmunity. Bull NYU Hosp Jt Dis, 2006; 64:45-50.
- James JA, Harley JB. Epstein-Barr virus infection may be an environmental risk factor for SLE in children and teenagers. Arthritis Rheum, 1999; 42:1122-6.

- James JA, Harley JB, Scofield RH. Epstein-Barr virus and systemic lupus erythematosus. Curr Opin Rheumatol, 2006; 18:462-7.
- 18. James JA, Kaufman KM, Farris AD, Taylor-Albert E, Lehman TJ, Harley JB. An increased prevalence of Epstein-Barr virus infection in young patients suggests a possible etiology for systemic lupus erythematosus. J Clin Invest, 1997; 100:3019-26.
- James JA, Neas BR, Moser KL, Hall T, Bruner GR, Sestak AL et al. Systemic lupus erythematosus in adults is associated with previous Epstein-Barr virus exposure. Arthritis Rheum, 2001; 44:1122-6.
- 20. Lu JJ, Chen DY, Hsieh CW, Lan JL, Lin FJ, Lin SH. Association of Epstein-Barr virus infection with systemic lupus erythematosus in Taiwan. Lupus, 2007; 16:168-75.
- 21. Su AI, Wiltshire T, Batalov S, Lapp H, Ching KA, Block D et al. A gene atlas of the mouse and human protein-encoding transcriptomes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 2004; 101:6062-7.
- 22. Lucero MA, Magdelenat H, Fridman WH, Pouillart P, Billardon C, Billiau A et al. Comparison of effects of leukocyte and fibroblast interferon on immunological parameters in cancer-patients. Eur J Cancer Clin Oncol, 1982; 18:243-51.
- 23. Karpusas M, Nolte M, Benton CB, Meier W, Lipscomb WN, Goelz S. The crystal structure of human interferon β at 2.2-Å resolution. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 1997; 94:11813-8.
- Herraez A. Biomolecules in the computer: Jmol to the rescue. Biochem Mol Biol Educ, 2006; 34:255-61.
- 25. Shimoda K, Kato K, Aoki K, Matsuda T, Miyamoto A, Shibamori M et al. Tyk2 plays a restricted role in IFN alpha signaling, although it is required for IL-12-mediated T cell function. Immunity, 2000; 13:561-71.

- 26. Niewold TB, Clark DN, Salloum R, Poole BD. Interferon alpha in systemic lupus erythematosus. J Biomed Biotechnol, 2010; 2010:8.
- 27. Takaoka A, Hayakawa S, Yanai H, Stoiber D, Negishi H, Kikuchi H et al. Integration of interferon-alpha/beta signalling to p53 responses in tumour suppression and antiviral defence. Nature, 2003; 424:516-23.
- Luker KE, Hutchens M, Schultz T, Pekosz A, Luker GD. Bioluminescence imaging of vaccinia virus: Effects of interferon on viral replication and spread. Virology, 2005; 341:284-300.
- 29. Ronnblom L, Alm GV. A pivotal role for the natural IFNα-producing cells (plasmacytoid dendritic cells) in the pathogenesis of lupus. J Exp Med, 2001; 194:F59-F63.
- 30. Decker T, Muller M, Stockinger S. The Yin and Yang of type I interferon activity in bacterial infection. Nat Rev Immunol, 2005; 5:675-87.
- 31. Fruh K, Yang Y. Antigen presentation by MHC class I and its regulation by interferon gamma. Curr Opin Immunol, 1999; 11:76-81.
- Pindel A, Sadler A. The Role of Protein Kinase R in the Interferon Response. J Interferon Cytokine Res; 31:59-70.
- Murray HW. Interferon-gamma, the activated macrophage, and host defense against microbial challenge. Ann Intern Med, 1988; 108:595-608.
- 34. Kim T, Kanayama Y, Negoro N, Okamura M, Takeda T, Inoue T. Serum levels of interferons in patients with systemic lupus-erythematosus. Clin Exp Immunol, 1987; 70:562-9.
- 35. Ytterberg SR, Schnitzer TJ. Serum interferon levels in patients with systemic lupuserythematosus. Arthritis Rheum, 1982; 25:401-6.

- 36. Baechler EC, Batliwalla FM, Karypis G, Gaffney PM, Ortmann WA, Espe KJ et al. Interferon-inducible gene expression signature in peripheral blood cells of patients with severe lupus. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 2003; 100:2610-5.
- Bennett L, Palucka AK, Arce E, Cantrell V, Borvak J, Banchereau J et al. Interferon and granulopoiesis signatures in systemic lupus erythematosus blood. J Exp Med, 2003; 197:711-23.
- 38. Feng XB, Wu H, Grossman JM, Hanvivadhanakul P, FitzGerald JD, Park GS et al. Association of increased interferon-inducible gene expression with disease activity and lupus nephritis in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum, 2006; 54:2951-62.
- Crow MK, Wohlgemuth J. Microarray analysis of gene expression in lupus. Arthritis Res Ther, 2003; 5:279-87.
- Crow MK, Kirou KA, Wohlgemuth J. Microarray analysis of interferon-regulated genes in SLE. Autoimmunity, 2003; 36:481-90.
- 41. Nikpour M, Dempsey AA, Urowitz MB, Gladman DD, Barnes DA. Association of a gene expression profile from whole blood with disease activity in systemic lupus erythaematosus. Ann Rheum Dis, 2008; 67:1069-75.
- 42. Vandivier RW, Henson PM, Douglas IS. Burying the dead: the impact of failed apoptotic cell removal (efferocytosis) on chronic inflammatory lung disease. Chest, 2006; 129:1673-82.
- 43. Gaipl US, Sheriff A, Franz S, Munoz LE, Voll RE, Kalden JR et al. Inefficient clearance of dying cells and autoreactivity. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol. 2006; 305:161-76.
- 44. Li LH, Li WX, Wu O, Zhang GQ, Pan HF, Li XP et al. Fas expression on peripheral blood lymphocytes in systemic lupus erythematosus: relation to the organ damage and lymphocytes apoptosis. Mol Biol Rep, 2009; 36:2047-52.

- 45. Sahebari M, Hatef MR, Rezaieyazdi Z, Abbasi M, Abbasi B, Mahmoudi M. Correlation between serum levels of soluble Fas (CD95/Apo-1) with disease activity in systemic lupus erythematosus patients in Khorasan, Iran. Arch Iran Med; 13:135-42.
- 46. Munoz LE, Lauber K, Schiller M, Manfredi AA, Herrmann M. The role of defective clearance of apoptotic cells in systemic autoimmunity. Nat Rev Rheumatol; 6:280-9.
- 47. Izui S, Merino R, Fossati L, Iwamoto M. The role of the Yaa gene in lupus syndrome. Int Rev Immunol, 1994; 11:211-30.
- 48. Liu Z, Bethunaickan R, Huang W, Lodhi U, Solano I, Madaio MP et al. Interferon-alpha accelerates murine systemic lupus erythematosus in a T cell-dependent manner. Arthritis Rheum; 63:219-29.
- 49. Mathian A, Weinberg A, Gallegos M, Banchereau J, Koutouzov S. IFN-alpha induces early lethal lupus in preautoimmune (New Zealand Black x New Zealand White) F1 but not in BALB/c mice. J Immunol, 2005; 174:2499-506.
- 50. Jorgensen TN, Roper E, Thurman JM, Marrack P, Kotzin BL. Type I interferon signaling is involved in the spontaneous development of lupus-like disease in B6.Nba2 and (B6.Nba2 x NZW)F(1) mice. Genes Immun, 2007; 8:653-62.
- 51. Sharma RP, He Q, Riley RT. Lupus-prone NZBWF1/J mice, defective in cytokine signaling, are resistant to fumonisin hepatotoxicity despite accumulation of liver sphinganine. Toxicology, 2005; 216:59-71.
- 52. Bynote KK, Hackenberg JM, Korach KS, Lubahn DB, Lane PH, Gould KA. Estrogen receptor-alpha deficiency attenuates autoimmune disease in (NZB x NZW)F1 mice. Genes Immun, 2008; 9:137-52.

- 53. Panchanathan R, Shen H, Bupp MG, Gould KA, Choubey D. Female and male sex hormones differentially regulate expression of Ifi202, an interferon-inducible lupus susceptibility gene within the Nba2 interval. J Immunol, 2009; 183:7031-8.
- 54. Panchanathan R, Shen H, Zhang X, Ho SM, Choubey D. Mutually positive regulatory feedback loop between interferons and estrogen receptor-alpha in mice: implications for sex bias in autoimmunity. PLoS ONE; 5:e10868.
- 55. Richez C, Yasuda K, Bonegio RG, Watkins AA, Aprahamian T, Busto P et al. IFN regulatory factor 5 is required for disease development in the FcgammaRIIB-/-Yaa and FcgammaRIIB-/- mouse models of systemic lupus erythematosus. J Immunol; 184:796-806.
- 56. Savitsky DA, Yanai H, Tamura T, Taniguchi T, Honda K. Contribution of IRF5 in B cells to the development of murine SLE-like disease through its transcriptional control of the IgG2a locus. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA; 107:10154-9.
- 57. Tada Y, Kondo S, Aoki S, Koarada S, Inoue H, Suematsu R et al. Interferon regulatory factor5 is critical for the development of lupus in MRL/lpr mice. Arthritis Rheum; 63:738-48.
- 58. Cancro MP, D'Cruz DP, Khamashta MA. The role of B lymphocyte stimulator (BLyS) in systemic lupus erythematosus. J Clin Invest, 2009; 119:1066-73.
- Ronnblom L, Alm GV, Eloranta ML. The type I interferon system in the development of lupus. Semin Immunol; 23:113-21.
- Crispin JC, Liossis SNC, Kis-Toth K, Lieberman LA, Kyttaris VC, Juang YT et al.
 Pathogenesis of human systemic lupus erythematosus: recent advances. Trends Mol Med; 16:47-57.
- 61. Riemekasten G, Hahn BH. Key autoantigens in SLE. Rheumatology (Oxford), 2005; 44:975-82.

- 62. Bombardier C, Gladman DD, Urowitz MB, Caron D, Chang CH. Derivation of the SLEDAI. A disease activity index for lupus patients. The Committee on Prognosis Studies in SLE. Arthritis Rheum, 1992; 35:630-40.
- 63. Gota C, Calabrese L. Induction of clinical autoimmune disease by therapeutic interferonalpha. Autoimmunity, 2003; 36:511-8.
- 64. Ioannou Y, Isenberg DA. Current evidence for the induction of autoimmune rheumatic manifestations by cytokine therapy. Arthritis Rheum, 2000; 43:1431-42.
- 65. Niewold TB, Swedler WI. Systemic lupus erythematosus arising during interferon-alpha therapy for cryoglobulinemic vasculitis associated with hepatitis C. ClinRheumatol, 2005; 24:178-81.
- 66. Niewold TB, Hua J, Lehman TJ, Harley JB, Crow MK. High serum IFN-alpha activity is a heritable risk factor for systemic lupus erythematosus. Genes Immun, 2007; 8:492-502.
- 67. Bauer JW, Petri M, Batliwalla FM, Koeuth T, Wilson J, Slattery C et al. Interferon-regulated chemokines as biomarkers of systemic lupus erythematosus disease activity: A validation study. Arthritis Rheum, 2009; 60:3098-107.
- 68. Dall'Era MC, Cardarelli PM, Preston BT, Witte A, Davis JC. Type I interferon correlates with serological and clinical manifestations of SLE. Ann Rheum Dis, 2005; 64:1692-7.
- 69. Landolt-Marticorena C, Bonventi G, Lubovich A, Ferguson C, Unnithan T, Su J et al. Lack of association between the interferon-α signature and longitudinal changes in disease activity in systemic lupus erythematosus. Ann Rheum Dis, 2009; 68:1440-6.
- 70. Petri M, Singh S, Tesfasyone H, Dedrick R, Fry K, Lal P et al. Longitudinal expression of type I interferon responsive genes in systemic lupus erythematosus. Lupus, 2009; 18:980-9.

- 71. Zhuang H, Narain S, Sobel E, Lee PY, Nacionales DC, Kelly KM et al. Association of antinucleoprotein autoantibodies with upregulation of Type I interferon-inducible gene transcripts and dendritic cell maturation in systemic lupus erythematosus. Clin Immunol, 2005; 117:238-50.
- 72. Kirou KA, Lee C, George S, Louca K, Peterson MGE, Crow MK. Activation of the interferon-α pathway identifies a subgroup of systemic lupus erythematosus patients with distinct serologic features and active disease. Arthritis Rheum, 2005; 52:1491-503.
- Blomberg S, Eloranta ML, Cederblad B, Nordlind K, Alm GL, Rönnblom L. Presence of cutaneous interferon-a producing cells in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Lupus, 2001; 10:484-90.
- 74. Farkas L, Beiske K, Lund-Johansen F, Brandtzaeg P, Jahnsen FL. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells (natural interferon- α/β-producing cells) accumulate in cutaneous lupus erythematosus lesions. Am J Pathol, 2001; 159:237-43.
- 75. McBride JM, Jiang J, Abbas AR, Morimoto A, Li J, Maciuca R et al. Safety and pharmacodynamic results of rontalizumab in a phase I, placebo controlled, double blind, dose escalation study in systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum, 2012; 64:3666-7.
- 76. Merrill JT, Wallace DJ, Petri M, Kirou KA, Yao Y, White WI et al. Safety profile and clinical activity of sifalimumab, a fully human anti-interferon α monoclonal antibody, in systemic lupus erythematosus: a phase I, multicentre, double-blind randomised study. Ann Rheum Dis, 2011; 70:1905-13.
- 77. Lichtman EI, Helfgott SM, Kriegel MA. Emerging therapies for systemic lupus erythematosus Focus on targeting interferon-alpha. Clin Immunol, 2012; 143:210-21.
- 78. Sanz I, Yasothan U, Kirkpatrick P. Belimumab. Nat Rev Drug Discov; 10:335-6.

- 79. Linker-Israeli M, Deans RJ, Wallace DJ, Prehn J, Ozeri-Chen T, Klinenberg JR. Elevated levels of endogenous IL-6 in systemic lupus erythematosus. A putative role in pathogenesis. J Immunol, 1991; 147:117-23.
- 80. Kitani A, Hara M, Hirose T, Harigai M, Suzuki K, Kawakami M et al. Autostimulatory effects of IL-6 on excessive B cell differentiation in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus: analysis of IL-6 production and IL-6R expression. Clin Exp Immunol, 1992; 88:75-83.
- 81. Illei GG, Shirota Y, Yarboro CH, Daruwalla J, Tackey E, Takada K et al. Tocilizumab in systemic lupus erythematosus: data on safety, preliminary efficacy, and impact on circulating plasma cells from an open-label phase I dosage-escalation study. Arthritis Rheum, 2010; 62:542-52.
- 82. Stranger BE, Stahl EA, Raj T. Progress and Promise of Genome-Wide Association Studies for Human Complex Trait Genetics. Genetics; 187:367-83.
- 83. Lee-Kirsch MA, Gong M, Chowdhury D, Senenko L, Engel K, Lee YA et al. Mutations in the gene encoding the 3 '-5 ' DNA exonuclease TREX1 are associated with systemic lupus erythematosus. Nat Genet, 2007; 39:1065-7.
- 84. Sigurdsson S, Nordmark G, Goring HH, Lindroos K, Wiman AC, Sturfelt G et al. Polymorphisms in the tyrosine kinase 2 and interferon regulatory factor 5 genes are associated with systemic lupus erythematosus. Am J Hum Genet, 2005; 76:528-37.
- 85. Sigurdsson S, Göring HHH, Kristjansdottir G, Milani L, Nordmark G, Sandling JK et al. Comprehensive evaluation of the genetic variants of interferon regulatory factor 5 (IRF5) reveals a novel 5 bp length polymorphism as strong risk factor for systemic lupus erythematosus. Human Molecular Genetics, 2008; 17:872-81.

- Graham RR, Hom G, Ortmann W, Behrens TW. Review of recent genome-wide association scans in lupus. J Intern Med, 2009; 265:680-8.
- 87. Moser KL, Kelly JA, Lessard CJ, Harley JB. Recent insights into the genetic basis of systemic lupus erythematosus. Genes Immun, 2009; 10:373-9.
- Rhodes B, Vyse TJ. The genetics of SLE: an update in the light of genome-wide association studies. Rheumatology (Oxford), 2008; 47:1603-11.
- Sebastiani GD, Galeazzi M. Immunogenetic studies on systemic lupus erythematosus. Lupus, 2009; 18:878-83.
- 90. Kozyrev SV, Lewen S, Reddy PM, Pons-Estel B, Witte T, Junker P et al. Structural insertion/deletion variation in IRF5 is associated with a risk haplotype and defines the precise IRF5 isoforms expressed in systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum, 2007; 56:1234-41.
- 91. Reddy MV, Velazquez-Cruz R, Baca V, Lima G, Granados J, Orozco L et al. Genetic association of IRF5 with SLE in Mexicans: higher frequency of the risk haplotype and its homozygozity than Europeans. Hum Genet, 2007; 121:721-7.
- 92. Kelly JA, Kelley JM, Kaufman KM, Kilpatrick J, Bruner GR, Merrill JT et al. Interferon regulatory factor-5 is genetically associated with systemic lupus erythematosus in African Americans. Genes Immun, 2008; 9:187-94.
- 93. Shin HD, Kim I, Choi CB, Lee SO, Lee HW, Bae SC. Different genetic effects of interferon regulatory factor 5 (IRF5) polymorphisms on systemic lupus erythematosus in a Korean population. J Rheumatol, 2008; 35:2148-51.
- 94. Lofgren SE, Yin H, Delgado-Vega AM, Sanchez E, Lewen S, Pons-Estel BA et al. Promoter insertion/deletion in the IRF5 gene is highly associated with susceptibility to systemic lupus

erythematosus in distinct populations, but exerts a modest effect on gene expression in peripheral blood mononuclear cells. J Rheumatol, 2010; 37:574-8.

- 95. Armstrong DL, Reiff A, Myones BL, Quismorio FP, Klein-Gitelman M, McCurdy D et al. Identification of new SLE-associated genes with a two-step Bayesian study design. Genes Immun, 2009; 10:446-56.
- 96. Xu CJ, Zhang WH, Pan HF, Li XP, Xu JH, Ye DQ. Association study of a single nucleotide polymorphism in the exon 2 region of toll-like receptor 9 (TLR9) gene with susceptibility to systemic lupus erythematosus among Chinese. Mol Biol Rep, 2009; 36:2245-8.
- 97. Watford WT, Hissong BD, Bream JH, Kanno Y, Muul L, O'Shea JJ. Signaling by IL-12 and IL-23 and the immunoregulatory roles of STAT4. Immunol Rev, 2004; 202:139-56.
- 98. Jacob CO, Zhu JK, Armstrong DL, Yan M, Han J, Zhou XJ et al. Identification of IRAK1 as a risk gene with critical role in the pathogenesis of systemic lupus erythematosus. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 2009; 106:6256-61.
- Cao W, Liu YJ. Opn: key regulator of pDC interferon production. Nat Immunol, 2006;
 7:441-3.
- 100. Kariuki SN, Moore JG, Kirou KA, Crow MK, Utset TO, Niewold TB. Age- and genderspecific modulation of serum osteopontin and interferon-alpha by osteopontin genotype in systemic lupus erythematosus. Genes Immun, 2009; 10:487-94.
- 101. Gateva V, Sandling JK, Hom G, Taylor KE, Chung SA, Sun X et al. A large-scale replication study identifies TNIP1, PRDM1, JAZF1, UHRF1BP1 and IL10 as risk loci for systemic lupus erythematosus. Nat Genet, 2009; 41:1228-U93.

- 102. Musone SL, Taylor KE, Lu TT, Nititham J, Ferreira RC, Ortmann W et al. Multiple polymorphisms in the TNFAIP3 region are independently associated with systemic lupus erythematosus. Nat Genet, 2008; 40:1062-4.
- 103. Bates JS, Lessard CJ, Leon JM, Nguyen T, Battiest LJ, Rodgers J et al. Meta-analysis and imputation identifies a 109 kb risk haplotype spanning TNFAIP3 associated with lupus nephritis and hematologic manifestations. Genes Immun, 2009; 10:470-7.
- 104. Lee YH, Song GG. Association between the rs2004640 functional polymorphism of interferon regulatory factor 5 and systemic lupus erythematosus: a meta-analysis. Rheumatol Int, 2009; 29:1137-42.
- 105. Shimane K, Kochi Y, Yamada R, Okada Y, Suzuki A, Miyatake A et al. A single nucleotide polymorphism in the IRF5 promoter region is associated with susceptibility to rheumatoid arthritis in the Japanese population. Ann Rheum Dis, 2009; 68:377-83.
- 106. Kawasaki A, Kyogoku C, Ohashi J, Miyashita R, Hikami K, Kusaoi M et al. Association of IRF5 polymorphisms with systemic lupus erythematosus in a Japanese population: support for a crucial role of intron 1 polymorphisms. Arthritis Rheum, 2008; 58:826-34.
- 107. Graham RR, Kyogoku C, Sigurdsson S, Vlasova IA, Davies LR, Baechler EC et al. Three functional variants of IFN regulatory factor 5 (IRF5) define risk and protective haplotypes for human lupus. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 2007; 104:6758-63.
- 108. Nordmark G, Kristjansdottir G, Theander E, Eriksson P, Brun JG, Wang C et al. Additive effects of the major risk alleles of IRF5 and STAT4 in primary Sjögren's syndrome. Genes Immun, 2008; 10:68-76.

- 109. Graham DSC, Manku H, Wagner S, Reid J, Timms K, Gutin A et al. Association of IRF5 in UK SLE families identifies a variant involved in polyadenylation. Hum Mol Genet, 2007; 16:579-91.
- 110. Salloum R, Franek B, Kariuki S, Utset T, Niewold T. T.16. Genetic Variation at the IRF7/KIAA1542 Locus is Associated with Autoantibody Profile and Serum Interferon Alpha Levels in Lupus Patients. Clin Immunol, 2009; 131:S54-S.
- 111. Niewold TB, Kelly JA, Flesch MH, Espinoza LR, Harley JB, Crow MK. Association of the IRF5 risk haplotype with high serum interferon-α activity in systemic lupus erythematosus patients. Arthritis Rheum, 2008; 58:2481-7.
- 112. Alonso-Perez E, Suarez-Gestal M, Calaza M, Kwan T, Majewski J, Gomez-Reino JJ et al. Cis-regulation of IRF5 expression is unable to fully account for systemic lupus erythematosus association: analysis of multiple experiments with lymphoblastoid cell lines. Arthritis Res Ther, 2011; 13:R80.
- 113. Harley JB, Alarcon-Riquelme ME, Criswell LA, Jacob CO, Kimberly RP, Moser KL et al. Genome-wide association scan in women with systemic lupus erythematosus identifies susceptibility variants in ITGAM, PXK, KIAA1542 and other loci. Nat Genet, 2008; 40:204-10.
- 114. Suarez-Gestal M, Calaza M, Endreffy E, Pullmann R, Ordi-Ros J, Sebastiani GD et al. Replication of recently identified systemic lupus erythematosus genetic associations: a casecontrol study. Arthritis Res Ther, 2009; 11.
- 115. Kariuki SN, Kirou KA, MacDermott EJ, Barillas-Arias L, Crow MK, Niewold TB. Cutting Edge: Autoimmune Disease Risk Variant of STAT4 Confers increased Sensitivity to IFNalpha in Lupus Patients In Vivo. J Immunol, 2009; 182:34-8.

- 116. Abelson AK, Delgado-Vega AM, Kozyrev SV, Sanchez E, Velazquez-Cruz R, Eriksson N et al. STAT4 associates with systemic lupus erythematosus through two independent effects that correlate with gene expression and act additively with IRF5 to increase risk. Ann Rheum Dis, 2009; 68:1746-53.
- 117. Sigurdsson S, Nordmark G, Garnier S, Grundberg E, Kwan T, Nilsson O et al. A risk haplotype of STAT4 for systemic lupus erythematosus is over-expressed, correlates with anti-dsDNA and shows additive effects with two risk alleles of IRF5. Hum Mol Genet, 2008; 17:2868-76.
- Liu CC, Ahearn JM. The search for lupus biomarkers. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol, 2009; 23:507-23.
- 119. Jimenez-Morales S, Velazquez-Cruz R, Ramirez-Bello J, Bonilla-Gonzalez E, Romero-Hidalgo S, Escamilla-Guerrero G et al. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha is a common genetic risk factor for asthma, juvenile rheumatoid arthritis, and systemic lupus erythematosus in a Mexican pediatric population. Hum Immunol, 2009; 70:251-6.
- 120. Lin YJ, Chen RH, Wan L, Sheu JJC, Huang CM, Lin CW et al. Association of TNF-alpha gene polymorphisms with systemic lupus erythematosus in Taiwanese patients. Lupus, 2009; 18:974-9.
- 121. Davas EM, Tsirogianni A, Kappou I, Karamitsos D, Economidou I, Dantis PC. Serum IL-6, TNF alpha, p55 srTNF alpha, p75 srTNF alpha, srIL-2 alpha levels and disease acitivity in systemic lupus erythematosus. Clin Rheumatol, 1999; 18:17-22.
- 122. Emilie D, Llorente L, Galanaud P. Cytokines and systemic lupus erythematosus. Ann Med Interne (Paris), 1996; 147:480-4.

- 123. Sabry A, Sheashaa H, El-husseini A, Mahmoud K, Eldahshan KF, George SK et al. Proinflammatory cytokines (TNF-alpha and IL-6) in Egyptian patients with SLE: Its correlation with disease activity. Cytokine, 2006; 35:148-53.
- 124. Shin SH, Kim B-h, Jang J-J, Suh KS, Kang GH. Identification of Novel Methylation Markers in Hepatocellular Carcinoma using a Methylation Array. J Korean Med Sci, 2010; 25:1152-9.
- 125. Yamashita M, Toyota M, Suzuki H, Nojima M, Yamamoto E, Kamimae S et al. DNA methylation of interferon regulatory factors in gastric cancer and noncancerous gastric mucosae. Cancer Sci, 2010; 101:1708-16.
- 126. Hu G, Barnes BJ. IRF-5 is a mediator of the death receptor-induced apoptotic signaling pathway. J Biol Chem, 2009; 284:2767-77.
- 127. Standal T, Borset M, Sundan A. Role of osteopontin in adhesion, migration, cell survival and bone remodeling. Exp Oncol, 2004; 26:179-84.
- 128. Goulvestre C, Chéreau C, Nicco C, Mouthon L, Weill B, Batteux F. A Mimic of p21WAF1/CIP1 ameliorates murine lupus. J Immunol, 2005; 175:6959-67.
- 129. Nath SK, Han SZ, Kim-Howard X, Kelly JA, Viswanathan P, Gilkeson GS et al. A nonsynonymous functional variant in integrin-alpha M (encoded by ITGAM) is associated with systemic lupus erythematosus. Nat Genet, 2008; 40:152-4.
- 130. Kim-Howard X, Maiti AK, Anaya JM, Bruner GR, Brown E, Merrill JT et al. ITGAM coding variant (rs1143679) influences the risk of renal disease, discoid rash and immunological manifestations in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus with European ancestry. Ann Rheum Dis, 2010; 69:1329-32.

- 131. Lood C, Gullstrand B, Truedsson L, Olin AI, Alm GV, Ronnblom L et al. C1q inhibits immune complex-induced interferon-alpha production in plasmacytoid dendritic cells a novel link between C1q deficiency and systemic lupus erythematosus pathogenesis. Arthritis Rheum, 2009; 60:3081-90.
- 132. Yamaguchi H, Fujimoto T, Nakamura S, Ohmura K, Mimori T, Matsuda F et al. Aberrant splicing of the milk fat globule-EGF factor 8 (MFG-E8) gene in human systemic lupus erythematosus. Eur J Immunol, 2010; 40:1778-85.
- 133. Batuca J, Alves JD. C-reactive protein in systemic lupus erythematosus. Autoimmunity, 2009; 42:282-5.
- 134. Hu CY, Wu CS, Tsai HF, Chang SK, Tsai WI, Hsu PN. Genetic polymorphism in milk fat globule-EGF factor 8 (MFG-E8) is associated with systemic lupus erythematosus in human. Lupus, 2009; 18:676-81.
- 135. Kim HA, Chun HY, Kim SH, Park HS, Suh CH. C-reactive protein gene polymorphisms in disease susceptibility and clinical manifestations of Korean systemic lupus erythematosus. J Rheumatol, 2009; 36:2238-43.
- 136. Pradhan V, Surve P, Ghosh K. Mannose binding lectin (MBL) in autoimmunity and its role in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE). J Assoc Physicians India; 58:688-90.
- 137. Pitha PM, Au W-C, Lowther W, Juang Y-T, Schafer SL, Burysek L et al. Role of the interferon regulatory factors (IRFs) in virus-mediated signaling and regulation of cell growth. Biochimie, 1998; 80:651-8.
- 138. Barnes BJ, Moore PA, Pitha PM. Virus-specific activation of a novel interferon regulatory factor, IRF-5, results in the induction of distinct interferon alpha genes. J Biol Chem, 2001; 276:23382-90.

- 139. Escalante CR, Yie J, Thanos D, Aggarwal AK. Structure of IRF-1 with bound DNA reveals determinants of interferon regulation. Nature, 1998; 391:103-6.
- 140. Huang B, Qi Z, Xu Z, Nie P. Global characterization of interferon regulatory factor (IRF) genes in vertebrates: Glimpse of the diversification in evolution. BMC Immunol, 2010; 11:22.
- 141. Chang Foreman HC, Van Scoy S, Cheng TF, Reich NC. Activation of interferon regulatory factor 5 by site specific phosphorylation. PLoS One, 2012; 7:e33098.
- 142. Balkhi MY, Fitzgerald KA, Pitha PM. IKKα negatively regulates IRF-5 function in a MyD88–TRAF6 pathway. Cell Signal, 2010; 22:117-27.
- 143. Barnes BJ, Kellum MJ, Field AE, Pitha PM. Multiple regulatory domains of IRF-5 control activation, cellular localization, and induction of chemokines that mediate recruitment of T lymphocytes. Mol Cell Biol, 2002; 22:5721-40.
- 144. Lin R, Yang L, Arguello M, Penafuerte C, Hiscott J. A CRM1-dependent nuclear export pathway is involved in the regulation of IRF-5 subcellular localization. J Biol Chem, 2005; 280:3088-95.
- 145. Cheng T-F, Brzostek S, Ando O, Van Scoy S, Kumar KP, Reich NC. Differential activation of IFN regulatory factor (IRF)-3 and IRF-5 transcription factors during viral infection. J Immunol, 2006; 176:7462-70.
- 146. Barnes BJ, Field AE, Pitha-Rowe PM. Virus-induced heterodimer formation between IRF-5 and IRF-7 modulates assembly of the IFNA enhanceosome in vivo and transcriptional activity of IFNA genes. J Biol Chem, 2003; 278:16630-41.

- 147. Barnes BJ, Richards J, Mancl M, Hanash S, Beretta L, Pitha PM. Global and Distinct Targets of IRF-5 and IRF-7 during Innate Response to Viral Infection. J Biol Chem, 2004; 279:45194-207.
- 148. Lien CY, Fang CM, Huso D, Livak F, Lu RQ, Pitha PM. Critical role of IRF-5 in regulation of B-cell differentiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 2010; 107:4664-8.
- 149. Krausgruber T, Blazek K, Smallie T, Alzabin S, Lockstone H, Sahgal N et al. IRF5 promotes inflammatory macrophage polarization and Th1-Th17 responses. Nat Immunol, 2011; 12:231-U66.
- 150. Barnes BJ, Kellum MJ, Pinder KE, Frisancho JA, Pitha PM. Interferon regulatory factor 5, a novel mediator of cell cycle arrest and cell death. Cancer Res, 2003; 63:6424-31.
- 151. Zuker M. Mfold web server for nucleic acid folding and hybridization prediction. Nucleic Acids Res, 2003; 31:3406-15.
- 152. Chen W, Lam SS, Srinath H, Jiang Z, Correia JJ, Schiffer CA et al. Insights into interferon regulatory factor activation from the crystal structure of dimeric IRF5. Nat Struct Mol Biol, 2008; 15:1213-20.
- 153. Graham RR, Kozyrev SV, Baechler EC, Reddy MV, Plenge RM, Bauer JW et al. A common haplotype of interferon regulatory factor 5 (IRF5) regulates splicing and expression and is associated with increased risk of systemic lupus erythematosus. Nat Genet, 2006; 38:550-5.
- 154. Dieguez-Gonzalez R, Calaza M, Perez-Pampin E, de la Serna AR, Fernandez-Gutierrez B, Castaneda S et al. Association of interferon regulatory factor 5 haplotypes, similar to that found in systemic lupus erythematosus, in a large subgroup of patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum, 2008; 58:1264-74.

- 155. Sigurdsson S, Padyukov L, Kurreeman FA, Liljedahl U, Wiman AC, Alfredsson L et al. Association of a haplotype in the promoter region of the interferon regulatory factor 5 gene with rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum, 2007; 56:2202-10.
- 156. Dieude P, Guedj M, Wipff J, Avouac J, Fajardy I, Diot E et al. Association Between the IRF5 rs2004640 Functional Polymorphism and Systemic Sclerosis. Arthritis Rheum, 2009; 60:225-33.
- 157. Kristjansdottir G, Sandling JK, Bonetti A, Roos IM, Milani L, Wang C et al. Interferon regulatory factor 5 (IRF5) gene variants are associated with multiple sclerosis in three distinct populations. J Med Genet, 2008; 45:362-9.
- 158. Dideberg V, Kristjansdottir G, Milani L, Libioulle C, Sigurdsson S, Louis E et al. An insertion-deletion polymorphism in the interferon regulatory Factor 5 (IRF5) gene confers risk of inflammatory bowel diseases. Hum Mol Genet, 2007; 16:3008-16.
- 159. Miceli-Richard C, Comets E, Loiseau P, Puechal X, Hachulla E, Mariette X. Association of an IRF5 gene functional polymorphism with Sjögren's syndrome. Arthritis Rheum, 2007; 56:3989-94.
- 160. Vosslamber S, van der Voort LF, van den Elskamp IJ, Heijmans R, Aubin C, Uitdehaag BM et al. Interferon regulatory factor 5 gene variants and pharmacological and clinical outcome of interferon beta therapy in multiple sclerosis. Genes Immun, 2011; 12:466-72.
- 161. Kim YJ, Park JH, Kim I, Kim JO, Bae JS, Shin HD et al. Putative role of functional interferon regulatory factor 5 (IRF5) polymorphism in rheumatoid arthritis in a Korean population. J Rheumatol, 2008; 35:2106-18.
- 162. Agarwal SK. The genetics of systemic sclerosis. Discov Med, 2010; 10:134-43.

- 163. Qin L, Lv J, Zhou X, Hou P, Yang H, Zhang H. Association of IRF5 gene polymorphisms and lupus nephritis in a Chinese population. Nephrology (Carlton), 2010; 15:710-3.
- 164. Niewold TB, Kelly JA, Kariuki SN, Franek BS, Kumar AA, Kaufman KM et al. IRF5 haplotypes demonstrate diverse serological associations which predict serum interferon alpha activity and explain the majority of the genetic association with systemic lupus erythematosus. Ann Rheum Dis, 2012; 71:463-9.
- 165. Feng D, Stone RC, Eloranta M-L, Sangster-Guity N, Nordmark G, Sigurdsson S et al. Genetic variants and disease-associated factors contribute to enhanced interferon regulatory factor 5 expression in blood cells of patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum, 2010; 62:562-73.
- 166. Hedl M, Abraham C. IRF5 risk polymorphisms contribute to interindividual variance in pattern recognition receptor-mediated cytokine secretion in human monocyte-derived cells. J Immunol, 2012; 188:5348-56.
- 167. Fan JH, Gao LB, Pan XM, Li C, Liang WB, Liu J et al. Association between IRF-5 polymorphisms and risk of acute coronary syndrome. DNA Cell Biol, 2010; 29:19-23.
- 168. Brogna S, Wen J. Nonsense-mediated mRNA decay (NMD) mechanisms. Nat Struct Mol Biol, 2009; 16:107-13.
- 169. Nordang GBN, Viken MK, Amundsen SS, Sanchez ES, Flatø B, Førre ØT et al. Interferon regulatory factor 5 gene polymorphism confers risk to several rheumatic diseases and correlates with expression of alternative thymic transcripts. Rheumatology, 2012; 51:619-26.
- 170. Mancl ME, Hu G, Sangster-Guity N, Olshalsky SL, Hoops K, Fitzgerald-Bocarsly P et al. Two discrete promoters regulate the alternative-spliced human interferon regulatory factor-5

isoforms: Multiple isoforms with distinct cell type-specific expression, localization, regulation and function. J Biol Chem, 2005:M500543200.

- 171. Stephens RM, Schneider TD. Features of spliceosome evolution and function inferred from an analysis of the information at human splice sites. J Mol Biol, 1992; 228:1124-36.
- 172. Wilcoxon F. Probability tables for individual comparisons by ranking methods. Biometrics, 1947; 3:119-22.
- 173. Sie L, Loong S, Tan EK. Utility of Lymphoblastoid Cell Lines. J Neurosci Res, 2009; 87:1953-9.
- 174. Londin ER, Keller MA, D'Andrea MR, Delgrosso K, Ertel A, Surrey S et al. Whole-exome sequencing of DNA from peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) and EBV-transformed lymphocytes from the same donor. BMC Genomics, 2011; 12:464.
- 175. Rosenbloom KR, Sloan CA, Malladi VS, Dreszer TR, Learned K, Kirkup VM et al.
 ENCODE data in the UCSC genome browser: year 5 update. Nucleic Acids Res, 2012;
 41:D56-63.
- 176. Crooks GE, Hon G, Chandonia JM, Brenner SE. WebLogo: a sequence logo generator. Genome Res, 2004; 14:1188-90.
- 177. Wang J, Zhuang J, Iyer S, Lin X, Whitfield TW, Greven MC et al. Sequence features and chromatin structure around the genomic regions bound by 119 human transcription factors. Genome Res, 2012; 22:1798-812.
- 178. Tamura K, Dudley J, Nei M, Kumar S. MEGA4: Molecular evolutionary genetics analysis (MEGA) software version 4.0. Mol Biol Evol, 2007; 24:1596-9.
- 179. Gosu V, Basith S, Kwon OP, Choi S. Therapeutic applications of nucleic acids and their analogues in Toll-like receptor signaling. Molecules, 2012; 17:13503-29

- 180. Hemmi H, Kaisho T, Takeuchi O, Sato S, Sanjo H, Hoshino K et al. Small anti-viral compounds activate immune cells via the TLR7 MyD88-dependent signaling pathway. Nat Immunol, 2002; 3:196-200.
- 181. Gelfand Y, Rodriguez A, Benson G. TRDB--the Tandem Repeats Database. Nucleic Acids Res, 2007; 35:D80-7.
- 182. Lee TH, Maheshri N. A regulatory role for repeated decoy transcription factor binding sites in target gene expression. Mol Syst Biol, 2012; 8:576.:10.1038/msb.2012.7.
- 183. el-Deiry WS, Kern SE, Pietenpol JA, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B. Definition of a consensus binding site for p53. Nat Genet, 1992; 1:45-9.
- 184. Olivier M, Hollstein M, Hainaut P. TP53 mutations in human cancers: origins, consequences, and clinical use. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol, 2010; 2:a001008.
- 185. Bullock AN, Fersht AR. Rescuing the function of mutant p53. Nat Rev Cancer, 2001; 1:68-76.
- 186. Horvath MM, Wang X, Resnick MA, Bell DA. Divergent evolution of human p53 binding sites: cell cycle versus apoptosis. PLoS Genet, 2007; 3:e127.
- 187. Hande KR. Etoposide: four decades of development of a topoisomerase II inhibitor. Eur J Cancer, 1998; 34:1514-21.
- 188. Longley DB, Harkin DP, Johnston PG. 5-fluorouracil: mechanisms of action and clinical strategies. Nat Rev Cancer, 2003; 3:330-8.
- 189. Schlegel RA, Williamson P. Phosphatidylserine, a death knell. Cell Death Differ, 2001;8:551-63.
- 190. Moore A, Donahue CJ, Bauer KD, Mather JP. Simultaneous measurement of cell cycle and apoptotic cell death. Methods Cell Biol, 1998; 57:265-78.

- 191. Kozak M. Initiation of translation in prokaryotes and eukaryotes. Gene, 1999; 234:187-208.
- 192. Guthridge JM, Clark DN, Templeton A, Dominguez N, Lu R, Vidal GS et al. Effects of IRF5 lupus risk haplotype on pathways predicted to influence B cell functions. J Biomed Biotechnol, 2012; 2012:594056
- 193. Werner SL, Kearns JD, Zadorozhnaya V, Lynch C, O'Dea E, Boldin MP et al. Encoding NF-κB temporal control in response to TNF: distinct roles for the negative regulators IκBα and A20. Genes Dev, 2008; 22:2093-101.
- 194. Graham RR, Cotsapas C, Davies L, Hackett R, Lessard CJ, Leon JM et al. Genetic variants near TNFAIP3 on 6q23 are associated with systemic lupus erythematosus. Nat Genet, 2008; 40:1059-61.
- 195. Han JW, Zheng HF, Cui Y, Sun LD, Ye DQ, Hu Z et al. Genome-wide association study in a Chinese Han population identifies nine new susceptibility loci for systemic lupus erythematosus. Nat Genet, 2009; 41:1234-U98.
- 196. Honma K, Tsuzuki S, Nakagawa M, Tagawa H, Nakamura S, Morishima Y et al. TNFAIP3/A20 functions as a novel tumor suppressor gene in several subtypes of non-Hodgkin lymphomas. Blood, 2009; 114:2467-75.
- 197. Kang NI, Yoon HY, Lee YR, Won M, Chung MJ, Park JW et al. A20 attenuates allergic airway inflammation in mice. J Immunol, 2009; 183:1488-95.
- 198. Kato M, Sanada M, Kato I, Sato Y, Takita J, Takeuchi K et al. Frequent inactivation of A20 in B-cell lymphomas. Nature, 2009; 459:712-6.
- 199. Trynka G, Zhernakova A, Romanos J, Franke L, Hunt KA, Turner G et al. Coeliac diseaseassociated risk variants in TNFAIP3 and REL implicate altered NFκB signalling. Gut, 2009; 58:1078-83.
- 200. Dumont C, Henderson R, Tybulewicz VL. Characterization of the roles of Rac1 and Rac2 GTPases in lymphocyte development. Methods Enzymol, 2008; 439:235-54.:10.1016/S0076-6879(07)00418-1.
- 201. Li L, Davie JR. The role of Sp1 and Sp3 in normal and cancer cell biology. Ann Anat, 2010; 192:275-83.
- 202. Cobaleda C, Schebesta A, Delogu A, Busslinger M. Pax5: the guardian of B cell identity and function. Nat Immunol, 2007; 8:463-70.
- 203. Goldfarb AN, Lewandowska K, Pennell CA. Identification of a highly conserved module in E proteins required for in vivo helix-loop-helix dimerization. J Biol Chem, 1998; 273:2866-73.
- 204. Klemsz MJ, McKercher SR, Celada A, Van Beveren C, Maki RA. The macrophage- and B cell-specific transcription factor PU.1 is related to the ETS oncogene. Cell, 1990; 61:113-24.
- 205. Perry AK, Chen G, Zheng D, Tang H, Cheng G. The host type I interferon response to viral and bacterial infections. Cell Res, 2005; 15:407-22.
- 206. Hagman J, Belanger C, Travis A, Turck CW, Grosschedl R. Cloning and functional characterization of early B-cell factor, a regulator of lymphocyte-specific gene expression. Genes Dev, 1993; 7:760-73.
- 207. Hess J, Angel P, Schorpp-Kistner M. AP-1 subunits: quarrel and harmony among siblings. J Cell Sci, 2004; 117:5965-73.
- 208. de Alboran IM, O'Hagan RC, Gartner F, Malynn B, Davidson L, Rickert R et al. Analysis of C-MYC function in normal cells via conditional gene-targeted mutation. Immunity, 2001; 14:45-55.

- 209. Bhattacharya S, Eckner R, Grossman S, Oldread E, Arany Z, D'Andrea A et al. Cooperation of Stat2 and p300/CBP in signalling induced by interferon-alpha. Nature, 1996; 383:344-7.
- 210. Akira S, Hemmi H. Recognition of pathogen-associated molecular patterns by TLR family. Immunol Lett, 2003; 85:85-95.
- 211. Phillips JE, Corces VG. CTCF: master weaver of the genome. Cell, 2009; 137:1194-211.
- 212. Hu G, Mancl ME, Barnes BJ. Signaling through IFN regulatory factor-5 sensitizes p53deficient tumors to DNA damage-induced apoptosis and cell death. Cancer Res, 2005; 65:7403-12.
- 213. Mori T, Anazawa Y, Iiizumi M, Fukuda S, Nakamura Y, Arakawa H. Identification of the interferon regulatory factor 5 gene (IRF-5) as a direct target for p53. Oncogene, 2002; 21:2914.
- 214. Tait SW, Green DR. Mitochondria and cell death: outer membrane permeabilization and beyond. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 2010; 11:621-32.
- 215. Li M, He Y, Dubois W, Wu X, Shi J, Huang J. Distinct regulatory mechanisms and functions for p53-activated and p53-repressed DNA damage response genes in embryonic stem cells. Mol Cell, 2012; 46:30-42.
- 216. Mellor J. The dynamics of chromatin remodeling at promoters. Mol Cell, 2005; 19:147-57.
- 217. Valouev A, Johnson SM, Boyd SD, Smith CL, Fire AZ, Sidow A. Determinants of nucleosome organization in primary human cells. Nature, 2011; 474:516-20.
- 218. Kuroyanagi H, Watanabe Y, Hagiwara M. CELF family RNA-binding protein UNC-75 regulates two sets of mutually exclusive exons of the unc-32 gene in neuron-specific manners in Caenorhabditis elegans. PLoS Genet, 2013; 9:e1003337.

- 219. Barash Y, Calarco JA, Gao W, Pan Q, Wang X, Shai O et al. Deciphering the splicing code. Nature, 2010; 465:53-9.
- 220. Zubovic L, Baralle M, Baralle FE. Mutually exclusive splicing regulates the Nav 1.6 sodium channel function through a combinatorial mechanism that involves three distinct splicing regulatory elements and their ligands. Nucleic Acids Res, 2012; 40:6255-69.
- 221. Martin HJ, Lee JM, Walls D, Hayward SD. Manipulation of the Toll-like receptor 7 signaling pathway by Epstein-Barr virus. J Virol, 2007; 81:9748-58.
- 222. Batteux F, Palmer P, Daeron M, Weill B, Lebon P. FCγRII (CD32)-dependent induction of interferon-alpha by serum from patients with lupus erythematosus. Eur Cytokine Netw, 1999; 10:509-14.
- 223. Bave U, Magnusson M, Eloranta ML, Perers A, Alm GV, Ronnblom L. FcγRIIa is expressed on natural IFNα -producing cells (plasmacytoid dendritic cells) and is required for the IFNα production induced by apoptotic cells combined with lupus IgG. J Immunol, 2003; 171:3296-302.
- 224. Lovgren T, Eloranta ML, Bave U, Alm GV, Ronnblom L. Induction of interferon-alpha production in plasmacytoid dendritic cells by immune complexes containing nucleic acid released by necrotic or late apoptotic cells & lupus IgG. Arthritis Rheum, 2004; 50:1861-72.
- 225. Lovgren T, Eloranta ML, Kastner B, Wahren-Herlenius M, Alm GV, Ronnblom L. Induction of interferon-alpha by immune complexes or liposomes containing systemic lupus erythematosus autoantigen- and Sjögren's syndrome autoantigen-associated RNA. Arthritis Rheum, 2006; 54:1917-27.
- 226. Ronnblom L, Alm GV. Systemic lupus erythematosus and the type I interferon system. Arthritis Res Ther, 2003; 5:68-75.

- 227. Ronnblom L, Pascual V. The innate immune system in SLE: type I interferons and dendritic cells. Lupus, 2008; 17:394-9.
- 228. Tian J, Avalos AM, Mao SY, Chen B, Senthil K, Wu H et al. Toll-like receptor 9-dependent activation by DNA-containing immune complexes is mediated by HMGB1 and RAGE. Nat Immunol, 2007; 8:487-96.
- 229. Yasuda K, Richez C, Maciaszek JW, Agrawal N, Akira S, Marshak-Rothstein A et al. Murine dendritic cell type I IFN production induced by human IgG-RNA immune complexes is IFN regulatory factor (IRF)5 and IRF7 dependent and is required for IL-6 production. J Immunol, 2007; 178:6876-85.
- 230. Birkenbach M, Josefsen K, Yalamanchili R, Lenoir G, Kieff E. Epstein-Barr virus-induced genes: first lymphocyte-specific G protein-coupled peptide receptors. J Virol, 1993; 67:2209-20.
- 231. Nakayama T, Fujisawa R, Izawa D, Hieshima K, Takada K, Yoshie O. Human B cells immortalized with Epstein-Barr virus upregulate CCR6 and CCR10 and downregulate CXCR4 and CXCR5. J Virol, 2002; 76:3072-7.
- 232. Yang L, Feng D, Bi X, Stone RC, Barnes BJ. Monocytes from Irf5-/- mice have an intrinsic defect in their response to pristane-induced lupus. J Immunol, 2012; 189:3741-50.
- 233. Xu Y, Lee PY, Li Y, Liu C, Zhuang H, Han S et al. Pleiotropic IFN-dependent and
 -independent effects of IRF5 on the pathogenesis of experimental lupus. J Immunol, 2012;
 188:4113-21.
- 234. Yanai H, Chen HM, Inuzuka T, Kondo S, Mak TW, Takaoka A et al. Role of IFN regulatory factor 5 transcription factor in antiviral immunity and tumor suppression. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 2007; 104:3402-7.

- 235. Cahir-McFarland ED, Carter K, Rosenwald A, Giltnane JM, Henrickson SE, Staudt LM et al. Role of NFκB in cell survival and transcription of latent membrane protein 1-expressing or Epstein-Barr virus latency III-infected cells. J Virol, 2004; 78:4108-19.
- 236. Kaplan MJ. Apoptosis in systemic lupus erythematosus. Clin Immunol, 2004; 112:210-8.
- 237. Yanagimachi M, Naruto T, Miyamae T, Hara T, Kikuchi M, Hara R et al. Association of IRF5 polymorphisms with susceptibility to macrophage activation syndrome in patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Rheumatol, 2011; 38:769-74.
- 238. Rullo OJ, Woo JMP, Wu H, Hoftman ADC, Maranian P, Brahn BA et al. Association of IRF5 polymorphisms with activation of the Interferon-alpha pathway. Ann Rheum Dis, 2010:611-7.
- 239. Grievink H, Stowell K. Allele-specific differences in ryanodine receptor 1 mRNA expression levels may contribute to phenotypic variability in malignant hyperthermia. Orphanet J Rare Dis, 2010; 5:10.
- 240. Heinig M, Petretto E, Wallace C, Bottolo L, Rotival M, Lu H et al. A trans-acting locus regulates an anti-viral expression network and type 1 diabetes risk. Nature, 2010; 467:460-4.
- 241. Clark DN, Poole BD, Hammond DV, Hedman TJ, Catts DS, Stewart A et al. Characterization of herpes simplex virus clinical isolate Y3369 as a glycoprotein G variant and its bearing on virus typing. Virol J, 2011; 8:290.
- 242. Clark DN, Markham JL, Sloan CS, Poole BD. Cytokine inhibition as a strategy for treating systemic lupus erythematosus. Clin Immunol, 2012;12:00276-8.
- 243. Clark DN, Poole BD. Interferon and Apoptosis in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. <u>Systemic Lupus Erythematosus</u>, Almoallim, H, editor. 2012, ISBN: 978-953-51-0266-3.